
Head of Governance: Karen Shepherd: (01628) 796529

TO: EVERY MEMBER OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE ROYAL BOROUGH OF 
WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED TO ATTEND the Meeting of the Council of the 
Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead to be held as a Virtual Meeting (online 
access) on Tuesday, 23 June 2020 at 6.15 pm for the purpose of transacting the 
business specified in the Agenda set out hereunder.

Dated this Monday, 15 June 2020

Duncan Sharkey
Managing Director

Rev Lodge will say 
prayers for the 
meeting.

A G E N D A

PART I

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence
 

2.  COUNCIL MINUTES

To receive the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 25 February 2020, 
and the Extraordinary meetings of the Council held on 18 March 2020 and 26 
May 2020.
 (Pages 13 - 82)

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest
 (Pages 83 - 84)

4.  MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS

To receive such communications as the Mayor may desire to place before the 
Council
 (Pages 85 - 86)

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCZNp1KmF3YnabN6enzlyelQ
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCZNp1KmF3YnabN6enzlyelQ


5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS

a) Ed Wilson of Clewer and Dedworth West ward will ask the following 
question of Councillor Hilton, Lead Member for Finance and Ascot:

Can the Lead Member advise if the RBWM is still paying interest on LOBO loans 
and if so what rate of interest is being paid? 

b) Ed Wilson of Clewer and Dedworth West ward will ask the following 
question of Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council:

Will the Leader of the Council advise the approximate value of the Royal 
Borough’s assets including those held within the RBWM Property Company? 

c) Maria Evans of Riverside ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental Services, 
Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

The council has declared its directly controlled annual carbon footprint is only 
0.7% of the Borough’s production emissions; let alone accounting for the 
Borough’s consumption emissions. What is your strategy to engage with other 
stakeholders to play their part in reducing the Borough’s footprint to net-zero?

d) Andrew Elder of Eton and Castle ward will ask the following question 
of Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental Services, 
Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

2019 was the warmest year on record in Europe; 1.2 degrees above the 
reference period. 1.5 degrees is the recommended limit to avoid catastrophic 
climate change. Can you demonstrate that the strategy for the borough will 
enable actions to be fast enough? And if not, why not?

e) Deborah Mason of of Riverside ward will ask the following question 
of Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council:

Can you explain how this represents a consultative and collaborative approach to 
local democracy when critical documents relating to the Climate Strategy were 
not made available to the public before the question submission deadline?

f) Fiona Hewer of Bisham and Cookham ward will ask the following 
question of Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental 
Services, Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

Does the Council consider the Phase 1 Habitat Survey conducted by Wild 
Maidenhead in 2017 a suitable baseline for measuring improvements to 
biodiversity in the Climate Strategy and, if not, what do you propose? 

g) Mike Copland of Bisham and Cookham ward will ask the following 
question of Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental 
Services, Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

Unmanaged access to sensitive habitats, for example for dog-walking and 



watersports, is likely to decrease biodiversity. Can the Lead Member reassure me 
of the Council’s commitment to implementing an Environment and Climate 
Emergency strategy by giving examples of when and how expert advice on 
biodiversity protection has taken precedence over such ‘business as usual’ 
activities?

h) Mike Copland of Bisham and Cookham ward will ask the following 
question of Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental 
Services, Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

Given that the Council has, in declaring the Emergency, recognised the existential 
threat we face can the Lead Member confirm that commitments or assumptions 
made before the Emergency was declared will be subject to review and that 
addressing climate change and enhancing biodiversity and our natural capital will 
take priority unless there are other exceptional considerations?

i) Andrew Hill of Boyn Hill ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Coppinger, Lead Member for Planning and Maidenhead:

The LPA informed me that it was not mandatory for planning panels to be 
presented with factually correct information provided any falsehoods were given 
“in good faith”. What process is followed to determine “good faith” where 
falsehoods are subsequently identified, and why aren't such matters returned 
automatically to the Member panel for reconsideration with the corrected known 
facts?

j) Andrew Hill of Boyn Hill ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council:

Given Deloitte's finding that the valuation of Council assets and RBWM Property 
Company Limited assets are being “commissioned and conducted” under just one 
set of shared instructions, can you explain why this company is no longer acting 
as an arms-length trading company, and state whether that company’s MD is 
formally considered an officer of RBWM itself?

k) Jennifer Shaw of Belmont Ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council:

We are now emerging from a slow onset, extensive crisis into another - Climate 
Change. What specific actions to address the environment and climate 
emergency will you commence now to capture the gains made, practical and 
behavioral, during the Covid-19 crisis?

l) Dave Scarbrough of Belmont ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental Services, 
Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

In order to reach net-zero in the Borough and in the whole country by 2050, do 
you agree that we need to leave all fossil fuels in the ground and all new 
electricity generation must be by renewable means?   

m) Clare Taylor of Eton and Castle ward will ask the following question 
of Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental Services, 



Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

Understanding that the financial situation of the council has been made even 
worse by the Covid-19 emergency, will the Council contract work on a biodiversity 
action plan (and other work to implement the strategy) to local voluntary groups 
who will likely be able to take the work forward at low or no cost?

n) Sarah Scarbrough of Belmont ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental Services, 
Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

The interim strategy lacks detail and input from RBWM's CEC. What do you 
expect will be gained from a public consultation on the interim strategy as it 
stands?

o) Georgina Ellis of Datchet, Horton and Wraysbury ward will ask the 
following question of Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for 
Environmental Services, Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and 
Countryside:

Does the Lead Member agree with me that lack of good biodiversity action 
planning leads to food insecurity, poorer health and increased flood risk? Can the 
Council explain why a biodiversity action plan has not been a priority for RBWM 
despite repeated offers from voluntary groups to help with the implementation of 
this vital element of the Climate Strategy?

p) Sarah Bowden of Boyn Hill ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Coppinger, Lead Member for Planning and Maidenhead:

Given that the inspection of the Borough Local Plan will not now happen until 
Autumn, will the Council commit to immediately draft and put in place in 2020 a 
Supplementary Planning Document that stipulates the actions required to prevent 
making the Environment and Climate Emergency situation any worse?

q) Rachel Cook of Boyn Hill ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Coppinger, Lead Member for Planning and Maidenhead:

Given that it is an important part of the National Planning Policy Framework, why 
have biodiversity measures such as ecological appraisal and habitat connectivity 
been omitted from the Borough Wide Design Guide SPD, and will you commit to 
including those amendments suggested by Wild Maidenhead? 

r) Emily Tomalin of Bisham and Cookham ward will ask the following 
question of Councillor Clark, Lead Member for Transport and 
Infrastructure:

Ghentrification for Cyclists! Can RBWM copy the simple, bold, low cost strategy of 
Ghent, where traffic was discouraged from town centres with filters on side roads 
that stopped cars, allowed bicycles, reducing speed limits to 20 mph and giving 
cyclists clear priority? Motor vehicles could still access all areas but only by 
travelling outside the town and in again, between segments.

s) Emily Tomalin of Bisham and Cookham ward will ask the following 
question of Councillor Coppinger, Lead Member for Planning and 



Maidenhead:

Would the Council consider a new planning designation to encourage local 
organic food production?  Many areas are poorly used agriculturally in the hope 
that houses could be built.  Instead could the Council find a way to encourage 
small holdings or allotments?

t) Adam Bermange of Boyn Hill ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Coppinger, Lead Member for Planning and Maidenhead:

The BLP under examination will increase carbon emissions by 22.5%. The 
Inspector now asks whether the proposed additional Policy SP2 is effective in 
meeting the requirements, under Section 19(1A) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act, to include policies securing that development contributes to the 
mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change. How does the Lead Member 
propose to respond?

u) Adam Bermange of Boyn Hill ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Hilton, Lead Member for Finance and Ascot:

Is the Lead Member satisfied that the Cabinet invested sufficient time in 
challenging the deliverability, from a legal and compliance standpoint, of the 
incremental residents’ parking permit income as well as the other opportunities 
and savings relied upon in setting a balanced budget for 2020/21?

v) Susy Shearer of Clewer East Ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental Services, 
Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

‘The greenest building is the one already standing.’ Recycling existing buildings 
including heritage assets takes maximum advantage of already utilised energy 
and materials. Furthermore, re-using those with even average energy 
performance consistently offers immediate climate change impact reductions as 
compared with more energy-efficient types of new construction. How will these 
principles be reflected in the Climate Strategy?                          

w) Susy Shearer of Clewer East Ward will ask the following question of 
Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental Services, 
Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

An estimated 25% of car journeys in the Borough are under 2 miles yet are a 
major contributor to CO2, NO2 and noise pollution and community severance. 
What specific measures will be included in the Climate Strategy to shift these 
journeys away from cars and towards walking, cycling and public transport?                                                              

(A Member responding to a question shall be allowed up to five minutes to reply 
to the initial question and up to two minutes to reply to a supplementary question. 
The questioner shall be allowed up to one minute to put the supplementary 
question)
 



6.  PETITIONS

To receive any petitions presented by Members on behalf of residents.

(Any Member submitting a petition has up to 2 minutes to summarise its contents)
 

7.  REFERRALS FROM OTHER BODIES

To consider referrals from other bodies (e.g. Cabinet)
 

i)   CLIMATE STRATEGY

                       To consider the above report
             (Pages 87 - 122)

               ii)       FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 2020/21 - ADDITION

                       To consider the above report
            (Pages 123 - 128)

8.  CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENTS

To consider the above report
 (Pages 129 - 360)

9.  APPOINTMENT OF PANEL CHAIRMAN

To consider the following appointments:

RECOMMENDATION: That:

i) Councillor Cannon be appointed as Vice Chairman of the Royal Borough 
Development Management Panel

ii) Councillor Bhangra be appointed as Chairman of the Licensing Panel
 

10.  HORTON AND WRAYSBURY NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN - FORMAL MAKING 
OF THE PLAN

To consider the above report
 (Pages 361 - 368)

11.  BANK RECONCILIATION REPORT

To consider the above report
 (Pages 369 - 374)

12.  URGENT DECISION REPORT

To consider the above report
 (To Follow)



13.  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS

a) Councillor Davey will ask the following question of Councillor 
Johnson, Leader of the Council:

At Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Panel Councillor Johnson said he was 
“curious” why the opposition had challenged Cabinet’s decision to give 
Maidenhead United many acres of Braywick Park for zero consideration. How 
else would he suggest we challenge Cabinet decisions that do not have the 
required detail to ensure the decision is in the best interests of council and 
residents?

b) Councillor Hill will ask the following question of Councillor Johnson, 
Leader of the Council:

Why after the COVID-19 Crisis has shown that much office space and some retail 
space will most likely never be used again and is highly likely to be converted into 
private dwellings are we as a Borough still proposing to develop Maidenhead Golf 
Club for housing?

c) Councillor Larcombe will ask the following question of Councillor 
Cannon, Lead Member for Public Protection and Parking:

What is the current total of the RBWM River Thames Scheme partnership funding 
contributions required to ensure that Channel 1 through Datchet, Horton and 
Wraysbury is progressed?

d) Councillor Brar will ask the following question of Councillor Stimson, 
Lead Member for Environmental Services, Climate Change, 
Sustainability, Parks and Countryside.

The Tyndall Climate Centre has produced a report for RBWM. It is available 
online. It shows a target of approximately 5Mtons of CO2 not 10 Mtons as in the 
Climate Strategy document. Why was this scientific advice declined and not 
mentioned in the strategy especially when the RBWM targets go against the Paris 
Climate agreement of 1.5 degrees warming?

e) Councillor Baldwin will ask the following question of Councillor 
Rayner, Lead Member for Resident and Leisure Services, HR, IT, 
Legal, Performance Management and Windsor:

Despite concerns voiced by opposition members over many years about the sorry 
state of corporate governance within RBWM we are still routinely issued with 
agendas lacking crucial reports. It appears the date of the meeting has become 
the disclosure deadline, making proper preparation impossible. What assurances 
can the lead member give us that these long-term deficiencies are being 
addressed?

f) Councillor Jones will ask the following question of Councillor 
Johnson, Leader of the Council:

The RBWM 2018/19 Audit issued a ‘qualified’ conclusion with concerns 



regarding inadequate resourcing of key governance functions: weaknesses in 
arrangements of financial sustainability and resilience, ultra vires spend, 
inadequate reports to council and a culture that discouraged individuals to 
challenge. Concerns echoed by Cipfa and the Peer Review. What impact have 
these failures had on the council as an organisation?

g) Councillor Reynolds will ask the following question of Councillor 
Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental Services, Climate Change, 
Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

Currently RBWM only has the capacity to power 1% of our homes via renewable 
energy. To simply keep pace with other local authorities we need 13X more. How 
will RBWM do this?

h) Councillor Del Campo will ask the following question of Councillor 
Coppinger, Lead Member for Planning and Maidenhead:

The inspector’s response to the latest version of the Borough Local Plan suggests 
that even this version is far from “legally compliant and sound”. With eleven areas 
of concern, some fundamental, and hundreds of questions for clarification, and in 
light of the climate emergency we declared, has the lead member considered 
starting the process again? If not, why not?

(A Member responding to a question shall be allowed up to two minutes to reply 
to the initial question, and up to two minutes to reply to a supplementary question. 
The questioner shall be allowed up to one minute to put the supplementary 
question)
 

14.  MOTIONS ON NOTICE

a) By Councillor Hill

This Council agrees to reduce the number of signatures required for a petition to 
be debated at Full Council from 1500 to 1000 in the interests of democracy by 
allowing residents to more easily get direct access to their elected representatives 
on issues of importance to them.

b) By Councillor Werner
This Council;

 i) Offers a vote of thanks to the residents of the Royal Borough, the vast majority 
of whom, whilst facing very difficult personal sacrifices and restrictions to liberty, 
have diligently followed both letter and the spirit of the emergency legislation 
brought in to protect public health during the Covid-19 global pandemic; 

 ii) Acknowledges the extraordinary courage and commitment to community 
shown by many thousands of residents, individually, through neighbourhood 
groups and with our charitable partner organisations, throughout this terrible time;

iii) Also, publicly recognises the skill, dedication and tenacity with which our 
officers have co-ordinated these efforts and the Council’s own activities, for the 



benefit of all.

 



COUNCIL MOTIONS – PROCEDURE

 Motion proposed (mover of Motion to speak on Motion) 

 Motion seconded (Seconder has right to reserve their speech until later in the debate)

 Begin debate

Should An Amendment Be Proposed: (only one amendment may be moved and 
discussed at any one time)

NB – Any proposed amendment to a Motion to be passed to the Mayor for consideration 
before it is proposed and seconded.

 Amendment to Motion proposed

 Amendment must be seconded BEFORE any debate can take place on it 

(At this point, the mover and seconder of original Motion can indicate their 
acceptance of the amendment if they are happy with it) 

 Amendment debated (if required). Members who have spoken on the original 
motion are able to speak again in relation to the amendment only

 Vote taken on Amendment 

 If Agreed, the amended Motion becomes the substantive Motion and is then 
debated (any further amendments follow same procedure as above).

 If Amendment not agreed, original Motion is debated (any other amendments 
follow same procedure as above).  

 The mover of the Motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the Motion, 
immediately before it is put to the vote.

 At the conclusion of the debate on the Motion, the Mayor shall call for a vote. Unless a 
named vote is requested, the Mayor will take the vote by a show of hands or if there is no 
dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. 

 If requested by any 5 Members the mode of voting shall be via a named vote. The clerk will 
record the names and votes of those Members present and voting or abstaining and 
include them in the Minutes of the meeting. 

 Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will be so 
recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained 
from voting     

(All speeches maximum of 5 minutes, except for the Budget Meeting where the Member proposing 
the adoption of the budget and the Opposition Spokesperson shall each be allowed to speak for 10 
minutes to respectively propose the budget and respond to it. The Member proposing the budget 
may speak for a further 5 minutes when exercising his/her right of reply.)



Closure Motions

     a) A Member who has not previously spoken in the debate may move, without comment, any of 
the following Motions at the end of a speech of another Member:

i) to proceed to the next business;

ii) that the question be now put to the vote;

iii) to adjourn a debate; or

iv) to adjourn a meeting.

b) If a Motion to proceed to next business is seconded, the Mayor will give the mover of the 
original Motion a right of reply and then put the procedural Motion to the vote.

c) If a Motion that the question be now put to vote is seconded, the Mayor will put the 
procedural motion to the vote.  It if is passed he/she will give the mover of the original motion a 
right of reply before putting his/her motion to the vote.

d) If a Motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded, the Mayor   will put 
the procedural Motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original Motion the right of 
reply

Point of order

A Member may raise a point of order at any time. The Mayor will hear them immediately. A point of 
order may only relate to an alleged breach of the Council Rules of Procedure or the law. The 
Member must indicate the procedure rule or law and the way in which he/she considers it has been 
broken. The ruling of the Mayor on the matter will be final.

Personal explanation

A Member may make a personal explanation at any time with the permission of the Mayor. A 
personal explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Member 
which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the Mayor on 
the requirement of a personal explanation will be final.



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

AT A MEETING OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL held in the Desborough Suite - 
Town Hall on Tuesday, 25th February, 2020

PRESENT: The Mayor (Councillor Sayonara Luxton), The Deputy Mayor (Councillor 
Gary Muir) and Councillors John Baldwin, Clive Baskerville, Christine Bateson, 
Gurpreet Bhangra, Simon Bond, John Bowden, Catherine Del Campo, David Cannon, 
Stuart Carroll, Gerry Clark, David Coppinger, Carole Da Costa, Wisdom Da Costa, 
Jon Davey, Karen Davies, Phil Haseler, Geoff Hill, David Hilton, Maureen Hunt, 
Andrew Johnson, Greg Jones, Lynne Jones, Neil Knowles, Ewan Larcombe, 
Ross McWilliams, Helen Price, Samantha Rayner, Joshua Reynolds, Julian Sharpe, 
Shamsul Shelim, Gurch Singh, Donna Stimson, John Story, Chris Targowski, 
Helen Taylor, Amy Tisi, Leo Walters and Simon Werner

Officers: Louise Freeth, Hilary Hall, Kevin McDaniel, Russell O'Keefe, Barbara 
Richardson, Mary Severin, Duncan Sharkey, Adele Taylor, Rhona Bellis, Maddie 
Pinkham, James Carpenter, Ruth Watkins, Peter Robinson and Karen Shepherd.

ONE MINUTE SILENCE

A one minute silence was held in memory of three councillors who had recently 
passed away: Mike Alston, a Belmont councillor until 1991; Adam Smith who had 
been a Riverside councillor until May 2019; and former Mayor Eileen Quick.

73. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Brar.

74. COUNCIL MINUTES 

RESOLVED UNNIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 17 
December 20219 be approved.

75. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

76. MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS 

The Mayor had submitted in writing details of engagements that the Mayor and Deputy 
Mayor had undertaken since the last ordinary meeting, which were noted by Council. 

The Mayor highlighted that councillors would have already received confirmation that 
the Civic Funeral for the Former Mayor of the Royal Borough, Dee Quick, would be 
held on Monday 9 March 2020 at 12.30pm at St Stephen and St Agnes Church, 
Windsor.  She commented that a healthy attendance by councillors at a Civic Funeral 
demonstrated the Council’s appreciation for the many years of community service 
rendered by the former Mayor of the Borough.  She therefore encouraged as many 
councillors as possible to attend the service.

77. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

13

Agenda Item 2



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

a) Jane Stone of Belmont ward asked the following question of Councillor 
Carroll, Lead Member for Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, Health 
and Mental Health:

How many organisations tendered for the contract which was currently with Ways into 
Work and has now been awarded to Optalis?

A written response was provided:

Thank you for your question on this important issue.  Rather than go out to tender, the 
council has asked its own delivery company, Optalis, to provide the service. As you 
might be aware, from April 2017, the council started delivering all statutory and 
discretionary adult services through Optalis, which is a Local Authority Trading 
Company; jointly owned by Wokingham Borough Council and the Royal Borough.  

As Optalis is a jointly owned Local Authority Trading Company, the Council is not 
required to formally tender any contracts for statutory or discretionary services, if they 
can be fulfilled by Optalis.

In the case of the existing contract with Ways into Work, the Royal Borough was not, 
therefore, required to re-tender the contract when it expires on 30th April 2020, as 
Optalis already has a successful and established Supported Employment service in 
operation, in Wokingham, which has been running for more than 18 years.  Delivering 
through Optalis is our long term strategy and all part of our overall plan to deliver 
better adult social care through enablement, prevention and independence.

By way of a supplementary question, Ms Stone expressed concern that Ways Into 
Work had provided this service for five years as a community interest company and 
prior to that as part of RBWM. This continuity had allowed them to build up contracts 
and relationships with local employers and the candidates who had complex needs. 
She asked how this wealth of knowledge and experience would be maintained and 
candidates supported?

Councillor Carroll responded that the council’s adult social care strategy had been to 
invest in Optalis Holding Company, which was part of the proposal. The government 
ranked each local authority on the percentage of people with learning difficulties 
supported into employment. The Optalis service currently in Wokingham was ranked 
number two in the country. Optalis already had expertise in the field. The council was 
working with the current provider to ensure transitional arrangements were fully 
optimised. 

b) Janet Hayes-Brown of Clewer and Dedworth West ward asked the 
following question of Councillor Carroll, Lead Member for Adult Social 
Care, Children’s Services, Health and Mental Health:

How many clients can the new Optalis supported employment service work with for 
the £74,000 budget, and what targets, including job outcomes, will be set with the new 
provider?

A written response was provided:

14



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Thank you for your question on this important issue.  It is important to understand that 
there is a fully operational Supported Employment Service already operating within 
our Local Authority Trading Company, Optalis.  This has been in operation for more 
than 18 years and supports around 300 residents in Wokingham.  There is an existing 
staff team comprising a Head of Employment Services, as well as Team Leads, 
Coaches and other support staff, who operate to the high standards required to be 
accredited to the British Association of Supported Employment.  Delivering through 
Optalis is our long term strategy and all part of our overall plan to deliver better adult 
social care through enablement, prevention and independence.

We are, therefore, not setting up a service from scratch, but rather, are adding 
additional investment into the existing infrastructure that is successfully operating.  
This means that more staff can be recruited (or transferred from the existing provider, 
Ways into Work), to support the cohort of people likely to transfer across when the 
existing contract comes to an end on 30th April 2020.  

Detailed discussions are still ongoing between the outgoing provider, Ways into Work, 
and commissioners, regarding the number of customers who are likely to transfer 
across to Optalis.  The Royal Borough understands that the existing provider is 
intending to continue to support and maintain a significant number of their existing 
clients.  

Clients for whom the existing provider has not yet managed to find employment, 
around 79 people, or who are still on their waiting list, around 78 people, are likely to 
be offered the opportunity to come across to the Optalis Supported employment 
service.

Regarding job outcomes, you may be aware that each year the Government ranks 
each Local Authority on the percentage of people with a learning disability who are 
supported into employment (the indicator is called ASCOF 1E (proportion of people 
with learning disabilities in employment)) and the Optalis service at Wokingham, 
ranked number 2 in the country this year behind London Borough of Hounslow. We 
will ensure that the contract with Optalis includes all relevant employment targets to 
meet the national ASCOF standards.

By way of a supplementary question, Ms Hayes-Brown asked whether it would be an 
option for Ways into Work to be funded for those that they already had in work, giving 
Optalis the opportunity to build relationships and reputation in the borough? Also, in 
the written answer it stated ‘Clients for whom the existing provider has not yet 
managed to find employment, around 79 people, or who are still on their waiting list, 
around 78 people, are likely to be offered the opportunity to come across to the 
Optalis Supported employment service’. What did ‘likely’ mean?

Councillor Carroll responded that the council would continue to work with Ways Into 
Work as much as it could; some of the existing people would be retained. Given the 
high performance at Optalis in Wokingham he was confident that the transition would 
be successful. The 78 people referred to would be offered the opportunity; what was 
needed as part of the plan was to see how they could very quickly be offered 
employment opportunities. The Health and Wellbeing Board had written to all local 
employers to highlight the issue. An offer would be available but the issue was 
whether placements would be available. 

15



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

c) Susan Edwards of Furze Platt ward asked the following question of 
Councillor Carroll, Lead Member for Adult Social Care, Children’s 
Services, Health and Mental Health:

My son has benefitted greatly from funding provided by RBWM to Ways into Work and 
works for the Council. He has multiple and complex issues including severe learning 
disability, hearing impairment and, difficulties with communication. Whoever supports 
him needs to know him well. By changing service provider to Optalis, how can you 
guarantee that he will not be disadvantaged?

A written response was provided:

Thank you for your question on this important issue.  The Royal Borough is aware of 
the group of people to whom you refer, who work for the Council.  They are currently 
supported 8 hours a week through the coaches employed by Ways into Work.  The 
council has asked Ways into Work for costings to continue to support these people 
which is £12,000 per annum.  The council is seeking alternative funding to ensure this 
support continues, including employment benefits, and has committed to pay any 
shortfall.

By way of a supplementary question, Ms Edwards asked for clarification if the council 
was going to continue funding for the Ways Into Work parks team and how long for?

Councillor Carroll responded that the commissioning team was in discussion with 
Ways Into Work on this particular issue. He hoed those discussions would be 
concluded in the next few weeks. He had asked for costings to be supplied for these 
individuals. The council would be seeking alternative funding and had committed to 
pay any shortfall.

d) Lisa Hughes of Furze Platt ward asked the following question of 
Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council:

Many residents with disabilities will be greatly affected by cuts of £166k to supported 
employment and £330k to the council tax reduction scheme plus increases to adult 
health and commissioning charges. Can RBWM provide evidence that due regard was 
given to its equality obligations in relation to residents with disabilities?

A written response was provided:

Thank you for your question. I can confirm that the Royal Borough has given due 
regard to all its equality obligations in respect of the proposals it is making for the 
2020-2021 budget.  Equality Impact Assessments have been completed where 
applicable and these are available on the website at this link.

Turning to the three specific points that you mention, in relation to the supported 
employment service, we will be commissioning this from our jointly owned Local 
Authority Trading Company, Optalis.  Optalis has been successfully operating a high-
quality supported employment service for more than 18 years and therefore we are 
building on the existing structures and staffing that are already successfully in place.  
We are confident that by investing into the existing service, there will be greater 
efficiencies and economies of scale through shared use of staff and resources so that 

16

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200110/about_the_council/1124/equalities_and_diversity/2


COUNCIL - 25.02.20

we will be able to build and strengthen the support across the two boroughs, whilst 
providing value for money.

In relation to the proposed changes to the council tax reduction scheme, there is no 
evidence that residents with disabilities will be any more affected than any other 
working age customer with a protected characteristic.  The authority will continue to 
disregard income received from disability related benefits, e.g. Disability Living 
Allowance and Personal Independence Payments.  However, there is no proposal to 
exempt individuals, en masse, as a result of disability.  They, like anyone else, will be 
able to apply to consider remitting the costs on the basis of financial hardship in 
accordance with the authority’s existing S13A(1)(c) Policy. 

In line with the council’s overall approach to fees and charges, adult social care fees 
and charges have been increased by inflation on all but domiciliary care.  For 
domiciliary care, we are proposing full cost recovery for self-funders only, on the basis 
that they will have been assessed as able to pay the full amount.  Removing the 
Advantage Card discounts for parking is being applied across the board and there is 
no evidence that residents with disabilities will be any more affected than anyone else 
using the car parks.  Blue badge provision for residents with disabilities is unaffected 
by this proposal.

By way of a supplementary question, Ms Hughes commented that the council could 
have, but did not, identify council tax reduction recipients with a disability therefore 
how could the council be sure that they would not be more adversely affected by the 
proposal? The EQIA showed that the simplicity of the council’s administration took 
precedence over the risk of financial hardship for people with disabilities. People with 
some types of disabilities really struggled with applying for the S13A discretionary 
reduction but this was not considered. A reasonable adjustment would be to provide 
help for people with disabilities to apply for discretionary reductions. Would the council 
do so?

Councillor Johnson responded that the council would be offering help to people 
through the full process of applying and would review each situation on a case by 
case basis.  He was confident that the EQIA process had been robust in terms of 
meeting the council’s duties. He would however come back with detail on the issues 
raised. 

Written response provided after the meeting: The policy only specifies that requests 
must be made in writing setting out the circumstances on which the application is 
based and any hardship or personal circumstances relating to the application.  The 
application should include a full income and expenditure breakdown of the applicant 
together with that of any other household members.  The Council may request 
evidence in support of the application.

We have not prescribed a specific form which would need to be completed and will 
accept applications via e-mail or post. However, we can provide a pro-forma for the 
customer to complete with details of income and expenditure if that assists them. 
Customers can request face to face assistance, via the dedicated Revenues and 
Benefits Assistants situated in both Maidenhead and Windsor library. No appointment 
is necessary for this service. Telephony support is also available via the customer 
services contact centre. 

17



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Any further information can be supplied again, either face to face, or via e-mail to the 
Revenues and Benefits team. 

e) Angela Clark of Cox Green ward asked the following question of 
Councillor Carroll, Lead Member for Adult Social Care, Children’s 
Services, Health and Mental Health:

Ways into Work provides personalised employment support that enables residents 
with disabilities to be a part of the workforce, with commensurate benefits to their 
finances, health and well-being. Will the £166k of savings next year be realised by 
reducing the number of people supported or reducing the scope of the services 
provided?

A written response was provided:

Thank you for your question on this important issue.  We recognise the importance 
that a Supported Employment Service holds for people with additional needs and the 
benefit and sense of self-esteem that comes with finding paid employment.

I would like to reassure you that the service that we will be commissioning from our 
jointly owned Local Authority Trading Company, Optalis, has been successfully 
operating providing a high quality Supported Employment service for Wokingham 
Council for more than 18 years.  It is important to recognise that we are therefore not 
setting up this enterprise from scratch, but are building on the existing structures and 
staffing that are already successfully in place within Optalis, so that when the council 
commissions this service it can also operate for our Windsor and Maidenhead 
residents.  As a long-established service, Optalis Supported Employment works with 
many local and national companies and has many contacts and links into 
employment, maintaining the high standards required from the British Association of 
Supported Employment.
   
As our Local Authority Trading Company, Optalis already operates in offices and day 
centres across the Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead providing statutory adult 
social care (social work, Occupational Therapy, reablement services, residential care 
homes and day centres) and other support for vulnerable adults on behalf of the Local 
Authority.  We are confident that by investing into the existing Supported Employment 
service already running, there will be greater efficiencies and economies of scale 
through shared use of staff and resources and we will be able to build and strengthen 
the support across the two Boroughs, whilst providing value for money and that 
important employment support that you refer to in your question.  Delivering through 
Optalis is our long term strategy and all part of our overall plan to deliver better adult 
social care through enablement, prevention and independence.

By way of a supplementary question, Ms Clark asked would the council continue to 
fund Ways Into Work for the 169 clients they already had?

Councillor Carroll responded that essentially the answer was yes because Ways Into 
Work had multiple funding streams. In agreement with the council they had committed 
to that number of people. This would be reviewed on a periodic basis. 

18



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

f) Paul Stretton of Clewer East ward asked the following question of 
Councillor Coppinger, Lead Member for Planning and Maidenhead:

During the Council meeting (Sept 2018), concerns of asbestos hazards, during 
demolition (surface and airborne) in the Dedworth area were raised. Authority to 
proceed with demolition was given by RBWM, without ensuring all planning conditions 
had been met. What actions and recommendations have been implemented to protect 
and reassure the community from this and any such future suspected contaminations?

A written response was provided:

Thank you for your question, however the question states points that are factually 
incorrect.  The Council did not authorise the demolition of the building ahead of the 
discharge of conditions, the developer took this course of action without informing the 
Council or applying to discharge relevant pre-commencement conditions. The 
planning department cannot prevent such a course of action being taken.  It can only 
seek to rectify allegations of a breach of planning control through the planning 
enforcement process.
 
Concerns over alleged nuisance during construction works should be raised with the 
Council’s Environmental Protection team, however, concerns over asbestos are a 
matter for the Health and Safety Executive where this is alleged to relate to unsafe 
building practices.  This is no different to the position as advised by the Council at the 
time.

Mr Stretton was not present therefore no supplementary question was asked.

g) Andrew Hill of Boyn Hill ward asked the following question of Councillor 
Hilton, Lead Member for Finance and Ascot:

On 26th March Simon Dudley announced at the St Mary's Church Areli/Tikehau 
meeting, that he had “... already entered into” an agreement to sell Central House, and 
our 50% freehold of the Nicholson centre to Areli. On what date did he enter into that 
agreement, and had any officer or Cabinet approved this massive agreement 
beforehand?
A written response was provided:

Thank you for your question. Following discussions between officers of the Council 
and its wholly owned property company with the new owner of the shopping centre 
heads of terms were agreed with them on the 1 March 2019. These were non-binding 
and were there to form the basis for a contract to include the Council’s ownerships 
within a future redevelopment. A report was taken to Cabinet on the 25 April to gain 
formal approval to negotiate and agree a contract on this basis. Cabinet agreed 
delegated authority subject to a report being brought to Council.  On the 23 July 
Council approved the sale of the Council’s freehold interests in Nicholson’s and 
Central House for £6million and delegated authority to enter into contracts for these.

By way of a supplementary question, Mr Hill commented that on 23 July the council 
had approved for the sale of freehold land for basically half of the town centre a few 
minutes from the Crossrail station for nearly £1m pounds. At that meeting Simon 
Dudley noted that the real value lay in the regeneration value which could be in the 
region of £100m. The valuation process clearly did not factor that in and the council 
had not held an open market contested bidding process. The report claimed that ‘the 

19



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

only interest was likely to come from parties who would be seeking to interfere with the 
regeneration plans for Maidenhead.’ Mr Hill asked who was the council referring to 
when it suggested parties would interfere?

Councillor Hilton responded that as he did not have the detailed knowledge, a written 
answer would be provided after the meeting.
Written response provided after the meeting: The Council owns the freehold interest of 
approximately 50% of the shopping centre with an unexpired lease interest of 117 
years in favour of Denhead Sarl. Denhead Sarl, also own the freehold and leasehold 
interest in the remainder of the shopping centre, giving them a substantial property 
interest in the existing shopping centre. Denhead Sarl purchased their interest from 
Vixcroft through an administration process.  The developer Denhead bought from the 
administrator the lease and remaining freehold of the site. 

Due to the length of the unexpired lease  (117 years) the new owners approached the 
council with a view to purchasing the council freehold interest, to enable an extensive 
redevelopment of the town centre.  The Council freehold interest at this point had a 
deminimus value due to the poor performance of the retail sector over the last 3-5 
years, and the declining retail markets. Had the Council decided at this point to put the 
freehold interest to the open market for sale, a) its value would have been deminimus 
b) it would have frustrated the potential redevelopment of the town centre.  Instead it 
agreed in principle to sell the freehold interest to Denhead Sarl, who already held the 
substantial leasehold interest, subject to a s.123 report (an external valuation) 
demonstrating value for money, and best consideration.  Had the Council decided to 
sell this freehold interest on the open market it would have attracted substantially less 
in value that has actually been agreed with the existing leaseholder.  The reference in 
the report to if the Council sold its part of freehold to someone else relates to fact that 
because the developer had already bought the remaining freehold and 117 year lease, 
any organisation who would be likely to buy it, if there were to be any, would do so to 
try and interfere with and frustrate the plans of the developer to redevelop the site as 
they could not redevelop it themselves etc. Clearly, the Council wishes to see the town 
centre regenerated effectively for the good of residents and the local economy and for 
this not to be frustrated or delayed unnecessarily. Exactly who such organisations 
could be would only be known if we tried to sell our part of the freehold in that way 
which for the reasons outlined is not the course of action. 

h) Andrew Hill of Boyn Hill ward asked the following question of Councillor 
Coppinger, Lead Member for Planning and Maidenhead:

Why is the Local Planning Authority putting residents’ health and safety at risk, and 
rewarding developers who significantly breach allegedly "strict" prior planning 
conditions, by retrospectively approving demolition management plans for sites where 
there had already been breaches of several statutes including the Control of Asbestos 
Regulations 2012?

A written response was provided:

Thank you for the question however I do not agree that considering a planning 
application has put residents’ health and safety at risk.  The planning authority is duty 
bound to consider all planning applications received.  This includes where 
retrospective applications are made.  Applications are considered against the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and are assessed against 

20



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

relevant planning policy, and legislation.  The planning system does not regulate the 
control of asbestos.

By way of a supplementary question, Mr Hill commented that the final sentence of the 
written response stated that the planning system did not regulate the control of 
asbestos.  Officers had made comments to the HSE on asbestos; Councillors Carroll 
and Bhangra had been superb in raising the safety issues; on the planning portal there 
were asbestos surveys and consultees included environmental health on dust. It 
appeared to be saying in the final sentence that the council would approve 
retrospectively a construction management plan in circumstances when it was 
concerned about asbestos safety because it was implying it had no right to reject an 
application on that basis. Was that a correct understanding? 

Councillor Coppinger responded that as this was a technical question he would reply 
in writing.

Written response provided after the meeting: Land contamination can be a planning 
matter, however its regulation in terms of safe disposal is not within the control of the 
Planning Department. (N.B. Subsequent to the meeting Cllr Coppinger has also 
sought to arrange for Mr Hill to meet with the Interim Head of Planning to discuss any 
further concerns in person). 

i) Ray Hayes-Brown of Clewer and Dedworth West ward asked the following 
question of Councillor Carroll, Lead Member for Adult Social Care, 
Children’s Services, Health and Mental Health:

Currently 168 vulnerable adults are working in the borough, supported by WIW. You 
propose to continue this with Optalis on a third of the current budget. Have the council 
made proper assessment of the complex needs they all have, and risks they will be 
exposed too if their needs are not supported adequately? With impunity can you 
guarantee their safety?

A written response was provided:

Thank you for your question on this important issue.  Discussions are continuing 
between Commissioners and Ways into Work but we have been told by Ways into 
Work that they intend to continue their employment support for the group of 168 
people who are currently employed.  There are around 78 people who are currently on 
a waiting list that Ways into Work are not yet supporting and a further 79 people who 
Ways into Work are working with but not yet found employment for.  We understand 
the intention is that this group of people will be offered the opportunity to transfer into 
the commissioned service provided through Optalis.

Each individual who is referred into the Supported Employment service provided 
through Optalis, will have an assessment of their needs, their aspirations and 
outcomes that they would wish to achieve and a tailored support plan will be drawn up 
between the Supported Employment coach and the individual.  Optalis work to the 
same high standards required by the British Association of Supported Employment as 
we have required from our existing provider and will apply all of the principles of risk 
assessment for the safety of individuals and staff when assessing and working with 
individuals and employers.

21



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

By way of a supplementary question, Mr Hayes-Brown commented that the response 
said discussions were continuing and they intended to continue their support, but that 
this was not guaranteed. He asked if this was correct? He also asked what would 
happen if the goodwill from Ways Into Work stopped and how could the council ensure 
the continued safety of those vulnerable adults? 

Councillor Carroll responded that in the discussions Ways Into Work had made it clear 
that that was their explicit intention. Along with the Director of Adult Social Care, he 
had received a pledge for that number of people to be retained by Ways Into Work. In 
the eventuality that it did not happen for any reason the council would review and look 
to ensure alternative provision; however at this point there was no indication that 
would be required as a result of the explicit undertaking Ways Into Work had provided. 

j) Valerie Pike of Sunningdale and Cheapside ward asked the following 
question of Councillor Cannon, Lead Member for Public Protection and 
Parking:

The council “…has now explicitly confirmed to the [Information] Commissioner” that it 
holds no information, such as a business case, for the £240k capital scheme 
(Chobham Road, Sunningdale New Parking Scheme) bid for in February 2018. Why 
did RBWM approve this spending without a submitted business case as to what 
benefits this scheme would deliver to residents and how?

A written response was provided:

Thank you for your question. Funding for this project formed part of the budget (capital 
programme) for 2018/19 which was approved by Council on 20th February 2018. 
Formal approval was preceded by consideration at Cabinet and Overview & Scrutiny 
Panels and was, therefore, subject to opportunities to scrutinize and challenge in 
public prior to approval. I understand this information has been provided on previous 
occasions which included input from the Head of Finance.

By way of a supplementary question, Ms Pike commented in that in the last few hours 
since she had received the written response she had gone through the minutes of 
Cabinet on 8 February but she could not find anything related to the project; likewise 
the Communities and Infrastructure Overview and Scrutiny Panels. She asked 
whether a business case was prepared or not? If one had been produced it would 
have identified what the scheme would deliver and how it would be managed. 

Councillor Clark responded that he would look into the issues raised and send a 
written response. Business cases were generally in relation to investments that would 
yield a return. When there were pressures from residents and ward members, the 
business case could merely be for an identified public safety risk.  

Written response provided after the meeting: The scheme to create new parking bays in 
Chobham Road was the subject of public consultation which resulted in 88% support for the 
scheme. In addition, the proposal to introduce a raised pedestrian crossing was consulted 
upon at the same time and resulted in 65% against this element. (For background: Details of 
the scheme are available at 
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200213/parking/664/parking_consultations/15). Issues were 
raised during the design and construction phase raised by concerned residents with respect to 
improving conditions for pedestrians - no formal pedestrian crossing was installed as part of 
the parking scheme which reflects the outcome of the public consultation. However, in order to 

22

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200213/parking/664/parking_consultations/15


COUNCIL - 25.02.20

positively respond to the resident concerns around vehicles speeds and pedestrian crossing 
points a ‘flat-top’ road hump at the southern end of the scheme together with other 
modifications to reduce vehicle speeds and increase awareness of the nature of the area was 
installed. A further commitment was made to review vehicle speeds and pedestrian 
movements following completion of the project. This has been completed and I can advise that 
works have been commissioned to upgrade the ‘flat top’ hump to a pedestrian (zebra) 
crossing.A budget of £240,000 was approved to develop, consult and deliver this project. I am 
pleased to advise that the scheme was delivered within budget and funding is available to 
extend the scope of the scheme to provide a pedestrian crossing.

There was no scheme specific business case for this project as the proposal and 
budget required, was considered and subsequently approved by Cabinet as part of the 
overall capital programme development.  In addition, consideration by Cabinet and 
Overview & Scrutiny formed part of the review of the overall recommended 
programme, of which this scheme formed one part.

k) Valerie Pike of Sunningdale and Cheapside ward asked the following 
question of Councillor Hilton, Lead Member for Finance and Ascot:

When a Parish Council or the Police & Crime Commissioner submit their precept 
demands, what governance and scrutiny is undertaken by RBWM itself to ensure their 
demands are reasonable, fair and value for public money, and in keeping with relative 
size of that parish, or in proportion to the scale of the public services offered? 

A written response was provided:
Thank you for your question. The council has no responsibility for the precepts raised 
by Parish Councils or the Police and Crime Commissioner, it is simply responsible for 
collecting the amounts precepted.   In 2020/21 the increase in the precept for the 
Police and Crime Commissioner was subject to a limit of a £10 increase.  Anything 
above this level would have required a referendum of all constituents in the Thames 
Valley.

Members of Parish Councils are elected and they are responsible for setting the 
Parish precept. Unlike Borough Councils the Parish Council precept increase is not 
capped. Any questions around value for money or the level of increase for either the 
Police of Parish Councils need to be directed to these bodies directly.
Ms Pike confirmed that she did not have a supplementary question.

l) Adam Bermange of Boyn Hill ward asked the following question of 
Councillor Cannon, Lead Member for Public Protection and Parking:

With the proposed savings in funding for our community wardens meaning the 
administration will not be able to fulfil its manifesto pledge to retain a 25 warden-strong 
unit, will the Lead Member commit to holding a public consultation before finalising the 
adjusted tasking of the remaining team?

A written response was provided:

Thank you for your question. Community Wardens currently respond to the needs 
within all RBWM wards. This is not proposed to change. The proposed savings will 
see a reduction in 6 wardens (25 to 19FTE) and as such, coverage by the team as a 
whole will be diluted in terms of the total area patrolled by an individual warden and 
the manner in which they are deployed.

23



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

In order to mitigate any potential impacts and ensure wardens have the ability to meet 
ongoing need, a smarter working pattern for wardens is being implemented by service 
managers. This will see the wardens move away from ad-hoc patrols within a ward, 
towards a more targeted patrol pattern that is much more dependent on risk and 
informed by local intelligence. A public consultation is not proposed to shape this, due 
to the manner in which wardens are tasked, needing to be a dynamic process so that 
any emerging issues can be addressed as required.

To ensure that the intelligence used for tasking is fit for purpose, the warden team are 
committed to expanding the number of mechanisms in which engagement with 
stakeholders (including resident groups and elected members) can occur. Residents 
will retain a named warden for their area, acting as a single point of contact; and be 
able to build relationships and a profile of the issues being encountered in each ward. 

Wardens will continue to provide all current work streams including: antisocial 
behaviour enforcement, engagement with the local community, dog fouling, littering, 
school patrols and support to rough sleepers – albeit in a much more focussed 
manner.

The Community Warden team will continue to provide a visible presence to all wards; 
albeit the degree of time spent in a particular ward will be more dependent on 
intelligence and identified need. 

Assurance should be provided in the core aims of the warden team remaining 
unchanged, namely to build community cohesion and to a provide visible deterrent to 
crime

By way of a supplementary question, Mr Bermange commented that Community 
Wardens did a fantastic job. It had been great news in March 2018 that Cabinet had 
agreed to increase the number from 18 to 25. That report had stated it was not 
realistic to tackle the increasing antisocial behaviour issues and sustain the effective 
working of the Community Warden team within the current resources. He therefore 
asked if the Lead Member would concede that dropping the numbers back down now 
to 19 would be at least become more challenging to tackle the rising antisocial 
behaviour problem?

Councillor Cannon responded that he agreed Community Wardens did a wonderful 
job. The model they were working to at the time required the resources to be 
increased. The council was now reworking the model based on intelligence-led tasking 
therefore the resources in place, combined with the increase in policing resources in 
the Thames Valley meant additional resources would be available. 

m) Louis Wright of Hurley & Walthams ward asked the following question of 
Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental Services, Climate 
Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

Since declaring a "climate emergency" and proposing a cross-party developed 
strategy to achieve carbon neutrality, how has the Royal Borough identified the 
minimum competencies and skills, within its own staff, to understand, develop and 
implement the aforementioned strategy?
A written response was provided:
Thank you for your question. Since declaring the climate emergency, officers and 
Members have been working together to develop the strategy.  This has been done in 

24



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

consultation with the community and special interest groups.  The nature of the 
climate emergency is that the strategy will need to be delivered across all services of 
the Council.  Therefore the cross-party group has utilised knowledge of specialist 
officers across many parts of the council such as waste, transport, biodiversity and 
energy.  We have utilised best practice from other councils and also engaged with 
experts in different fields to generate a wide range of ideas for the strategy. 

Given the importance of this issue, the Council has also recruited two new posts to 
lead the development of the strategy.  A new Head of Infrastructure, Sustainability and 
Economic Growth is now in post.  We have also recruited a new Service Lead for 
Sustainability and Climate Change who will be responsible for finalising and delivering 
the strategy.  They will work with our existing Energy Reduction Manager to co-
ordinate delivery of the strategy working with other services across the council.
Mr Wright was not present therefore no supplementary question was asked.

n) Louis Wright of Hurley & Walthams ward asked the following question of 
Councillor Stimson, Lead Member for Environmental Services, Climate 
Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside:

What plans does the Royal Borough have to engage with young people (children and 
teenage demographics) on the topic of climate change?
A written response was provided:
Thank you for your question. The council has been undertaking a series of public 
engagement meetings to help to generate ideas for the climate strategy.  These have 
been open to all members of the public and have attracted interest from some young 
members of our community.  We also recently held an event specifically for 6-19 year 
olds on Thursday 20th February 2pm-4pm in Maidenhead Library – with around 20 
young people attending the event.  We have also presented at a number of schools to 
raise awareness of climate change and the development of our strategy.  

We will continue to engage on this important matter with the wider community and 
there will continue to be an important role for young people in the process.
Mr Wright was not present therefore no supplementary question was asked.

o) Terence Pike of Sunningdale and Cheapside ward asked the following 
question of Councillor Clark, Lead Member for Transport and 
Infrastructure:

Noting its statement introducing the October 2017 consultation on increasing parking 
availability in Sunningdale by a net 5 bays that “Pedestrians are having difficulty 
crossing Chobham Road”, how does the council plan to create a safe crossing? 
A written response was provided:

Thank you for your question. The scheme to create new parking bays in Chobham 
Road was the subject of public consultation which resulted in 88% support for the 
scheme. In addition, the proposal to introduce a raised pedestrian crossing was 
consulted upon at the same time and resulted in 65% against this element. 

(For background: Details of the scheme are available at 
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200213/parking/664/parking_consultations/15)

25

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200213/parking/664/parking_consultations/15


COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Issues were raised during the design and construction phase raised by concerned 
residents with respect to improving conditions for pedestrians - no formal pedestrian 
crossing was installed as part of the parking scheme which reflects the outcome of the 
public consultation. 

However, in order to positively respond to the resident concerns around vehicles 
speeds and pedestrian crossing points a ‘flat-top’ road hump at the southern end of 
the scheme together with other modifications to reduce vehicle speeds and increase 
awareness of the nature of the area was installed. 

A further commitment was made to review vehicle speeds and pedestrian movements 
following completion of the project. This has been completed and I can advise that 
works have been commissioned to upgrade the ‘flat top’ hump to a pedestrian (zebra) 
crossing.

A budget of £240,000 was approved to develop, consult and deliver this project. I am 
pleased to advise that the scheme was delivered within budget and funding is 
available to extend the scope of the scheme to provide a pedestrian crossing.

Mr Pike was not present therefore no supplementary question was asked.

At the conclusion of the item, Councillor Hill requested that the order of business be 
amended as there were two individuals in the public gallery who wished to hear the 
debate on his motion on notice, which was the last item on the agenda. The Mayor 
responded she did not feel this was appropriate given the budget debate.

78. PETITIONS 

No petitions were presented.

79. REFERRALS FROM OTHER BODIES 

COUNCIL BUDGET 2020/21

Members were addressed by Ms Beaumont-Lall, on behalf of Mr Daniel Griffiths lead 
petitioner for a petition requesting the council to ‘scrap plans to charge for residents 
parking permits.’ Ms Beaumont-Lall explained that unfortunately he had been late in 
opening the petition and had only gathered 91 signatures. She herself had only found 
out about the petition after it had closed. She had tried to put up her own petition but it 
had been rejected as a duplicate. However, she had highlighted the issue on an online 
forum and received support from 628 people in just 24 hours. The amount now 
proposed to be charged for a permit was double the cost when the council had 
previously removed the charges for parking permits in October 2013. Residents were 
seething at the misappropriation of borough money, for example funds used to pay for 
lamppost banners and on re-routing of the Queen Street junction. Ms Beaumont-Lall 
commented that she had looked into resident consultations and Freedom of 
Information requests at the council. She had identified a lack of a systematic 
approach, a lack of proper use of data, and no consideration of qualitative data. This 
was evidence that consultations were not done properly. She had also looked at the 
cost of parking permits in other towns and heritage cities such as Winchester and 
Salisbury; the proposed cost in the borough was higher. None would be needed if the 

26

https://petitions.rbwm.gov.uk/StopCarPermitFee/
https://petitions.rbwm.gov.uk/StopCarPermitFee/


COUNCIL - 25.02.20

town centre planning situation been looked into appropriately and there had been 
sufficient consideration for the number of parking spaces needed for Crossrail.

Members were addressed by Jacob Cotterill, lead petitioner for a petition requesting 
the council to ‘save Advantage Card parking discounts.’ Mr Cotterill highlighted that 
his petition had received over 7000 signatures. The draft proposal was inadequate 
and would affect people’s lives.   The proposal was to save money without a plan to 
make travel in the borough greener, accessible and affordable; it would simply 
inconvenience residents. Less than 12 months previously, in the run up to the local 
elections, banners were erected about low council tax, community wardens and other 
investments. The proposals in the budget for 2020/21 painted a very different picture 
including cuts to Children’s Services and Adult Social Care, increased council tax for 
the vulnerable, reductions in library services and reduced subsidies for local arts. The 
borough council decisions had been taken because the national government had 
hacked at the social fabric of the country for a decade. The council preferred private 
profit over the public good. There had been no mention of a council tax reduction 
scheme when candidates had been seeking election the previous year. 

Mr Cotterill suggested that as the cuts would have consequences Members had the 
opportunity to put right a wrong. They should vote to keep Advantage Card discounts 
and bus subsidies until a long term plan to make travel environmentally friendly and 
accessible to all was in place. The council tax reduction scheme should be retained at 
the current level. Procurement practices should be overhauled. Mr Cotterill suggested 
these proposals could be reconciled with the black hole in the finances by the council 
standing up to the national government and saying it was not prepared to cut services 
further. 

Councillor Hilton presented the budget. He explained that since the publication of the 
agenda, the precept for the Royal Berkshire Fire Authority (Band F) had been 
confirmed as £97.64. Councillor Hilton formally moved all motions contained in items 
7i-7iv. He thanked Directors and officers across the council for the professional 
manner in which they had worked with their respective Cabinet Lead Members, well 
supported by the finance team and the expertise of the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance registered interim accountants.

The administration proposed a transformative, innovative and financially responsible 
budget designed to future-proof the Royal Borough and allow it to protect the 
vulnerable, whilst supporting the discretionary services enjoyed by residents.  

The council had a two-pronged approach to delivering on this aim, firstly transforming 
the Borough and secondly transforming how services were delivered.

Maidenhead was an important part of the transformation. The Braywick Leisure centre 
would open in 2020. The magnificent £36m state-of-the-art replacement for the ageing 
Magnet Leisure Centre would provide a space for everyone to enjoy sports, arts and 
cultural events. It would include bigger and better facilities than the Magnet but in 
keeping with the sustainability agenda was designed to use 70 per cent less energy.

The council had delivered the waterways project and the Stafferton Link Road which 
had improved east/west traffic flow, but the cranes on the Maidenhead skyline were 
evidence of more exciting projects. The council’s joint venture schemes such as the 
Watermark to be followed by St Clouds Way and later the golf course were part of the 
plan to deliver new homes, energise businesses and revitalise the local economy.  

27

https://petitions.rbwm.gov.uk/Parking-subsidy/


COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Importantly, the St Clouds Way and the Watermark developments would provide more 
than 220 new affordable homes.

The regeneration of Maidenhead would increase the council’s income to enable it to 
improve services across the borough, but it would also create capital receipts that 
would help pay for the infrastructure needed to support future housing growth as well 
as projects in Windsor, the south and the rural areas too.

To ensure young people had the best opportunities to succeed, an overall investment 
of £233m in new school places was proposed. The council had already spent more 
than £30m in expanding schools such as Charters in Sunningdale and St Peters in 
Old Windsor.

The council had secured funding from the LEP for a review of the A329 in Ascot.  
Output from this review would inform the rejuvenation of Ascot Centre project and 
could lead to more infrastructure funding. 

Windsor was the jewel in the crown. £1.5m would be spent to improve the public realm 
and support the visitor, retail and hospitality economies, which did so much to support 
vital public services. The council was considering other exciting opportunities to better 
manage coach parking, improve the visitor experience and re-energise Windsor.

The Oaks Leisure Centre remained a borough priority and in addition the council was 
committed to supporting the £640m Lower Thames Scheme that would protect 
residents’ homes from flooding in Datchet and Wraysbury.

Over the next three years the council, the Joint Venture Partners and commercial 
developers would invest more than £78m into transforming the borough. This 
transformation would deliver homes, a revitalised centre to Maidenhead, a re-
energised Windsor and an Ascot Centre to be proud of. Importantly it would promote 
the economic vibrancy essential to support critical public services and vision.

As the borough was transformed, so would the way council services were delivered. 
The council would be responsible, listen to residents and be fair. 

A key principle underpinning this transformation was the response to the declaration of 
a climate emergency:

 The council wished to see recycling rates rise, and it was already seeing 
evidence of behavioural change. The council would support this cultural shift 
through a high-profile public awareness campaign 

 Investing in modern workplace technology and encouraging innovation in 
Achieving for Children.

 Announcing a climate emergency meant taking climate change seriously. With 
this in mind subsidies for polluting vehicles would be cut and the council would 
encourage, where practical, the use of alternative sustainable transport.  The 
council had listened to residents and would be considering options for a parking 
discount offer. 

The second key principle was to fund a more targeted approach, in line with the 
mission of supporting the most vulnerable.

28



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

 This meant investing in staff by hiring more full-time professionals; embracing 
the principle of targeting support to the most vulnerable through family hubs, 
and smarter Adult Social Care in line with and supported by expert opinion. 
Council staff did an amazing job and the small increase in council tax of just 
79.5 pence a week for a Band D council tax payer would ensure that they could 
continue to do their brilliant work.  

The third principle was to ensure the council was more commercial whilst prudent and 
fair in the use of council assets and the provision of services. The council would 
maximise the social and financial value of its commercial portfolio. Examples were the 
refurbished and highly successful York House in Windsor where the council would 
look to maximise returns to residents, and using the Maidenhead regeneration sites to 
deliver affordable homes for the social good. 

All councils, like the Royal Borough, were experiencing increased costs for Children’s 
and Adult Social Care. To give an idea of the scale confronting Local Government, in 
2018/19, 80% of councils overspent their Children’s Care budget by a total of £800m 
and a £2bn overspend was forecast for 2020. Across the country this was 
unsustainable. Lobbying by the LGA led to the announcement of an additional £1bn of 
social care funding. The council would add its weight to the argument that local 
authorities needed more funding.  Councillor Johnson and Councillor Carroll had 
already met with local MPs Adam Afriyie and Theresa May and held meetings with 
Cabinet Ministers. These conversations would continue.

In the meantime, the council was proposing a council tax increase of 1.99% together 
with a 2% Adult Social Care Precept which would pay to support the most vulnerable 
residents. Despite this the Royal Borough would still have the lowest council tax in the 
country outside of London. 

Councillor Hilton concluded that this was a transformative budget that put innovation 
opportunity and financial responsibility at its heart, it was a budget that would allow the 
council to continue to support the most vulnerable and indeed go even further in 
improving their life chances. Transformation was not only about the next year or even 
the year after, but how a borough council was built that was fit for the future. The 
budget proposed such a transformation.

Councillor Johnson second all motions in items 7i-7iv. He stated that the 
administration was resolutely united behind the budget. He acknowledged it was a 
difficult budget with difficult decisions, however the decisions were necessary if the 
council was to return the authority to the long term path of financial stability. All 
Members would be aware of the gravity of decisions to be taken and the legal 
obligation to deliver a balanced budget. He had heard calls for savings but he had not 
heard alternative proposals put forward. There was no credible alternative in the short 
term. The proposed budget was in the interest of the residents of the borough. Council 
would hear from Lead Members as to how they were proposing to build the borough in 
the long term for innovation and transformation, however he highlighted that the 
council was committed to: delivering the Oaks Leisure Centre before the next election, 
provision of affordable housing, finishing the regeneration of Maidenhead and starting 
on the rest of the borough. The Royal Borough would remain a low tax council but with 
the principal of ‘the user pays’ at the forefront. In terms of tackling climate change, the 
council was offering radical plans including discounts for electric vehicles. The 
administration was committed to delivering the budget including all identified savings.

29



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor Jones presented the Opposition response to the budget. She thanked the 
Directors and the Finance team for producing a transparent and honest budget. Given 
the content of the proposed budget she stated that it was the first one, in many years, 
to give all Members the true picture of the council finances. It is a pity that all did not 
have sight of the full budget until 30 January. Opposition members would had 
welcomed the chance to submit an alternative budget but 15 working days was not 
enough time to produce a viable budget. The administration had taken 4 months and 
hours of officer time. 

Councillor Jones commented that this year, for the first time, the truth was set out in 
the budget papers on page 192. Without the government allowing the council to raise 
council tax above the 2% cap it must identify £14m of savings from the revenue 
budget of approximately £90m by February 2022 to prevent the council from having 
negative reserves.  Negative reserves meant the council would be bankrupt.  The 
financial decisions made by the Conservative Administration were the sole cause of 
the council being in the disastrous financial situation. 

Councillor Jones highlighted the ways in which the savings were proposed to be 
achieved: 

 Increasing council tax for the most vulnerable 
 Removing residents parking discounts. She was glad that this was to be 

revisited and hoped this would be brought forward immediately.
 Charging for parking permits. Only in the last year the administration had been 

on social media saying that it would never charge residents to park outside their 
own home.

 Reducing grants to arts, voluntary and community groups.
 Cutting subsidies for bus routes.
 Removing staff from York House, Windsor, which was the face of the council in 

Windsor and turning it into commercial rental 
 Removal of the children’s centres and youth sessions
 A reduction in Community Wardens

Councillor Jones commented that Councillor Hilton had stated in the previous year 
that transparency was important. Transparency had not been evident in previous 
budgets. There had been promises of no cuts to arts and culture, yet now cuts to the 
grants to Norden Farm and The Old Court were proposed. A leisure centre in Ascot 
had been promised however she could not see any expenditure for ‘The Oaks’ in the 
Capital Budget over the next 3 years despite its planning application being approved. 
£12.7m a year had been promised for road maintenance for the next 4 years yet the 
budget for highways works and maintenance for the next year was £3.1m. There had 
been promises not to cut library services, but opening hours were being reduced. 
There had been a 3 year agreement with the Citizens Advice Bureau with promises 
that the council was increasing the grant to support their vital work. Now the grant was 
being cut. Lastly the administration had said that while more than 50% of councils 
planned to use reserves to support the budget, reserves would be increased by £3.5m 
to put the council in a strong position for the coming year. That did not happen, in fact 
reserves had been raided by £550,000 in the current year so far. That equated to £4m 
adrift and the proposal was to use over £2m of reserves to balance the budget next 
year

30



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor Jones highlighted that borrowing was costing the council £6m in 20/21 and 
the Major Capital Cashflow (Appendix G) was not expecting any major capital receipts 
for 10 years. The assertion, made in February 2019 by the then Lead Member for 
Finance, that capital receipts from regeneration investments and developer 
contributions would fully fund all infrastructure investment the borough required 
leaving the council debt free, including the pension deficit, in the medium term future 
should it wish to be so now seemed recklessly speculative.

In fact within the Budget Strategy (Page 177) it stated that the council should 
undertake a review of its property portfolio as an increasing share of the council’s 
budget was taken up with servicing debt. The council would need to consider whether 
to liquidate assets to reduce the heavy burden of debt repayments. Councillor Jones 
commented that it sounded like a fire sale to her and the administration may try to 
make excuses that many councils were in the same situation due to demand in Adult 
and Children’s social care but that was all it was, just an excuse. Yes, there was 
demand but, unlike the administration, many councils had acknowledged the trend for 
demand some years ago. Councillor Jones referred Members to a graph in the 2015 
/16 budget that had demonstrated the risk of ignoring the forecast demand to those 
services. Many councils had refused to plunder their reserves to prop up the revenue 
budget year on year and had not used capital funds for maintenance items. Many 
councils had sufficient reserves to cover any funding shortfalls.

On page 194 paragraph 7.6 it stated the ‘key messages’:

 The council may need to deliver ongoing savings of £15m in the next 4 
years unless it could increase council tax above the 2% cap

 The council had insufficient reserves to sustain the scale of budget 
deficit for more than one year

 The level of reserves meant that it was likely to face a financial tipping 
point earlier than many other councils.

Councillor Jones commented that this was not a debate about quality of services, she 
congratulated the Ofsted ‘Good’ for Children’s Services, it was whether the council 
could afford to deliver them in the future and what would need to be cut next year. As 
Councillor McWilliams had stated the previous year, in a speech read out in his 
absence, ‘whilst all local authority ships were sailing into difficulties of increasing 
pressures of social care they didn’t all have the strong sails of RBWM’ His soundbite 
had been ‘nothing simply happened in politics, everything was a choice’. The 
administration had chosen to ignore the warnings and set budgets to win elections 
without a clear direction of travel. It had chosen to provide services on the ‘never 
never’, hoping to be bailed out by a significant capital cash receipt. That had been the 
administration’s choice. The council was legally not allowed to go bankrupt so the bad 
decision making had necessitated making unwanted cuts to budgets. A table had 
been produced for the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel that highlighted RBWM 
was already a low spending council, spending significantly less per head of population 
than the nearest statistical neighbours and yet it was looking to reduce further.

At Cabinet Councillor Hilton had been blasé about the ability of the Conservative 
administration to deliver the cuts, in fact he mentioned that they had delivered before 
so he could not see an issue. There was £1.6m of pressures in the 20/21 budget book 
that could be attributed to unviable savings, and budgeted income shortfall from the 
current year. This was £1.6m that the administration had said was deliverable last 
year that was not. If it failed again this year to deliver savings then it would hasten the 

31



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

plunge into negative reserves. Funding was made up of council tax income 
(approximately 75%), business rates income and grants. Unfortunately when it came 
to the complex funding formula the government assumed each council would raise a 
certain amount locally. As stated on page 170 with the council’s Band D being much 
lower the government assumed the council was generating £26.6m more funding 
when it allocated grant to the Royal Borough. Paragraph 7 of the report summary 
(page 160) stated that if the government funding settlement for the period 21/22 to 
23/24 reduced funding and did not lift the 2% cap on council tax the council would not 
be in a position to set a balanced budget in 21/22 unless further significant savings 
were identified. Paragraph 4.5 of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (Page 189) 
where the finance department had set out the reasons why the council was at a 
tipping point (insufficient reserves, covering the pension deficit, servicing debt, 
maintaining low level of council tax) it said that more recent pressures around 
Children’s & Adults were widening the gap even further.

If the council could not set a balanced budget in 21/22 or its financial position 
markedly deteriorated next year to a point where reserves did not cover any 
overspend, the council’s S151 officer would have to issue a S114 notice that would 
take control of the finances out of the council’s hands, this could be as early as next 
January. Councillor Saunders, as Finance Lead last year, took exception at Hartlepool 
apparently completely abdicating its responsibility for their council tax rise by blaming 
underfunding by the Conservative government The Opposition expected the 
administration to take full responsibility for the inexcusable financial situation it had 
allowed to happen and not offer up excuses. 

Councillor W. Da Costa proposed an amendment to the budget to allocate £15,000 
from reserves to pay for training officers on climate change. Councillor W. Da Costa 
stated that on 25 June 2019 the Council had declared an environmental and climate 
emergency and committed to achieving net zero carbon emissions by 2050 and 
delivering a strategy to be brought before Full Council within 12 months, in other word, 
June. Since then, there had been increased erosion to coastlines in Norfolk and 
Devon, wildfires and droughts in Yorkshire and Southern farmland, extreme weather 
record temperatures and regular flooding in York, Leeds, Wales, North Somerset and 
even along the Thames, and one quarter of UK mammals now faced the risk of 
extinction.

The lungs of the planet were burning in the Amazon, record temperatures had killed 
thousands in Europe and Australia, there had been wildfires in Australia, loss of 
glaciers, melting of sea ice at record levels, changes in sea currents, and biodiversity 
was threatened with extinction levels not seen since the loss of the dinosaurs. Worse 
than that, greenhouse gases and temperature rises were causing acidification of the 
oceans and permafrost thawing in arctic regions, releasing large amounts of 
previously locked in greenhouse gases into the atmosphere to compound the 
situation. 

At the present rate of greenhouse gas emissions, scientists thought that there were 
only around five years left to massively reduce greenhouse gases emissions to net 
zero, or face extremely dangerous levels of climate change that would threaten our 
species. As UN Secretary General Guterres had warned last summer, the world was 
close to the point of no return and needed to find solutions, not excuses. Urgent and 
intense effort was required by the council.

32



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor W. Da Costa explained that he had spent the last six months attending 
training courses, talking and working with professors, scientists, climate change 
specialists, DEFRA, legislatures in Wales and Scotland, European councils, and 
Natural England, and spending much time at the Centre for Alternative Technology in 
Wales. This was a new science for humanity, but it was not easy. It was complex, with 
many feedback mechanisms and interrelated aspects:

 Generating renewable electricity
 Energy use for buildings
 Transportation networks and electric vehicles
 Land use, moving away from development on green belt and green fields
 Planning regimes to ensure that all developments and buildings were carbon 

neutral
 Farming, food sources and diets

The good news was that the solutions, methodologies, and training existed. Solutions 
which could safeguard the future for our children, and bring increasing health, wealth 
and vitality for all. Training could make the council experts on climate change, 
biodiversity and climate change resilience and, to apply it to relevant fields or work.

Councillor W. Da Costa asked who would need this deep level of training; who would 
prepare an Environmental and Climate Change strategy to build in resilience to the 
extremes that were coming; who were the experts in property, outsourcing, planning, 
waste, transportation, finance, schooling, and education to name but a few areas? The 
answer was the council officers. 

Councillor W. Da Costa highlighted that the council had committed to producing a 
strategy by June 2020. This was therefore the last chance to put funding in place for 
the 20/21 budget year, to equip officers to understand and apply zero carbon 
methodologies and environmental sciences to their areas of responsibility. The 
proposal was for £15,000 one off seed funding. Councillor Stimson was working hard 
to raise funds for the future, but as yet those funds had not materialised, hence his 
proposal. 

Councillor W. Da Costa blamed the spreadsheets. The complex, iterated 
spreadsheets meant a line had been missed. He was giving an opportunity to put that 
line back in. The council should turn back the point of no return and face the future 
together with bravery by equipping and investing in officers to make a truly future 
proofed budget that would help young people. 

Councillor Davies seconded the amendment motion. She was disappointed that the 
budget did not include a coherent response to the climate change.  On one level it 
said that removal of Advantage Card discounts was part of the response but it also 
increased costs for green waste bins. There was no funding for climate emergency 
work. The council was in danger of losing the goodwill of the group of committed 
residents who had been involved. 

Councillor Stimson commented that she was sure that by June funding would have 
been identified for training; however she did not wish to dig into reserves and amend 
the budget, therefore she could not support the amendment. It was very important that 
officers were trained so they all understood the complexity of the issues. 

33



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor C. Da Costa commented that Councillor Stimson’s statement that the 
council might have the money by June was not good enough. If it would be available 
she suggested the funding be made available now and added back into reserves by 
June. 

Councillor Hill commented that he was staggered that there was no budget line to 
address climate change. He would have expected at least £500,000 for such a major 
issue.  He expressed concern that the last green lung with mature trees in 
Maidenhead (the golf course site) would be removed.

Councillor Rayner commented that all Members supported the work on climate 
change. There was a corporate training budget that all service areas could bid for and 
she felt this was the appropriate way to take the proposal forward. 

Councillor Carroll commented that the existing training budget should be considered 
first and therefore asked the Lead Member to undertake a review in conjunction with 
the Director of Resources and Head of HR, Corporate Projects and IT. All sorts of 
training options were available and these needed to be assessed to ensure a 
comprehensive and systematic approach. 

Councillor Werner stated that he was disappointed in the administration’s response; it 
said it wanted to fight climate change but when it came to putting money where its 
mouth was it did not deliver. Funding was needed in the budget and he therefore 
thought a proper assessment would already have been undertaken. 

Councillor Johnson confirmed the administration had a resolute and undying 
commitment to tackle climate change. He found the Opposition approach to be greatly 
inconsistent as Members had commented that money should not be taken out of the 
revenue budget because the council had no money left but others then suggested 
spending £500,000 on the issue or using £15,000 of reserves for training. There was a 
corporate budget of £74,000 for training. Officers had already started to come up with 
ideas such as parking discounts for electric vehicles.  He highlighted that town centre 
densification helped to avoid building on the green belt. The council had opposed 
Heathrow expansion including committing £100,000 to the fight. An asset review was 
planned which would include a review of the carbon footprint. There was also a need 
to provide homes in the borough; simply saying no development was not an option. 
The council needed to build an economic climate to enable it to tackle climate change 
issues.  The council would play its part but in the confines of what a local authority 
could do. 

Councillor Davey highlighted that given the amount of money that had been wasted, 
£15,000 out of reserves would not have much impact. Members needed to understand 
the borough’s strategy. In relation to electric vehicles, he commented that it took eight 
years to justify returns in comparison to normal cars. 

Councillor McWilliams commented that the budget had been through rigorous scrutiny 
with officers and Opposition Members feeding in. Proposing an amendment at such a 
late stage without any semblance of a plan was not the right way forward. 

Councillor Jones highlighted that the amendment stated outcomes were to be clearly 
defined before training would commence. £15,000 was less than had been spent on 

34



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

plastic banners in 2019. If it was found later on that the training was not needed, the 
money could be put back into reserves.

Councillor Walters commented that this was his 46th budget. The Conservatives had 
passed the Climate Change bill; all were on the same side. The amendment looked 
like an artificial creation to draw a political divide that did not exist. The Leader had 
already pointed out the practical things that were being done to address the issue. 

Councillor Stimson explained that she had said she would second the motion later in 
the agenda about allowances, not the amendment that proposed taking money from 
reserves. She would be willing to put her entire allowance in if necessary to show her 
commitment. 

Councillor Hilton referred to Councillor Jones’ earlier speech in which she had said the 
council was close to the edge and may need to issue a S114 notice yet was also now 
saying it was ok to take money out of reserves.  Councillor Johnson had already 
highlighted the £74,000 budget for training. 

Councillor Jones commented that she was disappointed at the attacks given a 
reasonable amendment had been put forward. She was looking for a commitment in 
some form from the administration; it could be in a different format. 

Councillor W. Da Costa commented that Councillor Stimson had worked very hard, 
but it was officers that needed the training.  He would be happy for the amendment to 
be changed so that money could be allocated now but put back into reserves at a later 
date if not needed. He was not keen for it to come out of the corporate training budget 
as this would detriment other officers. The pivotal issue was that training was needed 
now rather than after the strategy was produced. 

A named vote was taken on the amendment proposed by Councillor W. Da Costa and 
seconded by Councillor Davies: 17 Councillors voted for the motion; 22 Councillors 
voted against the motion; 1 Councillor abstained.  The motion therefore fell. 

Amendment to budget - £15,000 from reserves to fund officer training on climate 
change (Amendment)
Councillor John Baldwin For
Councillor Clive Baskerville For
Councillor Christine Bateson Against
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra Against
Councillor Simon Bond For
Councillor John Bowden Against
Councillor Catherine del Campo For
Councillor David Cannon Against
Councillor Stuart Carroll Against
Councillor Gerry Clark Against
Councillor David Coppinger Against
Councillor Carole Da Costa For
Councillor Wisdom Da Costa For
Councillor Jon Davey For
Councillor Karen Davies For
Councillor Phil Haseler Against
Councillor Geoffrey Hill For

35



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor David Hilton Against
Councillor Maureen Hunt Against
Councillor Andrew Johnson Against
Councillor Greg Jones Against
Councillor Lynne Jones For
Councillor Neil Knowles For
Councillor Ewan Larcombe For
Councillor Sayonara Luxton Against
Councillor Ross McWilliams Against
Councillor Gary Muir Against
Councillor Helen Price For
Councillor Samantha Rayner Against
Councillor Joshua Reynolds For
Councillor Julian Sharpe Against
Councillor Shamsul Shelim Against
Councillor Gurch Singh Against
Councillor Donna Stimson Abstain
Councillor John Story Against
Councillor Chris Targowski Against
Councillor Helen Taylor For
Councillor Amy Tisi For
Councillor Leo Walters Against
Councillor Simon Werner For
Rejected

Councillor Baldwin commented that the deafness on behalf of the Conservative 
administration had been induced by the previous large majority. Councillors Werner 
and Jones had been routinely mocked for their Cassandra-like predictions. However, 
stakes were too high for petty recriminations.  The talents of all 41 councillors should 
be used. Councillor Johnson had promised a collegiate approach; now was the time to 
deliver on this promise. 

Councillor Baldwin suggested that the CIL rate for all town centre developments 
should be raised to 15%. The collection of CIL was very important but the council 
continued to allow a 0% rate in the areas of greatest density. Property developers took 
the long view. £7500 on each of 12,000 buildings roughly equated to £9m in 
uncollected capital receipts. Councillor Baldwin felt it was time to end the subsidy to 
wealthy corporations. 

Councillor Reynolds commented that less than a year ago local elections had been 
held; now with one notable exception the policies could not be more different. He 
wished to focus on what residents were told compared to what they were going to get. 
The 24 hour pothole pledge had now been ended. There was no budget for the Oaks 
Leisure Centre. 28 Community Wardens had been reduced to 19. The budget no 
longer referred to expansion of the Windsor Leisure Centre. A lot of people had been 
let down. 

Councillor C. Da Costa began by stating that the council had excellent officers leading 
both Adults and Children’s services. She welcomed the Ofsted report showing that 
Achieving for Children were rated as ‘Good’. The challenge was to remain as ‘Good’ 
or aspire to improve despite the cuts in funding. She had seen reports that 
consultations had taken place but were not always taken into account. She urged the 

36



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

council to listen to the parents who would respond to the current consultation on 
Children’s Centres. She was concerned that the borough would become reliant on 
church and voluntary groups to provide services. In particular she was concerned 
about training of youth leaders. Voluntary groups did not have full training to 
understand all safeguarding issues. She asked the borough to provide sufficient 
training. She suggested this could be funded by stopping wine after full Council 
meetings. 

Councillor Rayner thanked the Lead Member, officers in the finance team and all the 
officers throughout the council who had worked so hard to deliver a balanced budget 
in light of rising adult and children’s services costs.

The budget showed the council’s commitment to transformation with IT beginning with 
the move to the modern workplace roll out phase 1 putting in new computers and 
screens across many departments at RBWM which had been a huge success 
increasing the capabilities and effectiveness of many departments. This would 
continue in 20/21 as the whole organisation updated the final wave with £800,000 for 
phase 2. 

Braywick Leisure centre would complete within the year with the opening on 5 
September 2020. The progress was now evident and looking stunning. The leisure 
centre would provide outstanding sport and community facilities to residents and 
secure its future as the Magnet was at the end of its life. Following the Magnet 
demolition the project for building of much needed homes on the St Clouds site would 
begin.

The jewel in the crown was Windsor. Windsor, like many towns, had seen a decline in 
the High Street and a change in how people spent their leisure time and how they 
shopped. The borough was fortunate the castle was the most popular of all Royal 
Estate properties and so Windsor was changing to react to these new habits and 
environment. 

The budget, through LEP funding, was putting £1.563m to improve to the public realm 
in Windsor and making better the visitor and local experience in the town centre. This 
would be the beginning of revitalising and preparing Windsor for the future which was 
vital for the economy and businesses. 

The businesses were a key strategic partner as plans were developed. The council 
was fortunate to have so many local and international businesses who were 
committed. Moving forward the council hoped to work much closer with them and work 
on projects to develop the economy and community. 

With the budget there had been challenges for officers and Lead Members to find 
savings and income in their service areas. She thanked library and resident services 
who had worked with her. She had been impressed by their professionalism in 
protecting residents and the vulnerable and allowing the borough to still be one of the 
best library services in the country based on the number of hours open by population. 

The proposal was to reduce the opening hours, one of these changes was to open 
every day apart from Sunday. There would be some evening opening but reduced 
from the current times. The council recognised how important the library was to 
residents, supported by excellent footfall, digital and physical book loan numbers. 

37



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

The other proposal was to move customer service from York House where it was 
originally before the new development at York House, back to the library. The move to 
the library in Windsor was so successful that people were still choosing that in 
preference to York House. 

The team also look after resident and parking permits. The new scheme was 
proposed to cover administrative costs; a fee of £50 for the first permit and £70 for 
second permits. This would put the council in line with other councils locally for 
example Runnymede charged £50 for the first car and £70 for the second. Guildford 
was £50 and £80 and Reading was £40 and £150. To promote the environment and 
electric cars there would be no charge for fully electric cars. This would also provide 
data for future electric charging points across the borough.

This budget was about a lot of change but there were also so many opportunities to be 
better. 
Councillor Del Campo commented that when the council declared it was going to 
‘transform early years and youth services to be targeted at the most vulnerable, the 
statement was disingenuous in a number of ways. The euphemistic use of the word 
‘transformation’ suggested there would be a massive improvement to services but in 
reality it was a reduction in investment and service levels in some areas. While none 
would disagree with the idea of supporting the most vulnerable residents, Councillor 
Del Campo’s question had always been: ‘How do we support those people who are 
not yet on the radar?’

Until now, the net had been cast as far and wide as possible. Now, the council was 
asking the fish to make their own way to the boat; many would not come. By 
concentrating services in two hubs, the council was forcing people who did not have 
cars onto public transport. When someone was in crisis, it could sometimes be difficult 
to get out of the front door, never mind navigating an unreliable public transport 
service. Again, many would not come. Many of the issues families encountered were 
hidden. People did not tend to talk openly about domestic abuse, drug or alcohol 
abuse, or financial worries. However specially trained staff at local drop-in centres, like 
the Children’s Centres, were able to spot the signs and signpost people to the correct 
support. She disagreed with the assumption that these people would look to the 
private sector instead. Some were living with the effects of austerity and zero-hours 
contracts. They would not come, and they would not get the support they needed. 

Councillor Del Campo commented that it seemed to be strange to be voting on the 
issue now, without knowing the outcome of the consultation. She joined others in 
congratulating the teams and individuals involved in achieving the results of the recent 
Ofsted inspection of Children’s Services and the borough’s SEND provision. However, 
the council must acknowledge that there was still much to be done. After Children’s 
Services received a ‘requires improvement’ judgement in 2015, things got significantly 
worse before they got better, and this meant that the baseline the council was working 
from was actually lower than ‘requires improvement’. This was, perhaps, why Ofsted 
noticed that “the legacy of poorer practice is still evident for children in some areas of 
the service”. Staff turnover was still a massive issue and, according to Ofsted, work to 
address services for care leavers was still in its infancy. 

It was vital that the council continued to drive forward improvements to Children’s 
Services and SEND offering, without losing any momentum, to avoid a whole 
generation of young people missing out on the opportunity to live their best lives.

38



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor Del Campo commented that this year’s cuts were just the beginning and 
that savings would need to be made year on year to give the council the best chance 
of avoiding financial disaster. The Conservatives had had 12 years to get this right. 

Councillor Coppinger confirmed that the CIL rate was determined by an Inspector 
based on evidence of need, not by the council. 

Councillor Larcombe commented that he wanted to focus on what had been left out of 
the budget. Members had twice heard that the River Thames Scheme protected 
people in the borough. Water from Maidenhead went down the Jubilee River and 
ended up in Datchet, Horton and Wraysbury and other wards downstream. The cost of 
the River Thames Scheme was £640m and the best guess was that this would 
increase by £1m for every week it was delayed. The stated budget at the start of the 
project had been £230m.  The council would have to find another £40m; Cllr 
Larcombe questioned where this would come from. The Jubilee River had cost £100m 
but had design flaws, increased costs of repair and only worked at two-thirds of 
capacity. 

Councillor Tisi commented that Members had been told that the proposals were not 
cuts, but were part of a transformation project. They had also been told the proposals 
were planned even if the financial situation had not been in disarray. She asked what 
kind of council would cut Children’s Centres or deliberately price people out of using 
the town centres? The administration should have seen this coming, Member of the 
Opposition had said the council was heading into choppy waters but they had been 
ignored. Residents felt they were getting very little for their council tax. The parking 
discount was one way they did receive a benefit. There was no equity when residents 
in Maidenhead would experience an 83% increase, whereas in Windsor the increase 
would be £340%.  She understood that Windsor captured tourists who had no choice 
to pay higher prices. However this meant residents could not avoid the costs to 
undertake daily tasks or to work in the town. To claim the proposals were 
environmentally-motivated was laughable; the subsidised bus rate was about to be 
cut. Like many she could not afford electric cars to benefit from the free parking. There 
was no guarantee that the proposals would increase income as people would go 
elsewhere and footfall would reduce. Solutions were needed but not ones that 
punished residents. 
Councillor Baskerville commented that barely six months after launching a much-
lauded 24-hour fix-it policy, the administration had decided to scale it back, having 
concluded the job had been done. After one of the wettest and windiest winters on 
record, residents might be excused for thinking such a statement was premature. 
Standing water and frosty mornings were not conducive to keeping repaired potholes 
in pristine condition. Asphalt lifted out and holes re-appeared as quickly as they were 
filled. Filling holes to a decent depth and sealing the edges properly were the 
minimum requirements if the work was to hold. Whether the £450,000 reportedly used 
to repair 471 potholes was money well spent, especially at a time of cutting budgets, 
was a moot point. Potholes would continue to appear and would need to be filled. 
Whether it was done in 24 hours or 24 days, people would still need to get around the 
borough safely and without too much inconvenience. The important thing was that the 
people of the borough needed to have confidence that the council was doing a good 
job; the jury was still out on that. On a more general point, amid all the claims and 
political spin of what had and had not been done over the last decade, Councillor 
Baskerville hoped he was not alone in feeling that a bit of humility and self-reflection 
opposite was needed more than ever. Councillor Baskerville felt that one word would 
be a start; that word was ‘sorry’.

39



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor Werner commented that this was the most appallingly shocking budget he 
had seen in the 27 in which he had been a Councillor  He highlighted that residents 
wanted to use the green waste collection scheme but would be taxed for doing so; the 
budget was therefore anti-green. Children’s Centres were being closed, the budget 
was anti-families. He highlighted that the consultation would close after the budget 
was agreed. Youth clubs were being closed; the budget was anti-young people. 
Proposals for the council tax reduction scheme meant the budget was anti-vulnerable 
people. Parking costs would increase so people would go elsewhere; the budget was 
anti-town centre. More business would close and there would be less business rates. 
These were all knock-on effects of decisions being made. Councillor Werner 
questioned the efficiency savings associated with services being contracted-out as 
research showed they were no longer true and councils were bringing contracts back 
in house to save money. The council should invest to save, not sell assets to generate 
revenue. Councillor Werner commented that he had previously nicknamed budgets, 
for example the ‘gamblers’ budget’. He was naming this year’s budget as ‘evil and 
stupid’. 
Councillor Price stated that her residents were angry and she was also angry.  She 
was angry at a budget which had not truly considered its impact on residents and 
businesses. A budget that Members were being told had to be, because of the 
administration’s financial mismanagement and smoke and mirrors.   Councillor Price 
provided examples of the impact on two of her residents as a result of the removal of 
the Advantage Card discount on parking:

 A family with two children in nursery in the centre of Windsor.  The father 
had worked out it would cost them an additional £40 per week, with 
dropping off and picking up, shopping, and children’s activities.   This 
family would have to earn another £2,500 per annum to pay for this 
alone and there was more to come via council tax increases, green bin 
collection etc.   No one could suddenly switch on additional income like 
that so they would likely have to find another nursery and children’s 
activities elsewhere. 

 A man who took his elderly mum into Windsor for banking and also did 
errands and helped out other lonely elderly people.  He had worked out it 
would cost him an extra £60 per month.  He had told Councillor Price he 
would carry on supporting his mother obviously but just could not afford 
any more. The result was that elderly residents became isolated lonely 
and less supported

Councillor Price stated that she had spoken to traders in Windsor. Their customers 
had said they would not be shopping there anymore.  She had read the reactions on 
social media with residents stating they would be cancelling their gym membership if 
they had to pay for parking in the evenings.   Windsor businesses were in a fragile 
state anyway and a reduced tourism footfall.   

Councillor Price then focussed on cuts in supporting the voluntary sector.   Cutting 
£220,000 of revenue next year, rising to £250,000 the year after.   She questioned 
how such cuts of eye-watering magnitude matched the strategic priority of enabling 
the community and voluntary sectors to flourish.  The administration was presenting a 
budget significantly cutting back on non-essential services to residents and assuming 
that the voluntary sector would step forward to fill these cuts. However the budget was 
also hacking the community organisations off at the knees.  The council should be 
building its community infrastructure not cutting back.  However it appeared that the 

40



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

administration had an approach of zero investment in people and the community, just 
in bricks and mortar.  The voluntary sector would not be able to step forward, being 
starved of funds.  

Councillor Price referred to the proposal to take away £330,000 from the poorest 
residents by changing the Council Tax Reduction Scheme.  The administration 
claimed to be protecting the most vulnerable; she posed the question, were the poor 
not the most vulnerable? Councillor Price explained that one of her residents was 
disabled, a tetraplegic who received Council Tax Reduction.   After the reduction in 
support and the annual increase that would go up around 1.5 times.   Not available on 
prescription were his incontinence sheets, gloves, and medications which were rising 
in price faster than any rise in benefits. Gardening was his major solace and his green 
bin cost was to rise.  Councillor Price had asked him how he would manage with all 
the increases and he had told her he would just have to stop activities.  He could 
appeal, but with appeals for his Clinical Care he found this very stressful and time 
consuming.   In her ward of Clewer and Dedworth East, multiple deprivation statistics 
clearly showed high levels of deprivation, in the worst 30% in England.  Radian, the 
local social housing provider, found that of all their Thames Valley housing, the most 
deprived residents lived in Clewer and Dedworth East and West.   This meant such 
residents (well over 1000) were deprived in terms of income, employment, health and 
disability, education and training, and crime.   She questioned why the administration 
believed such residents would just happen to have loose change in their pockets to 
pay more each week and assumed the same collection rate would be achieved. There 
was no fund to pay for mitigation that she could find in the budget.

Councillor Bhangra congratulated his fellow ward colleague Councillor Carroll and all 
the RBWM team involved in the fantastic work in receiving a Good rating from Ofsted 
for Children's Services. He also thanked all Royal Borough officers for the work they 
had done on the budget. Councillor Bhangra explained that he had been contacted by 
residents in respect of how the budget proposals would affect grant funding for Norden 
Farm Centre for the Arts, which was a jewel and real asset in the Royal Borough and 
something that both Councillor Carrol and he were extremely proud to have in the 
ward of Boyn Hill.

He knew how important Norden Farm was; like many other community groups and 
cultural organisations in the Royal Borough it was lifeline and centre-point for 
communities providing many social and beneficial activities. Both his daughters had 
been taught drama and Bollywood dancing at Norden Farm over many years. All 
councils were experiencing challenging financial positions so the Royal Borough was 
no different to the rest of the country. There were significant pressures in both adults 
and children’s services and the council was working to reduce the gap between 
income and expenditure. There had been a lot of misinformation being sent out on 
social media recently. The council provided £200,000 to community groups to support 
a variety of voluntary, community and cultural organisations across the borough. The 
grant funding for Norden Farm in 2019/2020 increased by £58,000 due to wage 
pressure increases and assistance. On the whole Norden Farm had received grant 
funding of £100,000 for four years prior to 2019/20. In 2020/21 the funding would be 
£141,000 and the following years £125,000, so in essence £25,000 more than in 
2018/2019. RBWM owned the freehold and Norden Farm was not required to pay any 
rent.

41



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Alongside Councillor Carroll and Rayner he had been working closely with the 
manager at Norden Farm to seek additional funding through various channels for 
example The Arts Council England, setting up crowd funding and meeting with the 
local Members of Parliament the thus bringing this important matter to their attention. 
They had both written to The Arts Council seeking funding assistance for Norden 
Farm.

Councillor Bhangra highlighted that the borough was a low tax council, the eighth 
lowest in England. Neighbouring authorities were mainly in the higher council tax rate. 
In 2019/20, Band D costs were:

 In the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead £1,036 per annum

 In Slough £1,367; £361 higher than the Royal Borough 

 In Wokingham £1,484; £448 higher than the Royal Borough 

 In Reading was £1,627; £591 higher than the Royal Borough 

Members had difficult decisions to make which were not easy, but that what it did now 
would reflect on years to come, bringing the council finances into an improved 
position. 

Councillor Cannon thanked officers in parking and finance for the complex job 
undertaken in relation to the parking budget, with the assistance of some members of 
the Opposition who had given constructive and helpful suggestions. Unfortunately they 
were not financially viable at the current time. He highlighted that standard tariffs were 
being frozen across the borough, it was only season tickets that were increasing by 
inflation. He recognised that the proposal to remove the Advantage Card discount has 
caused great concern to many residents, particularly in Windsor.  It was not something 
that the administration would have chosen to do. Councillor Cannon announced that, 
in the interest of fairness the elected councillor borough-wide parking discounts would 
also be withdrawn.  There were two key considerations that had influenced the 
proposals on parking discounts. One was the inequity of the discounted charges 
across the car parking estate.  The differential between discounted Advantage Card 
tariffs and the standard tariffs ranged from an average discount in Victoria Street, 
Windsor of 67% to an average at the Magnet Leisure Centre of 18%.  Equally, he 
recognised that parking tariffs were generally higher in Windsor and therefore the 
removal of the discounts had a particularly negative effect. The second consideration 
was the council’s commitment to respond to the climate change emergency.  It was 
crucial that the future parking strategy aligned with those aims. After taking into 
account both of these considerations, the council was currently undertaking a review 
of a number of options for parking charges within an overall borough parking strategy.  
This would particularly focus on the issues in Windsor. He could confirm that, subject 
to proper due process, new arrangements would take effect from 1 September 2020. 
He stressed that it was important that the work was not rushed and that it was properly 
implemented.  This timeframe would enable council Members and residents to 
consider what was being done and fully understand the implications.

Councillor Stimson explained that her cabinet portfolio comprised Environmental 
Services, Climate Change, Sustainability and Parks and Countryside, which was a 
wonderful combination of everything that pointed towards a wonderful new world. In 

42



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

terms of the difficult budget path, there had been some horrible decisions to make 
which Members had spent several months working through with the finance team.  
The two that had the most effect on her portfolio were the increased cost to the green 
waste subscription service (to bring it more in line with neighbouring boroughs), and 
getting rid of the free Saturday collection of green refuse that the council offered.  
Neither of these were taken lightly, with the knowledge that they might increase 
negative behaviour.  The council had to balance its budget, in the end it was choosing 
between a rock and a hard place. 

Councillor Stimson confirmed that at Council in June, the council would be unveiling 
its Climate Resilience Strategy.  The strategy would be coalescing around four key 
areas. In relation to natural capital, how to preserve and grow green and blue 
infrastructure, and how to start to join the dots for nature recovery networks in the 
borough and ensure that urban areas had more green within them.  In terms of 
renewable energy, how to become a more carbon neutral borough quickly, how to be 
more energy efficient, and how to ensure businesses in the borough paid the same 
attention to carbon reduction. In terms of sustainable mobility how to become a 
healthier borough, walking and cycling more, have a low carbon transport plan, no 
idling zones, and a parking strategy to encourage low carbon behaviour. In addition a 
circular economy, in other words how to waste less, use less, re-use more, and 
eliminate single use wherever possible from the borough.  If there were savings in this 
regard she would do her best to keep them to support the strategy. These areas would 
be supported by communications and engagement, monitoring and measurement, and 
funding. The council would work with the government, Opposition Members and 
residents as it was a borough strategy not a council strategy.  

Councillor W. Da Costa suggested there were two leading-edge opportunities for the 
council including funding opportunities. The council could be the first to hold a climate 
change assembly for residents and involving Natural England to help with the green 
and blue infrastructure. In relation to parking charges, freezing charges was not really 
fair as the costs in Windsor were higher than in Maidenhead.  There would be a 300% 
increase in charges in two years if the removal of the Advantage Card discount was 
taken into account. This would sap energy out of the town and reduce footfall. The 
administration had spoken of a £1.5m investment in Windsor, he suggested some of 
this funding should be used to bring back Advantage Card discounts in Windsor.  In 
relation to parking permits, Councillor W. Da Costa commented that the ridiculously 
appalling planning policy had not been updated and therefore the council allowed 
developments without sufficient parking which inevitably spilled out into side areas. 
Management of HMOs in the borough was also an issue. The Leader of the Council 
had said he wanted a low tax council but this also meant having the lowest income 
despite cost pressures, which lead to further costs. Free parking for electric vehicles 
was great but only the rich could afford them at the moment.

Councillor Hill used the analogy of “The Once Good Ship RBWM” in his budget 
speech. He explained that it all started many years ago when Able Seaman Dudley 
worked his passage to join the senior ranks, supporting Captain Burbage.  The course 
was set, reducing cabin fares and costs, and looking good at party headquarters. 
‘Lookout’ Jones was the first to spot two icebergs heading towards the ship. Lost in 
legend they were known as ‘the daddy of all debts’ and ‘pension fund deficit’.  Very 
few listened as ‘Lookout’ Jones battled alone trying to get a change of course. In a 
mutiny, Captain Burbage was demoted and newly promoted Captain Dudley took 
control of the “RBWM”.

43



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Entering increasingly rough waters ‘Lookout’ Jones persistently warned of trouble 
ahead.  Councillor Hill explained that he and others, also seeing trouble ahead, started 
to openly disagree with Captain Dudley.  All were swiftly demoted. Councillor Hill and 
others pressed charges against the now all-powerful Captain Dudley.  It came as a 
bitter blow when Captain Dudley, backed by all but a few, survived.  The knowing stole 
away in life-boats but Councillor Hill stayed to walk the plank.  Councillor Hill, 
however, wearing a life-vest, managed get back on board through one of the sea-
doors just above the water-line.

Councillor Hill continued his analogy: Life on-board was getting tougher and tougher 
under Captain Dudley.  More crew members disappeared in life-boats and there were 
tales of officers being thrown over-board.  The passengers were becoming restless 
and complaining about constant cuts in services and ever-increasing extra charges.  
The complaints were now reaching the mainland with news reports and rumours 
constantly circulating the ship. Things were looking bad for Captain Dudley as ‘the 
daddy of all debts’ and ‘pension fund deficit’ could now be clearly seen on the horizon. 
Then one morning an announcement came:  Captain Dudley had left in the dead of 
night never to be seen again.  There was mounting fear of ‘pension fund deficit’, as if 
on auto-pilot, she would collide with the ship ripping a gash out of the hull below the 
water-line.  The valiant but now skeleton crew would work around the clock to repair 
the damage and pray she did not hit again, but they knew she would.

The new Captain Johnson (parachuted in from the mainland) unwittingly took the job 
only to discover just how close to doom the ship was. The Senior Technical Officer 
managed to get expert help to diagnose the faults with the rudder and engines.  They 
battled to find ways to repair the damage done by lack of maintenance of previous 
commands, so the “RBWM” could change course. Desperate to raise cash but 
hamstrung by company policy Captain Johnson was set to increase cabin fares, sadly 
the highest proposed increases must go to cabins housing the poorest passengers.  
The captain must also increase costs for all manner of much-needed rations across 
the ship. Passengers were becoming even more restless and very angry, however, 
those vital supplies were becoming beyond the Captain’s reach.

Councillor Hill’s analogy concluded that nevertheless, some on board continued to be 
blissfully unaware of what an iceberg could do to a ship, let alone being without funds 
to buy much needed supplies. No one quite knew the future of the “The Once Good 
Ship RBWM”, for certain there had been many failures of governance, scrutiny and 
leadership.  On her current course bankruptcy loomed along with fatal collision. The 
Captain desperately tried to change course but found himself stuck between the devil 
and the deep blue sea. There was little room to manoeuvre in the now renamed 
“RBWM Titanic”. 

Councillor Carroll commented that there had been much misinformation relating to 
adult social care, social services and public health. Funding for adult social care would 
increase by £1.9m and for children’s services by £1.2m. The council had taken the 
adult social care precept at the earliest opportunity, under the previous Lead Member. 
In children’s services a proactive transformation plan had been embarked upon to 
focus on high cost placements. Plans were in place to move from ‘Good’ to 
‘Outstanding in terms of Ofsted rating in the next four years. The council followed the 
evidence, as recommended by the Children’s Commissioner, for example in relation to 
children’s hubs.

44



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor Carroll explained that there were significant demographic pressures. There 
was a need to move to prevention strategies and the use of assisted technology. 

Councillor Clark highlighted the major investment in infrastructure, initially in 
Maidenhead but then across the borough in the medium term. He highlighted a 
number of schemes:

 Maidenhead missing link - £2.8m
 Maidenhead station interchange car park - £4.6m
 Road maintenance - £5m, including capital resurfacing (£1.9m), find and fix 

pothole pledge (£100,000)

Councillor Clark commented that the find and fix scheme worked very well. Once 
identified, potholes were fixed on a priority basis. Between September and December 
2019, 471 potholes had been identified and 476 were repaired as adjacent potholes 
were also identified on inspection. 

Councillor McWilliams commented that he wanted to focus on the future. The council, 
not just the staff and the facilities the council provided but the residents, the local 
economy and the infrastructure all ensured that the borough had fundamental 
essential strengths. He encouraged everyone to respond to the consultation on 
children’s services. He had undertaken a tour of nine of the centres across the 
borough. One building the council pad £25,000 per year for was open one day a week 
with just five children in attendance. This was an example of how money could be 
spent better through targeting. Councillor McWilliams reiterated the increases in 
funding in children’s services (£1.2m) and adult social care (£1.9m). 

In relation to housing, Councillor McWilliams explained that the service had historically 
had a large budget because it utilised temporary accommodation. This was not a long 
term solution therefore there had been a focus on prevention and a £200,000 
reduction in temporary accommodation costs.

Councillor Davey commented that Windsor contributed 40% of council tax receipts to 
the borough but did not get its fair share of capital investment. He questioned the 
proposal to spend £3m - £4m on cycle paths, way more than the £1.9m budget for 
roads, when the council was likely to have no reserves left at the end of 2021-22 and 
there was the very real possibility of a section 114 notice being served. The council 
was £200m overdrawn, with £7m due in interest payments. Councillor Davey felt it 
was time to ‘wake up and smell the coffee’. Once the Conservative leader admitted 
and accepted responsibility for his party’s actions, Councillor Davey stated he would 
be happy to do his bit to help the council get out of the financial mess. However, he 
would be expecting a greater balance of investment for Windsor in the years to come.

As the new Independent Lead on Infrastructure he would be asking lots of questions 
moving forward and looking for answers, such as:

● Why was the LEP’s £100,000 for Ascot on the front page of the budget when 
surely the potential multi-million loss on the Braywick Leisure Centre would 
better represent Conservative financial management?

● If the council received £98,000 CIL income for Air Quality, why was there only 
£60,000 in the budget for next year?

45



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

● Why was the council funding MAKE Maidenhead, what about Windsor?
● In relation to the meagre £1.5m LEP for re-energising Windsor, when would 

plans be available?
● Did West Windsor residents need more houses on the Greenbelt?

Councillor Davey asserted that the borough was not like other councils, Windsor was 
a town commanding global interest and that needed to be appreciated more in the 
decision process. RBWM did tend to milk Windsor for what it could get when actually, 
it could do with a little more ‘tlc’.

Councillor Davey congratulated officers on looking for guidance from CIPFA and 
implementing the RBWM Capital Strategy Gateway Process. He questioned why 
Conservative councillors had been allowed to overstep the mark and dictate how it 
was going to be to officers. Stories of councillors banging on tables to get their own 
way and officers forced to back down for fear of repercussions were totally 
unacceptable. 

Councillor Davey highlighted that when he has asked about CC52 Clewer & Dedworth 
Neighbourhood Improvements with a budget of £350,000 back in June the 
Conservatives had just laughed. He had asked why it was £35,000 over budget. There 
had been no answers, just laughter. CIPFA had subsequently looked at the books and 
the overspend was now over £400,000.

Another budget line, CD27 Pave Dedworth was showing £29,000 overspent. CY27, 
which could only be described as an election budget of £250,000, was canned after 
the election when 18 Independents and Liberal Democrats walked through the doors 
in May 2019. Councillor Davey questioned how a budget line could be removed 
without a vote.

Councillor Davey read out a comment from a local resident responding to one of his 
blogs: ‘Stop all this political nonsense and act responsibly, let's see a little 
professionalism and solve the immediate problems of the budget. Time is a luxury that 
we do not have, action is required now, positive decisions are needed. Too many 
committees, too many meetings and your working shire horse ends up looking like a 
camel.”

Councillor Davey commented that the Conservatives had got the council into this 
mess, so they must get it out. This would mean making some brave decisions. Firstly, 
reverse the decision to abolish the Advantage Card discount. If residents stopped 
coming just once a week, that equated to £1m. Added to the £650,000 revenue 
forecast and nearly one third of the reserves was used up. Secondly, admit there was 
only one logical way out, call for a referendum and suggest a realistic but painful 
increase in council tax.  Then work on a strategy to convince residents to vote for a 
referendum, a huge ask.

Councillor Bond commented that parking permits were to cost £120 for a two car 
household; £50 for one car. There was no variation on type of car, fuel type or based 
on parking restrictions in an area. The only exception was electric vehicles. 
Neighbourhoods of Victorian and Edwardian housing with minimal off-street parking 
would be affected. If residents were expected to pay, they would expect proper 
enforcement. In relation to Ways Into Work, Councillor Bond explained he had recently 
met a service user and he could see the value of the scheme. Optalis were second in 

46



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

the national rankings and Ways Into Work were fourth but there was an ambitious 
programme to reduce costs. The adult social care transformation programme to 
achieve £1.7m in savings also seemed very ambitious.  He was particularly concerned 
about the need to retain social workers to avoid agency rates. Councillor Bond stated 
that more detail was needed about the capital programme working group including 
membership and decision making powers.

Councillor Bateson commented that as a ward councillor she would continue to pursue 
the Oaks leisure centre as this was important for the Ascot area. The nearest 
swimming pool was 10 miles away with limited public transport. 

Councillor Hilton concluded that in 2015/16 the council had assumed an end of year 
overspend of £772,000 therefore it had implemented a change in approach. From 
2016/17 onwards the council had increased council tax to the capping limit and added 
a 1% social care precept. Unfortunately the increasing costs for adults, children and 
vulnerable people requiring social care had grown faster than council tax.  The council 
was determined to continue to support vulnerable people by taking the necessary 
decisions in the budget. Councillor W. Da Costa had suggested using LEP funding to 
subsidise parking. Councillor Hilton explained that the funding was ring-fenced to 
improve the environment in Windsor to improve footfall. The parking discounts did not 
make sense and needed to be reviewed.  Councillor Hilton highlighted that the 
council’s role was to provide seed-funding grants for organisations which would then 
look for other sources of funding. Councillor Lynne Jones had suggested that to 
balance next year’s budget the council would need to save £14m. Councillor Hilton 
confirmed that the figure was £4.4m and there was £1.7m in reserve within the budget 
to be used if needed. He was determined this money would not be spent by 
assiduously making sure the savings were met and the money went back into 
reserves to support next year’s budget. 

i) COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME

Councillor Price stated that she was concerned that the consultation process had not 
adhered to the statutory obligations thereby leaving the council open to possible 
lawsuits. The consultation had been open until 7 February 2020. Setting aside 
Christmas and New Year, this gave people four weeks to respond and she questioned 
whether this was reasonable. She had thought six weeks was the borough standard. 
The results of the consultation had not been available when the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel had met to discuss the budget therefore there had been no time 
for scrutiny of the methodology. The 1992 Local Government Finance Act required the 
council to consult with recipients of CTR and the wider council tax payer. At the Over 
view and Scrutiny Panel she had asked if all recipients had been consulted to enable 
them to respond and start budgeting for an increase. She had been told this would 
have been too expensive. She therefore felt the council had not met its statutory 
obligations. The response rate from current recipients was 0.8%. The total number of 
responses was 138, which she felt was very low. The report stated that emails were 
sent to community groups and charities likely to have contact with CTR recipients but 
this was only a selection. Organisations not contacted included the Disability and 
Inclusion Forum, Housing Solutions, Radian, and Maidenhead Lions (although 
Windsor Lions had been). She felt the groups contacted were not representative. 
Additionally, they were only emailed about the consultation on 29 January 2020. 
Government guidance advised that consultations should be designed to be accessible 
to and clearly targeted those that would be affected. This was not the case for this 

47



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

consultation and it was hard to see how the council had complied with its duties under 
the Equality Act when Members had not been supplied with the Equality Impact 
Assessment referred to in paragraph 11 of the report. All councillors should have read 
this document in advance of making the decision. The assessment was only prepared 
on 5 February 2020 and had not been approved by the Head of Service, nor was it 
appended to the report. 

Councillor Reynolds commented that about 70% of respondents to the consultation 
did not support the proposals but the council was going to ignore this fact. For the 
most vulnerable having to put in a little bit more might be a little bit too much. There 
was a causal link between increased payments and higher arrears, leading to higher 
administration costs. There was also the impact on the mental health of vulnerable 
residents to take into account, who were paying for the mistakes of the past.

Councillor Hilton commented that there was a safety net around the service which the 
council provided. The proposals would see the council moving to the same level of 
discount as the four unitary authorities with the highest level of discount in the area. 
Residents of Windsor and Maidenhead would have the benefit of a significantly lower 
council tax than those authorities so even with the scheme changes they would pay 
less. In the event of significant hardship, individual circumstances would be 
considered. 

Councillor Johnson stated that the consultation had thorough and robust. The 
suggestion a council tax referendum had been made, however this could result in a 
significant increase which would have a disproportionate impact on those at the 
bottom. He favoured a low council tax because those in receipt of benefits but yet still 
learned low incomes paid low levels of council tax. The council was seeking to bring 
its level of CTR into line with every other local authority other than West Berkshire and 
Reading. However Reading had a level of 35%. West Berkshire’s level was 20% but it 
had a higher council tax to start with. 

A named vote was taken: 23 Councillors voted for the motion; 17 Councillors voted 
against the motion. 

It was proposed by Councillor Hilton, seconded by Councillor Johnson, and:

RESOLVED: That Council notes the report and:

i) Approves the revised (20%) contribution levels for the 2020/21 Council 
Tax Reduction scheme with effect from 1 April 2020.

ii) Approves the associated changes to the Council Tax Reduction 
scheme to align them to rules governing Housing Benefit and 
Universal Credit.

Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Motion)
Councillor John Baldwin Against
Councillor Clive Baskerville Against
Councillor Christine Bateson For
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra For
Councillor Simon Bond Against
Councillor John Bowden For

48



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor Catherine del Campo Against
Councillor David Cannon For
Councillor Stuart Carroll For
Councillor Gerry Clark For
Councillor David Coppinger For
Councillor Carole Da Costa Against
Councillor Wisdom Da Costa Against
Councillor Jon Davey Against
Councillor Karen Davies Against
Councillor Phil Haseler For
Councillor Geoffrey Hill Against
Councillor David Hilton For
Councillor Maureen Hunt For
Councillor Andrew Johnson For
Councillor Greg Jones For
Councillor Lynne Jones Against
Councillor Neil Knowles Against
Councillor Ewan Larcombe Against
Councillor Sayonara Luxton For
Councillor Ross McWilliams For
Councillor Gary Muir For
Councillor Helen Price Against
Councillor Samantha Rayner For
Councillor Joshua Reynolds Against
Councillor Julian Sharpe For
Councillor Shamsul Shelim For
Councillor Gurch Singh For
Councillor Donna Stimson For
Councillor John Story For
Councillor Chris Targowski For
Councillor Helen Taylor Against
Councillor Amy Tisi Against
Councillor Leo Walters For
Councillor Simon Werner Against
Carried

ii) FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 2020/21

Councillor Del Campo asked whether the cost for a second burial, which had 
previously been free, would be retrospective or for new purchases. If it were 
retrospective, she questioned whether residents concerned would be consulted before 
communication as it would cause distress, given the situation. 

Councillor W. Da Costa commented that if parking permits were to be charged for, it 
would be reasonable to put in Community Wardens or Enforcement officers. 

Councillor Cannon confirmed that the charge for a second burial would not be 
retrospective. The number of parking wardens had already been increased by 10%

A named vote was taken: 24 Councillors voted for the motion; 13 Councillors voted 
against the motion. 3 Councillors abstained.

It was proposed by Councillor Hilton, seconded by Councillor Johnson, and:

49



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

RESOLVED: That Full Council approves: 

i) The Fees and Charges for 2020/21 as set out in Appendix A 

Fees and Charges (Motion)
Councillor John Baldwin Against
Councillor Clive Baskerville Against
Councillor Christine Bateson For
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra For
Councillor Simon Bond Against
Councillor John Bowden For
Councillor Catherine del Campo Abstain
Councillor David Cannon For
Councillor Stuart Carroll For
Councillor Gerry Clark For
Councillor David Coppinger For
Councillor Carole Da Costa Against
Councillor Wisdom Da Costa Against
Councillor Jon Davey For
Councillor Karen Davies Against
Councillor Phil Haseler For
Councillor Geoffrey Hill Against
Councillor David Hilton For
Councillor Maureen Hunt For
Councillor Andrew Johnson For
Councillor Greg Jones For
Councillor Lynne Jones Abstain
Councillor Neil Knowles Against
Councillor Ewan Larcombe Against
Councillor Sayonara Luxton For
Councillor Ross McWilliams For
Councillor Gary Muir For
Councillor Helen Price Against
Councillor Samantha Rayner For
Councillor Joshua Reynolds Against
Councillor Julian Sharpe For
Councillor Shamsul Shelim For
Councillor Gurch Singh For
Councillor Donna Stimson For
Councillor John Story For
Councillor Chris Targowski For
Councillor Helen Taylor Abstain
Councillor Amy Tisi Against
Councillor Leo Walters For
Councillor Simon Werner Against
Carried

iii) CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020/21 - 2022/23

A named vote was taken: 28 Councillors voted for the motion; 11 Councillors voted 
against the motion. 1 Councillor abstained.

It was proposed by Councillor Hilton, seconded by Councillor Johnson, and:

50



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

 RESOLVED: That Full Council approves: 

i) The Capital Strategy 2020/21 – 2022/23 as set out in Appendix A 
ii) The proposed additions to the capital programme 2020/21 – 2022/23 as 

detailed in appendix B, C and D and summarised in table 4.1.8. 

iii) Approves an additional capital budget of £489,000 in 2019/20 that 
represents capitalised debt charges on schemes with a construction 
period greater than one year. 

iv) Approves fully funded capital budget of £100,000 in 2019/20 for Ascot 
High Street Public Realm and Highway Improvements Design Study as set 
out in 4.3.8. 

Capital Programme (Motion)
Councillor John Baldwin Against
Councillor Clive Baskerville Against
Councillor Christine Bateson For
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra For
Councillor Simon Bond For
Councillor John Bowden For
Councillor Catherine del Campo Against
Councillor David Cannon For
Councillor Stuart Carroll For
Councillor Gerry Clark For
Councillor David Coppinger For
Councillor Carole Da Costa For
Councillor Wisdom Da Costa Abstain
Councillor Jon Davey Against
Councillor Karen Davies Against
Councillor Phil Haseler For
Councillor Geoffrey Hill Against
Councillor David Hilton For
Councillor Maureen Hunt For
Councillor Andrew Johnson For
Councillor Greg Jones For
Councillor Lynne Jones For
Councillor Neil Knowles For
Councillor Ewan Larcombe Against
Councillor Sayonara Luxton For
Councillor Ross McWilliams For
Councillor Gary Muir For
Councillor Helen Price Against
Councillor Samantha Rayner For
Councillor Joshua Reynolds Against
Councillor Julian Sharpe For
Councillor Shamsul Shelim For
Councillor Gurch Singh For
Councillor Donna Stimson For
Councillor John Story For
Councillor Chris Targowski For
Councillor Helen Taylor For
Councillor Amy Tisi Against
Councillor Leo Walters For

51



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor Simon Werner Against
Carried

iv) REVENUE BUDGET 2020/21

A named vote was taken: 23 Councillors voted for the motion; 17 Councillors voted 
against the motion. 

It was proposed by Councillor Hilton, seconded by Councillor Johnson, and:

RESOLVED: That full Council: 

Notes and takes into account the statutory s25 statement of the S151 officer in 
paragraph 5 in determining its: 

i) Proposed budget for 2020/21; 
ii) Longer term financial plans for 2021/22 – 2024/25; 
iii) Level of reserves 

Notes: 

a) The comments from the Overview and Scrutiny Panels on the proposed 
budget; 
b) Equality impact assessments have been taken into consideration and has 
informed the final budget proposals. 

Approves: 

i) The Budget Strategy and medium-term financial projections as set out in 
Appendix A; 

ii) The 2020/21 budget of £94.677m and the associated contribution from 
reserves of £2.218m as set out in paragraph 4.5; 

iii) The Proposed growth in service budgets of £11.693m as set out in Appendix 
E including a contingency of £1.700m as set out in para 4.6.5; 
iv) The proposed opportunities and savings of £5.826m as set out in Appendix 
F; 

v) The Business rate tax base calculation, as detailed in Appendix G; 

vi) The calculations for determining the council tax requirement for the year 
2020/21 in accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as set out 
in Appendix K; 

vii) An increase in council tax of 3.99% increasing the band D charge from 
£1,036.07 to £1,077.41 for the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead in 
2020/21, based on: 

          a. 1.99% increase in base council tax in 2020/21 
          b. An additional 2.0% to reflect an increase in the Adult Social Care
          Precept; 

52



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

viii) Approves the policy and the special expenses precept of £34.31 for 2020/21 
for the unparished areas of Windsor and Maidenhead in accordance with 
Section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as set out in Appendix M; 

ix) Notes the following Precepts

        a. Parish Precepts Appendix L 
        b. The Police and Crime Commissioner for Thames Valley - £216.28  
            (para 4.21.3) 
        c. The Royal Berkshire Fire Authority –£67.60 (para 4.21.3); 

x) The council plan for transformation and use of flexible capital receipts as set 
out in Appendix J; 

xi) The allocation of the £122.475m dedicated schools grant as set out in 
Appendix H. The Director of Children’s Services and S151 officer in consultation 
with the Lead Members for Finance and Children’s Services be given delegated 
authority to amend the total school’s budget to reflect the actual Dedicated 
Schools Grant levels once received; 

Revenue Budget (Motion)
Councillor John Baldwin Against
Councillor Clive Baskerville Against
Councillor Christine Bateson For
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra For
Councillor Simon Bond Against
Councillor John Bowden For
Councillor Catherine del Campo Against
Councillor David Cannon For
Councillor Stuart Carroll For
Councillor Gerry Clark For
Councillor David Coppinger For
Councillor Carole Da Costa Against
Councillor Wisdom Da Costa Against
Councillor Jon Davey Against
Councillor Karen Davies Against
Councillor Phil Haseler For
Councillor Geoffrey Hill Against
Councillor David Hilton For
Councillor Maureen Hunt For
Councillor Andrew Johnson For
Councillor Greg Jones For
Councillor Lynne Jones Against
Councillor Neil Knowles Against
Councillor Ewan Larcombe Against
Councillor Sayonara Luxton For
Councillor Ross McWilliams For
Councillor Gary Muir For
Councillor Helen Price Against
Councillor Samantha Rayner For
Councillor Joshua Reynolds Against
Councillor Julian Sharpe For
Councillor Shamsul Shelim For

53



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor Gurch Singh For
Councillor Donna Stimson For
Councillor John Story For
Councillor Chris Targowski For
Councillor Helen Taylor Against
Councillor Amy Tisi Against
Councillor Leo Walters For
Councillor Simon Werner Against
Carried

80. CONTINUATION OF MEETING 

At this point in the meeting, and in accordance with Rule of Procedure Part 4A C25.1 
of the council’s constitution, the Chairman called for a vote in relation to whether or not 
the meeting should continue, as the time had exceeded 9.30pm.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the meeting continue after 9.30pm to 
conclude the outstanding business on the agenda. 

81. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

Members considered the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21. 
Councillor Hilton explained that a similar report had been considered by full Council in 
December 2019. The report before Members now included proposed prudential 
indicators. The boundary for borrowing was proposed to be £250m with a maximum 
level of £275m.

Councillor W. Da Costa asked for details of the current level of gearing and whether 
there had been any consideration of interest rate risk. If the situation got worse, it 
could affect the council’s credit rating and therefore interest rate costs.

Councillor Bond commented that most borrowing was in the short term. He questioned 
whether the council should switch to long term borrowing to protect against interest 
rate rises. Debt was set to rise to £200m therefore even 1% was a significant amount.

Councillor Hilton explained that short term debt was currently under review by the 
council’s treasury management advisers. In relation to Councillor W. Da Cost’s 
question he confirmed that the interest rate assumed in the budget was 9% therefore 
there was some headroom.

It was proposed by Councillor Hilton, seconded by Councillor Johnson, and:

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That Full Council approves: 

i) The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21 as set out in section 
4 of this report. 
ii) The Council’s Prudential Indicators set out in Appendix B. 
iii) The Council’s associated counterparty list as set out in Appendix C 

82. LONG TERM EMPTY PROPERTY PREMIUM 

54



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Members considered an increase in the Long Term Empty Property Premium in the 
borough.  Councillor Johnson commented that this was a good news story; the 
legislation enabled councils to increase the premium to 200% from April 2020, where 
a property had been empty and unfurnished for at least 5 years.

Councillor Hilton commented that the proposal was admirable as it would generate 
additional funding and also bring empty properties back into use. 

It was proposed by Councillor Johnson, seconded by Councillor Hilton, and:

RESOLVED UNANINMOUSLY: That Council notes the report and:

iii) Approves the increase in the Long Term Empty Property Premium to 
200% where a domestic property has been empty and unfurnished 
for at least 5 years. 

iv) Delegates the approval of any future increases to the Director of 
Resources. 

83. 2020/21 PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS 

Members considered the 2020/21 programme of meetings. 

Councillor Werner commented that three of the full Council meetings were scheduled 
during the school holidays. It was important to ensure different types of people were 
encouraged to stand as councillors, including parents and teachers. He suggested the 
full Council meeting dates be amended so that they did not fall during school holidays. 

Councillor Hill proposed that the schedule be changed to include more full Council 
meetings which would avoid such long agendas. The opportunity to cancel meetings 
would be retained if an agenda were not full enough. 

Councillor Johnson responded that the programme for 20/21 followed the schedule for 
19/20, apart from the October meeting. In relation to start times he was proposing that 
the default time be 7pm. A standardised arrangement would also help ensure the 
business was transacted within a reasonable timeframe. 

Councillor Price commented that the cluster of meetings that were scheduled in the 
run up to the budget meant tight deadlines for the Overview and Scrutiny Panels; she 
felt they should be more spread out.

Councillor Davies stated that she seconded Councillor Werner’s suggestion to amend 
the dates of council meetings that fell in the school holidays. 

Councillor Walters suggested consideration be given to deleting the Borough-wide 
Development Management Panel as this had not met so far in the municipal year. 

Councillor Johnson stated that he was not happy to agree the amendment proposed 
by Councillor Werner; there was no ideal date for anyone. 

It was proposed by Councillor Johnson, seconded by Councillor Rayner, and:

RESOLVED: That Full Council notes the report and:
55



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

i) Approves the programme of meetings for the 2020/21 Municipal Year, 
attached as Appendix A.

(Members voted by a show of hands)

84. APPOINTMENT OF PANEL CHAIRMAN 

Members considered appointment of the Chairman of the Maidenhead Town Forum. 

Councillor Johnson explained that Councillor Haseler had stepped down from the 
forum to become a substitute; Councillor Coppinger would become a full member and 
was proposed as Chairman. Councillor Johnson thanked Councillor Singh for his work 
on the forum since the local elections. 

Councillor Reynolds commented that he did not believe that Councillor Coppinger was 
the right person to lead the Forum. The constitution was clear that Town Forums dealt 
with issues in unparished areas; Councillor Coppinger was not a ward member for an 
unparished area. Additionally, Councillor Reynolds felt that as Councillor Coppinger 
was an executive member and the Lead Member with responsibility for Maidenhead, 
the role may stifle potential new and alternative views of a vision for the town that 
residents may wish to put forward.  He therefore proposed that Councillor Taylor, a 
relevant ward member, be appointed as Chairman. The proposal was seconded by 
Councillor Baldwin.

Councillor Hunt commented that she sat on the Town Forum but was a ward councillor 
for a rural area. She had been heavily involved in numerous issues considered by the 
Forum including relating to business rates. She felt Councillor Coppinger was very 
well-placed to take on the role. 

Councillor Hill commented that he felt Councillor Coppinger would be heavily 
conflicted. Councillor Taylor would make an excellent Chairman. 

Councillor Baldwin commented that the Conservatives were not well represented in 
the non-parished areas of Maidenhead. He kept hearing about the administration’s 
desire to embrace a broader section of the membership and requests for people to 
cooperate. Appointing Councillor Taylor would be a minor thing but a symbolic 
gesture.

Councillor Reynolds highlighted that Councillor Taylor had experience in the 
forum and she was an experienced councillor in the town and in her ward. The 
administration talked of a collegiate approach until the Opposition put forward an 
alternative suggestion. 

Members voted on the motion by a show of hands. The motion fell and Members 
returned to debating the substantive motion. 

Councillor Johnson stated that he had full confidence in Councillor Coppinger and did 
not believe he would be conflicted in the role.  His appointment would give a different 
dynamic to a non-political and non-decision making forum. Tying to bounce him into 
changing a proposal on the night was not in his opinion a collegiate thing to do.

It was proposed by Councillor Johnson, seconded by Councillor Rayner, and:
56



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

RESOLVED: That Councillor Coppinger be appointed as Chairman of the 
Maidenhead Town Forum for the remainder of the municipal year. 

(Members voted by a show of hands).

85. APPROVAL OF 2020/21 PAY POLICY STATEMENT 

Members considered the council’s Pay Policy Statement for 2020/21.

Councillor Rayner explained that the statement provided transparency in relation to 
the ratio of the pay of senior staff compared to those who were lower paid. The 
statement had already been approved by the Employment and Member Standards 
Panel.

Councillor Price welcomed the transparency. She asked if details of redundancy 
payments would be equally transparent.

Councillor Rayner responded that the Pay Policy statement related to ratios, whereas 
redundancy payments were calculations. 

It was proposed by Councillor Rayner, seconded by Councillor Carroll, and:

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That Council notes the report and:

v) Approves the updated Pay Policy Statement for 2020/21.
vi) Notes that further revisions will be required to the statement when 

the Government’s reforms to public sector exit pay arrangements are 
implemented.

86. POLLING DISTRICT AND POLLING PLACES REVIEW 2019/2020 

Members considered recommendations of the cross-party Polling District and Polling 
Places Working Group and the Returning Officer for reviewing the boundaries of the 
borough’s parliamentary polling districts and designation of polling places for all types 
of elections.

Councillor Rayner explained that the working group had identified three proposed 
changes, as detailed in the report. 

Councillor Del Campo commented that she was broadly in favour of the proposals.  
However, she raised concern that the lighting at the St Mary’s polling station was 
inadequate and requested that this issue be looked into.

Councillor W. Da Costa commented that the existing Clewer and Dedworth West 
stations were illogical, particularly for those in the south and east of the ward who had 
to cross roads. He requested that the situation be looked into in future. 

Councillor Hilton commented that the working group was cross-party and had looked 
at all opportunities and solutions Members had suggested. The proposals were the 
best compromise possible given input from all parties. 

57



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

Councillor Baldwin echoed the comments of Councillor Hilton that the working group 
had looked at all options in detail and considered the alternatives. There was a lack of 
suitable available accommodation in Clewer and Dedworth West.

Councillor Rayner commented that the Returning Officer would be asked to look into 
the issue at St Marys. 

It was proposed by Councillor Rayner, seconded by Councillor Cannon, and:

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That Council notes the report and:

vii) The revised polling district boundaries and designation of the polling 
places affecting the following wards be approved, (as detailed in 
Appendix 1):

 Clewer & Dedworth West, Furze Platt, and Oldfield. 

87. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

It was agreed that all Member questions would be responded to by way of a written 
answer.

a) Councillor Larcombe asked the following question of Councillor Cannon, 
Lead Member for Public Protection and Parking:

The progress towards prompt completion of the £640m River Thames Scheme project 
is important to the residents and businesses of Datchet, Horton and Wraysbury.  
There appears to be a significant delay due to lack of partnership funding.  Is there a 
report detailing the RBWM portion of the partnership funding, the sources of those 
funds, funding timings and the associated risks?

Written response provided after the meeting: The River Thames Scheme will reduce 
flood risk to people living and working near the Thames. It will enhance the resilience 
of nationally important infrastructure, contribute to a vibrant local economy and create 
many recreational opportunities.

The project creates a new flood channel alongside the River Thames to reduce flood 
risk to properties in communities in Datchet, Wraysbury, Egham, Staines, Chertsey, 
Shepperton, Weybridge, Sunbury, Moseley, Thames Ditton, Kingston and Teddington 
providing protection to 15,000 homes and 2,400 businesses. 

Road, rail, power and water networks will be more resilient. 106 hectares of new 
public open space and 23km of new pathways will be created, as well as improving 
biodiversity for wildlife through the creation of 250 hectares of new habitat.

The Royal Borough remains committed to this project which is essential to protect our 
residents from flooding. As part of the budget being considered this evening, it is 
recommended that £10m is approved as part of this commitment.

In addition, Council previously resolved in September 2017 to an agreement in 
principle of paying a flood levy to the Environment Agency as a contribution to the 
scheme, subject to new legislation being enacted to make provision for this.

58



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

The project has robust governance in place with representatives from partner 
organisations attending regular meetings of the Programme Board (officer level) and 
the Sponsoring Group (Member level). The Royal Borough is represented at each of 
tis meetings where funding is a regular agenda item which consider costs; partnership 
funding and risk.

b) Councillor Brar asked the following question of Councillor Clark, Lead 
Member for Transport and Infrastructure:

In December 2019 a 13 year old was hit by a speeding car on Switch Back Road, 
losing their life; the third fatality on this road since I lived in Cookham. The young 
man’s mother and other residents have been lobbying for a speed camera. Will you 
assure residents that measures will be put in place for a speed camera?
Written response provided after the meeting: Firstly, I would wish to extend our 
sympathies to the family and friends of Max Simmons, who was tragically killed whilst 
crossing Switchback Road North.
 
Whilst colleagues have met with traffic officers from Thames Valley Police to discuss 
the circumstances surrounding the recent unfortunate crash, we don’t have full details 
of this crash as yet, as investigations are ongoing.  This case is going to court and we 
are unlikely to have any further information until after this and the Coroner’s Inquest. It 
would be unwise for the Council to make any further comment at this stage. We will 
nevertheless take on board any relevant information and concerns about highway 
issues that are identified by the Police.  
 
The Council continuously monitors road safety based on injury crashes reported to us 
by the Police. Whilst I appreciate that concerns have been raised about road safety in 
the area, our information is that there have been six reported injury crashes on this 
section of road over the past ten years. None of these identified speeding as being a 
contributory factor and none involved pedestrians.  
 
Therefore, I will wait until we have further information from the Police before 
commenting further 

c) Councillor Jones asked the following question of Councillor Coppinger, 
Lead Member for Planning and Maidenhead:

Could the Lead Member for Planning give us an update on the status of the BLP and 
the estimated timescales for inspection?

Written response provided after the meeting: Members will be aware that the Council 
consulted on proposed changes to the Borough Local Plan at the end of 2019.  I and a 
number of senior officers attended a range of community meetings, and we were 
pleased that so many interested parties took the further opportunity to be involved.  
Officers of the Planning Department have since been busy reviewing all of the 
representations received.  
 
They have also maintained an active dialogue with the Planning Inspector and the 
Programme Officer to secure the reopening of the examination of the BLP as soon as 
is practical.  We are currently awaiting an update from the Inspector as to a likely 
timetable, and we will provide updates via the Local Plan section of the Council’s 
website as soon as we are able.

59



COUNCIL - 25.02.20

88. MOTIONS ON NOTICE 

It was agreed that remaining motions would be deferred to the next meeting:

a) By Councillor Hill

This Council agrees to reduce the number of signatures required for a petition to be 
debated at Full Council from 1500 to 1000 in the interests of democracy by allowing 
residents to more easily get direct access to their elected representatives on issues of 
importance to them.

b) By Councillor W. Da Costa

Councillor W. Da Costa confirmed he had withdrawn his motion. 

MEETING

The meeting, which began at 7.00pm, finished at 11.57pm.

Signed………….…………………………..

Date………………………………………..

60



COUNCIL - 18.03.20

AT AN EXTRAORDINARY MEETING OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL held in the 
Council Chamber - Town Hall on Wednesday, 18th March, 2020

PRESENT: The Mayor (Councillor Sayonara Luxton), The Deputy Mayor (Councillor 
Gary Muir) and Councillors Gurpreet Bhangra, Carole Da Costa, Jon Davey, 
Karen Davies, Catherine Del Campo, Phil Haseler, Geoff Hill, Andrew Johnson, 
Greg Jones, Lynne Jones, Ewan Larcombe, Ross McWilliams, Samantha Rayner, 
Julian Sharpe, Shamsul Shelim, Gurch Singh, Donna Stimson, Helen Taylor and 
Simon Werner

Officers: James Carpenter, Mary Severin, Duncan Sharkey, Karen Shepherd, Elaine 
Browne, Maddie Pinkham and Adele Taylor

89. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Baldwin, Baskerville, Bateson, 
Bond, Bowden, Brar, Cannon, Carroll, Clark, Coppinger, W. Da Costa, Hilton, Hunt, 
Knowles, Price, Reynolds, Story, Targowski, Tisi, Walters

90. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None received

91. CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENTS: EMERGENCY DECISION-MAKING POWERS 

The Managing Director explained that the report had been brought forward following 
considerable concern from a number of Members across all parties about the 
continuation of public meetings during the current Covid-19 crisis, and the advice from 
government on limiting contact. The borough had a high number of care homes and 
elderly residents per capita and therefore the council needed to be fully aware about 
what it did as an organisation and show community leadership in how it reduced 
physical contact. Officers would not have wished to bring the report to Members given 
a number of difficulties, however the Local Government Act 1972 did not make any 
provision for councils to hold meetings without the public element of councillors being 
present in the room. Therefore there was no way of cancelling meetings and 
continuing to transact council business under the current legislation.

The government had committed to emergency legislation to amend the situation and 
allow virtual meetings to take place. It was hoped that the legislation would be in place 
quickly, however there would then be the issue of ensuring the technology was in 
place. Therefore even once legislation was in place there would be a few weeks 
before the council could move to virtual meetings. 

The recommendations in the report would allow Members to cancel all scheduled 
meetings but still allow the important business to be transacted that would be unfair to 
local people if it were not to continue. This particularly related to decision-making 
responsibilities of committees and panels covering licensing and planning. All the 
existing mechanisms to allow those decisions to be taken would remain, including 
prior notification, the opportunity for objections to be submitted, consultation and 
publication of decisions. The only difference was that anything that would have been 
going to a panel for decision would be dealt with by an officer. The delegation in the 

61



COUNCIL - 18.03.20

recommendation was to the Managing Director but, if approved, he would immediately 
sub-delegate to the relevant qualified professional officers.

The majority of the council’s meetings were not decision-making meetings therefore 
they would simply be in abeyance for an indefinite period. The proposals did not 
change the arrangements for Cabinet meetings; those decisions could be delegated 
under current legislation to the Leader, an individual Cabinet Member or an officer. 
Cabinet meetings could still continue but it was likely that decisions would be taken by 
the relevant individual Cabinet Member thereby reducing the number of people 
required in a room to take the decision. These meetings would continue to be public 
meetings therefore members of the public could turn up to attend which could increase 
the number of people in a room but, from a council perspective, would limit the 
number of Members and officers required to be physically present to transact 
business. The report also did not affect the powers of full Council meetings as these 
powers could not be delegated. Whilst it cancelled all scheduled meetings, if a full 
Council meeting were required, one could be called. 

There were a number of meetings scheduled for the current week, including a 
Development Management Panel that evening due to consider two applications. The 
recommendation if approved was to cancel all scheduled meetings with immediate 
effect; Members could consider amending it to be effective from 19 March 2020 to 
allow the Development Panel meeting to take place. 

Councillor Johnson proposed the motion, which was seconded by Councillor Rayner.

Councillor Johnson commented that this was not a report he had ever envisaged 
bringing to full Council. The scale of the Public Health crisis was such that whilst there 
was an overriding need to continue with decision-making, the council also had a duty 
of care to its staff, Members and the public.  Cabinet decision-making would continue 
albeit on a slimmed down basis. There were a number of Members of Cabinet who 
had been advised to stay away from council offices due to their individual health 
circumstances. Decisions would continue to be taken in the open but there would be a 
reduction in business transacted to focus on operational decisions that ensured core 
functions were provided. In the spirit of openness, in the case of any decision deemed 
as of strategic nature or of interest to members of the public, he would look to engage 
with the Opposition, on a case-by-case consultation basis. He had no wish to push 
through business the Opposition may feel was contrary to the views of residents. The 
key focus would be to continue to provide services residents expected and help the 
local economy, including support for the business and voluntary sector.

Councillor Davies joined the meeting at 10.45am

Councillor Werner stated that he broadly agreed with Councillor Johnson and was 
glad that he had assured Members that only operationally critical decisions would be 
taken, not controversial ones that were not needed. He also welcomed the fact that 
decisions would be taken in the open. Councillor Werner stated that scrutiny and 
consultation would be a big issue for the Opposition therefore he proposed the 
recommendation be amended to include consultation with both the Opposition Group 
Leaders.

Councillor Jones seconded the motion to amend the recommendation. She had put 
forward the idea of a panel of five Members to review reports before they went to 

62



COUNCIL - 18.03.20

Cabinet but with the Leader’s assurance that the Opposition would be fully involved, 
she could see the way forward. She requested a timescale for review of the situation 
be included in the recommendations. 

The Managing Director confirmed that scrutiny processes relating to Cabinet decisions 
would continue. If a valid call-in was submitted, a Panel meeting would be called.

Councillor Johnson commented that the proposed amendment would see the Leader 
of the Liberal Democrats being consulted on planning decisions when he was not 
currently a member of a Development Management Panel.

Councillor Werner therefore suggested the amendment be worded as follows:

‘3. Powers of the Managing Director 
………

3.8 In an Emergency, to make decisions currently delegated to Committees 
or Panels, in consultation with the relevant senior qualified officer(s), 
Chairman of the relevant Committee or Panel, and the Principal Lead 
Opposition Member from each of the Opposition Groups of the relevant 
Committee or Panel, and others deemed necessary according to the 
requirements of the decision at hand.  Emergency is defined as a time of 
direct or indirect imminent, serious danger requiring immediate action for the 
safety of the public, officers or Members, whether individually or as a group.’

It was suggested that the situation should be reviewed by a full Council meeting in 
June 2020 if required.

Councillors Johnson and Rayner accepted both proposed amendments.

Councillor Del Campo asked what would happen if there were a large or controversial 
planning application with significant public interest or large associated public 
campaign. She asked if the decision could be deferred or a special meeting be called. 
The Managing Director explained that unfortunately the decision for Members was to 
either delegate or not to delegate. Relevant officers could refuse to take a delegation 
but this would not happen on a regular basis otherwise if would defeat the point of the 
delegation. The Managing Director suggested that, for example, if an application came 
in for 5000 houses or for a nuclear power station then officers would likely refuse the 
delegation and call a Panel meeting. He reminded Members that the full consultation 
processes would remain in place under the delegation. 

Councillor Haseler commented that as Chairman of Maidenhead Development 
Management Panel he was consulted as to whether or not he wished to call in 
enforcement action to a Panel meeting. So far he had not felt the need to do so. He 
asked if there was any scope for the same to happen with the proposals in the report. 
It was confirmed that consultation with the Chairman of the relevant Panel or 
Committee was already included in the proposed wording to be added to the 
constitution.

Councillor Larcombe stated that he wished to raise a number of unresolved issues, 
including funding for the River Thames Scheme. He was advised that as the item was 

63



COUNCIL - 18.03.20

not on the agenda it could not be debated The Managing Director offered to speak to 
Councillor Larcombe outside of the meeting. 

Members agreed that the recommendations should be implemented immediately, 
therefore the Development Management Panel that was scheduled for that evening 
would be cancelled.  It was confirmed that if the situation continued for a lengthy time, 
dispensations for non-attendance at a council meeting for a period of 6 months could 
be applied.

The Managing Director confirmed that if he were unable to act through illness or for 
any other reason, a system was already in place to allow any of the Directors to fully 
deputise and act in his absence. If the recommendations were approved he would 
immediately sub delegate to appropriate qualified professional officers and ensure 
there was a process in place if they were unable to act. 

It was proposed by Councillor Johnson, seconded by Councillor Rayner, and:

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That full Council notes the report and 

i) Agrees that all scheduled council meetings included in the 
programme of meetings agreed by Council on 26 February 2019 and 
25 February 2020 be cancelled with immediate effect. The decision 
to reinstate council meetings at an appropriate time shall be 
delegated to the Managing Director, subject to arrangements to be 
reviewed by a full Council meeting in June 2020 if requested.

ii) Approves the following amendment to the constitution (wording to 
be added to Part 5A – Scheme of Delegation):

3. Powers of the Managing Director 
………

3.8 In an Emergency, to make decisions currently delegated to 
Committees or Panels, in consultation with the relevant senior 
qualified officer(s), Chairman of the relevant Committee or Panel, 
and the Principal Lead Opposition Member from each of the 
Opposition Groups of the relevant Committee or Panel, and others 
deemed necessary according to the requirements of the decision at 
hand.  Emergency is defined as a time of direct or indirect 
imminent, serious danger requiring immediate action for the safety 
of the public, officers or Members, whether individually or as a 
group.

iii) Agrees that for this current Covid-19 crisis, if legislation is brought 
into effect to change the law so that ‘virtual’ meetings can be held, 
and provided the Council has the technology to ensure this can be 
provided, meetings will revert back to the council meeting 
schedules which were agreed by Council on 26 February 2019 and 
25 February 2020.

64



COUNCIL - 18.03.20

The Mayor commented that the borough had the highest number of care homes and 
elderly people per capita in the country. She urged care facilities to take precautions to 
reduce exposure to the virus. To reduce the problem of social isolation she suggested 
councillors ask residents to help vulnerable people in their community by doing simple 
things such as making a phone call or doing some shopping on their behalf. She was 
aware a lot of shops were opening an hour early to allow vulnerable people to shop 
but this was limited so others should offer to help.

On behalf of the borough, the Mayor thanked those who were keeping people safe, 
delivering supplies and those working in the NHS, especially those working round the 
clock to find a cure. She urged all to be kind and generous. If everyone helped, the 
number of infections would reduce. She urged leaders to provide the correct facts to 
enable people to make informed decisions. 

Councillor C. Da Costa raised a concern that not everyone who offered to help would 
do so for honest reasons therefore she asked how safeguarding could be ensured. 
The Mayor commented that this was why she was urging councillors as local 
community leaders to make the phone call or offer help. The Managing Director 
commented that draft guidance on community support had been issued to Members 
the previous evening, which could be circulated to community groups. The council was 
working with GPs and other partners to identify vulnerable individuals and groups in 
specific areas. The issue required community leadership but this was not just the 
responsibility of the council. Everyone needed to take ownership in their local 
community. The council’s role was not to instruct community groups but to provide 
them with information and guidance. Through local leaders gaps in community action 
could be mapped. The council could not manage everyone’s intentions nor did it have 
the resources to DBS check everyone, but it could give advice to help people set up 
community groups if they wished. Information was available on the Covid-19 page on 
the council’s website. The Managing Director reminded Members that the legislation 
relating to protection of personal data had not changed and needed to be taken into 
account. 

Councillor Johnson commented that sadly there was a lot of misinformation and 
misguided information on social media. He urged all to direct residents to trusted 
sources of information including the Department for Health and other relevant 
government departments or relevant public body. 

The meeting, which began at 10.30am, finished at 11.05am.

CHAIRMAN……………………………

DATE…………………………………..

65



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

AT AN EXTRAORDINARY MEETING OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL held as a 
virtual meeting on Tuesday, 26th May, 2020

PRESENT: The Mayor (Councillor Sayonara Luxton), The Deputy Mayor (Councillor 
Gary Muir) and:
Councillors John Baldwin, Christine Bateson, Gurpreet Bhangra, Simon Bond, 
John Bowden, Mandy Brar, Catherine Del Campo, David Cannon, Stuart Carroll, 
Gerry Clark, David Coppinger, Carole Da Costa, Wisdom Da Costa, Jon Davey, 
Karen Davies, Phil Haseler, Geoff Hill, David Hilton, Maureen Hunt, Andrew Johnson, 
Greg Jones, Lynne Jones, Neil Knowles, Ewan Larcombe, Ross McWilliams, 
Helen Price, Samantha Rayner, Joshua Reynolds, Julian Sharpe, Shamsul Shelim, 
Gurch Singh, Donna Stimson, John Story, Chris Targowski, Helen Taylor, Amy Tisi, 
Leo Walters and Simon Werner

Officers: David Cook, Mary Severin, Duncan Sharkey, Adele Taylor, Karen Shepherd 
and Adrien Waite

MAYOR’S INTRODUCTION

The Mayor stated that it had been brought to her attention that Opposition Members 
had misquoted her on social media. At the last Extraordinary Council meeting she had 
spoken about asking councillors and local community leaders to offer support to 
vulnerable people during the COVID-19 crisis.  This misquote had caused her 
significant concern.  What she had actually said was clearly indicated in the Minutes of 
that meeting, which was that when she had been asked about supporting the 
vulnerable she had simply urged Councillors as local community leaders to make 
phone calls or offer help.  She had made no reference to money or resources in that 
response.

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Baskerville.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None received

3. CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENTS - DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANELS 

Members considered amendments to the constitution in relation to Development 
Management Panels to allow the effective running of virtual panel meetings as part of 
the council’s response to the coronavirus crisis.

Councillor Coppinger introduced the report. He thanked the Opposition and Parish 
Councils for their helpful and supportive comments. In light of these he wished to 
make one change to the paper and to clarify one area. He explained that he was now 
proposing 9 Councillors on the Panel which moved the quorum up from 2 to 3. Whilst 
not in the paper he confirmed that Parish Councils would keep their 28 day period of 
consultation on plans to ensure that they could be fully considered.

In March full Council had met to hear a proposal to enable emergency changes to the 
constitution which would enable Development Management to function. Council had 

67



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

approved it and a time limit was set for June. These emergency powers had now been 
running for 9 weeks. In this period 10 major applications and 46 minor ones had been 
decided, that was in addition to 192 applications which included, for example, 
conditions and permitted development. 11 applications had been referred to the 
delegated-plus process.   No one: no Councillor, no Parish, no resident group had 
raised any issue with this process.  
 
The emergency powers would come to an end in June and therefore there was a need 
to move forward whilst recognising that the volume of plans received had decreased 
and that the country could face a second wave of infection. There was a need to move 
forward in a safe and secure way. The other factor to be aware of was that the 
Development Management Panel sat on a quasi-legal basis and that all decisions and 
processes were subject to legal challenge. The proposals therefore simplified the 
process, restoring both visibility and democracy whilst ensuring that the design was 
capable of withstanding issues with software which could, if they occurred, negate the 
whole process.

The most important safeguard was that the proposals were time limited. Whatever 
happened it had to finish in December. It could not be just rolled over. In addition, 
Councillor Coppinger promised that should there be a material change of any kind it 
would be reviewed sooner. It would be wrong to state what would happen after that 
date but he hoped that the council could, by then, return to normality.

In making these proposals other councils had been observed and it had also been 
considered how well the council had been able to run virtual meetings.  Remembering 
at all times that any system failure, whether individual or total, could stop an 
application being decided or could allow a subsequent appeal and/or litigation.

Councillor Coppinger clarified the proposals:

1. Continue the current criteria so that only call ins and major applications would come 
before the panel. A major application was more than 10 dwellings or for commercial 
purposes 1000sq meters. A call in could only be made by the Ward Councillor and 
must give a planning reason. Officers would work with Members prior to the meeting 
to try to find a solution and/or to explain the rationale for the decision. If there were 
sound reasons for a call in, he would expect adjoining ward Councillors to discuss with 
the actual Ward Councillors. It should be noted that in the last 6 months there had only 
been one occasion where an application was called in by a non-ward Councillor 

2. Introduce a single Development Management Panel. From the council experience 
since March there would not be enough work for two panels and it was important to 
remember that a Councillor was not appointed to a panel to represent their ward or 
area but to be part of the Planning Authority

3 A panel of 9 Members to allow for political balance and representation from every 
area of the Borough. The size of the quorum was calculated by reference to the 
number of Councillors so in this case it was 3.

4. Limited officer attendance. This would normally be one from each of Planning, 
Legal and Democratic Services

68



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

5. Speeches as currently, including opposer, Parish, Neighbourhood Planning Group 
where there is no Parish or Town Council, and the councillor calling the application in.  
For all these the speaker must submit the speech in advance to ensure it was heard 
and could be recorded. If they are in attendance, they could change their speech on 
the day. This was to ensure if they could not make it for any reason it could still be 
considered.

6. When announcing their vote each Councillor must state that they had heard /seen 
all submissions. If they were unable to do that they would not be able to vote.

Councillor Coppinger concluded that this was a next and safe step for the Borough 
which would restore democracy and start to enable the recovery of the Royal 
Borough. He repeated that this was for a fixed period of time and should there be a 
significant change in circumstances then it would be reviewed earlier. He also 
confirmed that the council would carry out a full consultation of the proposals at that 
time. 

Councillor Cannon seconded the motions, as amended. He was happy to support the 
proposals in his role as Chairman of the current Windsor Development Management 
Panel.

Councillor Reynolds commented that the Conservative administration had had over a 
year to get used to an 18 Member Opposition, but he doubted that they would have 
been prepared for the large scale public backlash at the proposals. He was sure the 
Leader would be aware of the many emails received. The changes were not required 
by legislation, in fact the council could legally continue with the Development 
Management Panels as they were with the arrangements in Appendix A. The council’s 
nearest statistical neighbours were not making changes of this scale to their 
constitutions. The Planning Advisory Service had stated that it was critical to the 
reputation of everyone involved that there was no perception that anyone was trying to 
take advantage of the current situation to avoid proper scrutiny or public engagement. 
Parish councillors and many councillors felt the proposals were being made to avoid 
proper scrutiny. This included a number of Conservative councillors the Opposition 
had spoken to over the last week. 

Councillor Reynolds stated that the proposals sought to abandon the independence of 
Windsor and Maidenhead on planning matters. Councillor Haseler had commented 
that meetings would go on until 3am if the arrangements were kept as they were, yet 
Councillor Coppinger had said there were too few applications for two panels. The 
proposals also limited the call in rights of borough councillors. As borough councillors 
were often the last link in the chain on an application, 21 days was not long enough. 
He did not know why the removal of council planning applications to automatically 
come in to Panels was proposed; some would find this a conflict of interest. All could 
agree that the Borough Wide Development Management Panel was not needed as it 
had not sat in the last year. 

Councillor Reynolds proposed an amendment to recommendation i) so that it would 
read:

1. Approve amendments to the constitution as detailed in Appendix D 
(Protocol for public speaking)

69



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

2. Retain the wording of the current constitution as set out in Appendix A, 
except for removal of the Borough Wide Development Panel

3. Bring back to Council in August 2020 a report which reviews the new 
arrangements, in particular outlining any issues which have arisen.

Councillor Knowles seconded the amendment to the motion.

Councillor Werner commented that the amendments would be of benefit to Pinkneys 
Green and the whole borough. No reason had been given for why there would be 
changes to the call in. He saw two issues with this. Planning issues that happened on 
the boundary could affect a neighbouring ward but the ward councillor could not call it 
in and would have no guarantee that the ward councillors in the neighbouring ward 
would do so. Additionally, what happened in town centre wards had an effect on the 
other wards in the town. If call in by a non-ward councillor was rare, he questioned 
why it needed to be removed. In relation to the number of panels, Members had been 
told there was a large backlog of applications. Queue theory demonstrated that having 
two panels would mean a lot more applications could be dealt with. Members had 
been told that other councils did not have two panels but he was aware of a number 
that did, including West Berkshire and Oxfordshire.  It had been said that large panels 
would be difficult to manage, but there would be no difference in managing one panel 
of ‘x’ number of councillors compared to two panels of ‘x’ number of councillors. 

Councillor Davies commented that the changes proposed to the standing 
arrangements for development management panels raised several serious concerns.
One of the reasons given in support of the recommendation was to allow for robust 
and efficient meetings. She felt those words very accurately characterised the current 
Windsor Area Development Management Panel, under the excellent chairmanship of 
Councillor Cannon. She could not see why anyone would suggest that he could not 
cope simply because the meeting was held online.  

The proposal was for one borough-wide panel of, now nine, members. With the legal 
requirement to maintain political balance, in the case of nine members this would 
presumably be five Conservatives, two Liberal Democrats and two Independents. 
Looking at these numbers and the political make up of Windsor itself compared to the 
borough, it was highly likely that there would be only two or a maximum of three 
Windsor councillors on the Panel. 

Also, amongst the reasons for recommendation were that the changes would promote 
best practice and confidence in decision making. Windsor residents cared deeply 
about the town and were extremely interested in planning matters across the whole 
town, not just on a ward basis. It was not possible to know what applications would 
come in during the year. The reduction in numbers combined with the proposal that 
councillors only be permitted to call in developments in their own ward meant that 
Windsor residents would feel disenfranchised from the decision-making process. 

The increase in delegated decisions, which was the intended outcome of the change, 
also had the effect of reducing public involvement in and scrutiny of planning 
decisions. Councillors had already heard concerns raised by the Windsor 
Neighbourhood Plan committee and from the Windsor Town Council steering group. 
Windsor residents were going to conclude that this was another example of 
Maidenhead councillors making decisions about Windsor, and that was not acceptable 
to them. 

70



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

Councillor W. Da Costa commented that in the NPPF it stated that sustainable 
development should take into account local circumstances. The borough was a 
federation of towns, each one with its own unique character and needs. Many of them 
had their own neighbourhood plans. It was important to have as many local councillors 
involved as possible as they would understand the local needs and circumstances. It 
was also about representation. His calculation was that with a panel of nine, there 
would only be one or two Windsor councillors on the panel.

Members had to weigh up different regulations including the NPPF, Borough Local 
Plan, and Neighbourhood Plans. When the decision was finely balanced, without local 
knowledge the council could not make good decisions. Councillor Reynold’s 
amendments would ensure consistently good decisions. There could be an upsurge in 
applications as recovery came in. Nine members would need to be experts on the 
NPPF, the emerging Borough Local Plan and 12 Neighbourhood Plans. The proposals 
would create an unsustainable, unprecedented workload and an unnecessary 
Maidenhead bias. The current panels met twice a month. He felt that if this pattern 
worked, it should not be changed. The meetings were always quorate and many had 
full panel attendance. A workload split across two panels was manageable. Decisions 
were consistent and good so he questioned why there was a need to make changes.

Councillor Brar commented that she had been shocked when she had read the report 
as one of the Members of an endangered Panel. She questioned why ward councillors 
and parish councillors were not consulted. As a ward councillor and a parish 
councillor, she was very protective of the conservation area, green belt and unique 
character of the area. The proposals would eradicate her voice on the panel and 
prevent her from fulfilling her obligations to the ward and the parishes. The emergency 
procedures and reduction in call-in would reduce the ability of Members to hold 
decision makers to account. Councillor Brar referred to the Parish Charter which 
promoted the borough working in partnership with the parishes. She felt what was 
being proposed was the opposite. There had been an utter failure to consult with the 
parishes. She felt this was an insult to the Parish Charter working group chaired by 
Councillor Bateson.  In her opinion, the Maidenhead and Windsor Panels should 
remain. If something needed to be cut, it should be the Borough-wide Panel which did 
nothing anyway. It was nonsense to suggest that it would be difficult to cope with 11 
Members in a Panel when nearly 40 councillors were taking part in the full Council 
meeting. 

Councillor Hill stated he was in favour of the amendments. He thanked Councillor 
Coppinger for the courtesy of a phone call and taking on his proposal to increase the 
membership to nine. However, he had considered it further and had grave concerns. 
The Borough-wide Panel had to go as it had not sat for some time.  His biggest 
concern was the unintended consequences of merging the two panels. He felt there 
would be a major psychological impact on residents. There was an unwritten protocol 
that Windsor councillors did not speak on Maidenhead issues and vice versa unless 
there was dire need for an extra member. He felt there would be a problem of trust 
with the public with the new proposals. The time limit of 21 days was too short; 
Members already struggled with 28 days. Zoom was secure, was working well and 
could manage a large number of participants. The parish councils also disliked the 
proposals.

71



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

Councillor Haseler, Chairman of the current Maidenhead Development Management 
Panel commented that if he was the Chairman of the Panel, the remaining 
Conservative seats could be split between Windsor and Maidenhead. The Opposition 
parties could then nominate two Members each and split them between Windsor and 
Maidenhead. There was no reason the panel make up could not be easily spread 
across the Borough.

Councillor Price commented that planning applications must have a fair hearing. It was 
her belief that one meeting with nine panel members would reduce that right to a fair 
hearing. Councillors who were unfamiliar with a local area, in order to equip 
themselves with local knowledge, would need to visit the sites. At this time all had 
been encouraged to minimise travelling. She welcomed the fact that the EQIA was 
circulated to Members that afternoon, but she was concerned that it was not dated or 
signed. She requested that the link be put in the minutes so that the public could see 
it. 

Councillor Hilton commented that his experience of virtual meetings was that they took 
much longer and were more difficult to manage than in-person meetings. Interaction 
between Members was more difficult. Items at the end of an agenda seemed to get 
less time so the length of meetings needed to be taken into account. Councillor 
Coppinger had already stated that the period for consultation was still 28 days. A key 
point had been missed was that it was only major applications that would be 
considered. Of all the applications decided over the past nine weeks, no councillor or 
member of the public had complained about the outcome of a decision. A totally 
delegated scheme was clearly acceptable to both Members and the public. Therefore 
he could not understand why the proposals before Members were not equally as 
acceptable, given they moved the situation forward in a sensible manner.  He was an 
Ascot councillor; for those in the south they were used to Windsor councillors 
outnumbering them on Panels and making decisions on their areas. They lived with it 
by presenting sound planning policy if they did not believe the application should be 
approved. That opportunity existed for all as Parish councillors and objectors had the 
same amount of time to speak and all councillors would have the opportunity to speak. 

Councillor Jones stated that as a ward councillor you could only speak for an allotted 
time; you could not take part in the debate. When there was no legislation in place to 
allow virtual meetings a totally delegated scheme was needed but that position had 
now changed. She could see no reason why the council could not return to the normal 
status quo with proper meetings in a virtual capacity. She had received many emails 
from the parish council and her residents. Parish councils were not consulted on the 
changes, nor was she as a Member until the report was published. 

Councillor Walters highlighted that many wards had only two members, including 
Bray. Councillor Coppinger, as Lead Member for Planning, could not sit on a 
Development Management Panel. If an application came in for Bray and there was no 
opportunity to call it in, he asked where the application would go. He was glad that the 
proposed amendments were only temporary, unfortunately he could not say anything 
further on the amendments.

Councillor Stimson highlighted that planning was not a political ‘animal’; it should be 
issue focussed. Knowledge of the NPPF and an understanding of how to apply this to 
planning applications was key. It was crucial that good quality members were in place 
and she felt that a panel of good quality members could do a good job. Councillor 

72

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200110/about_the_council/1124/equalities_and_diversity/2


COUNCIL - 26.05.20

Stimson commented that she always visited sites before considering an application 
which enabled her to represent residents even if the application was not in her ward.

Councillor Cannon highlighted that a number of the concerns that had been raised 
were based on misinformation and misinterpretation of the report. There should be no 
political element to planning, all Members should be looking at compliance with 
planning policy. The argument that only ward councillors should decide an application 
was wrong. All Members sitting on a planning panel did so as a member of the 
Planning Authority. The current delegation meant that there was currently no 
democratic input; all needed to consider where the council hoped to be by December. 
There had been some scaremongering about representation but it would be down to 
Group Leaders as to who they chose to appoint to the Panel. Councillor Cannon 
concluded that the proposals in the report were bold, sensible, and non-political. The 
proposed amendment ignored this.

Councillor Coppinger, responding to Councillor Walters, commented that although he 
could not sit on a Panel, he was able to call in an application in Bray ward and speak 
at the panel meeting.

Councillor C. Da Costa commented that she had heard a number of comments about 
the need for nine good quality Panel Members; this seemed to suggest that some of 
the current Members were not of good quality. She highlighted that two areas 
(Windsor and Maidenhead town centres) did not have parish or town council 
representation.

Councillor Clark stated that all decisions at panel should be made with an open mind. 
The proposals allowed for the full democratic process including objections being 
raised and public consideration of applications, scrutinised by the public. As an interim 
step from the delegated authority he felt the proposals were excellent.

Councillor Davey commented that the proposals were unnecessary and were 
degrading any democracy left. The council ignored parish councillors at their peril. He 
had heard about the change from six to nine panel members over Twitter; he 
questioned the professionalism of this as a democratic process. He had shot a short 
video to demonstrate the power of social media, which had been seen by over 5000 
people. The Opposition would continue to use social media to show what was going 
on. Councillor Davey commented that a quorum of three would enable three 
Conservative councillors to make a decision without any consultation with the 
Opposition. The speaking rights allowed any non-Member of the Panel to speak on 
any item. Councillor Davey suggested that, if the amendment was not accepted, the 
direction of travel was a debate on every planning matter in Zoom with all Opposition 
non-Panel members.

Councillor Bond commented that he had limited experience of panels; he had only sat 
as a substitute member. He endorsed the comment of Councillor Stimson that the 
Maidenhead Panel worked very well so this was not an issue. However, he felt that 
local knowledge was an issue. On the occasion he had sat on the Panel he had only 
received a couple of days’ notice and had to read an 80 page report. It had helped that 
he knew the locations. He would not have knowledge of the areas at the other end of 
the borough which was 30 miles long.

73



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

Councillor Rayner moved a procedural motion to move to the vote, which was 
seconded by Councillor Clark.

Councillor Knowles commented that he had been involved in the interim process in 
place which had come in 69 days previously. The world had changed since then. 
Government and the judiciary had moved into the virtual world. A huge technological 
leap had been taken. Given the changes in legislation it was only right that a review 
should take place of the interim measures. Things were moving very quickly and 
further changes were due to arrive on 15 June. He had received a lot of 
correspondence from Windsor area residents and the parish council. The main 
question was why were the proposals being made? Over 40 participants were taking 
part in the current debate that was being managed well. If extra councillors could turn 
up at a Development Management Panel and speak, he could not understand the 
need to reduce the size of the panel. On the evidence of the council meetings there 
was nothing to support the argument that two panel meetings could not be carried out 
effectively. Restricting the call-in to ward members only was an issue. He suggested 
the scenario where two ward Members were married and went on holiday together. He 
was glad that the time period had been changed from 21 to 28 days. The changes to 
speakers’ rights were not ideal but he could see the need as a failsafe temporary 
measure.  

As there were no more speakers, Councillor Rayner agreed to withdraw her motion to 
move straight to the vote.

Councillor Reynolds stated that he wanted to correct some things he had heard other 
councillors say. He took great offence that Councillor Cannon had described his 
amendments as politically motivated. Most people had heard about the proposals from 
an article in the Maidenhead Advertiser on 20 May.  Members were not 
scaremongering, they were raising issues raised by their residents. In relation to 
comments by Councillor Hilton, he did not feel that virtual meetings took longer. The 
idea that a change to the constitution was needed now and could be reviewed later 
was ludicrous. He asked why the constitution could not be kept as it was and if there 
were a problem, it could be reviewed later. Councillor Reynolds understood that it was 
parish councillors that would have 28 days, not Borough councillors. He asked for this 
to be clarified. He had sat on the Maidenhead Panel for a year and at no meeting had 
items later in the agenda been rushed through. The times for public speaking had not 
changed hence he had not proposed an amendment to that element. 

Councillor Cannon raised a point of order as he had been referenced in Councillor 
Reynolds’ summing up. As Chairman of the Windsor Area Panel he saw the proposals 
as a move forward to get democracy back into the system, not because he thought the 
current arrangements were not working.

A named vote was taken on the amendment proposed by Councillor Reynolds and 
seconded by Councillor Knowles: 17 Councillors voted for the motion; 21 Councillors 
voted against the motion. 2 Councillors abstained. The motion therefore fell.

Constitutional Amendments - Development Management Panels - Amendment 
(Amendment)
Councillor John Baldwin For
Councillor Christine Bateson Abstain
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra Against
Councillor Simon Bond For

74



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

Councillor John Bowden Against
Councillor Mandy Brar For
Councillor Catherine del Campo For
Councillor David Cannon Against
Councillor Stuart Carroll Against
Councillor Gerry Clark Against
Councillor David Coppinger Against
Councillor Carole Da Costa For
Councillor Wisdom Da Costa For
Councillor Jon Davey For
Councillor Karen Davies For
Councillor Phil Haseler Against
Councillor Geoffrey Hill For
Councillor David Hilton Against
Councillor Maureen Hunt Against
Councillor Andrew Johnson Against
Councillor Greg Jones Against
Councillor Lynne Jones For
Councillor Neil Knowles For
Councillor Ewan Larcombe For
Councillor Sayonara Luxton Against
Councillor Ross McWilliams Against
Councillor Gary Muir Abstain
Councillor Helen Price For
Councillor Samantha Rayner Against
Councillor Joshua Reynolds For
Councillor Julian Sharpe Against
Councillor Shamsul Shelim Against
Councillor Gurch Singh Against
Councillor Donna Stimson Against
Councillor John Story Against
Councillor Chris Targowski Against
Councillor Helen Taylor For
Councillor Amy Tisi For
Councillor Leo Walters Against
Councillor Simon Werner For
Rejected

Members returned to debating the substantive motion. 

Councillor Baldwin referred to Councillor Walters’ extraordinary service to the parish, 
ward, county and borough that deserved to be recognised. It seemed inevitable that 
the Maidenhead and Windsor Panels were about to be voted out of existence. As he 
feared they may never be reconstituted under the current administration he wished to 
place on record that he would miss serving with Councillor Walters.  He would also 
miss the pragmatic interventions of Councillor Hunt. Whatever the fate of individual 
panel members, the real losers were the residents. The case already made by 
Members of the Opposition against the proposals remained, and had not been 
rebutted by any of the contributions from Conservative councillors.  The proposals flew 
in the face of the wishes of the parish councils. He questioned whether it was 
coincidental that the only 23 people in the borough who believed the proposals were 
the best just happened to all be Conservative councillors.  On first sight of the paper 
the Opposition had rung around Conservative councillors, some of whom had 
expressed concerns. Quite what happened to change their mind could only be 

75



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

guessed at. However if those dissenting voices were treated as brusquely as the 
Opposition at Cabinet at the same day he could well understand. When elected 
Members allowed themselves to be squeezed by the ever tightening confines of the 
administration’s dogmatic corset, he questioned who was left to defend against a 
tyranny of a tiny majority. Those who wished to save genuine local accountability in 
place making needed to act and do so now; December would be too late. 

Councillor Bowden commented that he had been on the Windsor Panel since 2015. 
He owned and lived in a listed property in the conservation area for over 20 years 
therefore he was familiar with the rules. The proposal was unique to the current 
circumstances and would be reviewed in December 2020. In context, local elections 
had been suspended in England and Wales. There was no power-grab or threat to 
democracy.  As a councillor he would be able to speak or submit material to the Panel 
either in respect of his ward or adjoining wards. He had not been informed of the 
proposals directly straight away, due to specific circumstances including no email 
connection for a whole week. 

Councillor Carroll highlighted that other councillors had suggested the country would 
be opening up quickly in the coming months. In his role as a professional in infectious 
diseases and on advice from the Chief Medical Officer and Chief Scientific Adviser, he 
felt that it would not be a quick process. There would be no vaccine this year and it 
would be lucky if one came in the following year. It was therefore likely that measures 
would come in and out. The traditional ‘flu season was difficult even thought there was 
a vaccine available.  It was likely that there would be another severe lockdown in the 
period October- February therefore appropriate arrangements were needed in place to 
allow the council to properly function.  The proposals in the report did that.

Councillor Taylor thanked Councillors Coppinger and Haseler for listening to her 
concerns the previous week. She had been concerned about the reduction in panel 
members as the debate was very important. She suggested the review could take 
place earlier as the situation was changing very quickly. She also asked if a trial with 
all Panel Members had been considered.

Councillor Bhangra commented that he was supportive of the proposals given the 
panel size had been increased to nine. He had been surprised to hear that Councillor 
Werner was not sure that some councillors would do the right thing in calling-in a 
planning application. He found this to be very disrespectful. Both he and Councillor 
Carroll did what was right for the residents of their ward and always listened to their 
views on planning matters when brought to their attention.

Councillor Hilton reiterated that over 200 applications had been determined in the last 
nine weeks and no councillor or parish councillor had raised a concern about the 
process. At the moment all applications were decided under delegated authority. 
Members now had the opportunity to ensure that all major applications, which were 
generally the most contentious, would be determined by councillors. Virtual meetings 
would present challenges and it was understandable that low-risk proposals had been 
made. One of the issues that had not been talked about was the presentation of 
photographs, drawings etc. which was an important part of the decision making 
process. In this respect, lower numbers of panel members would be more appropriate. 
Neighbourhood plans set out the uniqueness of local areas. Five were in existence 
already. Those who sit on a panel needed to have a decent understanding of planning 
policy, undertake due diligence when reading the reports, and seek the views of ward 

76



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

councillors on the applications in their ward. In that way they could gain the local 
knowledge that had been discussed.  Local ward councillors could take the 
opportunity to speak at a Panel meeting.

Councillor Haseler commented that it was paramount that the council got the planning 
process back on the road at the earliest opportunity. It was essential that a Panel be 
formed in which robust decisions could be made. The proposals would allow this to 
happen. He welcomed the proposal to increase the membership to nine which would 
allow a fair representation from across the borough whilst maintaining political 
balance. He explained that he had tweeted about the size increase to be open and 
transparent and to allay concerns. He had heard a lot of criticism including the lack of 
knowledge being a main concern. Members sat on the Panel as members of the Local 
Planning Authority and not to represent their ward. There was a lot of information 
available including on the planning portal and site visits were still an option. He felt 
that it was insulting to suggest that sound decisions could not be made if the Member 
did not live in the ward. What was important was the quality of Panel Members who 
needed to have a genuine interest in planning and be willing to take an open decision. 

Councillor Shelim commented that it was particularly important that the borough did 
not have one town more important than another. Ideally councillors on a panel would 
be more locally skilled. This would mean more work for officers but the public and 
personal accountability were worth the cost and trouble. The only argument in favour 
of merging was to deal with the difficulties of working online during the pandemic. He 
therefore reluctantly supported the proposals on the understanding they were for a 
limited time only. 

Councillor C. Da Costa commented that she agreed with Councillor Carroll in respect 
of the epidemiology of the virus and the likelihood of a winter lockdown, therefore to 
bring the issue back for review prior to December was preferable. She suggested the 
quorum should be changed so that three members of one party could not make a 
planning decision on their own.

Councillor Story highlighted that the proposals were an interim spec, a temporary 
measure between what the Council decided to do on 18 March to delegate all 
decisions to officers and getting back to a ‘new normal’. The proposals were for a 
maximum of six months; he was sure officers and the Lead Member would be 
reviewing it regularly.  Whatever the future proposals he was sure the Lead Member 
would ensure the principle of localism was alive and well and that there would be full 
consultation with parish councils and other local bodies. 

Councillor Tisi commented that there had not been any complaints from residents and 
parish councils on the delegated procedure because they had not been aware it was 
happening. Also during lockdown people were more worried about their relatives than 
issues of local planning. The council should not take the lack of correspondence as a 
lack of interest or concern. She felt the panel of none was a better balance than six. 
The report talked about changes to promote best practice in decision-making. She 
questioned who was determining ‘best practice’. It was clear from the correspondence 
that there was no confidence in the council’s decision making. 

Councillor McWilliams commented that there would likely be significantly less 
applications coming forward for the next few months. The increase in panel size from 
six to nine would ensure geographical and political balance. One of the main benefits 

77



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

of the proposals was to bring democracy back, which had unfortunately been 
suspended by COVID-19. There was no law guiding the council to review the 
proposals in December, they could be kept under constant review and the council 
would respond accordingly. Objectivity was the most important thing in planning 
panels, regardless of whether the ward was rural or urban, or in Maidenhead, Windsor 
or Ascot. Members came to the Panel to make a decision based on the facts of a site 
in a quasi-judicial role. 

Councillor Knowles commented that it had been an interesting debate and he took on 
board the comments by Councillor Carroll. The crux of the issue was a set of virtual 
meetings that did not need any constitutional changes to take place. The full Council 
meeting with over 40 participants was proceeding well. He did not think party politics 
was relevant; he was representing the people in his ward and parish council. He also 
accepted the point that a well-balanced planning panel was a delight to behold.

Councillor Rayner commented that COVID-19 had presented many huge challenges 
for everyone. She welcomed the increase to nine members as this would allow a 
better representation across the borough. The council had to adapt the way it 
undertook its business to ensure democracy continued and the best decisions needed 
for recovery could be made. It was paramount that every planning decision was made 
based on planning reasons. It was also critical for residents to make best use of the 
process to ensure their views were known; their representations were incredibly 
valuable to Members making the decisions. It was essential that planning panels 
started again and gave everyone the opportunity to be heard. Residents could 
contribute by writing into the planning department, talking to their ward councillor or 
even taking part in a virtual meeting. This would allow local knowledge to be heard 
and shared. Many Windsor residents had said they would prefer the two panels to 
consider. Councillor Rayner highlighted that this was a temporary measure and would 
be reviewed by December or in advance. 

The Monitoring Officer reminded Members that when it came to the vote, by taking 
part in it they would be confirming that they had heard the entire debate. 

Councillor Walters commented that no one wanted the proposals in an ideal world as 
localism was terribly important. All recognised that two panels was the best form of 
planning. He had been involved in planning for over 50 years. The council had been 
forced into the current situation which no one really wanted. A temporary arrangement 
reviewed as much as possible was important.

Councillor Hill commented that he was irritated that some members had suggested 
Opposition councillors were politicising the issue. Many of them simply believed it was 
the wrong solution, despite the fact that it was temporary. The technology was working 
brilliantly therefore he could see no reason not to have two panels. Parish councils 
were up in arms at the proposals. It would be possible to have socially distanced 
meetings in the Desborough Suite Theatre. The changes were constitutionally and 
legally unnecessary; even the government was using Zoom. He refuted the claim that 
it was a party political issue. 

Councillor W. Da Costa felt that with12 towns and 9 Members some areas would lose 
out. There would also be a loss of local knowledge which would increase the risk of 
sub-optimal decisions and a loss of confidence in the system. 

78



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

Councillor Jones stated that the lack of legislation had forced the council into the 
current situation. She had heard no evidence that the council could not run two panels 
going forward. There was no evidence or best practice given. In such a changing 
environment December was far too long a period for a review, it should be much 
sooner.

Councillor Price reminded Members that at the budget meeting in December she had 
alerted the council to consider a decision that went to judicial review. She was asking 
again whether this decision could be susceptible to challenge under the Human Rights 
Act Article 6. She asked whether it was proportionate to end a fair hearing when two 
meetings would be just as easy. All councillors had received emails from residents 
and local groups. She asked whether the council would risk going to judicial review 
again over failure to follow the correct law. 

Councillor Larcombe stated that he had been a parish councillor almost continuously 
since 1986. The area had flooded regularly over that time. His concern was not just 
about the new proposals but that the old system did not work as well as it should. 
There was a lot of unauthorised and tolerated development and retrospective planning 
approvals. Councillor Larcombe also referred to the failure of the enforcement process 
and a lack of funding for the River Thames Scheme. 

Councillor Werner commented that Councillor Carroll had made a good point about 
the potential for a second wave. The council could be left in the same position in 
December and this was the concern, that the current proposals could be extended 
beyond the December deadline. He had been shocked by the claims that the issue 
was party political. Planning should be outside party politics yet two councillors had 
used party political attacks to try to influence people’s votes. He found it disrespectful 
of Councillor Bhangra to say he was being disrespectful, particularly as he had not 
mentioned any names but simply referred to ward councillors. Councillor Werner 
stated that he wished to move onto Councillor Rayner’s comments. It was very 
important to help the economy recover, but he did not think the answer was to 
approve even more applications than would have been approved. A planning 
approach was needed where the right applications were approved and the wrong ones 
were not approved. 

Councillor Bhangra commented that he had been referenced by Councillor Werner as 
a Boyne Hill councillor. 

Councillor Sharpe commented that it was clear that the situation was not ideal for 
anyone. The proposals to move forward were very constructive. He agreed with 
Councillor McWilliams that the arrangements should be kept under constant review. 
Local decisions would be important and with nine members he felt a good balance 
could be achieved. In his experience the panels had always been collaborative and 
worked well across political boundaries. 

Councillor Davey questioned why, if planning was non-political, the balance was 
proposed to be five /two /two rather than three of each group. He requested clarity 
before the vote in relation to the quorum and whether three Members of one party 
could make a decision. Also, he requested confirmation on the rights of non-Panel 
Members to speak at panel meetings.

79



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

The Monitoring Officer confirmed that the requirement for political balance was 
included in regulations. If only three Members turned up to a meeting, whether or not 
they were of the same party, the quorum would be met.

Councillor Del Campo stated that she was hearing that the proposal was not ideal and 
that Opposition councillors had not come up with alternatives. She highlighted that 
Councillor Reynolds had brought a proposal that would have allowed the council to get 
back to business as usual, but this had been rejected. 

Councillor Johnson restated for the record that the proposals were a temporary 
measure to deal with the COVID-19 crisis. No decision had been made by the 
administration to make it permanent and it had listened to representations, hence the 
increase from six to nine Panel Members. He confirmed that in terms of his own 
allocation of Panel Members, there would be two from Maidenhead, two from Windsor, 
and one from Ascot. 

Councillor Johnson explained that the previous Friday he had attended a meeting with 
all parish councils at which he had said he was minded to consider an increase to nine 
Panel Members. On the fundamental issue of local democracy he wished to announce 
that the council would take formal steps to commence a community governance 
review to consider a Windsor Parish Council, it would not wait until receipt of a petition 
with the requisite number of signatures had been collected to trigger the process. A 
report would come forward to July Council and, depending on the outcome, it would 
look to take forward the review over the course of the next year.

Councillor Cannon confirmed that although he had reserved his right to speak, he had 
nothing further to add to the debate.

Councillor Coppinger concluded the debate by answering a number of questions. He 
confirmed that 28 days would apply to borough councillors as well as parish 
councillors. In relation to call ins, all large applications (over 10 dwellings) would go to 
Panel anyway. He confirmed that all councillors had the right to speak at Panel. The 
quorum came from a formula; it was a low figure and always had been. The council 
was on a journey and not an easy one as it did not know what was coming next. The 
proposals were designed to be a first step; it was not the end game by any means. 
Although the software was good, a number of councillors had experienced connection 
issues during the meeting. If that happened in a planning meeting they would not be 
able to vote. A recent government meeting online had failed meaning no questions 
could be asked by the press. If that happened in a planning meeting the panel would 
not be able to make a decision or it would be subject to legal challenge.  The end point 
was December but he had promised if there was a material change it would be 
reviewed earlier. He intended to set up a working group in September with Members 
from all parties and a representative of parish councils to consider the information 
available and all representations and make recommendations on changes.

It was proposed by Councillor Coppinger, seconded by Councillor Cannon, and:

RESOLVED: That full Council notes the report and:

i) Approves amendments to the constitution detailed in Appendices C 
and D with the provisions to be reviewed and a further report 
presented to full Council in December 2020, subject to an 

80



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

amendment that the membership of the Panel be amended to 9 
Members.

ii) Delegates authority to the Monitoring Officer to update as 
appropriate and publish the council constitution.

iii) Appoints Councillor Phil Haseler as Chairman of the Royal Borough 
Development Management Panel.

iv) Requires Group Leaders to inform the Head of Governance by 5 
June 2020 of those Members and substitutes from their respective 
Groups to be appointed as the remaining Members and substitutes 
of the newly created Royal Borough Development Management 
Panel.

23 Councillors voted for the motion; 16 Councillors voted against the motion. 1 
Councillor abstained.

Constitutional Amendments - Development Management Panels (Motion)
Councillor John Baldwin Against
Councillor Christine Bateson For
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra For
Councillor Simon Bond Against
Councillor John Bowden For
Councillor Mandy Brar Against
Councillor Catherine del Campo Against
Councillor David Cannon For
Councillor Stuart Carroll For
Councillor Gerry Clark For
Councillor David Coppinger For
Councillor Carole Da Costa Against
Councillor Wisdom Da Costa Against
Councillor Jon Davey Against
Councillor Karen Davies Against
Councillor Phil Haseler For
Councillor Geoffrey Hill Against
Councillor David Hilton For
Councillor Maureen Hunt For
Councillor Andrew Johnson For
Councillor Greg Jones For
Councillor Lynne Jones Against
Councillor Neil Knowles Against
Councillor Ewan Larcombe Against
Councillor Sayonara Luxton For
Councillor Ross McWilliams For
Councillor Gary Muir For
Councillor Helen Price Against
Councillor Samantha Rayner Abstain
Councillor Joshua Reynolds Against
Councillor Julian Sharpe For
Councillor Shamsul Shelim For
Councillor Gurch Singh For
Councillor Donna Stimson For
Councillor John Story For
Councillor Chris Targowski For
Councillor Helen Taylor For
Councillor Amy Tisi Against

81



COUNCIL - 26.05.20

Councillor Leo Walters For
Councillor Simon Werner Against
Carried

82



 
MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS  

 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to 
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.   
 
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not 
take part in the discussion or vote at a meeting. The speaking time allocated for Members to make 
representations is at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting.  In order to avoid any accusations of taking 
part in the discussion or vote, after speaking, Members should move away from the panel table to a public area 
or, if they wish, leave the room.  If the interest declared has not been entered on to a Members’ Register of 
Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in 
carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been 
fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the 
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 
A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx. 
As soon as we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the 
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
 
Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so 
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s 
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.   
 
A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations in the item: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as 
we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the public area for 
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Personal interests 
 
Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a 
Member when making a decision on council matters.  
 

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x 
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, I will take part in the discussion and vote on the 
matter. 83

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

MAYOR’S COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Since the last mayoral announcements and Council meeting on 25 February the world has 
changed and for most of that time we have been in lockdown due to the coronavirus social 
distancing and self isolation measures.  However, the Deputy Mayor and I have carried out the 
engagements detailed below. 
 
Meetings 
 

 Samuel Lewis Old Age Pension Fund 

 Mayor’s Charity Ball committee meetings 

 Chaired two extraordinary Council meetings  

 Attended virtual Prince Philip Trust Fund meetings 

 Attended virtual meeting of the Charles Davis Trust  
 

Schools/Clubs/Community 
 

 Gave eulogy at the Civic Funeral for former Mayor, Mrs Eileen “Dee” Quick 

 Launched and ran public fundraising appeal for donations to buy material to sew non 
surgical scrubs for Frimley Health Trust, local GP surgeries and Thames Hospice  

 Participated in several radio and TV interviews with regard the scrubs appeal and visited 
“social distanced” a few of the people sewing the much needed scrubs 

 Presented non surgicial scrubs to Thames Hospice and delivered to other medical 
establishments 

 Attended the Welsh Guards St David’s Day event at Combermere Barracks 

 Maidenhead Thames Rotary Young Writers Essay competition  

 Hungerford Star Dinner 

 Soroptimists International Women’s Day event  

 Citizenship Ceremony 

 Recorded video clip of “Clap for Fosters Carers” 

 Led the Armed Forces Flagraising at York House, Windsor 

 Attended the re-opening of the Thames Hospice store in Windsor 
 

Concerts/Show 
 

 Band concert by the Welsh Guards at Holy Trinity Garrison Church, Windsor 

 Maidenhead Rotary children’s “Maidenhead’s Got Talent” show at Taplow Court  
 

85

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report Title:     Climate Strategy  

 

Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information? 

No - Part I  

Member reporting:  Councillor Stimson, Lead Member - 
Environmental Services, Climate Change, 
Sustainability, Parks and Countryside 

Meeting and Date:  Full Council – 23 June 2020 

Responsible Officer(s):  Russell O’Keefe Executive Director  
Chris Joyce, Head of Infrastructure, 
Sustainability and Economic Growth 

Wards affected:   All 

 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

RECOMMENDATION: That Full Council notes the report and: 
 

i) Approve the strategy for public consultation at the appropriate time. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  

 Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 

Approve the documents to be taken 
to public consultation. 
This is the recommended option 

The strategy sets out a framework to 
tackling the climate emergency to 
support the UK’s commitment to 
reaching net zero in 2050 as well as 
a series of actions in the short term 
to begin that journey in partnership 
with businesses, community groups 
and residents.  

Delay consideration of the strategy 
in light of the current Covid-19 crisis. 
This is not recommended 

The evidence shows that early 
action is needed to tackle the 
climate emergency.  Any delay in 
adopting the strategy is likely to 
have a negative impact on achieving 

REPORT SUMMARY  
 

1. The council declared an environmental and climate emergency in June 
2019.  As part of the motion at Full Council, the Royal Borough made a 
commitment to form a cross party working group to develop a climate 
strategy to be approved at full Council by June 2020. 

2. The cross-party working group has developed a draft strategy and action 
plan in partnership with key stakeholders and communities across the 
borough, setting out the approach to tackling the climate emergency. 

3. This report is seeking approval to the draft strategy and action plan to allow 
the document to be published for public consultation. 
 

87

Agenda Annex



Option Comments 

the UK’s objective of being bet zero 
by 2050 and complying with the 
Paris Agreement. 

Do not adopt the strategy and 
pursue an alternative approach to 
meeting our obligations 
This is not recommended 

The strategy has been developed in 
partnership with key stakeholders 
and our community.  It is based on 
best practice and policy guidance at 
a local and national level. 

 

Background 
2.1 Climate change is a global and immediate challenge.  The consequences of 

not taking action are increasingly well understood and the climate movement 
is gaining momentum in communities, national and local levels of Government 
across the world.  The UN ‘Paris Agreement’ seeks to limit global average 
temperature rises to 1.5°C above the pre-industrial period.  We could see 
1.5°C of unnatural heating as early as 2035 unless there is a rapid fall in 
emissions. 

2.2 In May 2019, the Committee on Climate Change set out the actions needed to 
reach net zero carbon by 2050.  The recommendations included the need to 
legislate for the 2050 target, the need for strategies across all sectors of the 
economy (including international shipping and aviation) as well as the need to 
meet any targets through domestic effort rather than through international 
credits.  

2.3 The Environment Bill 2020 brings into UK law the target of reaching net zero 
carbon by 2050.  It also creates a wider framework for environmental 
governance, including a new direction for resource and waste management, 
embeds the principle of biodiversity net gain and improving air quality.  It sets 
into law the principles of the Government’s 25-year environment strategy that 
was published in 2018. 

2.4 In June 2019, the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead declared a 
climate emergency.  As part of that commitment it was agreed the Council 
would:  

 Declare an environmental and climate emergency; whilst noting the 
council’s achievements in reducing its environmental impacts including 
reducing its energy consumption by 21% and the ambitious ongoing targets 
to further reduce energy consumption by 10% within four years, adopted in 
the Energy and Water Strategy 2019-2023;   

 Welcome the Government’s commitment to net zero carbon emissions by 
2050 and call on them to provide additional powers and resources to ensure 
the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead can help deliver on national 
targets; and  

 Establish a Cross-Party Working Group to undertake an in-depth review of 
the council’s current carbon footprint and to formulate, consult and agree on 
a net Zero Carbon Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead by 2050 
Strategy in consultation with local stakeholders and partners with a draft 
strategy to be brought before Full Council within 12 months.  

 

88



Developing the strategy 
2.5 The development of the strategy has been overseen by a Cross-Party 

Steering Group of members, working with officers from across the council and 
co-ordinated by the recently formed sustainability team in the Council’s Place 
Directorate.   

2.6 A series of public meetings between November 2019 and February 2020 were 
organised to seek the views of key stakeholders and communities.  This has 
played a substantive role in the development of the strategy and the more 
detailed five-year action plan.  The intention is that the strategy has been 
developed and will be delivered in partnership with our community and 
residents. 

2.7 The strategy has been developed in four stages, with each stage of the 
approach being reviewed and agreed with the Cross-Party Steering Group.  
This has allowed the strategy to incorporate stakeholder input as well as 
ensuring it is aligned with policy at a local and national level as well as best 
practice from other local authorities: 

Stage 1: Analysis and review 

 Establish baselines  

 Review existing policies, actions and activities 

 Assess resources and capabilities   

 Bring together wider policy context (national and local)  

 Identity key stakeholders and contributors  

 Explore and gather best practice from elsewhere  
 

August – 
November 
2019  

Stage 2: Identify strategic options informed by 
engagement  

 Assess opportunities and options  

 Test options  

 Evaluate and prioritise options 
 

December 
2019 – 
January 
2020 

Stage 3: Develop draft local strategy, action plan and 
monitoring framework   

 Formulate first draft of strategy, action plan and 
monitoring framework  

 Test drafts through engagement and refine 

 Carry out consultation on updated draft  
 

February – 
May 2020  

Stage 4: Approval, implementation and review  

 Cabinet and Council approval  

 Embedded within plans and approach of Council and 
partners  

 Regular review, monitoring and refinement  

June 2020 
and 
ongoing  

2.8 To support the final stages of development of the draft strategy to be brought 
before Full Council, we have sought specific input with key stakeholders in the 
community.  This included representatives from the RBWM CEC (Sarah 
Bowden), Plastic Free Windsor and Maidenhead (Paul Hinton), the Wild 
Groups (Fiona Hewer) and the RBWM Cycling Action Group (Susy Shearer).   

89



Key elements of the strategy 
2.9 Whilst this is the Council’s strategy, to reach net zero will require action from 

everyone including central Government, Local Authorities, businesses, 
community groups and private individuals.  The strategy is intended to set out 
the actions we will take as a council to support this effort. 

2.10 The strategy sets out the carbon emission baselines for the council’s own 
activity and operation as well as for Borough-wide emissions.  This will allow 
performance of the strategy to be monitored on an ongoing basis and inform 
changes to our action plans over time.   

2.11 The council’s carbon emissions inventory has been developed in accordance 
with the World Resources Institute GHG Protocol, the internationally 
recognised and established methodology for calculating organisational carbon 
footprints.  Borough wide emissions will be assessed using central 
Government data provided through the Department for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS). 

2.12 The strategic framework has been based on focussing our action around four 
key themes.  For each theme there is an overall aim and three objectives.  The 
purpose of this framework is to guide development of the actions we are taking 
to tackle climate change and reach net zero by 2050 at the latest. 

THEME 1: CIRCULAR ECONOMY 
‘Reduce waste and consumption, increase material re-use and increase 
recycling rates in the borough’ 

Objectives 

Reduce residual waste  

Improve recycling rates 

Promote more sustainable food choices 

THEME 2: ENERGY 
‘Reduce energy consumption and decarbonise supply’ 

Objectives 

Reduce energy demand 

Decarbonise supply 

Increase renewables generation 

THEME 3: NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 
‘Cleaner air, higher water quality and increased biodiversity 

Objectives 

Protect and enhance our natural environment 

Green our towns and urban areas 

Increase awareness of biodiversity 

THEME 4: TRANSPORT 
‘Enable sustainable transport choices’ 

Objectives 

Improve health and wellbeing and reduce environmental 
impact through active transport (cycling and walking) 

Enable the transition to more sustainable transport use 

Support integration of transport options and support 
innovative smart mobility solutions 

 

2.13 The strategy is supported by a series of practical actions that the council will 
take in the next five years to support the delivery of our strategic objectives.  
Each action has a target against which we can measure our success, which 
can then be tracked.   In each of the four themes we have identified a key 
action, which is likely to require more significant resources. These projects are 

90



likely to require external funding or will form the first step in achieving a larger 
aim. 

2.14 An annual monitoring report will be prepared setting out the council’s annual 
carbon emissions and the most recent data for the borough’s carbon 
emissions.  The report will also set out progress against our individual 
objectives and actions. We will seek to review the strategy on a five-yearly 
basis with a new action plan and targets. 

2.15 The Climate Change Steering Group will continue to oversee the development 
and delivery of the strategy and it has been agreed that the group will continue 
to develop the objectives, scope, and methodology to ensure that the strategy 
facilitates the highest levels of effectiveness and achievement. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Implementation of the strategy will require delivery from across the different 
cabinet portfolios and council departments.  It will need to be delivered with 
our communities and partners and therefore will require buy-in from across the 
organisation. 

3.2 It is also likely to influence future approach to policy development in a number 
of service areas.  The intention is that the council’s sustainability team will be 
able to support other services in policy development that support our 
commitments in relation to climate change.  It is also likely to impact future 
prioritisation of capital funding. 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The financial and economic impact of not tackling climate change is likely to 
be far greater than the costs of implementing measures.  We have recognised 
there will be a role for the UK Government in funding larger projects.  We will 
continue to lobby for funding pots to be made available to deliver those 
projects. 

4.2 In many areas, such as energy efficiency and reducing energy demand there 
will be positive financial impacts.  The strategy has been designed to make 
use of existing budgets and to support community led initiatives to deliver 
change.  Where funding for a project is required, it will follow the normal 
capital funding process to ensure the proposals represent good value for 
money and based on sound evidence. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 No significant legal implications have been identified. 

91



6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 2: Impact of risk and mitigation 

Risks Uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Controlled 
risk 

Stakeholders have a 
key role in supporting 
and delivering the 
strategy without this 
support the delivery is 
at risk. 

MEDIUM The strategy has 
been developed in 
consultation with 
stakeholders and the 
team will continue to 
engage through 
delivery 

LOW 

Elements of the 
strategy will require 
external funding from 
central Government to 
meet the target of net 
zero by 2050 

HIGH We have made clear 
in the strategy and 
action plan that key 
elements will require 
funding from 
government.  We will 
continue to lobby 
and apply for 
relevant funding 
when available. 

MEDIUM 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities.  the adverse impact of climate change on society is likely to fall 
unequally and reinforce existing inequalities.  The strategy can be used to 
tackle issues such as fuel poverty and improving accessibility for those without 
access to a car.  A full EQIA is not required at this stage. 

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. The purpose of the strategy is to set out an 
approach to support the UK Governments net zero target by 2050.  

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR.  Adopting the strategy will not have any associated 
data protection issues. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The strategy has been developed in consultation with key stakeholders and 
communities throughout the process.  The intention is to hold a formal public 
consultation following agreement to the draft strategy by Cabinet and full 
Council. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 The intention is to take the strategy to public consultation after approval by full 
Council.  Following consideration of the comments received a final strategy to 
be approved and then implemented. 

92



10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by one appendix: 

 The Draft Strategy Document 
  

93



11. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)  

Name of consultee  Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned  

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 30/04/20 02/05/20 

Cllr Donna Stimson Lead Member - 
Environmental Services, 
Climate Change, 
Sustainability, Parks and 
Countryside and Climate 
Steering Group Chair 

30/04/20 03/05/20 

Cllr Gerry Clark Lead Member 
Infrastructure and 
Transport 

30/04/20 30/04/20 

Cllr Julian Sharpe Climate Steering Group 
Member 

30/04/20 13/05/20 

Cllr Karen Davies Climate Steering Group 
Vice Chair 

30/04/20 30/04/20 

Cllr Wisdom Da Costa Climate Steering Group 
Vice Chair 

30/04/20 14/05/20 

Russell O’Keefe Executive Director  29/04/20 30/04/20 

Adele Taylor S151 officer 30/04/20  

Elaine Browne Head of Law 30/04/20 06/05/20 

Mary Severin Monitoring Officer 30/04/20 30/04/20 

Nikki Craig Head of HR, Corporate 
Projects and ICT 

30/04/20 02/05/20 

Louisa Dean Communications 30/04/20  

Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s 
Services 

30/04/20  

Hilary Hall Director Adults, Health and 
Commissioning 

30/4/20 30/04/20 

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 30/4/20 30/04/20 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type:  
Key decision: 
Included in the 
forward plan in 
March 2020 
 
 

Urgency item? 
No  
 

To Follow item? 
No 

Report Author: Chris Joyce, Head of Infrastructure, Sustainability and 
Economic Growth 

  
 
 
 
 

 

94



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Royal Borough Windsor and Maidenhead 

Environment and Climate Strategy  

DRAFT FOR FULL COUNCIL 

 

 

June 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

95



 

2 
 

Contents: 
FOREWORD ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

Executive summary ................................................................................................................................. 4 

1. Context ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

2. Baseline  .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

3. Vision, aims and objectives ............................................................................................................. 9 

4. Initial Action plan 2020-25 ............................................................................................................ 14 

5. Implementation ............................................................................................................................ 19 

Appendix 1 – Council Carbon Emissions ............................................................................................... 21 

 
 

 
 
 
 

  

96



 

3 
 

FOREWORD 
In June 2019, the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council declared an 

Environment and Climate Emergency.  The issues driving this decision were, and remain, 

some of the most challenging ever faced by humanity.  We recognised the possibility that, 

within a few decades at most, our planet could warm to an extent that would make life difficult 

for many and impossible for some and that could drive the life of many species up to and 

beyond the point of extinction.  We are all now aware of this, but we are also confident that, if 

we take action and use our human ingenuity, we can turn back this tide.  

 

The past 12 months have allowed us to develop the report that follows.  It has involved the 

work of Councillors and Council officers, as well as people across our community.  It is not yet 

a detailed plan and our next step, if we receive the Council’s endorsement, is to take it out to 

our community for their comments and commitment, and to further develop the specific 

programmes that will turn our plans into actions.  

 

The commitment we made as a Council in June last year was to achieve a target of net zero 

carbon emissions in the Borough by 2050, in line with the Government policy.  We are aware 

that this is our minimum commitment and that, to be sure of addressing the challenges facing 

us, we need to try to bring the net carbon date forward when it becomes possible.  

 

The COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 inevitably impacted some of the work on this report, notably 

the planned public consultation on our strategy.  It has also taught us valuable lessons. It 

showed how a society and individual communities can adapt, surprisingly rapidly, to new 

pressures; how our energies, enterprise and community spirit can achieve what previously 

seemed impossible.  

 

In adopting this report the Council in its entirety will be demonstrating that this challenge is of 

paramount importance to us.  We must communicate this commitment to our community 

across the Borough and show, through our actions and the urgency with which we apply them, 

that we mean business.  

 

We are proud to present this document. It will drive the decisions, resources and actions we 

make across all of our activities.  If we do this, we can look forward to a Borough that is a 

healthier, happier, more community-focussed place to live, play and work, and that is showing 

real leadership in tackling these major challenges.  We look forward to delivering each of these 

promises alongside you. 

 

Cllr Donna Stimson, Cabinet Member for Environmental Services, Climate Change, 

Sustainability, Parks and Countryside and Chair of the Steering Group 

Cllr Karen Davies Councillor for Clewer East and Vice Chair of the Steering Group 

Cllr Wisdom Da Costa Councillor for Clewer and Dedworth West and Vice Chair of the 

Steering Group 

Cllr Gerry Clark Cabinet Member for Transport and Infrastructure and Steering Group 

Member 

Cllr Julian Sharpe Councillor for Ascot and Sunninghill and Steering Group Member   

97



 

4 
 

Executive summary 

This is a true emergency with our climate changing on a scale and pace that threatens 

our way of life and that of future generations.  As a Borough we need to take urgent 

and real action and our strategy sets out our five-year approach to working in 

partnership with local communities to tackle this challenge.  

 

Our vision is to be a Borough where the community collectively works together 

to achieve a sustainable future, protecting and enhancing our natural 

environment and achieving net zero carbon emissions by 2050.   

 

Our approach 

Climate change and the threats to our environment (e.g. loss of biodiversity, air and 

water quality) are global challenges in which everyone has a part to play.  As a local 

authority we are in a position to take leadership at a local level.  In June 2019, we 

made it our ambition to take the Royal Borough to net zero emissions by 2050 and 

take action to protect and enhance our local natural environment.  

 

This strategy sets out our vision and five-year action plan for embarking on this 

challenge.  Whilst this is the Council’s strategy and we take responsibility for leading 

on its delivery, it will only be successful through collaboration.  It will take the combined 

efforts of business, industry, residents and community groups to deliver the action that 

is necessary to make this a reality.  

 

The impacts of climate change have already begun to be felt and it will be necessary 

to continue to adapt to these.  However, it is of utmost importance that we take action 

at a local level to mitigate the effects of climate change as far as possible.  This 

strategy is focused on mitigation, our approach to adaptation will be developed 

separately in consultation with the relevant bodies. 

 

We have structured our strategy around four key themes to focus action on areas we 

have control over at a local level: 

 

The first is Circular Economy which refers to more sustainable resource use. 

Attention will be focused on reducing waste, encouraging material re-use, increasing 

recycling and supporting less resource intensive lifestyles.   

 

The second is Energy. 66% of the Borough’s emissions are a result of energy 

consumption in buildings.  Reducing our energy consumption and decarbonising our 

supply of energy is therefore absolutely key to realising the Borough’s net zero 

emission ambitions.   

 

The third is Natural Environment.  Quality of life and the role of the natural 

environment in creating great places is a critical part of the success of the Thames 

98



 

5 
 

Valley economy, and to our residents’ health and wellbeing.  We will take action to 

deliver biodiversity net gain and in doing so this will help protect the ecosystem service 

benefits we receive (e.g. clean air and water).  Conserving and sustainably managing 

biodiversity is also critical to addressing climate change.   

 

The fourth and final theme is Transport.  As a local authorities, we will reduce 

the need for carbon intensive travel by encouraging walking and cycling as well as 

investing in digital infrastructure.  We will create conditions for sustainable travel 

through the provision of infrastructure such as cycle routes and electric vehicle 

charging points and minimise the impacts of road traffic by encouraging cleaner 

vehicles.   

 

Our strategy can only be delivered in partnership with all stakeholders to make net 

zero by 2050 a reality.  It will take the combined efforts of business, industry, residents 

and community groups to make this a reality and drive forward real change at the pace 

and scale that is required.   

 

We have set out the way in which we as a local authority can influence and impact on 

emissions in the Royal Borough.  However, we call upon residents and businesses 

who live and work here to harness control over their emissions and make the net zero 

carbon emission ambition a reality.  The governance and engagement approach we 

take to enable and ensure partnership working will be developed over the coming 

months.  

 

This strategy will be delivered through services across the council, co-ordinated 

through our sustainability team working with groups and organisations in different 

sectors.  An annual monitoring report will be prepared.  We will use this to track 

progress towards our net zero target as a Borough and to inform the actions we need 

to collectively take to make progress.  We will publish progress on an annual basis 

and in doing so coordinate Borough-wide efforts on carbon reduction.  Publishing 

progress will also demonstrate transparency so that residents can ensure we are 

delivering against our commitments. 

 

The council will utilise a range of internal funding sources to develop and deliver its 

programme of activity.  A challenge of this urgency and scale will require funding from 

central Government.  We will also continue to lobby Government to make available 

specific funding for local authorities to tackle the climate crisis.   

99



 

1 
 

1. Context 
 
1.1. Climate change is a global and immediate challenge.  The consequences of not 

taking action are increasingly well understood and the climate movement is 

gaining momentum in communities, national and local levels of Government 

across the world.  The UN ‘Paris Agreement’ seeks to limit global average 

temperature rises to 1.5°C above the pre-industrial period.  We could see 1.5°C 

of unnatural heating as early as 2035 unless there is a rapid fall in emissions. 

 

1.2. In response to this global challenge, the Royal Borough of Windsor and 

Maidenhead in June 2019 declared an environmental and climate emergency.  

As part of that commitment it was agreed the Council would: 

• Undertake an in-depth review of the Council's carbon footprint; 

• Consult and agree on a net zero carbon by 2050 strategy for the Royal 

Borough; 

• Call upon the Government to provide the additional powers and resources 

required. 

1.3. The Council to date has passed other motions related to the environment and 

actions to enact those motions are detailed in this strategy.  These include the 

December 2018 motion to support the principles campaign group ‘Plastic Free 

Windsor and Plastic Free Maidenhead’ put forward with regard to single use 

plastic reduction; and the July 2019 motion to support biodiversity in the borough 

by making amendments to its roadside verge maintenance and planting 

approach.   

 

1.4. We all have a role to play in achieving this aim and this strategy seeks to set out 

the actions we will take as the Council.  It also sets out how we will work with our 

partners and communities to deliver our commitment to be net zero by 2050, at 

the latest.  Clearly, given the pressing need to address this global challenge we 

see this very much as backstop date and will work with our partners as fast as 

resources, opportunities and national policy and legislation allow us to reach net 

zero.  

Policy context  

1.5. In 2015, an historic international agreement on climate change was reached. 

Known as the ‘Paris Agreement’ countries committed to: 

• Keep a global temperature rise this century well below 2°C above pre-

industrial levels  

• Pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase even further to 1.5°C.  

• All countries work together to bring greenhouse gas emissions to net zero 

within the second half of the 21st century 

100



 

2 
 

1.6. In May 2019, the Committee on Climate Change (the independent body tasked 

with advising the UK government on climate change) set out the actions needed 

to reach net zero carbon by 2050.   

 

1.7. The recommendations included the need to legislate for the 2050 target, the 

need for strategies across all sectors of the economy (including international 

shipping and aviation) as well as the need to meet any targets through domestic 

effort rather than through carbon offsetting schemes.  The accompanying 

technical report set out the key actions the UK needs to take to deliver on its 

target, which include actions local authorities can take to play their part and 

actions businesses and residents at a Borough level can take to deliver change 

locally.   

 

1.8. The report specifies accelerated action in the 2020’s.  This includes: to largely 

decarbonise the electricity grid and phase out coal for renewables; action to ramp 

up the electric vehicle market; decision taking in relation to HGVs transition to 

zero carbon technology; development of decentralised energy networks; energy 

efficiency programmes for buildings; and the need to reduce waste and ban 

waste-to-landfill.  This context has informed the development of this strategy and 

actions to tackle these areas are specified under the Action Plan section.  

 

1.9. The Environment Bill 2020 is also important; it brings into UK law the target of 

reaching net zero carbon by 2050.  It also creates a wider framework for 

environmental governance, including a new direction for resource and waste 

management.  It embeds the principle of biodiversity net gain and air quality 

improvement by requiring the government to set new more ambitious targets.  It 

sets into law the principles of the Government’s 25-year environment strategy 

that was published in 2018.  This has guided the development of this strategy 

and the actions it contains.  

 

1.10. The Government’s 2017 Industrial Strategy White Paper embeds the principle of 

a low carbon economy and says it is essential for maintaining our quality of life 

and ensuring our continued prosperity.  Many of the actions required to support 

the five foundations of productivity (ideas, people, infrastructure, business 

environment and places), will also support action on climate change.  Clean 

growth and the future of mobility it says are also critical to a low carbon future.  

 

1.11. The locally approved ‘Local Industrial Strategy’, developed by the Thames Valley 

Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership sets out the region’s commitment to 

responsible economic growth.  It embeds the importance of the climate 

emergency as well as the value of place to the ongoing success of the local 

economy.  This means that valuing our natural environment and quality of life of 

residents will be central to plans to continue to grow the economy. This has 

guided the development of this strategy and the actions it contains.  

101



 

3 
 

 

1.12. The Council already has a number of strategies and policies in place to support 

a reduction in carbon emissions.  The Energy and Water Strategy 2019-2023 will 

deliver a 10% reduction in energy related carbon emissions and 5% reduction in 

water use by 2023.  The Local Transport Plan (2012 – 2026) and Cycling Action 

Plan (2018-2028) already set out proposals to help reduce emissions from 

transport and grow the number of cyclists by 50% by 2028.  This is significant 

given the relatively low uptake of cycling in the Borough.   

 

1.13. The ‘submitted version’ of the Borough Local Plan also sets out key objectives 

and policies on the environment and climate change to guide new development. 

A Green and Blue Infrastructure Study has documented the Royal Borough’s 

natural infrastructure assets which will inform our approach to protecting 

biodiversity and our natural capital 

 

1.14. This strategy will be a priority across every part of the council.  It will require 

officers and members to work together to review council policies to ensure they 

are compatible with our commitment to deliver carbon emissions to net zero.  Our 

strategies will need to be reviewed in light of our commitments on climate change 

to support our overall commitment to net zero by 2050.  The actions set out in 

this strategy will support those changes and set policy direction for any new or 

emerging strategies. 

 

Developing the strategy 

1.15. We have prepared the strategy through engagement and with the involvement of 

the RBWM community.  This has involved several public workshops and 

meetings to seek views and develop ideas and actions for our approach.  This 

included three public workshops and one specific event for school children.  We 

have also sought best practice from other local authorities and other 

organisations to ensure we learn the lessons. 

 

1.16. The strategy has been developed through a cross-party working group of 

members.  The group has been supported by officers from across the council, 

from various services and with different specialisms.   

 

1.17. Delivery of our strategy will be contingent on working in partnership with a wide 

range of stakeholders throughout our community.  It will require support and 

action from central Government to drive forward changes across the whole 

country.  It will also require local action from individual residents, community 

groups and partners to enable change.  The way we communicate the strategy 

and keep engaging throughout delivery with the local population to get their buy 

in, will therefore be a key part of our strategy. 

102



 

4 
 

 

1.18. The strategy focuses on mitigation of climate change and how we as a Borough 

can significantly reduce our carbon emissions.  We recognise that we will also 

need to adapt to the changing climate.  As part of our action plan, we commit to 

conducting a climate risk assessment and will use the outcome of that work to 

develop an adaptation plan for the Borough. 

  

103



 

5 
 

2. Baseline  
2.1. The council has calculated current carbon emissions using the most recent data 

set ’UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 

2005 to 2017’ published by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 

Strategy in 2019.  This is to understand where emissions come from and what 

activities they relate to.   

 

2.2. This information is key to understanding what actions RBWM can take to reduce 

emissions, and the part it can play to ensure the Royal Borough can achieve the 

target of net-zero emissions by 2050 at the latest and ideally faster.  Emissions 

as they currently stand constitute the baseline against which future performance 

will be measured.  

 

2.3. The strategy currently provides a baseline for carbon dioxide emissions.  It does 

not provide baselines for other areas such as biodiversity.  The Council commits 

to explore how these could be included at a later date in line with specialist advice 

and existing studies, and actions for this are included in the Action Plan section 

of our strategy. 

 

2.4. The council will monitor two sets of emissions; those arising from our own estate 

and operations, and those arising from activities carried out in the Royal Borough 

i.e. emissions generated from domestic dwellings and business premises, as well 

as from travelling within the borough.  This methodology follows the guidance 

provided by BEIS for what should be included in the baseline.  This strategy will 

focus on the wider Borough as it represents a far greater source of carbon 

emissions than the Council’s operations alone. 

 

2.5. The Council will produce a separate strategy for its own operations but has 

already undertaken a review of its own carbon footprint which has been provided 

as an appendix to this document.  This used the internationally recognised World 

Resources Institute GHG Protocol to ensure residents have confidence in our 

approach.  This is to ensure that as an organisation committed to environmental 

excellence, we lead by example, encouraging others in the Borough to follow. 

 

2.6. We will use the local authority data published by BEIS each year to track 

progress towards our net zero target as a Borough and to inform the actions we 

need to collectively take to make progress. We will publish progress on an annual 

basis and in doing so coordinate Borough-wide efforts on carbon reduction. 

Publishing progress will also demonstrate transparency so that residents can 

ensure we are delivering against our commitments. 

  

104



 

6 
 

Borough-wide carbon emissions 

2.7. Borough-wide carbon emissions comprise of those deemed under Local 

Authorities’ scope of influence by The Department of Business, Energy & 

Industrial Strategy (BEIS).  They have produced carbon dioxide (CO2) emission 

estimates for every local authority-controlled area in the UK.  These comprise of: 

• CO2 emissions produced in the commercial, industrial and agricultural 

sectors from the usage of electricity, gas, and other fuels  

• CO2 emissions produced in the domestic sector from the usage of 

electricity, gas and other fuels 

• CO2 emissions produced from road transport  

 

2.8. BEIS recommend Local Authorities exclude emission sources which are not 

controlled at a local level.  Emissions from the following are therefore excluded; 

• Motorways  

• EU Emissions Trading Systems Sites 

• Diesel Railways 

• Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry (which encompasses 

emissions relating to agriculture and de/reforestation)  

 

2.9. The most recent figures provided by BEIS state emissions arising from the 

Borough total 670.8kt CO2 (Figure 1).  This is made up of 190.5kt CO2 from 

industry, commercial and agricultural sectors, 257.3kt CO2 from domestic 

premises and 223.1kt CO2 from transport.  Domestic emissions make up the 

largest portion of emissions (38%) closely followed by transport emissions which 

make up 33%. Industrial, commercial and agricultural emissions make up the 

final 28%.  These emissions will be used as a baseline against which the Royal 

Borough’s future performance will be compared.  

 

 

105



 

7 
 

 
Figure 1 

2.10. As Figure 1 demonstrates, significant emission savings have been realised in 

both the domestic sector and industrial & commercial sector.  This is broadly a 

reflection of UK wide trends driven mainly by reductions in emissions from power 

stations and the decarbonisation of the electricity grid.  It is worth noting the 

transport sector has seen little change and tackling emissions in this area 

remains a robust challenge.  The steps we are taking to address the transport 

emission challenge, as well as the challenge of reducing emissions in other areas 

are outlined in the following chapters. 

 

2.11. Industry and commercial sector emissions 

are made up of energy consumption on 

industrial sites and commercial sites.  

These comprise of electricity, gas and 

other fuels (e.g. oil).  More than half of the 

emissions from this sector come from 

electricity use (58%).  

 

2.12. The domestic sector emissions come from 

energy consumption in and around the 

home; electricity, gas and other fuels such as 

oil.  Approximately two thirds of emissions from 

this sector come from gas usage (66%). 

 

2.13. In both the domestic and industrial + 

commercial sector, emissions produced are 

affected by the energy source used, the type 

and condition of the buildings (including their 

-

200.0

400.0

600.0

800.0

1,000.0

1,200.0

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

k
t 
C

O
2

Carbon Dioxide Emissions (CO2), Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead

Industry and Commercial Domestic Transport Total

Electricity
28%

Gas
66%

Other 
fuels
6%

Domestic emission sources

Electricity
58%Gas 

31%

Other fuels
11%

Industry and commercial sector 
emission sources

106



 

8 
 

insulation), the average ambient temperature (urban areas can be much warmer 

and therefore easier to heat than rural areas), and the behaviour of occupants.  

 

2.14. Transport emissions are made up of road 

transport.  Emissions estimates are made on the 

basis of the distribution of traffic, therefore some 

of the emissions within an authority represent 

through traffic, or part of trips into or out of the 

area, whether by residents or non-residents.  

Emissions come from both freight and 

passenger transport for both business and 

private purposes.  Approximately half of these 

emissions are produced on A roads (52%) and 

39% of remaining emissions come from minor 

roads.  The last 9% represent emissions from 

combustion of lubricants and from vehicles 

which run on LPG.  

Road 
Transport 
(A roads)

52%

Road 
Transport 

(Minor 
roads)
39%

Transport 
Other

9%

Transport emission sources

107



 

9 
 

3. Vision, aims and objectives 
 

3.1. This is a true emergency with our climate changing on a scale and pace that 

threatens our way of life and that of future generations.  As a Borough we need 

to take urgent action and our strategy sets out our approach to working in 

partnership with local communities to tackle this challenge over the next five 

years. 

 

3.2. Our vision is to be a Borough where the community collectively works 

together to achieve a sustainable future, protecting and enhancing our 

natural environment and achieving net zero carbon emissions by 2050.   

 

3.3. Our strategy has not been prepared to simply protect and enhance our natural 

environment and deliver carbon emission reductions as quickly as we can.  It is 

important that it supports a better quality of life, better health and well being 

outcomes as well as a thriving economy for residents across the borough. 

 

Trajectory to net zero 

3.4. We believe the council has a key role in reducing the Borough-wide emissions.  

Communicating the progress made in tackling emissions and setting out a 

trajectory of emission reductions is an example of our commitment to leadership.   

 

3.5. There is currently no recommended pathway to net-zero issued from the UK 

government.  We have therefore set interim targets for a trajectory to net zero by 

2050 at the latest.  Our interim approach for reducing emissions to net zero 

follows a straight-line trajectory to 2050:  

Year 
Annual emissions (ktCO2) 

Total  
Industry & 

Commercial 
Domestic) Transport  

2020 671 191 257 223 

2025 559 159 214 186 

2030 447 127 172 149 

2035 335 95 129 112 

2040 224 64 86 74 

2045 112 32 43 37 

2050 0 0 0 0 

 

3.6. We commit to reviewing expert guidance produced by the Committee on Climate 

Change (CCC, the UK Government independent advisory body on climate 

change) and other experts to inform our pathway to net zero.  At present there is 

no guidance from the CCC on what residual emissions will be permitted by 2050 

therefore we have aimed for zero emissions by 2050 however it is likely that 

negative emissions technologies will be in operation by 2050 and some residual 

emissions will be allowable.   

108



 

10 
 

 

3.7. We commit to publishing an updated trajectory within 6 months of the 

environment and climate strategy being approved by Full Council.  

 

Strategic themes 

3.8. We have structured our strategy around four key themes.  The strategic 

framework provides the basis for our ongoing activity and investment in the 

environment and climate strategy.  The themes comprise of circular economy, 

energy, natural environment and transport and in doing so reflect the 

commitments that were made by the council in declaring both an environment 

and climate emergency.  

 

Theme 1 - Circular Economy 

3.9. Although BEIS do not deem waste as under the scope of emissions for local 

authorities, the efficient and sustainable use of resource is critical to establishing 

a low carbon future.  There is a significant opportunity for those living and working 

in the Borough to have an impact and reduce emissions and environmental 

impact in this area.  It’s an area our residents feel passionate about too.  

 

3.10. This theme focuses our attention on reducing waste, increasing recycling and 

supporting less resource intensive lifestyles through greater re-use of material.  

There are opportunities to support local suppliers, innovation and sustainable 

approaches to food production.   

 

3.11. We need to reduce residual waste consumption, and increase the amount we re-

use, recycle or compost as soon as we can.  We will build on the achievements 

we have already made, namely our zero to landfill waste policy.  Currently around 

44% of household waste is recycled or composted, the remaining 56% is sent to 

an energy from waste plant.  The official England ‘waste from households’ 

recycling rate was 44.7% in 20181.  We will improve recycling rates to ensure we 

are a leader in recycling and waste management   

 

3.12. We aim to improve recycling rates to over 50% by 2025, moving us into the top 

100 Council’s in the Country.  We also aim to improve the proportion that is 

composted since that generates further carbon emissions savings.  To do that, 

we will first of all have to understand current composting rates. We commit to 

understanding them and improving them by 10% by 2025.     

 

Theme 2 –Energy 

 
1 Statistics on waste managed by local authorities in England in 2018/19, Department for Environment 
Food and Rural Affairs, 2019. 

109



 

11 
 

3.13. Two-thirds of the Borough’s emissions are a result of energy consumption in 

buildings.  Reducing our energy consumption and decarbonising our supply of 

energy is therefore central to realising the Borough’s net zero emission 

ambitions.  The Committee on Climate Change, the Government’s independent 

advisory committee on climate change believe that a shift to a renewable energy 

based energy supply is an essential step to the UK achieving net zero carbon 

emissions by 2050.   

 

3.14. Our objectives under this theme reflect these three focus areas; reducing energy 

demand, decarbonising supply and increasing local renewables generation.  

Actions to reduce energy demand (e.g. improving insulation) will create co-

benefits too, for example it will help tackle fuel poverty which helps us protect the 

vulnerable and provide affordable housing.  

 

3.15. Our aim is to reduce emissions from energy by 75 ktCO2 by 2025, in line with the 

trajectory we have set out.  The majority of buildings in the Borough that will be 

here in 2050 have already been built.  Our focus therefore will be to look at how 

best to support those buildings to improve their energy efficiency and transition 

to low carbon heat and power solutions.   

 

3.16. This will be complemented by a focus on significantly increasing renewable 

energy generation capacity in the Borough.  Currently the Royal Borough 

produces 13,142 MWh renewable energy per year2.  Some well performing 

boroughs are producing 10 times more than this3.  We aim therefore to increase 

renewable capacity 10 fold by 2025.  This would save 33ktCO2.    

 

Theme 3 – Natural environment 

3.17. Changes to our climate will have a significant impact on our natural environment 

therefore it is important we take steps to protect it.  Quality of life and the role of 

the natural environment in creating great places is a critical part of the success 

of the Thames Valley economy, and to our residents’ health and wellbeing.  

Helping our residents to be able to access green spaces and support their local 

environment will have a positive impact on mental and general health.   

 

  

 
2 Renewable electricity by local authority, Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, 
2019 
3 Renewable electricity by local authority, Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, 
2019  

110



 

12 
 

3.18. Taking actions to protect and enhance our natural assets will help protect against 

the effects of climate change too.  Biodiversity, through the ecosystem services 

it supports, makes an important contribution to both climate-change mitigation 

and adaptation.  Consequently, conserving and sustainably managing 

biodiversity is critical to addressing climate change.   

 

3.19. We will take action to deliver biodiversity net gain and in doing so this will help 

protect the ecosystem service benefits we receive (e.g. clean air and water). 

There are opportunities to protect and enhance our green and blue infrastructure 

(e.g. rivers, woodlands) within the Royal Borough.  Currently we have 16,000 

hectares of green and blue infrastructure which accounts for 80% of the land 

within the Borough.  We will set a new biodiversity net gain requirement, of 10% 

for developers though the planning system, in line with the Environment Bill 2020. 

We will use the concept of Nature Recovery Networks to enhance biodiversity.   

Theme 4 – Transport 

3.20. To date, the transport sector has proved to be the most challenging area for the 

UK to reduce carbon emissions.  Good connectivity is critical to the economy, 

whether this is physical infrastructure, transport services or digital.  We are 

committed to finding ways to reducing emissions in line with our net-zero 

commitment whilst delivering good connectivity.  

3.21. We aim to reduce emissions in transport by 37 ktCO2 by 2025 in line with the 

trajectory we have set out. Our objectives are to improve health and wellbeing 

through transport, enable the transition to more sustainable vehicle use and 

support innovative smart mobility solutions.   

3.22. Currently low carbon forms of transport are not predominant in the Royal 
Borough.  Only 12% of people commute by public transport, 3% cycle, and 10% 
walk.  There are opportunities therefore to increase usage of low-carbon 
transport.  There are several other benefits of doing this, which include improved 
health and wellbeing, better air quality, improvements to the economy and 
employment rates through industry and innovation and a reduction in inequality 
for those who are disproportionately impacted by pollution. 

   
3.23. We will seek to improve public transport and explore the best approach to 

delivering ‘shared mobility’.  This may be through improvements to traditional bus 
and coach services, working with operators to improve rail services or to 
investigate and introduce new and innovative forms of transport.  Where the only 
alternative is the car we will support and encourage the transition to low emission 
vehicle usage through the roll out of electric vehicle charging infrastructure within 
the borough. 

 

  

111



 

13 
 

Aims and objectives summary 
3.24. For each theme we have identified an over-arching aim and three objectives.  

These have guided the action plan for the first five years and will provide the 
strategic framework for the development of future action plans to 2050. 
 

THEME 1: CIRCULAR ECONOMY 
‘Reduce waste and consumption, increase material re-use and increase 
recycling rates in the borough’ 

Objectives 

Reduce residual waste  

Improve recycling rates 

Promote more sustainable food choices 

THEME 2: ENERGY 
‘Reduce energy consumption and decarbonise supply’ 

Objectives 

Reduce energy demand 

Decarbonise supply 

Increase renewables generation 

THEME 3: NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 
‘Cleaner air, higher water quality and increased biodiversity 

Objectives 

Protect and enhance our natural environment 

Green our towns and urban areas 

Increase awareness of biodiversity 

THEME 4: TRANSPORT 
‘Enable sustainable transport choices’ 

Objectives 

Improve health and wellbeing and reduce environmental 
impact through active transport (cycling and walking) 

Enable the transition to more sustainable transport use 

Support integration of transport options and support 
innovative smart mobility solutions 

 
 

  

112



 

14 
 

4. Initial Action plan - 2020-25 
4.1. In the following section, we set out actions identified to support the realisation of 

our vision, aims and objectives.  The actions were identified by stakeholders 
during workshops and expert opinion.  The community that collectively makes up 
the Royal Borough has to work together to identify the most cost-effective course 
of action.  The actions in the plan are not an exhaustive list. Throughout the public 
consultation and the delivery period, the Council will work with stakeholders and 
partners to identify opportunities to do more where possible and a specific email 
address will be set up to allow residents to feed in suggestions directly. 
 

4.2. We as the council commit to taking the actions below in an effort to support the 
Borough to decarbonise in the quickest and most effective way possible.  
Emissions will be monitored on an annual basis and actions will be evaluated 
against their capacity for decarbonisation versus the resources required to 
deliver them.  Each action has a measure of success which will be subject to 
regular reporting.  Further details are set out in the chapter on monitoring.   
 

4.3. To ensure the actions taken best protect the Royal Borough residents, we will 
carry out a climate risk assessment to map out the likely impacts the Borough 
will face.  We will do this in collaboration with experts such as the Environment 
Agency, Water and Energy Utilities, Infrastructure Operators and Businesses to 
leverage work already carried out in this area.  We will then prioritise actions that 
mitigate the risks identified.  
 

4.4. Actions have been assigned to each of our four themes.  Each of the four themes 
contains a key action.  This is a project which is likely to require external funding 
or will form the first step in achieving a larger aim.  
 

  

113



 

15 
 

Circular Economy 
4.5. The key focus of our circular economy workstream will be a programme of activity 

focussed on reducing residual waste and increasing household recycling rates 
to 50% by 2025.  We will investigate the potential for reducing waste collections 
as a means of increasing recycling in the borough, supported by a series of 
campaigns and initiatives to support reductions in residual waste. Our proposed 
actions are as follows: 
 
Objectives Action Measure of success 

KEY ACTION: To review household waste 
collection regime to deliver increases in 
recycling  

To prepare a review of the benefits of 
recent changes to waste collections and 
make recommendations on future 
provision with an aim to increase 
household recycling to 50% by 2025 

Reduce 
residual waste 

Hold repair cafes for 
residents to attend 

Implement at least one community trial of 
3 events in 2020/21 with the ambition to 
spread across the Royal Borough 

Open and support plastic 
free refillable shops 

Promotion in resident communications.  
 
Pop up space provided in communities 

Work with businesses to 
encourage reuse 
throughout their operations 

Identify high impact sectors and develop 
an innovative support package by 2023 

Reduce single use plastic 
usage 

Review, update and adopt a single-use 
plastics strategy based on the draft being 
developed by Plastic Free Maidenhead 
and Plastic Free Windsor. 

Holding clothing swap 
shops in schools 

Support existing initiatives and enable 3 
new swap shops to be created 

Investigate the feasibility of 
a reuse shop associated 
with the household 
recycling and waste site. 

Prepare a feasibility study and business 
case. 

Improve 
recycling rates 

Calculate emissions 
produced from household 
waste 

Develop a waste baseline and metrics for 
the Royal Borough by 2020 targeting a 
recycling rate of over 50% by 2025 
moving us into the top 100 councils. 

Improve education about 
what can be recycled 

Continue to Support WAM Gets Recycling 

Increase availability of 
specialist recycling facilities 

Maidenhead Library to house mini 
specialist recycling centre as trial by 2022 

Promoting 
more 
sustainable 
food choices 

Encourage more plant-
based food and promote 
buying local and seasonally 

New campaign of promotion and including 
a food section in resident communications 
and newsletters. 

Provide opportunities for 
people to grow their own 

Review of existing land and allotments 
policy to look for opportunities to increase 
availability 

Help reduce food waste in 
residual waste 

Promote food waste facilities including a 
target to increase composting by 10% by 
2025. 

Partner with local suppliers 
to promote sustainable 
food production and 
education 

Identify a partner to work with to develop 
a programme of education  

 
  

114



 

16 
 

Energy 
4.6. Decarbonising the energy supply and reducing energy demand are both required 

to meet a net zero target.  We will review planning policy to ensure new homes 
being built are energy efficient as well as helping current homeowners to make 
improvements to their own homes.  This will be complemented by a significant 
increase in renewable energy generation capacity in the Borough.  Our proposed 
actions are as follows: 

 
Objectives  Action  Measure of success  
KEY ACTION:  Work with residents/businesses to 
enable them to reduce carbon emissions in their 
buildings and review planning policy to improve 
the energy efficiency of new builds  

Reduce emissions from 
energy by 75 ktCO2 by 2025  

Reduce energy 
demand 

Improve energy efficiency of 
domestic private premises  

Year on year improvement in 
uptake of ECO funding achieved 
to help fuel poor and vulnerable 
properties improve energy 
efficiency 

Enforce minimum energy 
efficiency standards in the 
private rented sector through the 
use of EPCs 

Increased take-up of Flexible 
Home Improvement Loans 

Develop a heat and energy 
efficiency strategy for the Royal 
Borough 

Funding application for strategy 
development through Local 
Energy Partnerships (LEPs) 
and/or Heat Network Delivery 
Unit produced by end of 2020 

Reduce energy and water demand 
in new build 

Prepare a new SPD based on 
best practice to support new 
targets for the Local Plan. 

Decarbonising 
Supply  

Encourage renewable energy 
uptake amongst council staff and 
Royal Borough residents   

Encourage switching of 
domestic energy tariffs to green 
supplies. Achieve 100 switches 
annually. 

Work with housing associations to 
agree a programme of retrofitting 
with low carbon heating 

Monitoring framework to be 
included in the Councils annual 
monitoring report. 

Moving oil heated homes to 
renewable heat alternatives  

Host an outreach workshop with 
off grid homes to encourage 
adoption of low carbon heat 

Encourage businesses and industry 
to decarbonise their energy supply 
to reduce emissions 

Engage with the Chamber of 
Commerce and set up a forum 
for collaboration by end of 2022 

Increase 
renewables 
generation  

Scope decentralised energy (eg. 
Solar, heat networks, heat pumps) 
potential across the Borough 

Increase renewables capacity in 
the Borough 10 times by 2025. 

Support community led renewable 
projects  

Work with MaidEnergy and 
others to install 5 new 
renewable systems a year  

Increase requirement for 
renewables generation in new build  

Prepare new guidance through 
an SPD based on best practice. 

 

115



 

17 
 

Natural Environment 
4.7. Our key action is to develop and deliver a Natural Capital Programme to ensure 

10% biodiversity net gain through the planning system and protect and enhance 
our natural environment.   
 

4.8. This will require close collaboration with key landowners and others stakeholders 
such as the National Trust, Crown Estate, farming businesses, Thames Water 
and others.  It will build on the recommendations of the Green and Blue 
Infrastructure Study and the work of community groups to promote local 
biodiversity action plans.  Our proposed actions are as follows: 
 
Objectives Action Measure of success 

KEY ACTION: Implement a new Natural Capital 
programme to deliver 10% biodiversity net gain 

To have an action plan by 
June 2021 including borough-
wide biodiversity action plans. 

Protect and 
enhance our 
natural 
environment 

Work with partners to establish a 
Nature Recovery Network  

Prepare a funding bid by 
December 2020 

Engage community groups to 
enable a rewilding programme 

To have launched the 
programme and agreed targets 
by 2022 

Continue and extend the Council’s 
new mowing regime for roadside 
verges to ensure maximum wild 
flower success 

Extend scheme by 50% by 2024 

To develop a biodiversity baseline 
and metrics for the borough based 
on the work already undertaken in 
the Green and Blue Infrastructure 
Study and by the local ‘Wild 
Groups’  

To have agreed baseline 
measures and metrics by June 
2021 and identified areas of 
current biodiversity value 

Green our towns 
and urban areas 

Work with developers to provide 
green infrastructure in new town 
centre developments 

Ensure all new town centre 
development provides some 
form of green infrastructure in 
any public realm 

Increase tree cover in the Royal 
Borough 

Plant 15,000 new trees by 2025 
whilst looking at best practice 
from other Council’s to maximise 
benefits 

Increase 
awareness of 
biodiversity 

Provide biodiversity training to 
planning officers 

Ensure planning officers have 
been provided with biodiversity 
training by 2022 

Set up biodiversity and climate 
education sessions at Braywick 
Nature reserve 

Run training sessions for local 
businesses and education 
sessions for local schools 

Offer a volunteering programme 
and awareness training for Council 
employees and partners 

Set up a scheme by December 
2022 

Encourage wildlife friendly 
gardening  

Better support existing schemes 
run by community organisations 

 
 

  

116



 

18 
 

Transport 
4.9. Transport is a key contributor to carbon emissions across the UK and within the 

borough.  Whilst other areas of the economy have seen levels of emissions 
steadily falling, transport emissions have seen limited reductions.  To support 
delivery of our net zero target by 2050, we will need to produce a new Local 
Transport Plan with clear carbon reduction targets.  This will focus on 
opportunities to decarbonise, improve levels of active sustainable transport and 
a transition to integrated, smart mobility solutions.  Our proposed actions are as 
follows: 
 

Objectives  Action  Measure of success  

KEY ACTION: To prepare a new Local Transport Plan 
to support carbon reduction targets  

To prepare a new Draft Local 
Transport Plan by 2021 to deliver a 
reduction of 37ktCO2 by 2025. 

Improve health, 
wellbeing and 
reduce 
environmental 
impact through 
active transport 

Remove barriers to walking and 
cycling through delivery of cycle 
action plan 

Delivery of the Cycling Action Plan 
2018-28 schemes. 
 
Identify a new process to request 
20mph zones by August 2020. 

As part of development planning, 
identify opportunities for people to 
walking and cycle more in new 
‘growth areas’ 

To ensure site promoters have 
developed additional walking and 
cycling plans for Ascot, South West 
Maidenhead and Maidenhead Town 
Centre. 

Reduce transport emissions at 
sensitive locations 

No idling’ zones outside schools 
investigated by April 2021  

Enable a transition 
to more 
sustainable 
transport use  

Set new emissions standards for taxis 
and buses 

Considered as part of the new Local 
Transport Plan 

Increase electric vehicle charging 
capability and explore cycling 
charging in RBWM  

Identify a partner and funding model 
to deliver sufficient charging points to 
meet demand, monitored through the 
council’s annual monitoring report. 
 
Parking SPD to be adopted setting out 
standards for electric vehicle charging 
in new developments. 

Launch a car sharing scheme for 
RBWM.  

Provide a recommendation for a 
borough-wide scheme by December 
2022 in line with the redevelopment of 
Maidenhead 

Support 
integration of 
transport options 
and innovative 
smart mobility 
solutions  

Facilitate roll out of digital 
infrastructure in the borough to 
enable flexible working. 

Identify partners to provide 5G and 
superfast broadband. 

Trial Smart City concepts in RBWM.  To have implemented a trial by 
December 2023  

Investigate options for demand 
responsive transport in the borough 
and implement a trial through external 
funding.  

To have prepared a funding bid to 
Government in the next available bus 
funding opportunity.  

117



 

19 
 

5. Implementation  
5.1. Our strategy has been developed in partnership with a range of stakeholders and 

we will continue to work with all stakeholders to make net zero emissions by 2050 
a reality.  
 

5.2. Whilst this is the Council’s strategy and we take responsibility for leading on its 
delivery, it will only be successful through collaboration.  It will take the combined 
efforts of business, industry, residents and community groups to make this a 
reality and drive forward real change at the pace and scale that is required.  We 
will look to examples of best practice from across the country to ensure a 
structure that is effective.  There is also a substantive role for central Government 
and regional organisations such as the Local Enterprise Partnership. 
 

5.3. The strategy will be delivered through services across the council, co-ordinated 
through our sustainability team working with groups and organisations in different 
sectors.  Responsibility for delivery will be split across council members 
portfolios.  A detailed delivery plan will be prepared that sets out the programme 
for delivery of the action plan, with funding streams and key delivery partners 
identified.  

 

Our approach to prioritising actions 

5.4. Actions will be evaluated against 5 criteria to determine their degree of priority 
and the order in which they will be carried out.  

• Criteria 1: Those with the highest potential to meet the aims set out in the 
strategy (e.g. contribute most to carbon reduction, contribute to 
biodiversity net gain) will be prioritised.  

• Criteria 2: The feasibility of the action (e.g. availability of internal funds), 

• Criteria 3: The opportunity for accessing external funds to carry out the 
action 

• Criteria 4: The risks/costs of inaction,  

• Criteria 5: The compatibility with council function.   

Monitoring 

5.5. An annual monitoring report will be prepared setting out the council’s annual 
carbon emissions and the most recent BEIS data for the Royal Borough’s carbon 
emissions.  The report will also set out progress against our objectives and 
actions.  This tool can be used collectively by the community that makes up the 
Royal Borough to understand performance against target.  As part of our 
commitment to assess the carbon saving potential of actions (where feasible), 
we will be able to monitor individual projects for delivery against those set out at 
project initiation. 
 

5.6. Performance will also be assessed against an updated carbon reduction 
trajectory to 2050, which will be published 6 months after this strategy has been 
approved by full council.  It is expected the trajectory will comprise of emission 
reduction targets from 2025 to 2050 in 5-year increments.  
 

118



 

20 
 

5.7. We will seek to review the strategy on a five-yearly basis with a new action plan 
and targets.  We will also review the scope of emissions included in the target 
based on latest government guidance. 

 

5.8. In addition to the 5 year reviews, we will also conduct interim reviews after year 
1 and 3 to ensure the action plans remain relevant.  We will also track progress 
against the trajectory so we can measure success. This is to ensure we make 
the urgent progress required to tackle the environment and climate emergency. 

Governance 

5.9. The intention is that the Cross-Party Climate Steering Group will continue to 
oversee the development and delivery of the strategy.  Delivery of projects will 
be integrated into existing governance structures such as our capital funding 
processes. 
 

5.10. The steering group will be supported by a new Stakeholder Advisory Board that 
will meet on a bi-monthly basis to support monitoring and delivery of the action 
plans.  The board will be made up of a composition of key community 
stakeholders covering each of the four strategic themes.  This will provide the 
opportunity for knowledgeable and talented individuals from across the Borough 
to challenge and review the action plans and make recommendations on 
changes to the action plans.  

 

5.11. In addition, we will conduct a review of best practice governance and 
engagement models (used by other local authorities) and develop our 
governance structure in response to that, to make it fit for purpose.  

Funding 

5.12. A challenge of this scale will require funding from central Government.  The 
Council will seek to make maximum use of any opportunities to bid for funding, 
including utilising its contract with Our Community Enterprise CIC.  We will also 
continue to lobby Government to make available specific funding for local 
authorities to tackle the environmental and climate crisis. 
 

5.13. The council will utilise a range of internal funding sources to develop and deliver 
its programme of activity where appropriate.  This will include individual service 
revenue budgets, our capital programme and developer funding such as S106 
funding and the community infrastructure levy. 

 
Engagement and Communications  

5.14. The strategy will be supported by engagement and communications plans. They 
will include how we will: 

• Communicate the key objectives and actions of the strategy  

• Engage with key groups and organisations on the work that can be 
undertaken in partnership as we move forward.  

• Engage with residents and organisations on how they can contribute to 
the delivery of the strategy through the actions they take on a day to day 
basis.  

• Communicate progress on the delivery of the strategy. 

119



 

21 
 

Appendix 1 – Council Carbon Emission 
Our carbon emissions inventory has been developed in accordance with the World 

Resources Institute GHG Protocol, the internationally recognised and established 

methodology for calculating organisational carbon footprints.  RBWM has taken an 

operational control approach to calculating its emissions.  

 

Emissions represented include: direct emissions from sources controlled by RBWM 

i.e. fuels consumed at council owned premises and from owned vehicles; emissions 

from purchased energy produced off site i.e. electricity; and other emissions produced 

indirectly i.e. mileage undertaken by staff travelling on business. 

 

We commit to expanding the scope of our carbon footprint to include emissions 

produced indirectly as a consequence of our activities e.g. waste arising from council 

premises.    

 

Electricity, gas and oil emissions arise from the following operations: 

• Street lighting 

• Corporate buildings 

• Car parks 

• Libraries 

• Schools 

• Parks, cemeteries and pumping station supplies 

• Day care and community centres 

 

Transport emissions arise from: 

• The council fleet of pool cars; 

• Mileage undertaken by staff travelling on business 

 

Due to the fact they fall outside of our operational control, we will not be including the 

following: 

• Leisure centres operated by a third party; 

• Investment properties where we have no control over what activities that 

are undertaken in the buildings; 

• Emissions from contractors as they will be responsible for monitoring and 

managing their own emissions. 

 

120



 

22 
 

Whilst these are considered out of scope for the council’s own direct emissions, it 

should be noted that we recognise the need to do all we can and will work with 

Procurement to look at ways we can contractually require our contractors/operators to 

tackle the climate emergency and reduce carbon emissions 

 

Carbon emissions calculated most recently represent the Council’s carbon baseline, 

against which future performance will be compared.  They are set out here below. 
 

Data here has been calculated using 2018/19 consumption data provided by suppliers. Emissions factors are 
produced by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy and are available here: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/847121/Conve
rsion-Factors-2019-Condensed-set-for-most-users.xls 

 

Source Emissions 

Gas 1,415 tCO2e 

Oil 278 tCO2e 

Transport 74 tCO2e 

Electricity 2,818 tCO2e 

Total 4,585 tCO2e 

121



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report Title:     Fees and Charges Report 2020/21 - 
Addition 

 

Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information? 

No - Part I 

Lead Member:  Councillor Hilton, Lead Member for 
Finance and Ascot 

Meeting and Date:  Full Council – 23 June 2020 

Responsible Officer(s):  Adele Taylor, Director of Resources/ S151 
Officer 

Wards affected:   All 

 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 RECOMMENDATION: That Full Council notes the report and approves the 
Street Furniture Cost Recovery Admin Fee for 2020/21 as set out in 
Appendix A. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  

 Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 

Approve the addition of the Street 
Furniture Cost Recovery Admin Fee 
2020/21 
This is the recommended option 

Approval will allow for the fee to be 
implemented for the remainder of 
the financial year. 

Do not approve the addition of the 
Street Furniture Cost Recovery 
Admin Fee 2020/21 
 

This will not allow for the fee to be 
implemented for the remainder of 
the financial year 

 

2.1 The Council provides a wide range of services and the ability to charge for some 
of these services has always been a key funding source to support the cost of 
providing the service. Some charges are statutory, such as planning fees which 
are set nationally. Other charges are discretionary and the Council can choose to 
set the level.  

2.2 Charges are based on the cost of providing the service and what is reasonable. In 
determining reasonableness the Council compares the charges made for the same 
service by other councils and the private sector. 

REPORT SUMMARY 
 

This report details an addition to the Council’s proposed fees and charges for 
2020/21. The Fee was not included in the schedule considered by full Council in 
February 2020 due to an administrative error. 
 

123

Agenda Annex



2.3  There are other circumstances where a charge is set to manage demand to 
meet the Council’s overall objectives. 

2.4  Charges are generally increased by estimated inflation, 3.0% has been used 
for 2020/21. 

2.5   The Street Furniture Cost Recovery Admin Fee was not included in the 
schedule considered by full Council on February 2020 due to an administrative 
error. 

2.6  The proposed Street Furniture Cost Recovery Admin Fee is a new fee from 
2020/21 and the basis for the charge proposed by the Insurance team is that 
they undertake cost recoveries on behalf of Highways for damage to street 
furniture. 

2.7    The council makes no charge to the third party or third party insurer for the time 
they spend making the recovery. The proposed fee is an admin fee to be added 
to their recoveries, payable by the third party insurer as part of the claim. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 2: Key Implications 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

Service is 
able to 
charge the 
fee for 
Street 
Furniture 
Recovery 
Admin for 
the 
remainder 
of the 
financial 
year  

Fee not 
approved 

Fee 
approved 

n/a n/a 23 June 
2020 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

The fee recommended for approval was calculated as part of the overall level 
of income estimated in the 2020/21 revenue report considered by full Council 
in February 2020. The projected annual income from introducing these 
charges is £2,000 for 2020-21.The delay in implementing the new charge has 
not had any impact on the collection of income to date in 20-21. 
 
 Table 3: Financial Impact of report’s recommendations  

REVENUE COSTS
  

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Additional total £0 £0 £0 

Reduction (£2,000) (£2,000) (£2,000) 

Net Impact (£2,000) (£2,000) (£2,000) 

124



    

CAPITAL COSTS
  

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Additional total £0 £0 £0 

Reduction £0 £0 £0 

Net Impact £0 £0 £0 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 Local authorities have a variety of powers to charge for specific statutory 
services set out in statute. 
 

5.2 The Local Government Act 2003 also provides a power to trade and a power to 
charge for discretionary services. 

5.3 The Localism Act 2011 provides local authorities with a general power of 
competence that confers on them the power to charge for services. 

5.4 Where authorities have a duty to provide a statutory service free of charge to a 
certain standard, no charge can be made for delivery to that standard. However, 
service delivery beyond that point may constitute a discretionary service for 
which a charge can be made 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 There is a risk the council would not recover from the third party responsible a 
sufficient sum to cover the entire cost of processing the repair. This would leave 
the council out of pocket. By including a fee element to represent officer time 
spent on the recovery, this risk is avoided. 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. None identified 
 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability. None identified. 
 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. None identified  

8. CONSULTATION 

N/A   

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 If approved, the fee will be immediately implemented for the remainder of the 
2020/21 financial year. 

125



10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by one appendix: 
 

 Appendix A – detail of the Street Furniture Admin Recovery fee for 2020/21 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by one background documents: 
 

 The Fees and Charges report 2020/21 – full Council 25 February 2020. 
 

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)  

Name of 
consultee  

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned  

Cllr Hilton Lead Member for Finance 11/06/20 11/06/20 

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 08/06/20 09/06/20 

Russell O’Keefe Director of Place 08/06/20  

Adele Taylor Director of Resources/S151 
Officer 

04/06/20 04/06/20 

Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 08/06/20 12/06/20 

Hilary Hall Director Adults, 
Commissioning and Health 

08/06/20 09/06/20 

Elaine Browne Head of Law 08/06/20 10/06/20 

Mary Severin Monitoring Officer 08/06/20  

Nikki Craig Head of HR, Corporate 
Projects and IT 

08/06/20 09/06/20 

Louisa Dean Communications 08/06/20 12/06/20 

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 08/06/20 11/06/20 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type:  
Council decision 
 

Urgency item? 
No 
 

To Follow item? 
No  

Report Author: Ruth Watkins, Chief Accountant  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

126

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=7397


PLACE DIRECTORATE FEES AND CHARGES 2020/21 Appendix A 

 

Unit Cost 

 

2019/20 

£ 

 

2020/21 

£ 

% 

Increase 

Street Furniture Cost Recovery Admin Fee 
   

Recoveries with a value <£2000 flat fee NEW 150 - 100% 

Recoveries with a value >£2000 flat fee NEW 250 - 100% 

 

127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Report Title:     Constitutional Amendments  

 

Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information? 

No - Part I  

Lead Member:  Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council 

Meeting and Date:  Full Council 23 June 2020 

Responsible Officer(s):  Duncan Sharkey, Managing Director / 
Adele Taylor S151 Officer / Director of 
Resources / Mary Severin, Monitoring 
Officer 

Wards affected:   All 

 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That full Council notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves amendments to the constitution detailed in Appendices A-
J. 

ii) Delegates authority to the Monitoring Officer to update as 
appropriate and publish the council constitution. 

iii) Delegates authority to the Head of Governance in consultation with 
the S151 officer and Lead Member for Finance and Ascot to review 
the arrangements for audit oversight and bring proposals to full 
Council in July 2020. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  

 Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 

Approve the changes detailed in 
Appendices A-J. 
 
This is the recommended option 

The updated constitution will 
promote best practice and 
confidence in decision making.   
 

Modify the changes proposed in 
Appendices A-J and approve 
modified changes. 

Members may wish to propose and 
consider amendments to the 
recommended changes.  

Do not approve the changes 
detailed in Appendices A-J  

The constitution will not promote 
best practice. 

 

REPORT SUMMARY 
 

The last full review of the constitution was undertaken during 2018, with a revised 
version in place from May 2019. As the council has operated under the revised 
constitution for over a year, it is now an appropriate time to review corporate 
governance arrangements. The report therefore proposes amendments to a 
number of sections to improve clarity, consistency and transparency, avoid 
duplication, and ensure efficient use of resources. 
 

129

Agenda Item 8



Employment and Member Standards Panel 
 
Employment functions 

2.1 Amendments are proposed to the terms of reference for Employment and 
Member Standards Panel under Part 6 B2 of the constitution.  These changes 
relate to the employment related functions of the Panel with the purpose of 
increasing efficiency, both in relation to resources and timescales, whilst 
ensuring appropriate consideration of decisions relating to staffing. 

2.2 The current arrangements lead to duplication as there is already a requirement 
for Members to consider a number of the items within the terms of reference 
under other constitutional arrangements. 

2.3 The Head of Paid Service is responsible for staffing matters within the Council, 
including the organisation, appointment and management of staff and therefore 
it is appropriate for the Managing Director, as Head of Paid Service, to 
determine a number of the items. 

2.4 The proposed updates to the terms of reference would enable a quicker 
response to business needs and avoid the duplication of Member time.  It is also 
proposed that the meeting frequency be updated to ‘as required’ to reflect the 
changes. 

2.5 Table 2 shows the proposed amendments, these are also shown as tracked 
changes in Appendix A.   

Table 2: Proposed amendments to Employment and Member Standards Panel 
Terms of Reference 

 Item Proposed Change 

(i) To approve any payment of discretionary 
monies to an employee or group of 
employees (including pension costs) (other 
than that contractually due under a 
contract of employment or stated under 
any employment policy) where such 
payment is in excess of £25,000 (whether 
singularly or collectively). 

Remove - Approval will be by the 
Head of Paid Service in consultation 
with Finance, subject to budget 
being available. 
The Head of Paid Service will make 
the Group Leaders aware of any 
discretionary payment in excess of 
£50,000 and all Members aware of 
any discretionary payments in 
excess of £100,000. 
 

(ii) To consider representations on 
employment relations matters from 
recognised Trade Unions. 

Remove - – The Trade Unions will 
be invited annually to a formal 
meeting with the relevant portfolio 
holders and the Head of Paid 
Service to discuss pay.  
Details of the annual Trade Union 
Pay Claim are already included as 
an appendix to the annual budget 
report considered by Members at 
Full Council.   

130



Other representations will be 
considered by the Head of Paid 
Service. 

(iii) To approve new or significant changes to 
employment policies for staff. 

Remove - Approval will be by the 
Head of Paid Service. 

(iv) To approve new or significant revisions to 
staffing, in the case of five or more 
employees where the total costs (including 
redundancy and pension costs), is more 
than £25,000, or where there are changes 
to the number and functions of the 
Council’s Directorates.  

Remove - Approval will be by the 
Head of Paid Service in consultation 
with Finance subject to budget being 
available. 
 

(v) To determine arrangements for the 
appointment and conditions of service of 
the Managing Director (who is appointed, 
on recommendation, by Council) and the 
Directors and Heads of Service in 
accordance with Part 8B. 

Creation of 5 Member Appointment 
committee. 
 
Full Council will continue to appoint 
the Managing Director/Head of Paid 
Service, Chief Finance Officer (s151) 
and Monitoring Officer. 
 
Recruitment of Heads of Service will 
be delegated to the Head of Paid 
Service (see amendments to Part 8B 
Appendix B) in the same way as now 
with relevant lead member as part of 
the panel.                               

(vi) To monitor the cost effectiveness of 
Human Resources management across 
the Council’s services. 

Remove 
This is already completed as part of 
service management and budget 
setting. 

(vii) To determine the Council’s Pay and 
Benefits Policy and annual pay awards 
under the Council’s local schemes. 

Remove - The annual Pay Policy 
Statement will be included as an 
appendix to the annual budget sign 
off papers considered by full Council 
which also contain proposals for the 
staff annual pay award. 
Other matters will be determined by 
the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with Finance as 
appropriate.  

(viii) To establish and monitor the Corporate 
Health and Safety policies for the Council. 

Remove - This will be undertaken by 
the Head of Paid Service. * 

(ix) To establish and monitor Equal 
Opportunities policies for the Council. 

Remove - This will be undertaken by 
the Head of Paid Service.* 

(x) To establish and monitor the Council’s 
training and staff development policies. 

Remove - This will be undertaken by 
the Head of Paid Service and will be 
referred to cabinet as relevant.* 

(xi) To consider employment implications 
arising from i-x for alternative 
arrangements (including Local Authority 
Trading Company or Community Interest 
Company) to deliver services (including 

Remove - This will be undertaken by 
the Head of Paid Service. 
 

131



pensions) delegated from Council or 
Cabinet. 

*Where relevant data is published relating to these policies a link will be communicated 
via the weekly Members’ Update. 

 

Employment Appeals Sub Committee 

2.6 There are no changes to the terms of reference for the Employment Appeals 
Sub Committee aside of it is now a sub committee of the Appointment 
Committee.  Updates will be made to the Council’s HR procedures so that all 
appeals other than those of the Managing Director and Directors will be heard 
by senior officers. 

Officer Employment Procedures 

2.7 A small number of amendments are also proposed to Part 8 Officer Employment 
Procedures.  Appointment of all Deputy Chief Officers (Heads of Service) will 
be delegated rather than just ‘like for like’ posts which will ensure a more 
consistent approach.  Section 4 has been updated to reflect these proposals 
and a version with tracked changes is shown in Appendix B. 

2.8 Some minor updates are proposed to section 6 Disciplinary Action to improve 
clarity and flow, these amendments are not material changes but will support 
easy interpretation of the process. 

2.9 Full Council will continue to appoint Statutory Chief Officers i.e. Head of Paid 
Service, Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer, Director of Children’s Services 
and Director of Adult Services. 

Member Standards functions / Members Code of Conduct 
2.10 In March 2020 the Employment and Member Standards Panel considered and 

approved for recommendation to full Council changes to the Members Code of 
Conduct and complaints process, details in paragraphs 2.12-2.16 below and 
Appendices D and E. 

2.11 As detailed in section 2.1-2.5 above, employment related functions are 
proposed to be removed and the Panel will be called ‘Member Standards Panel’. 
The Members Standards Sub Committee remains with no changes to its terms 
of reference other than reference to it being a sub committee of the renamed 
Member Standards Panel. 

2.12 The current Code of Conduct is worded in a way that causes confusion amongst 
complainants and Members and unnecessary complaints were being 
made. The amendments therefore include wording changed to a ‘plain English’ 
style.   

2.13 There is currently no rule about breach of the equality regulations, something 
that was suggested by the Committee on Standards in Public life as being best 
practice. There is therefore a new rule included about this.  

2.14 There is a need for more clarification on words used in the Code of Conduct 
linked to behaviour, for example what is meant by ‘disrespect’.  Many complaints 

132



have been made which are political in nature and not appropriate for the Code 
of Conduct process.  There is therefore a new set of guidance which to be used 
by decision makers.   It was considered that Member against Member 
complaints based on disrespect should only be dealt with on an exceptional 
basis.   

2.15 The complaints process was considered to be overly complicated and it was felt 
that more decisions should be made by a Member Sub-Panel including an 
Independent Person, rather than by the Monitoring Officer alone.  The Member 
Sub-Panel will also have wider powers of sanction.   

2.16 The timescales by which a response is expected by a Subject Member have 
been tightened, and access to costly legal advice at the expense of the Council 
has been removed.  Subject Members have access to advice from one of the 
Council’s Independent Persons at no cost to the Council.   

2.17 A new section is proposed which deals with Members failing to co-operate with 
the complaints process; it will now be considered a breach of the Code of 
Conduct if the Subject Member fails to fully co-operate with the complaints 
process. The publishing of decisions for Members found in breach for a period 
of 24 months on the Council’s webpage was considered to punitive, so this has 
been reduced to 12 months, with no publication required for ‘no breach’ 
decisions. A summary of the proposed revised complaints process is detailed in 
Appendix C. 

Scheme of Delegation 
2.18 The Council has delegated both Council and Executive functions to officers. 

This currently operates as a decentralised scheme of delegation where each 
service area maintains a localised list or scheme of delegation. Although 
localised lists provide flexibility, it is difficult to determine exactly where a specific 
delegation remains within the organisation and whether different parts of the 
organisation purport to exercise the same delegation.  

2.19 The recommendation is to adopt a new Part 5 addendum which will act as a 
centralised list of the scheme of officer delegations and aids transparency to 
officers, Members and the public. It will list the functional area or legislation and 
specify those officers who can exercise the delegation. Part 5A (attached as 
Appendix F) has also been modified to clarify that all delegations can be 
exercised by the Managing Director and the same for the other Directors for 
their functional areas. Where a specific officer has been authorised to exercise 
the delegation, then any officer managing such that officer up to the Director 
can also exercise the delegation. 

2.20 To enable the Scheme of Delegation to remain flexible and to allow the Directors 
to ensure the scheme is up to date and relevant, it is proposed that this section 
be maintained and kept as an addendum to the constitution. It will not formally 
be part of the constitution but will provide a centralised and public record of the 
Scheme of Delegation and will allow Directors to make amendments without 
recourse back to full Council each time.   

2.21 If approved the service areas will populate the Scheme of Delegation addendum 
with the current localised delegations. The addendum will then be published to 
the council website alongside the constitution. 

133



Overview and Scrutiny procedures 
2.22 The changes proposed to Part 4A and 3B of the constitution, detailed in 

Appendices G and H, will enhance the clarity of procedures related to Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel work programmes. In particular, the role of the Chairman 
and Panel Members in identifying issues for consideration and the appropriate 
mechanism for adding them to the appropriate Panel’s work programme in light 
of Monitoring Officer advice. 

2.23 Procedures relating to call-in have been revised to ensure that all parties are 
clear on the reasons a call-in can been submitted, and the process to be 
followed on receipt of the call in and following the Panel’s deliberations.  In 
particular, procedures for when consideration of a call-in by full Council would 
be the appropriate route have been clarified.  

2.24 The terms of reference for the four Panels in Part 4B of the constitution have 
been aligned to clarify that each Panel has a role to play in overseeing elements 
that relate to the Panel’s specific remit, such as the budget, performance 
monitoring and petitions. 

Full Council 
2.25 Amendments proposed to Part 2 of the council constitution (detailed in Appendix 

I) are proposed to improve clarity of procedural rules for all parties, support 
public involvement and ensure effective agenda management.  

2.26 Members will be aware of the increasing engagement by residents in the full 
Council democratic process; this is to be welcomed but has resulted in the 
submission of large numbers of public questions to each meeting.  It is important 
to balance the public involvement element of the meeting with the need for 
Members to be able to transact business in a timely manner during the meeting. 

2.27 In relation to Public Questions, it is therefore proposed that all responses from 
Lead Members be in writing, with those responses published to the council 
website in advance of the meeting. Public questioners will retain the right to 
verbally ask a supplementary question at the meeting. Early publication of the 
response to the original question will provide members of the public with 
additional time to consider the response and develop a suitable supplementary 
question. These proposals will also allow for more public questions to be 
responded to within the time limits set out in Part 2C9.1 of the constitution. 

2.28 The proposed amendments to Public Questions are mirrored in the proposals 
relating to Member Questions detailed in Appendix I (Part 2C11). 

2.29 The constitution sets out the order of business for ordinary full Council meetings, 
with Member Motions on Notice late on in the agenda. This can result in motions 
further down on the list being debated late at night or deferred to a future 
meeting. To support appropriate meeting management and ensure all Member 
Motions on Notice receive sufficient time for debate, an amendment is proposed 
to limit the debate on each individual motion to a maximum of 30 minutes (Part 
2 C12.4). 

2.30 A paragraph (Part 2 C4.6f) has been added to the rules of procedure to set out 
the budget amendment process, which was successfully used in advance of the 
budget meeting in February 2020. 

134



Financial Rules 

2.31 The Finance Procedure Rules provide the framework for the proper 
administration of the council’s financial affairs.  They apply to every Member and 
officer of the authority and anyone acting on its behalf. 

2.32 Appendix J sets out the new financial procedure rules.  The most significant 
changes to the rules are as follows:- 

a. The rules provide greater clarity around the role of Council and Cabinet 

within the budget process, along with the policy framework that 

underpins it. 

b. The rules set out clearly the S151 role of the Director of Resources and 

the statutory responsibilities it carries around budget setting and 

reserves. 

c. The Capital Provisions are completely rewritten to clarify the approval 

process for capital projects as well as the ongoing financial 

management of projects.  This includes:- 

i. A gateway process and associated business case mechanism 

for the proposal and approval of capital projects. 

ii. Internal officer oversight of the delivery of capital projects 

through a capital programme working group. 

iii. Clarity around variations to the capital programme. 

d. There is more detail of the role of the Monitoring Officer in relation to 

various aspects of the financial rules i.e. Member/officer protocols, 

annual governance statement. 

e. Arrangements for risk management are clarified in particular the role of 

the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

f. The rules include more detail around anti-fraud and corruption 

arrangements – particularly for the Monitoring Officer. 

g. More detail is provided around the role of the Corporate Overview and 

Scrutiny Panel in the audit of the accounts and oversight of internal 

audit. 

h. Introduces a specific section to cover the engagement of consultants 

and new IR35 arrangements. 

i. Enhances the role of Cabinet to approve and have oversight of key 

partnerships. 

Berkshire Pension Fund 
 
2.33 Governance of the Royal Berkshire Pension Fund is currently under review; any 

proposed changes to the related Panel structure will be reported to a future full 
Council meeting. 

Audit Functions 

2.34 As part of the full review of the constitution in 2018, the functions of the former 
Audit and Performance Review Panel were amalgamated into the Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Panel. Over the last year, the Panel has found 
that undertaking the audit oversight functions alongside the overview and 
scrutiny role has put significant pressure on the Panels’ ability to undertake its 
full work programme. 

135



2.35 To ensure both elements can receive appropriate focus, it is recommended that 
the audit oversight functions be removed from the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
terms of reference and a separate Audit Committee be established. This 
proposal will require a review of the remits of the four Overview and Scrutiny 
Panels therefore it is recommended to request officers to review the 
arrangements and present proposals in a report to full Council in July 2020. This 
will also enable the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel to complete its 
consideration and approval of the annual accounts for 2019/20. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 3: Key Implications 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

Updated 
Constitution 

Amendments 
not approved 

Amendments 
approved 
and updated 
constitution 
published 

n/a n/a 11 May 
2020 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY 

4.1 There are no direct financial implications by virtue of the recommendations in 
the report. However the proposals promote the efficient use of resources by 
avoiding duplication and improving agenda and meeting management.  

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The Constitution must be in compliance with the terms of the Local Government 
Act 2000, Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, Local 
Democracy, Economic Regeneration and Construction Act 2009, Localism Act 
2011 and any other relevant statutory acts or guidance.  

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 4: Impact of risk and mitigation 

Risks Uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Controlled 
risk 

There is a risk 
of challenge if 
the constitution 
is not updated 
to reflect legal 
requirements 
and promote 
best practice. 

Constitution is 
not updated 

Constitution is regularly 
reviewed and updated. 

Revised 
constitution 
available on 
website and 
is not open to 
challenge 

136



7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. An EQIA screening has been undertaken; a full EQIA is not 
considered to be required. 

 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability. None identified.  
 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. None identified.  

 

7.4 A number of sections within the constitution are interlinked, therefore any future 
proposed changes need to include consideration of implications on all relevant 
sections. For example, any changes to the Contract Procedure Rules (Part 8A) 
would need to be cross-checked with Finance Procedure Rules (Part 8C). 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 As required by the Panel’s terms of reference, the proposed changes to the 
terms of reference of the Employment and Member Standards Panel relating to 
Member Standards were considered and approved by the Panel in March 2020.    

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 The full implementation stages are set out in table 6. 
 

Table 5: Implementation timetable 

Date Details 

23 June 2020 Full Council consider proposed amendments 

1 July 2020 Updated constitution published to the council website 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 10 appendices, all sections of the council constitution 
other than Appendix C: 

 

 Appendix A – Part 6 – Terms of Reference for all other Committees - 
proposed 

 Appendix B – Part 8B – Officer Employment Procedures - proposed 

 Appendix C – Code of Conduct complaints process summary 

 Appendix D – Part 7A Members Code of Conduct - current 

 Appendix E – Part 7A Members Code of Conduct  - proposed 

 Appendix F – Part 5 – Scheme of Delegation to Officers - proposed  

 Appendix G – Part 4 Overview and Scrutiny - proposed 

 Appendix H – Part 3B – The Executive Cabinet – Budget and Policy 
Framework - proposed 

 Appendix I – Part 2C – The Full Council – Procedural Rules - proposed 

 Appendix J – Part 8C  - Finance Procedure Rules – proposed 
 

137



11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by one background document: 
. 

 The current council constitution (v. 20.4) 
 

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)  

Name of 
consultee  

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned  

Cllr Johnson Leader of the Council 4/6/20 15/6/20 

Cllr Rayner  Lead Member for Resident and 
Leisure Services, HR, IT, 
Legal, Performance 
Management and Windsor 

4/6/20 15/6/20 

Cllr Hilton Lead Member for Finance and 
Ascot 

4/6/20 11/6/20 

Russell O’Keefe Director of Place 1/6/20  

Elaine Browne Head of Law 1/6/20 4/6/20 

Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 1/6/20  

Hilary Hall Director Adults, 
Commissioning and Health 

1/6/20 2/6/20 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type:  
Council decision 
 

Urgency item? 
No  
 

To Follow item? 
No 

Report Authors: Karen Shepherd, Sean O’Connor, Mary Severin, Nikki Craig, 
Kathy Hook, Terry Neaves. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

138

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13235


Appendix A                                                                                                                  Part 6  

 

 Part 6 - 1 
 

B2 Employment and Member Standards Panel  
 

B2.1 Purpose  
 
In relation to the officers or employees of the Council:  
 
 (i)  To approve any payment of discretionary monies to an employee or group of 

employees (including pension costs) (other than that contractually due under a 
contract of employment or stated under any employment policy) where such payment 
is in excess of £25,000 (whether singularly or collectively). 

(ii)  To consider representations on employment relation matters from recognised Trade 
Unions.  

(iii)  To approve new or significant changes to employment policies for staff.  
(iv)  To approve significant revisions to staffing, in the case of five or more employees 

where the total costs (including redundancy and pension costs), is more than 
£25,000, or where there are changes to the number and functions of the Council's 
directorates or any other significant changes of a similar magnitude, (subject where 
appropriate to consultation with the Trade Unions and other similar organisations 
involved).  

 (v)  To determine arrangements for the appointment and conditions of service of the 
Managing Director (who is appointed, on recommendation, by Council) and the 
Directors and Heads of Service in accordance with Part 8B,  

  (vi) To monitor the cost effectiveness of Human Resources management across the 
Council's services.  

 (vii)  To determine the Council's Pay and Benefits Policy and annual pay awards under the 
Council's local schemes. 

 (viii)  To establish and monitor Corporate Health and Safety policies for the Council.  
 (ix)  To establish and monitor Equal Opportunities policies for the Council.  
 (x)  To establish and monitor the Council's training and staff development policies. 
(xi)  To consider employment implications arising from i-x for alternative employment 

arrangements (including Local Authority Trading Company or Community Interest 
Company) to deliver services (including pensions) delegated from Council or Cabinet.  

 

In relation to the Members of the Council: 
 
(xiii) To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members, co-opted Members, 

including church and parent governor representatives; 
(xiv) To assist Members, co-opted members, including church and parent governor 

representatives, to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
(xv) To recommend to the Council on the adoption or revision of its Members’ Code of 

Conduct; 
(xvi) To monitor the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct., the Officers’ Code of 

Conduct and the Council’s Whistleblowing policy and any other appropriate codes of 
conduct and procedures; 

(xvii) Advising, training or arranging to train Members, co-opted members and church and 
parent governor representatives on matters relating to the Members’ Code of 
Conduct; 

(xviii) To consider present an annual report to Council on Member Standards by the 
Chairman of the Employment and Member Standards PanelMonitoring Officer. 

139



Appendix A                                                                                                                  Part 6  

 

 Part 6 - 2 
 

 
 

B2.2 Membership    
 
8 Members  
 

B2.3 Quorum    
 
3 Members 
 

B2.4 Frequency    
 
 6 per annum As required 
 
 

B3  Member Standards Sub Committee  
 

B3.1  Purpose  
 
To determine breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct in accordance with the 
procedure in Part 7A 
 
B3.2  Membership 
 

5 selected from the existing Members (including substitutes) of the Employment and 
Member Standards Panel 

 
B3.3  Quorum 
 
3 Members 
 
B3.4 Frequency  
 
As required 
 
 

B4 Appointment Sub Committee 
 
B4.1 Purpose 
 
To determine arrangements for the appointment and conditions of service of the Managing 
Director (who is appointed, on recommendation, by Council) and the Directors in 
accordance with Part 8B,  
 
B4.2 Membership 
 
5 Members (politically balanced) to include Leader of the Council (Chairman), Deputy 
Leader of the Council (Vice Chairman) and relevant Lead Member if appropriate.  
 
B4.3 Quorum 
 

140



Appendix A                                                                                                                  Part 6  

 

 Part 6 - 3 
 

3 Members 
 
B4.4 Frequency 
 
As required 
 
B53  Employment Appeals Sub Committee  

 
B53.1  Purpose  
 
To determine officer Disciplinary and Grievance Appeals in accordance with the Council’s 
HR procedures 
 
B53.2  Membership 
 

3 selected from the existing Members (including substitutes) of the Employment and 
Member Standards PanelAppointment Committee. 

 
B53.3  Quorum 
 
3 Members 
 
B53.4 Frequency  
 
As required 

 
 
 
 
 
 
N.B. Part 6 indexation and page numbering will be amended as necessary following approval 

of proposed changes 

141



Appendix B 

 

1 RECRUITMENT AND APPOINTMENT 

 
a)  Declarations  
 

(i)  A candidate for appointment as an Officer is required to state in 
writing whether they are related to any Member or Senior Officer 
of the Council. A candidate who fails to do so shall be disqualified 
from such appointment and, if appointed, shall be liable for 
dismissal without notice. Every Councillor, Director and Officer of 
the Council on a Management Grade shall disclose to the Head of 
Human Resources any relationship known to him/her to exist 
between himself/ herself and the candidate for an appointment of 
which he/she is aware.  

(ii)  Where a relationship to a Councillor is disclosed, that Councillor 
shall be deemed to have a personal and prejudicial interest.  

(iii)   No candidate so related to a Councillor or an Officer will be 
appointed without the authority of the relevant Director or an 
Officer nominated by him/her.  

 
b)  Seeking support for appointment.  
 

(i)  The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly 
seeks the support of any Councillor for any appointment with the 
Council. The content of this paragraph will be included in any 
recruitment information.  

(ii)  No Councillor will seek support for any person for any appointment 
with Council.  

 

2 RECRUITMENT OF HEAD OF PAID SERVICE, DIRECTORS & DEPUTY 
CHIEF OFFICERS 

Where the Council proposes to appoint a Director and it is not proposed that 
the appointment be made exclusively from among their existing Officers, the 
Council will:  

 
a)  draw up a statement specifying:  

(i)  the duties of the Officer concerned; and  
(ii)  any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be 

appointed;  
b)  make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is 

likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply to 
it; and  

c)  make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in 
paragraph i) to be sent to any person on request.  

 

3 APPOINTMENT OF HEAD OF PAID SERVICE 

 
a)  The full Council will approve the appointment of the Head of Paid 

Service following the recommendation of such an appointment by a 

142



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 8 B 

Note 1: Employment Panel decision 24 January 2017 & Full Council 23 February 2017 

Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council. That committee or sub-
committee must include at least one Member of the Cabinet.  

b)  The full Council may only make or approve the appointment of the 
Head of Paid Service where no substantial and justified objection has 
been made to the appointment by any Member of the Cabinet.  

 
4 APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS AND DEPUTY CHIEF OFFICERS OF 

SERVICES 

1. Under the terms of this Constitution, the Managing Director, the Director of 
Children’s Services, the Director of Adult Social Services, the Chief Finance 
Officer Head of Finance (Section 151 officer) and Monitoring Officer are 
statutory chief officers, according to the terms of Section 2(6) Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.  

2. The Executive Directors and Directors are determined to be non-statutory chief 
officers, according to the terms of Section 2 (7) of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989.  

3.  Deputy Directors or "Heads of Service" are determined to be "Deputy Chief 
Officers” in accordance with Section 2 (8) of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989.  

4. Where a Director or Deputy Chief Officer is proposed to be appointed.   
 

a) Appointments Panel Employment and Member Standards Panel will 
appoint Directors and Deputy Chief Officers in accordance with the 
provisions set out in the Local Government & Housing Act 1989.  
b) Appointments PanelEmployment and Member Standards Panel have 
delegated the recruitment of a Director or Deputy Chief Officers to the 
Head of Paid Service., where it is a ‘like for like’ recruitment with the 
same grade and salary scale being used, to the Managing Director, 
Head of Human Resources and service Director in consultation with the 
relevant Lead Member, who should also be a Member of Cabinet, and 
the Chairman of Employment and Member Standards Panel. (Note 1) 
c) The views of the Managing Director will always be taken into account 
in any appointment of a Director. or Deputy Chief Officer.  

 
5 OTHER APPOINTMENTS 

 
a)  Officers below Director. Appointment of Officers below Director or 

Deputy Chief Officer, (other than assistants to political groups) is the 
responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his/her nominee. In other 
cases, where there is significant contact with Councillors, the relevant 
Lead Member will be consulted on the selection and appointment.  

b)  Assistants to political groups. Appointment of an assistant to a 
political group shall be made in accordance with the wishes of that 
political group.  

 
 
 
 
 

143



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 8 B 

Note 1: Employment Panel decision 24 January 2017 & Full Council 23 February 2017 

6 DISCIPLINARY ACTION  
 

a) The Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer (Section 151) or Monitoring 
Officer (‘relevant officer’) must not be dismissed by the Council unless the 
procedure set out in the following paragraphs is complied with. 
 

b) Suspension. The relevant officer may be suspended (in accordance with 
Appendix C of the Disciplinary Policy) whilst an investigation takes place into 
alleged misconduct. That suspension will be on full pay and should be kept 
under review and, where possible, last no longer than two months. 

c)  
Investigation. In accordance with Appendix C of the Disciplinary Policy and 

Procedure, Aany investigations into alleged misconduct will be undertaken in 
accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Policy & Procedure. 

 
d) Dismissal. Where the outcome result of the investigation is that dismissal of 

the relevant officer should be a potential sanction, the Statutory Officer Panel 
will need to consider the matter as set out in paragraph e) below. Where the 
outcome of the investigation is that the recommended sanction is less than 
dismissal, then the matter will be dealt with in accordance with Appendix C of 
the Disciplinary Policy and Procedure. considered as is the appropriate 
sanction, then such decision must be ratified by full Council following a 
recommendation from the Statutory Officer Panel.. In addition, any appeal by 
the relevant officer will be consider at the same Council meeting. 

 
e) Statutory Officer Panel. The Council must appoint a Statutory Officer Panel 

where the investigation has determined that dismissal should be a potential 
sanction. The Statutory Officer Panel will have to consider the matter at least 20 
working days before the relevant Council meeting, in which any 
recommendation made by the Statutory Officer Panel is to be ratified. 

 
f) In the preparation of its recommendation The panel will consider the 

investigation report that has recommended dismissal, and will also the Panel 
may undertake any such further investigations as necessary for their report to 
make their decision on the recommended sanction  including : 

I. inspecting any documents relating to the conduct of the relevant officer 
which are in the Council's possession or which the Council has power 
to authorise them to inspect; and 

II. requiring any officer or member of the Council (including the relevant 
officer) to answer questions concerning the conduct of the relevant 
officer. 

 
g) If the recommendation of the Statutory Officer Panel is to dismiss the relevant 

officer then the matter will be referred to full Council, 
 

g)h) If the recommendation of the Statutory Officer Panel is that the sanction should 
be less than dismissal, the matter should be referred to the Employment Appeal 
Sub Committee. The Panel shall determine the necessary investigations for its 
report and shall not be obligated to undertake any action unless the Panel 
determines such will facilitate its recommendation to Council. 

144



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 8 B 

Note 1: Employment Panel decision 24 January 2017 & Full Council 23 February 2017 

 
h)i) The Statutory Officer Panel must make a report to the Council:  

 
a)       stating their opinion as to whether (and, if so, the extent to which) 
the evidence they have obtained supports the recommendation decision to 
dismiss the officer; and  

 
ii)  in the alternative, recommending any disciplinary action which appears to 

them to be appropriate for the Council to take against the officer; and  
 
iii)  b) must send a copy of the report to the officer concerned.  
 
 

j) Council Meeting: Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting on whether or 
not to approve the recommended such a dismissal, the Council must take into 
account, in particular— 

(i)  any advice, views or recommendations of the Statutory Officer 
Panel; 

(ii)  the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; 
and 

(iii)  any representations from the relevant officer. 
 

7 DISMISSAL 

 
a)  Councillors will not be involved in the dismissal of any Officer below 

Deputy Chief Officer except where such involvement is necessary for 
any investigation or inquiry into alleged misconduct, though the 
Council’s disciplinary, capability and related procedures, as adopted 
from time to time may allow a right of appeal to Members in respect of 
dismissals.  

b)  The dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer 
(Section 151 Officer) and Monitoring Officer subject to 6 above, must be 
approved by full Council.  

c)  Notice of dismissal to the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer, 
the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer), Statutory Chief Officers 
and non-Statutory Chief OfficersDirector or Deputy Chief Officers must 
not be given by the dismissor (subject to 6 above) until:  
i) the dismissor has notified the Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) of 

the name of the person the dismissor wishes to dismiss and any 
relevant particulars;  

ii) the Proper Officer has notified every member of the Executive of 
the Council of:  

 
1.  the name of the person it is wished to dismiss;  
2.  any relevant particulars;  
3.  the period within which any objections to the dismissal are to 

be made by the Leader to the Proper Officer on behalf of the 
Executive; and  

iii)  either:  

145



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 8 B 

Note 1: Employment Panel decision 24 January 2017 & Full Council 23 February 2017 

1.  the Leader has, within the specified period, notified the 
dismissor that neither he nor any member of the Executive 
has any objection to the dismissal; or  

2.  the Proper Officer has notified the dismissor that no objection 
has been received by him from the Leader, or the dismissor 
is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader within 
the period is not material or well founded.  

 

8 OFFERS OF APPOINTMENT 

Any offer of employment to the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer, 
the Chief Finance Officer, any Director or Deputy Chief Officer (as defined in 
Section 2(8) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989) shall not be 
made until:  
 
a)  the appointor has notified the Proper Officer of the name of the person 

to whom the appointor wishes to make the offer and any relevant 
particulars;  

b)  the Proper Officer has notified every member of the Council's Executive 
of:  

 
i) the name of the person to whom the appointor wishes to offer the 

post;  
ii)  any other relevant particulars;  
iii)  the period in which any objections to making the offer must be 

made by the Leader to the Proper Officer on behalf of the 
Executive; and  

c) either:  
 

i)  the Leader has, within the specified period, notified the appointor 
that neither he nor any member of the Executive has any 
objections;  

ii)  the Proper Officer has notified the appointor no objections have 
been received by him from the Leader; or  

iii)  the appointor is satisfied any objection received from the Leader 
within the period is not material or is not well founded. 

 

146



Appendix C 

 

 

The proposed Members Code of Conduct complaints process can be summarised as 
follows: 
 
Stage 1: Complaint received.  Clarification sought if necessary 
 
Subject Member responds, after seeking advice from an Independent Person if 
necessary. 
 
Initial Assessment by Monitoring Officer conducted, to reject or accept complaints 
using the criteria stated at para. 3.   
 
Stage 2: Decision by the Monitoring Officer.   Where there is clear evidence of no 
breach of the Code of Conduct, MO makes ‘no-breach’ decision.  Where there is a 
clear breach, MO refers matter to Member Standards Sub Committee for a local 
hearing and decision, writing a report with a recommendation for a decision.   
 
Where there is possibly a breach, the MO will ask for a formal investigation, with the 
investigator writing a report that concludes on whether there has been a breach or 
not.  If the finding of that investigation is that there is no breach of the Code, then the 
MO will make a ‘no-breach’ decision.  If the conclusion is that there has been a breach 
of the Code, then the MO will refer it to a Member Standards Sub Committee for a 
decision. 
 
Stage 3: Decision by Member Standards Sub Committee (as appropriate).  The 
procedure for this is described at Appendix 6 of the revised Code, and is broadly the 
same as in the existing complaints process, but with clarified wording.  The Monitoring 
Officer will write a report with a recommendation for a decision, giving clear reasons 
for the decision. There is also provision that the Monitoring Officer will prepare a 
decision notice in consultation with the Chairman.   The sanctions are the same.  As 
stated above a Subject Member’s right to legal advice is removed. 
 

147



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 1 

Appendix D: Current Code of Conduct and complaints process 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PART 7 – THE CODES, PROTOCOLS 
AND ADVICE 

 
 

A – MEMBERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
 
 
 

148



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 2 

Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
Conduct expected of Members and co-opted Members of the authority when acting 
in that capacity 
 
You, as a Member of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead shall have regard to 
the following principles: selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, 
honesty and leadership. 
 
When acting in your capacity as a Member or co-opted Member:  
 
i) You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly confer an 

advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other material 
benefits for yourself, your family, a friend or close associate. 

 
ii) You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside 

individuals or organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of 
your official duties. 

 
iii) When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, such as making 

public appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals for rewards or 
benefits, on merit. 

 
iv) You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-operate fully 

with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office. 
 
v) You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and the decisions 

and actions of your authority and should be prepared to give reasons for those 
decisions and actions. 

 
vi) You must declare any private interests, both pecuniary and non-pecuniary, that 

relate to your public duties and must take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a 
way that protects the public interest, including registering and declaring interests in a 
manner conforming with the procedures set out in the Appendices below. 

 
vii) You must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of your 

authority, ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes 
(including party political purposes) and you must have regard to any applicable Local 
Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986. 

 
viii) You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in your 

public post, in particular as characterised by the above requirements, by leadership 
and example. 

ix) You must not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as bullying, or 
in any way which is intimidating to others.  

 
x) Councillors must not behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard 

as disrespectful to others. You should encourage and foster respect in others. 

149



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 3 

xi) Councillors must not knowingly disclose information which they believe, or ought 
reasonably be aware, is confidential or where disclosure is prohibited by law, unless 
they have the consent of the person authorised to give it, or they are required by law 
to do so. 

 
This Code of Conduct is supplemented by the provisions of Appendix 1 to 7 

150



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 4 

Appendix 1 
 
Registering and Declaring pecuniary and personal interests 
(s.30 Localism Act 2011) 
 
You must, within 28 days of taking office as a Member or co-opted Member, notify your 
authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest (‘DPIs’) as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State, where the pecuniary interest is yours, your 
spouse’s or civil partner’s, or is the pecuniary interest of somebody with whom you are 
living with as a husband or wife, or as if you were civil partners. The definition of DPIs is in 
Appendix 6. 
 
In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a Member or co-opted Member, 
notify your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any Personal Interest as defined in Appendix 6.  
 
If any DPI or Personal Interest has not been entered onto the authority’s Register of 
Interests, then the Member must disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority at 
which they are present, where they have an interest in any matter being considered and 
where the matter is not a Sensitive Interest as defined in Appendix 6.  
 
Following disclosure of any interest not on the authority’s Register of Interest or the subject 
of a pending notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 
days beginning with the date of disclosure in order that it may be placed on the Register of 
Interests. 
 
You must, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Monitoring Officer, in writing, of any gift, 
benefit or hospitality, with a value in excess of £25, which will then be entered on the 
public register of gifts and hospitality. 
 
A copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be published on the 
authority’s website. 
 
 
 

151



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 5 

 

Appendix 2 
 

Disclosure of interests and participation in meetings. 
(s.31 Localism Act 2011)  
 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
You are required to disclose interests at meetings when you are aware that you have 
either: 
 

(a) A DPI or a Personal Interest which is relevant to the matter being considered; or 
(b) A Personal Interest or a DPI which is not on your Register of Interests;  

 
You are not required to (but can do so if you wish) disclose any other type of interest that 
you may have. If in doubt, it is always better to disclose an interest than not do so as the 
Council places a high value upon its public reputation for integrity. 
 
 
Participation for Decision Makers at Meetings 
 
If you attend a meeting as a decision maker and have:   
 

(a) DPI which is relevant to the matter under discussion; or  
(b) a Prejudicial Interest; 

 
then you must not participate in any debate of the matter and/or participate in any vote at 
the meeting, unless you have obtained a Dispensation.  
 
Please see Appendix 6 for guidance on these terms. Appendix 3 states how you can 
obtain a Dispensation. 
 
If you have a DPI or Prejudicial Interest (and do not have a Dispensation) as described 
then you must: 
 

(a) Declare the interest at the start of the meeting when the Chairman asks if there are 
any interests to declare; and 

(b) Before the item is to be discussed, you may make representations before there is 
debate on the matter but, when finished, you must move to the pubic area or leave 
the room and take no further part in the discussion or vote. 

 
You cannot avoid disclosure of a DPI or Prejudicial Interest merely by withdrawing during 
that part of the meeting when the matter you have a DPI or Prejudicial Interest, is to be 
discussed.  In respect to a DPI, failure to comply is a Criminal Offence. 
 
If you remain in the room, you must not sit with the other members of the meeting and 
must move to the public area. You must not speak after making your representations. It is 
also important that you do not express your views in a non-verbal way, for example by 
using body language or expressing emotion. 
 

152



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 6 

 
 

Appendix 3 

How to obtain a Dispensation 
 

If you seek a Dispensation, you must make a written request to the Relevant Officer of the 
Council.   

The Council may grant a dispensation under this section only if, after having had regard to 
all relevant circumstances, the authority—  

(a)  considers that without the dispensation the number of persons from participating in 
any particular business would be so great a proportion of the body transacting the 
business as to impede the transaction of the business,  

(b)  considers that without the dispensation the representation of different political groups 
on the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the 
likely outcome of any vote relating to the business,  

(c)  considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the 
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead.  

(d)  if it is an authority to which Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000 applies and is 
operating executive arrangements, considers that without the dispensation each 
Member of the authority’s executive would be prohibited from participating in any 
particular business to be transacted by the authority’s executive, or  

(e)  considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.  

A dispensation under this section must specify the period for which it has effect, and the 
period specified may not exceed four years.  

The Relevant Officer is the Managing Director or in substitute the officer clerking the 
meeting. 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

153



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 7 

 
 

Appendix 4 
Arrangements for dealing with breaches of the Code of Conduct  
 
Complaints in respect of this Code are made to the Monitoring Officer.  
 
1. Receipt and Acknowledgment of the Complaint 
When a complainant makes a complaint they will receive: 

 An acknowledgment within 3 working days.  

 An initial response within 10 working days setting out how the Council will consider 
the complaint and the likely timescale for resolution.  

 The complainant will be told that full details of their complaint will be given to the 

Councillor concerned (‘the Subject Member’).  

 Anonymous complaints will not be considered unless accompanied by documentary 

or photographic evidence, evidencing an exceptionally serious or significant matter. 

If the Subject Member is a Parish or Town Councillor, the clerk will be informed of 
the complaint on a confidential basis, where it is a Parish or Town Council matter. 

 
2. Response of the Subject Member 
The Subject Member will be informed of the complaint within 3 working days of the 
complaint being received. The Subject Member will be asked to supply written comments 
within 15 working days from the complaint being received.   
 
3.  Initial Assessment of the complaint by the Monitoring Officer 
The purpose of the initial assessment by the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with an 
Independent Person where appropriate, is to determine whether the complaint should be 
accepted for further consideration or rejected. In determining whether a complaint should 
proceed the Monitoring Officer may apply the following criteria: 
 

 Sufficiency of information – Is there sufficient information or evidence provided with 
the allegation?  If it appears that substantiating evidence may be available, but has 
not been provided, the Monitoring Officer may ask for additional evidence, but the 
onus is on the complainant to ensure that all relevant information is provided. 

 Seriousness of the complaint – is the complaint trivial, vexatious, malicious, 
politically motivated, or ‘tit for tat’?  Would the resources/cost involved in 
investigating and determining the complaint be disproportionate to the allegation if 
proven? 

 Duplication – Is the complaint substantially similar to a previous allegation or 
subject of an  investigation by another relevant authority? 

 Length of time – Did the events or behaviour to which the complaint relates take 
place more than six months prior to receipt of the complaint.  Does the time lapse 
mean that those involved are unlikely to remember matters clearly, or does the 
lapse of time mean that there would be little benefit in taking action 

 Public Interest – Is the public interest served in referring the complaint further. Has 
the Subject Member offered an apology or other remedial action? 

 
The Complainant and the Subject Member will normally be informed by the Monitoring 
Officer of the initial assessment decision within 20 working days of it being made. Should it 

154



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 8 

be determined by the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with an Independent Person 
where appropriate, that the complaint should not proceed, then the complaint shall be 
dismissed. There is no right of appeal for the Complainant to the Council. 
 
4. Initial Decision of the Monitoring Officer 
Should it be determined, having regard to the criteria referred to in section 3 above, that 
the complaint be accepted for further consideration, the Monitoring Officer shall, subject to 
consultation with an Independent Person, have delegated authority to decide to take one 
of the following actions:  

 Take no action if there is clear evidence that there has been no breach of the Code 
of Conduct.  Nothing further will be required from the Subject Member and the 
matter will be closed. 

 Where there has been a clear breach of the Code of Conduct, move to section 5.2 
below. 

 Where there has possibly been a breach of the Code of Conduct, to require a 
formal investigation and a written investigation report by an Investigating Officer. An 
indicative timescale for the process should be given to the Complainant and the 
Subject Member. At least a monthly update report will be provided to all parties in 
an ongoing investigation. The investigation report shall conclude whether there has 
been a breach of the Code of Conduct and give clear reasons for that conclusion. 
Copies of the investigation report will be provided in confidence to the Independent 
Person, and the Subject Member.  

 
5.  Finding on Investigation 
5.1 No Breach of Code of Conduct 
Where an investigation finds no evidence that the Subject Member has failed to comply 
with the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with an Independent 
Person and the Chairman of the Employment and Member Standards Panel, shall make a 
decision to take no further action.  The Subject Member and the complainant will both be 
informed.   The Parish or Town Clerk, if appropriate, will be informed that there is no 
breach, but no further information will be supplied. There will be no appeal. 
 
5.2 Breach of Code of Conduct 
Where there is evidence that the Subject Member has failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct, the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with an Independent Person and the 
Chairman of the Employment and Member Standards Panel, shall make a decision to: 
 

a) resolve the matter informally by asking the Subject Member to (i) take part in 
mediation with the complainant in order to settle the complaint, provided both the 
Subject Member and the Complainant are willing to do so, and/or (ii) make a 
written apology to the Complainant which is acceptable to the Monitoring Officer 
and Chairman of the Employment and Member Standards Panel, and/or (iii) 
attend training and/or (iv) correct an entry in a register or correct a declaration 
made; 

OR 
b) refer the Investigating Officer’s report to a Member Standards Subcommittee.  

The Member Standards Sub Committee will conduct a local hearing following the 
procedure Appendix 5 of this Part, and make a decision in accordance with 
paragraph 2.2 of Appendix  

 

155



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 9 

The Member Standards Sub Committee will usually hear a complaint within two calendar 
months of the date that the Monitoring Officer has referred the matter to the 
Subcommittee.  
The Subject Member and Complainant will be informed of the decision. 
 
6.   Sanction 
If the Monitoring Officer or the Member Standards Sub Committee has decided that there 
has been a breach of the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer shall within 15 working 
days from the date of decision refer the matter to the Subject Member’s Group Leader or 
his or her deputy, or Chairman or his or her Deputy if a parish or Town Councillor, with a 
recommendation for sanction e.g. removal from a panel or submitting a formal apology. 
  
The Subject Member’s Group Leader, or Chairman if a parish or Town Councillor, will have 
a further 15 working days to respond to the recommendation, and to prepare a statement 
to be placed on the council website.  
 
If the allegation appears to involve criminal activity, the Monitoring Officer will refer the 
matter to the police at any stage in this process they believe appropriate. 
 
7. Support, Appeals and Transparency 
7.1 Support to Subject Members during an Investigation  
The Council will support Subject Members during the complaint investigation process as 
follows:  
 
a. Independent Person: Subject Members can seek support from one of the Independent 
Persons (not the Independent person who is consulted by the Monitoring Officer) with 
regard the complaint.  
 
b. Legal Support: The Council will provide reasonable financial support to allow Subject 
Members to seek any reasonable legal advice to defend (i) proceedings for criminal acts 
alleged as part of your role as Councillor, or (ii) any allegation of a breach of the Code of 
Conduct.   Subject Members will be required to sign an agreement with regard to legal 
support before engaging any legal support. 
 
Any criminal acts must occur in the course of the Subject Member’s duties as a Councillor. 
They must notify the Council’s insurance manager before seeking legal advice. The advice 
and legal costs must be appropriate to the complaint. Subject Members will be required to 
immediately repay back all monies to the Council if they are convicted of a criminal offence 
or have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct. 
 
7.2 Appeals 
There is no right to appeal under the Code of Conduct and the decision of the Monitoring 
Officer or the Member Standards Sub Committee will be final. However, Subject Members 
may make a statement about the complaint and the findings.  This statement shall be 
published on the Council’s website for the period stated in Transparency section below. 
 
If the Complainant or the Subject Member is unhappy with this decision, they may write to 
the Local Government Ombudsman to complain.  The Local Government Ombudsman 
acts as an independent 'referee' in disputes between individuals and their local councils. 

156



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 10 

The Ombudsman is appointed by Government to investigate complaints against local 
authorities. 
 
7.3 Transparency 
The decision of the Monitoring Officer or Member Standards Sub Committee will be sent to 
the Subject Member and the Complainant. The decision will be published on the Council’s 
website once the period (of up to 30 days) in section 6 of this Appendix has expired. The 
decision will be publicised for the following period: 
 
(a)  No Breach of Code – 3 months 
(b)  Breach of Code – 24 months (or such shorter period if the Subject Member is no 
longer a Member of the Council). 
 
Unless the Monitoring Officer determines otherwise, the decision notice, the Group 
Leader/ Chairman’s statement and the Subject Member’s statement only will be published 
on the website. 
 

157



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 11 

Appendix 5 
 
1  Procedure for Member Standards Sub Committee 
 
1.1  Appointment, Composition and Terms of Reference of the Member Standards 
Sub Committee 
 
The Monitoring Officer is required to convene a Member Standards Sub Committee from 
the membership of the Employment and Member Standards Panel as necessary.  The 
Member Standards Sub Committee will therefore not have a fixed membership. 
 
The Member Standards Sub Committee shall comprise of three voting members of the 
Employment and Member Standards Panel  If the complaint relates to a Town or Parish 
Councillor then a co-opted Town or Parish Councillor may also be an additional member of 
the Member Standards Sub Committee, but will not have voting rights. 
 
An Independent Person may be asked to attend any Member Standards Sub Committee 
and give advice to it in respect of the complaint as required by S28(7) of the Localism Act 
2011.  
 
1.2  Pre Hearing Process 
The date of the hearing will be arranged by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the 
members of the Member Standards Sub Committee and the Subject Member. 
 
Once the date for the Member Standards Sub Committee has been arranged the Subject 
Member will be notified and asked if they: 
 

a) wish to attend the hearing; 
 
b) wish to be accompanied or represented at the hearing by any other person; 
 
c) wish to submit any written evidence or documentation to be considered by the 

Sub Committee.  This must be sent no later than 3 working days prior to the 
hearing and will be passed to the complainant and the Investigating Officer for 
any comment.  Additional evidence or documentation not submitted by this 
deadline may not be accepted by the Sub Committee; 

 
d) wish to call relevant witnesses to give evidence at the hearing.  The Chairman of 

the Member Standards Sub Committee appointed at the meeting will have the 
final decision on how many witnesses may reasonably be needed. 

 
The Member Standards Sub Committee and the Subject Member, and the Independent 
Person will each receive a report from the Monitoring Officer which will include a copy of 
the Investigating Officer’s final report, on a strictly confidential basis. 
 
The Members Standards Subcommittee will be held in private and this will be confirmed at 
the hearing.  The Complainant will not attend unless the Chairman of the Members 
Standards Subcommittee agrees, or the Subject Member requests that they attend for the 
purposes of answering questions on the evidence provided.  
 

158



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 12 

1.3 Procedure for the Member Standards Sub Committee  
 
The procedure for the Member Standards Sub Committee will be as follows: 
 

a) The Chairman will confirm the names and status of those attending.  If the 
Subject Member is not present at the start of the hearing, and they had indicated 
their intention to attend, the Chairman shall ask the Monitoring Officer whether 
the Subject Member has provided any reasons why he or she would not be 
present.  From the response the Members Standard Sub Committee will decide 
whether to make a determination in the absence of the Subject Member or 
adjourn the hearing to another date. 

 
b) If an Investigating Officer was used then the Investigating Officer, or in his/her 

absence the Monitoring Officer, shall present the Investigating Officer’s report 
having particular regard to any points of difference identified by the Subject 
Member and why the Investigating Officer had concluded, on the basis of their 
findings of fact, that the Subject Member had failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct.  The Investigating Officer or Monitoring Officer may call witnesses as 
necessary in order to substantiate his/her findings. 

 
c) The Subject Member will then be given the opportunity to ask the Investigating 

Officer, or any of the witnesses, questions relating to the report or matters that 
have arisen during the witness statements.  

 
d) Members of the Member Standards Sub Committee, the Independent Person 

and the Monitoring Officer will then have the opportunity of asking the 
Investigating Officer, or any of the witnesses, questions relating to the report or 
matters that have arisen in the witness statements. 

 
e) The Subject Member will then be invited to respond to the Investigating Officer’s 

report and provide evidence, either by calling witnesses or by making 
representations to the Member Standards Sub Committee as to why they 
consider that they did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

 
f) The Investigating Officer will then be given the opportunity to ask the Subject 

Member and any witnesses, questions relating to the representations made to 
the Member Standards Sub Committee. 

 
g) Members of the Member Standards Sub Committee, the Independent Person 

and the Monitoring Officer will then have the opportunity to ask the Subject 
Member, and any witnesses, questions relating to the representations made to 
the Member Standards Sub Committee. 

 
h) The Investigating Officer will then be given the opportunity to sum up. 
 
i) The Subject Member will then be given the opportunity to sum up 
 
j) The Independent Person will then be invited to comment and outline their view in 

respect of the complaint.  
 

159



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 13 

k) The Chairman will check with the other members of the Member Standards Sub 
Committee whether they are satisfied that they have sufficient evidence to come 
to a considered conclusion on the matter.  If it is decided that additional evidence 
is required before a determination can be made then the hearing will be 
adjourned and the Investigating Officer or Monitoring Officer will be asked either 
to seek and provide such additional evidence and/or undertake further 
investigation on any point specified by the Member Standards Sub Committee. 

 
l) If the Member Standards Sub Committee is satisfied that that they do have 

sufficient evidence to make a decision this will conclude the evidence gathering 
part of the hearing. The Investigating Officer, the Subject Member, the 
Independent Person and any witnesses that might be present will be asked to 
leave at this point, but the clerk and Monitoring Officer to the Sub Committee will 
remain.  

 
m) The Member Standards Sub Committee will then determine the complaint on the 

balance of probabilities.  If the Member Standards Sub Committee determine that 
there has been a failure to follow the Code they shall seek advice from the 
Monitoring Officer as to what action they believe should be taken against the 
Subject Member. 

 
 

2  Findings of the Member Standards Sub Committee 

 
2.1  No Finding of a Failure to follow the Code of Conduct 
 
If the Member Standards Sub Committee determine that the Subject Member has not 
failed to follow the Code of Conduct then the complaint will be dismissed.   
 
The decision notice stating the Member Standards Panel’s findings, in relation to a non-
failure to follow the Code of Conduct, will be provided to the Subject Member, the 
Investigating Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Complainant and the Independent Person.   
 
2.2  Finding of Failure to follow the Code of Conduct 
If the Member Standards Sub Committee determines that the Subject Member has failed 
to follow the Code of Conduct then it can decide to take any or more of the following 
actions:  

 
a) Formally censure the Subject Member in writing for their failure to follow the 

Code of Conduct; 
 
b) Recommend to the Subject Member’s Group Leader (or in the case of un-

grouped Members, recommend to Council or any subcommittee(s) of Council 
that the Subject Member be removed from any or all subcommittee(s) of the 
Council; 

 
c) Recommend to the Leader of Council that the Subject Member be removed from 

the Cabinet, or removed from particular portfolio responsibilities; 
 

160



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 14 

d) Instruct the Monitoring Officer (or recommend that the relevant Town/Parish 
Council, as appropriate) to arrange training for the Subject Member; 

 
e) Remove (or recommend to the relevant Town/Parish Council that the Subject 

Member be removed) from all outside appointments to which he/she has been 
appointed or nominated by the authority (or by the Town/Parish Council); 

 
f) Withdraw (or recommend to the relevant Town/Parish Council that it withdraws) 

facilities provided to the Subject Member by the Council, such as a computer, 
website and/or e-mail and internet access;  

 
g) Exclude (or recommend that the relevant Town/Parish Council exclude) the 

Subject Member from the Council’s offices or other premises, with the exception 
of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council or Panel meetings; or 

 
h) Report its findings to the Crown Prosecution Service in respect of a Subject 

Member that has been found to have committed an offence under s30 and/or s31 
Localism Act 2011. 

 
2.3  Publication of the Decision on Finding a Breach of the Code of Conduct 
 
Within 3 working days, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a formal decision notice in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Member Standards Sub Committee.  A copy of the 
decision notice will be sent to the Complainant, the Subject Member (and, if applicable, the 
relevant Town/Parish Council) and the Independent Person for their information. 
 
The Subject Member has no right of appeal to the Council against a decision of the 
Monitoring Officer or the Member Standards Sub Committee. 
 

161



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 15 

Appendix 6 

 
Definitions used in the Code of Conduct 
 
Criminal Offence 
(s.34 Localism Act 2011) 
 
It is a criminal offence if you fail, without reasonable excuse, to comply with the 
requirements under s30 or s31 Localism Act 2011 to register or declare DPIs , or take part 
in council business at meetings or when acting alone.   
 
If you breach the above, the Magistrates Court may, upon conviction, impose a fine of up 
to level 5 (currently £5,000.00), and an order disqualifying the person from being a 
Member of a relevant authority for up to five years.  
 
The Council would consider that taking legal advice from the Monitoring Officer or their 
nominee (even if such advice was not upheld) would amount to ‘reasonable excuse’ for the 
purposes of s34(1) of the Act. 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPIs) 
 
Interests defined by regulations made under s30(3) of the Localism Act 2011 and 
described in the table below. 
 
(‘M’ means you and ‘relevant person’ means you and your partner).  “Partner” means a 
spouse or civil partner of M, or a person with whom M is living as husband and wife or a 
person with whom M is living as if they were civil partners 
 

Subject Prescribed description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, or 
towards the election expenses of M. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts 

Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or 
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) 
and the relevant authority— 
a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 

works are to be executed; and 
b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land 
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 

162



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 16 

the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)— 
a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 

beneficial interest. 

Securities 

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business 

or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
b) either— 
 

i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or 

 
ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one 

class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one 
class in which the relevant person has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 
These descriptions on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests above are subject to the following 
definitions; 
 

The Act means the Localism Act 2011 

Body in which the 
relevant person has 
a beneficial interest 

means a firm in which the relevant person is a partner or a 
body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or 
in the securities of which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest; 

Director 
includes a member of the committee of management of an 
industrial and provident society; 

Land 

excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over 
land which does not carry with it a right for the relevant 
person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or 
to receive income; 

M means a member of a relevant authority; 

Member includes a co-opted member; 

Relevant authority means the authority of which M is a member; 

Relevant period 
means the period of 12 months ending with the day on 
which M gives a notification for the purposes of section 
30(1) or section 31(7), as the case may be, of the Act; 

Relevant person 
means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) 
of the Act; 

Securities 

means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, 
bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the 
meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 
and other securities of any description, other than money 
deposited with a building society. 

 
 
 

163



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 17 

Independent Person 
 
The Independent Person is the person engaged by the Council who: 
 

 must be consulted by the Managing Director before making a decision on an 
allegation that the Managing Director has decided should be formally investigated. 

 may be consulted by the Managing Director in respect of a complaint at any other 
stage.  

 may provide views to a Member or co-opted Member if that Member’s behaviour is 
the subject of an allegation. 

 may assist in granting dispensations to Members and co-opted Members from 
requirements relating to interests set out in the Code of Conduct. 

 will exercise all of the above functions in respect of Parish Councils and members 
of those Parish Councils within the Council. 

 
Personal Interests 
 
A Personal Interest is: 
 
i) Any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to 

which you are elected appointed or nominated by the Council; 
 

ii) Any body 
 

 exercising functions of a public nature; or 

 in receipt of any grant from the Council; or 

 directed to charitable purposes; or 

 one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union),  

 
of which the you are a member or have a close association or of which you are in a 
position of general control, influence or management. 
 

iii) Membership of any private club, society or association operating within the Borough 
Council’s area, where you hold a position of general control or management 
 

iv)  Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably 
think may influence you when you make a decision on Council matters and acting 
as a Councillor. e.g. the decision relates to a close family member or friend and 
could have a substantial benefit to them. 

 
 You are not required to record any Personal Interest in point (iv) above on your 

Register of Interests (but may do so if you wish). 
 

Predetermination 
 
Predetermination means that you have a closed mind and do not make a decision 
impartially and solely on the basis of the relevant facts. You have not predetermined a 
matter just because you have expressed a particular opinion previously or hold a view 
prior to any meeting. It is proper for Councillors to play an active part in local discussions 

164



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 18 

and the expression of a view on a particular matter or campaigning on a particular platform 
should not prevent you from participating in council business relating to such an issue. If 
you have an open mind, are willing to listen and are open to consider all the facts and 
arguments presented to you before making your decision, then you will not have 
predetermined a matter.  
 
Predetermination should not be confused with Predisposition (see below) 
 
Predisposition 
 
Any decision maker may have an initial view or opinion on a matter arising from personal 
experiences and preference. Simply holding an initial view or tendency in favour of a 
particular cause or matter does not preclude you from decision making. This is natural 
bearing in mind that Councillors are often elected based upon their stated views and 
opinions. Having a strong view on a matter will amount to only legitimate predisposition. 
 
Prejudicial Interest 
 
This is Personal Interest which a reasonable fair minded and informed member of the 
public would reasonably believe is so significant that it influences your  judgement of the 
public interest. That is, your decision is influenced by your Personal Interest such that you 
are not able to impartially consider only relevant issues (you are biased). This would 
include where you have Predetermined a matter.  
 
You must ask yourself whether a member of the public – if he or she knew all the relevant 
facts – would think that your Personal Interest was so significant that it would be likely to 
prejudice your judgement. In other words, the interest must be perceived as likely to harm 
or impair your ability to judge the public interest. 
 
The mere existence of local knowledge, or connections within the local community, will not 
normally be sufficient to meet the test. There must be some factor that might positively 
harm your ability to judge the public interest objectively. The nature of the matter is also 
important, including whether a large number of people are equally affected by it or whether 
you or a smaller group are particularly affected. 
 
Sensitive Interest  
 
A Sensitive Interest occurs where you and the Monitoring Officer consider that disclosure 
of the details of a DPI or a Personal Interest could lead to you, or a person connected with 
you, being subject to violence or intimidation. If the interest is entered on the register, 
copies of the register that are made available for inspection and any published version of 
the register will exclude details of the interest, but may state that you have a DPI or a 
Personal Interest and that the details are withheld under Section 32(2). 
 
 

165



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 19 

Appendix 7 – guidance on behaviours 

What is ‘bullying’ and ‘intimidation’? 

Bullying has been described by ACAS as ‘offensive, intimidating, malicious, or insulting 
behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, 
denigrate or injure the recipient’.  A victim’s obvious vulnerability will be taken into account 
when assessing whether bullying has occurred.   

Bullying conduct can involve behaving in an abusive or threatening way, or making 
allegations about people in public, in the company of their colleagues, through the press or 
in blogs.  It may happen once or be part of a pattern of behaviour, although minor isolated 
incidents are unlikely to be considered bullying. It is also unlikely that a Member will be 
found guilty of bullying when both parties have contributed to a breakdown in relations. 

Bullying should be contrasted with the legitimate challenges which a Member can make in 
challenging policy or scrutinising performance.  Contributing to debates in Council 
meetings about policy and asking officers to explain the rationale for their professional 
opinions are to be encouraged.  All Members should feel free to challenge fellow 
councillors and professional officers as to why their views are held. However, Members 
need to be careful about criticism which becomes offensive in nature which will cross the 
line of what a reasonable person would find acceptable.  

Criticism of officers 

The Council is under a legal obligation to ensure that officers work in a safe environment 
and the same rules about their interaction with the public apply equally to their work with 
Members.  Anyone should feel free to express disagreement with officers, so long as it is 
done in an appropriate way. Officers should make decisions which are unbiased, and 
attempts to coerce them or persuade them to act in a particular way to a point where to do 
so would prejudice their professional integrity would not be acceptable.   

This guidance is based on Standards for England Guidance, now archived after it was 

abolished by the Localism Act 2011, as well as guidance issued by ACAS 

 

Confidential Information 

The Code of Conduct says: Councillors must not knowingly disclose information which 
they believe, or ought reasonably be aware, is confidential or where disclosure is 
prohibited by law, or they have the consent of the person authorised to give it, or they are 
required by law to do so. 

The following is based on Standards for England Guidance, now archived after it was 
abolished by the Localism Act 2011. This guidance was key in dealing with complaints 
about councillor’s behaviour by Standards for England from 2007 to 2012.  We believe 
therefore that it is reasonable to use the same guidance when assessing similar 
complaints against Members under the current Code of Conduct. 

166



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 20 

It is important to remember that such behaviour will only be caught by the Code of 
Conduct if a Member is acting or holding out as acting as a Member of the Council, and 
not in his or her private capacity. 

At the outset, it should be made clear that Councillors must not cause the Council to 
breach Data Protection legislation by releasing any personal information which is held by 
the Council, but comes to the knowledge of the Councillor.  Such disclosure could cause 
the Council to be subject to severe fines. 

What is ‘confidential information’? 

Information is a broad term. It includes facts, advice and opinions. It also covers written 
materials, including CDs, DVDs and other all electronic media. 

Information is confidential: 

 if it is about something serious and not trivial  
 if the nature of the information is sensitive or personal, for example it is a business 

secret  
 if it is information that you would expect people would want to be private  
 if it was divulged in a way which implied it should be kept confidential  
 if disclosing the information would be detrimental to the person who wishes to keep 

it confidential 
 if it is a Council related document which states that it is confidential 
 if it was information which a Councillor has been told is confidential 

When can confidential information be disclosed? 

You are able to disclose confidential information when: 

 the person authorised to give it has given you the consent to disclose it  
 you are required by law to do so  
 the disclosure is made to a third party in order to obtain professional advice. 
 If you are concerned that information should be disclosed in the public interest, you 

must first raise your concerns through the appropriate channels set out in the 
Council’s Whistleblowing policy, or raise the matter with the Monitoring Officer. 

Respect - what a reasonable person would regard as disrespectful to others. 

Everyone in normal life is very aware of what ‘respect’ looks like; however, in a culture of 
positive argument in politics and legal matters, the lines can get blurred between 
interacting with others to make a point, and yet remaining respectful of other’s views.   
Ideas and policies may be robustly criticised, but individuals should not be subject to 
unreasonable or excessive personal attack. This particularly applies to dealing with the 
public and officers. Chairmen of meetings are expected to apply the rules of debate and 
procedure rules or standing orders to prevent abusive or disorderly conduct.  
 
In politics, rival groupings are common, either in formal political parties or more informal 
alliances. It is expected that each will campaign for their ideas, and they may also seek to 
discredit the policies and actions of their opponents. Criticism of ideas and opinion is part 

167



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 7A 

Part 7A - 21 

of democratic debate, and does not in itself amount to bullying or failing to treat someone 
with respect.   In an arena of political discussion, such as in Council meetings, a finding of 
a breach for disrespect would be exceptional. 
 

This rule does not apply to what could be reasonably referred to as minor incidents, such 
as putting the phone down on someone, or failing to reply to correspondence.  

 

168



 

 

Appendix E: Proposed Code of Conduct and complaints process 

 

Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
 
Under this Code of Conduct, when acting in your capacity as a Member or co-opted 
Member1 you must have regard to the following rules2:  
 
i) You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly confer an 

advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other 
material benefits of financial value for yourself, or others. 

 
ii) You must co-operate fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office, 

including reasonably co-operating with enquiries connected to any Code of 
Conduct complaint made against you under this Code of Conduct. 

 
iii) You must, in your decision making role, declare personal, prejudicial and 

disclosable pecuniary interests, as well as any predetermination, and take 
steps to resolve any conflicts as a result of those interests, including registering 
and declaring interests in accordance with the procedures set out in the 
Appendices 1 to 2 below. 

 
iv) You must, when using the Council’s resources, ensure that such resources are 

not used for improper purposes.  This rule includes not doing anything which 
could potentially cause the Council to be in breach of the Code of 
Recommended Practice on Local Government Publicity. 

 
v) You must promote and support high standards of conduct by leadership and 

example in your dealings with members of the public, Members and Officers by 
ensuring that:3 

 

 You must not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as 
bullying or intimidating 

 You must not unlawfully discriminate against anyone, regardless of 
gender, race, disability, sexual orientation, age or religion. 

 You must not behave in such a way that a reasonable person would 
regard as disrespectful 

 You must not disclose information which you believe, or ought 
reasonable be aware is confidential, unless you have the consent of 
the person authorised to give it, or where you are required by law to do 
so. 

 
 
 

                                                 
1 ‘Acting as a Member or Co-Opted Member’ - see Appendix 4 
2 The Code of Conduct is consistent with the following principles: selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 
accountability, openness, honesty and leadership, as required by s28 Localism Act 2011 
3 See Appendix 3 ‘High Standards of Conduct’ for guidance on this part of the Code 

169



 

 

Appendix 1 

 
Registering Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (s.30 Localism Act 2011) 
and Personal Interests 
 
You must, within 28 days of taking office as a Member or co-opted Member, notify 
your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (‘DPIs’), 
where the DPI is yours, your spouse’s or civil partner’s, or is the DPI of somebody with 
whom you are living with as a husband or wife, as if you were civil partners. The 
definition of each DPI is in Appendix 2. 
 
In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a Member or co-opted Member, 
notify your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any Personal Interest as defined in 
Appendix 2.  
 
If any DPI or Personal Interest has not been entered onto the authority’s Register of 
Interests, then the Member must disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority 
at which they are present, where they have an interest in any matter being considered 
and where the matter is not a Sensitive Interest as defined in Appendix 2.  
 
Following disclosure of any interest not on the authority’s Register of Interests or the 
subject of a pending notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest 
within 28 days beginning with the date of disclosure in order that it may be placed on 
the Register of Interests. 
 
You must also, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Monitoring Officer, in writing, of any 
gift, benefit or hospitality, with a value in excess of £25, which will then be entered on 
the public register of gifts and hospitality. 
 
A copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be published on 
the authority’s website. 
 
Disclosure of interests and participation in meetings. 
(s.31 Localism Act 2011)  
 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
You are required to disclose interests at meetings when you are aware that a DPI, a 
Prejudicial Interest4 or a Personal Interest which is relevant to the matter being 
considered.  
 
You are not required to (but can do so if you wish) disclose any other type of interest 
that you may have. If in doubt, it is always better to disclose an interest than not do 
so as the Council places a high value upon its public reputation for openness and 
integrity. 
 

                                                 
4 See definition of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Prejudicial Interest and Personal Interests at 
Appendix 2 

170



 

 

Participation for Decision Makers at Meetings 

 
If you attend a meeting as a decision maker and have:   
 

(a)  DPI which is relevant to the matter under discussion; or  
(b)  a Prejudicial Interest; 

 
then you must not participate in any debate of the matter and/or participate in any 
vote at the meeting, unless you have obtained a Dispensation.  Details of how to 
obtain a Dispensation are below. 
 
If you have a DPI or Prejudicial Interest (and do not have a Dispensation) as 
described then you must declare the interest at the start of the meeting when the 
Chairman asks if there are any interests to declare.  Before the item is to be 
discussed, you may make representations before there is debate on the matter but, 
when finished, you must move to the pubic area or leave the room and take no 
further part in the discussion or vote. 
 
If you remain in the room, you must not sit with the other Members of the meeting 
and must move to the public area. You must not speak after making your 
representations. It is also important that you do not express your views in a non-
verbal way, for example by using body language or expressing emotion. 
 
You cannot avoid disclosure of a DPI or Prejudicial Interest merely by withdrawing 
during that part of the meeting when the matter you have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest, is to be discussed.   In respect to a DPI, failure to comply is a Criminal 
Offence. 
 
 
How to obtain a Dispensation 

If you seek a Dispensation under s33 Localism Act 2011, you must make a written 
request to the Proper Officer of the Council.   

The Proper Officer or the Council by a majority vote may grant a dispensation under 
this section only if, after having had regard to all relevant circumstances, the 
authority—  

(a)  considers that without the dispensation the number of persons from 
participating in any particular business would be so great a proportion of the 
body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the business,  

(b)  considers that without the dispensation the representation of different political 
groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to 
alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business,  

(c)  considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in 
the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead.  

171



 

 

(d)  in the case of decisions made by Cabinet, considers that without the 
dispensation each Member of the Cabinet would be prohibited from 
participating in any particular business of Cabinet, or  

(e)  considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 5 

A dispensation under this section must specify the period for which it has effect, and 
the period specified may not exceed four years. 6 

The Proper Officer in connection to this Appendix is the Managing Director, the 
Monitoring Officer or his or her Deputy, or the officer clerking the meeting. 

  

                                                 
5 S33(2) Localism Act 2011 
6 S33(3) Localism Act 2011 

172



 

 

Appendix 2 

 
Definitions of Disclosable Pecuniary, Prejudicial and Personal Interests and 
Predetermination 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPIs) 
 
These are statutory interests defined by regulations made under s30(3) of the 
Localism Act 2011 and described in the table below. 
 
(‘M’ means you and ‘relevant person’ means you and your partner).  “Partner” means 
a spouse or civil partner of M, or a person with whom M is living as husband and wife 
or a person with whom M is living as if they were civil partners 
 

Subject Prescribed description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, or 
towards the election expenses of M. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts 

Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or 
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) 
and the relevant authority— 
a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 

works are to be executed; and 
b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land 
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 

Licences 
Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)— 
a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 

beneficial interest. 

Securities 

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business 

or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
b) either— 
 

i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or 

 

173



 

 

ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one 
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one 
class in which the relevant person has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 
These descriptions on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests above are subject to the 
following definitions; 
 

The Act means the Localism Act 2011 

Body in which the 
relevant person has 
a beneficial interest 

means a firm in which the relevant person is a partner or a 
body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, 
or in the securities of which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest; 

Director 
includes a member of the committee of management of an 
industrial and provident society; 

Land 

excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or 
over land which does not carry with it a right for the 
relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the 
land or to receive income; 

M means a member of a relevant authority; 

Member includes a co-opted member; 

Relevant authority means the authority of which M is a member; 

Relevant period 
means the period of 12 months ending with the day on 
which M gives a notification for the purposes of section 
30(1) or section 31(7), as the case may be, of the Act; 

Relevant person 
means M or any other person referred to in section 
30(3)(b) of the Act; 

Securities 

means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, 
bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the 
meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 
and other securities of any description, other than money 
deposited with a building society. 

 
It is a potentially a criminal offence under s34 Localism Act 2011 if you fail, without 
reasonable excuse, to comply with the requirements under s30 or s31 Localism Act 
2011 to register or declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. 
 
Personal Interests 
 
These are interests which the Council has decided should be disclosed, under 
s29(2) Localism Act 2011.  A Personal Interest is: 
 
i) Any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and 

to which you are elected appointed or nominated by the Council; 
ii) Any body of which you are a member, or have a close association or which 

you are in a positon of general control, influence or management and that 
body: 

 exercises functions of a public nature; or 

174



 

 

 is in receipt of any grant from the Council; or 

 is directed to charitable purposes; or 

 is one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 
policy (including any political party or trade union),  

 
iii) Membership of any private club, society or association operating within the 

Borough Council’s area, where you hold a position of general control or 
management 
 

iv)  Any other connection or association which a member of the public may 
reasonably think may influence you when you make a decision on Council 
matters and acting as a Councillor. e.g. the decision relates to a close family 
member or friend and could have a benefit to them. 

 
You are not required to record any Personal Interest in point (iv) above on your 
Register of Interests but may do so if you wish. 

 
Prejudicial Interest 
 
This is Personal Interest which a reasonable fair minded and informed member of 
the public, with knowledge of all the facts, would reasonably believe is so significant 
that it influences your judgement of the public interest, in other words, you have the 
appearance of being biased towards a decision before actually making it. This would 
include where you have predetermined a matter.   It is not enough for you to make 
reassurances that you are in fact not biased, but what it appears like, in the view of a 
reasonable and fair-minded informed member of the public. 
 
The mere existence of local knowledge, or connections within the local community, 
will not in itself amount to a prejudicial interest. There must be some factor that might 
positively appear to harm your ability to judge the public interest objectively. The 
nature of the matter is also important, including whether a large number of people 
are equally affected by it or whether you or a smaller group are particularly affected.   
 
Predetermination 
 
Predetermination means that you have a closed mind and do not make a decision 
impartially and solely on the basis of the relevant facts. This will be demonstrated if 
you make a public statement in absolute terms about a decision you are to make.  If 
you make such statements but nevertheless participate in a decision, you will put the 
Council at risk of legal action challenging that decision.  
 
You will not have predetermined a matter just because you have expressed a 
particular opinion previously or hold a view prior to any meeting. If you have an open 
mind, are willing to listen and are open to consider all the facts and arguments 
presented to you before making your decision, then you will not have predetermined 
a matter.  If you have indicated a view in a public forum, you will be asked at a decision-
making meeting to declare that, although you have given such a view, you 

175



 

 

nevertheless have an open mind.  This will be done when the Chairman asks if there 
are any interests to declare. 7 
 
Sensitive Interest  
 
A Sensitive Interest occurs where you and the Monitoring Officer consider that 
disclosure of the details of a DPI or a Personal Interest could lead to you, or a person 
connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation. If the interest is entered 
on the register, copies of the register that are made available for inspection and any 
published version of the register will exclude details of the interest, but may state that 
you have a DPI or a Personal Interest and that the details are withheld under Section 
32(2). 
 
  

                                                 
7 See s25 Localism Act 2011 Prior indications of a view are not to amount to predetermination 

176



 

 

Guidance on High Standards of Conduct (para. v)   Appendix 3 

What is ‘bullying’ and ‘intimidation’? 

Bullying has been described by ACAS as ‘offensive, intimidating, malicious, or 
insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means that undermine, 
humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient’.  A victim’s obvious vulnerability will be 
taken into account when assessing whether bullying has occurred.   

Bullying conduct can involve behaving in an abusive or threatening way, or making 
allegations about people in public, in the company of their colleagues, through the 
press or in blogs.  It may happen once or be part of a pattern of behaviour, although 
minor isolated incidents are unlikely to be considered bullying. It is also unlikely that a 
Member will be found guilty of bullying when both parties have contributed to a 
breakdown in relations. 

Bullying should be contrasted with the legitimate challenges which a Member can 
make in challenging policy or scrutinising performance.  Contributing to debates in 
Council meetings about policy and asking officers to explain the rationale for their 
professional opinions are to be encouraged.  All Members should feel free to challenge 
fellow councillors and professional officers as to why their views are held. However, 
Members need to be careful about criticism which becomes offensive in nature which 
will cross the line of what a reasonable person would find acceptable.  

Discrimination 

It is unlawful to discriminate against a person because they have one of the "protected 
characteristics", which are, age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation.  

The primary legislation is the Equality Act 2010, which outlaws discrimination in access 
to education, public services, private goods and services or premises in addition to 
employment.  An allegation that a Member has unlawfully discriminated against 
anyone will be judged by reference to the requirements of the Equality Act 2010. 

Respect - what a reasonable person would regard as disrespectful to others. 

Everyone in normal life is very aware of what ‘respect’ looks like; however, in a culture 
of positive argument in politics and legal matters, the lines can get blurred between 
interacting with others to make a point, and yet remaining respectful of other’s views.   
Ideas and policies may be robustly criticised, but individuals should not be subject to 
unreasonable or excessive personal attack. This particularly applies to dealing with 
the public and officers. Chairmen of meetings are expected to apply the rules of debate 
and procedure rules or standing orders to prevent abusive or disorderly conduct.  
 
In politics, rival groupings are common, either in formal political parties or more 
informal alliances. It is expected that each will campaign for their ideas, and they may 
also seek to discredit the policies and actions of their opponents. Criticism of ideas 
and opinion is part of democratic debate, and does not in itself amount to failing to 
treat someone with respect.   In an arena of political discussion, including postings on 

177

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Equality_Act_2010


 

 

social media, and debate in Council meetings, a finding of a breach for disrespect 
would be exceptional.  It is not for the Council to get involved in political arguments 
between Members, which are better dealt with by a complaint to the relevant political 
group or leader.  The Monitoring Officer will reject complaints which appear to be 
political ‘tit for tat’ alone.  Parody postings on social media by a Member about another 
Member, for example, whilst considered to be of significant poor taste, are unlikely to 
amount to disrespect unless there was an indication of discrimination or other unlawful 
issue.   

The Council is under a legal obligation to ensure that officers work in a safe 
environment and the same rules about their interaction with the public apply equally 
to their work with Members.  Anyone should feel free to express disagreement with 
officers, so long as it is done in an appropriate way. Officers should make decisions 
which are unbiased, and attempts to coerce them or persuade them to act in a 
particular way to a point where to do so would prejudice their professional integrity 
would not be acceptable.  It is also unacceptable to criticise officers as individuals in 
a public forum.  When receiving such a complaint, the Monitoring Officer will take into 
account the specific circumstances of the case, whether the member was entitled to 
question the officer concerned, whether there was an attempt to intimidate or 
undermine the officer and the content and context of what was said.   

 

Confidential Information 

All information marked ‘confidential’, or given as confidential via verbal or non-verbal 
communication, must be treated as such and not disclosed in any form to another 
person.  

Unmarked Information is confidential where it involves personal data, or that it is 
information that is deemed reasonable that it should be kept confidential, for 
example where there is an obvious detriment to someone by a disclosure.   

Councillors must not cause the Council to breach Data Protection legislation by 
releasing any personal information which is held by the Council, but comes to the 
knowledge of the Councillor.  Such disclosure could cause the Council to be subject 
to severe fines. 

Members are advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer if they are unsure 
whether information is confidential.   

  

178



 

 

When ‘acting as a Member or Co-opted Member’   Appendix 4 
 
S27 of the Localism Act 2011 obliges a local authority, in discharging it’s duty to 

promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members, to adopt a Code of 

Conduct dealing with the conduct that is expected of Members ‘when they are acting 

in that capacity’.  (s27(2).  The Council does not therefore have authority to consider 

a Member’s conduct undertaken in their private capacity. 8 This includes allegations 

of disrespect, bullying or intimidation which have no link to Council business, no 

matter how serious the allegation. 

You will nevertheless be deemed to be acting as a Councillor, and therefore within 
the rules in this Code of Conduct, when you are conducting the business of the 
Council, or communicating or corresponding about the business of the Council, or 
whenever you act, claim or give the impression you are acting in the role of 
Councillor.  The rules of the Code of Conduct will apply where there is a clear link to 
Council business, for example with regard to confidentiality and use of Council 
resources, even if your actions in respect of these examples are undertaking during 
private business:   
 
 

  

                                                 
8 This position sits with Art. 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights which protects an 
individual’s freedom of speech when done in their private capacity. This includes not only the substance 
of any political comment but the form in which it is conveyed. This stance has been supported in 
caselaw, notably Livingstone v Adjudication Panel for England (2006) and for example MC v Standards 
Committee of London Borough of Richmond (2011).  

179



 

 

Appendix 5 

Arrangements for dealing with breaches of the Code of Conduct  
 
Complaints in respect of this Code of Conduct are made to the Monitoring Officer.  
 
1. Receipt and Acknowledgment of the Complaint 
 
The Monitoring Officer will acknowledgment a Code of Conduct complaint within 5 
working days. An initial response will then be sent within 10 working days after that, 
either seeking further clarification, or setting out how the council will consider the 
complaint.  The onus is on the complainant to ensure that all relevant information is 
given.  The complainant will be told that full details of their complaint will be given to 
the Councillor concerned (“the Subject Member”). 

 
Anonymous complaints will not be considered unless accompanied by documentary 
or photographic evidence, evidencing an exceptionally serious or significant matter. 

 

If the Subject Member is a Parish or Town Councillor, the clerk will be informed of 
the complaint on a confidential basis. 
 
2. Response of the Subject Member 
 
The Subject Member will be informed of the complaint within 5 working days of the 
complaint being received and clarified. The Subject Member will be asked to supply 
written comments within 10 working days from the complaint being received or such 
longer time as determined by the Monitoring Officer.  A Subject Member will be 
informed that he or she is entitled under the Localism Act 2011 to seek support from 
one of the Council’s Independent Persons 
 
3.  Initial Assessment of the complaint by the Monitoring Officer 
 
Once a response has been received from the Subject Matter, or when a reasonable 
time has passed and no responses has been received, the Monitoring Officer will carry 
out an initial assessment of the complaint.  The purpose of the initial assessment by 
the Monitoring Officer is to determine whether the complaint should be accepted for 
further consideration or rejected. In determining whether a complaint should proceed 
the Monitoring Officer may apply the following criteria: 
 

 Acting as a Member: Was the Subject Member acting as a Member at the 
time of the allegation?9 

 Seriousness of the complaint – is the complaint trivial, vexatious, malicious, 
politically motivated, or ‘tit for tat’?  Would the resources/cost involved in 
investigating and determining the complaint be disproportionate to the 
allegation if proven? Where complaints are raised by Members alleging a lack 
of respect or courtesy by the Subject Member then the Monitoring Officer may 
reject the complaint - see guidance on ‘Respect - what a reasonable person 
would regard as disrespectful to others ’ Appendix 3. 

                                                 
9 See guidance at Appendix 4 

180



 

 

 Duplication – Is the complaint substantially similar to a previous allegation or 
is it subject of an existing investigation?  If there is a current complaint about 
the same matter then a repeat allegation will be rejected unless the 
complainant is directly harmed by the allegation or they can provide new 
evidence. 

 Length of time – Did the events or behaviour to which the complaint relates 
take place more than six months prior to receipt of the complaint.  Does the 
time lapse mean that those involved are unlikely to remember matters clearly, 
or does the lapse of time mean that there would be little benefit in taking 
action 

 Public Interest – In all cases, is the public interest served in referring the 
complaint further. Has the Subject Member offered an apology or other 
remedial action which is satisfactory to the Monitoring Officer, taking into 
account the circumstances of the complaint? 

 
The complainant and the Subject Member will normally be informed by the 
Monitoring Officer of the initial assessment decision within 10 working days of it 
being made. Should it be determined by the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with 
an Independent Person where appropriate, that the complaint should not proceed, 
then the complaint shall be dismissed. There is no right of appeal for the complainant 
under these rules. 
 
4. Decision of the Monitoring Officer 
Should it be determined, having regard to the criteria referred to in section 3 above, 
that the complaint be accepted for further consideration, the Monitoring Officer shall, 
subject to consultation with an Independent Person, have delegated authority to 
decide to take one of the following actions:  

 If there is clear evidence that there has been no breach of the Code of 
Conduct, the Monitoring Officer will write a No Breach Decision Notice 
explaining the reason for the decision which will be given to the complainant 
and the Subject Member.  The Parish or Town Clerk, if appropriate, will be 
informed that there is no breach.  

 Where there has been a clear breach of the Code of Conduct the Monitoring 
Officer will write a report with a recommendation for a decision for a breach of 
the Code of Conduct, giving reasons for that recommended decision, and 
then refer the matter to a Members Standards Sub-Committee for a formal 
decision.  The Member Standards Sub-Committee will conduct a local hearing 
following the procedure in Appendix 6 of this Part, and make a decision in 
accordance with paragraph 2.2. 

 Where there has possibly been a breach of the Code of Conduct, the 
Monitoring Officer will require a formal investigation and a written investigation 
report by an Investigating Officer. An indicative timescale for the process 
should be given to the complainant and the Subject Member. At least a 
monthly update report will be provided to all parties in an ongoing 
investigation. The investigation report shall conclude whether or not there has 
been a breach of the Code of Conduct and give clear reasons for that 
conclusion.  

 
  

181



 

 

 
5.  Finding on Investigation 
 
5.1 No Breach of Code of Conduct 
 
Where an investigation finds no evidence that the Subject Member has failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with an 
Independent Person and the Chairman of the Member Standards Panel, shall make 
a decision to take no further action.  The Monitoring Officer will write a No Breach 
Decision Notice explaining the reason for the decision which will be given to the 
complainant and the Subject Member.   The Parish or Town Clerk, if appropriate, will 
be informed that there is no breach, but no further information will be supplied. 
 
5.2 Breach of Code of Conduct 
 
Where there is evidence that the Subject Member has failed to comply with the Code 
of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with an Independent Person and 
the Chairman of the Member Standards Panel, shall make a decision to refer the 
Investigating Officer’s report to a Member Standards Sub-committee.  The Member 
Standards Sub-Committee will conduct a local hearing following the procedure 
Appendix 6 of this Part, and make a decision in accordance with paragraph 2.2. 

 
The Member Standards Sub Committee will usually hear a complaint within one 
calendar month of the date that the Monitoring Officer has referred the matter to the 
Sub Committee.  The Subject Member and complainant will be informed of the 
decision. 
 
6. Appeals, Transparency and Confidentiality 
 
6.1 Appeals 
 
There is no right of appeal under the Code of Conduct and the decision of the 
Monitoring Officer or the Member Standards Sub Committee will be final. However, 
Subject Members who have been found in breach of the Code of Conduct may make 
a statement about the complaint and the findings.  This statement shall be published 
on the Council’s website for the period stated in Transparency section below. 
 
If the complainant is unhappy with this decision, they may write to the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman to complain if he or she believes that 
proper process has not been followed  The Ombudsman will not however have 
authority to change the decision itself.  Note that the Ombudsman will not consider a 
complaint from a Councillor.   
 
6.2 Transparency 
The decision of the Monitoring Officer or Member Standards Sub Committee will be 
sent to the Subject Member and the complainant. A decision that a Subject Member 
is in breach of the Code of Conduct will be published on the Council’s website. The 
decision will be publicised for 12 months unless the Member Standards Sub-
Committee consider an alternative time is appropriate. 
 

182



 

 

Unless the Member Standards Sub-Committee determines otherwise, the decision 
notice, the Group Leader/ Chairman’s statement and the Subject Member’s statement 
only will be published on the website. 
 
6.3 Confidentiality   
 
Subject to the requirements of Data Protection legislation, unless the Monitoring 
Officer or Member Standards Sub Committee decides otherwise or unless stated to 
the contrary in this Part, the complaint, all communications and correspondence, 
investigation reports, reports and decisions will remain confidential. Statements and 
investigations will be conducted with an expectation that such information will only be 
released to the parties involved under these arrangements. 
 
The members ‘need to know’ in relation to access to information shall only extend to 
the Subject Member, the complainant (where such is a member) and members of the 
Member Standards Sub Committee. 
 
Requests for information will be provided on the basis of the expectation of 
confidentiality by the parties and exemptions under the various statutory schemes. 
Where investigation reports have been prepared, only summary or the conclusions will 
be released. 
 

  

183



 

 

          Appendix 6 
 
1  Procedure for Member Standards Sub Committee 
 
1.1  Appointment, Composition and Terms of Reference of the Member 
Standards Sub Committee 
 
The Monitoring Officer is required to convene a Member Standards Sub Committee 
from the membership of the Member Standards Panel as necessary.  The Member 
Standards Sub Committee will therefore not have a fixed membership. 
 
The Member Standards Sub Committee shall comprise of three voting members of the 
Member Standards Panel  If the complaint relates to a Town or Parish Councillor then 
a co-opted Town or Parish Councillor may also be an additional member of the 
Member Standards Sub Committee, but will not have voting rights. 
 
An Independent Person may be asked to attend any Member Standards Sub 
Committee and give advice to it in respect of the complaint as required by S28(7) of 
the Localism Act 2011.  
 
1.2  Pre Hearing Process 
 
The date of the hearing will be arranged by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with 
the members of the Member Standards Sub Committee and the Subject Member. 
 
Once the date for the Member Standards Sub Committee has been arranged the 
Subject Member will be notified and asked if they: 
 

a) wish to attend the hearing; 
 
b) wish to be accompanied or represented at the hearing by any other person; 
 
c) wish to submit any written evidence or documentation to be considered by 

the Sub Committee.  This must be sent no later than 3 working days prior to 
the hearing and will be passed to the complainant and the Investigating 
Officer for any comment.  Additional evidence or documentation not 
submitted by this deadline may not be accepted by the Sub Committee; 

 
d) wish to call relevant witnesses to give evidence at the hearing.  The 

Chairman of the Member Standards Sub Committee appointed at the 
meeting will have the final decision on how many witnesses may 
reasonably be needed. 

 
The Member Standards Sub Committee and the Subject Member, and the 
Independent Person will each receive a report from the Monitoring Officer which will 
include a copy of the Investigating Officer’s final report, on a strictly confidential basis. 
 
The Members Standards Sub Committee will be held in private and this will be 
confirmed at the hearing.  The complainant will not attend unless the Chairman of the 

184



 

 

Member Standards Sub Committee agrees, or the Subject Member requests that they 
attend for the purposes of answering questions on the evidence provided.  
 
1.3 Procedure for the Member Standards Sub Committee  
 
The procedure for the Member Standards Sub Committee will be as follows: 
 

a) The Chairman will confirm the names and status of those attending.  If the 
Subject Member is not present at the start of the hearing, and they had 
indicated their intention to attend, the Chairman shall ask the Monitoring 
Officer whether the Subject Member has provided any reasons why he or 
she would not be present.  From the response the Member Standard Sub 
Committee will decide whether to make a determination in the absence of 
the Subject Member or adjourn the hearing to another date. 

 
b) If an Investigating Officer was used then the Investigating Officer, or in 

his/her absence the Monitoring Officer, shall present the Investigating 
Officer’s report having particular regard to any points of difference identified 
by the Subject Member and why the Investigating Officer had concluded, 
on the basis of their findings of fact, that the Subject Member had failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct.  The Investigating Officer or Monitoring 
Officer may call witnesses as necessary in order to substantiate his/her 
findings. 

 
c) The Subject Member will then be given the opportunity to ask the 

Investigating Officer, or any of the witnesses, questions relating to the 
report or matters that have arisen during the witness statements.  

 
d) Members of the Member Standards Sub Committee, the Independent 

Person and the Monitoring Officer will then have the opportunity of asking 
the Investigating Officer, or any of the witnesses, questions relating to the 
report or matters that have arisen in the witness statements. 

 
e) The Subject Member will then be invited to respond to the Investigating 

Officer’s report and provide evidence, either by calling witnesses or by 
making representations to the Member Standards Sub Committee as to 
why they consider that they did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

 
f) The Investigating Officer will then be given the opportunity to ask the 

Subject Member and any witnesses, questions relating to the 
representations made to the Member Standards Sub Committee. 

 
g) Members of the Member Standards Sub Committee, the Independent 

Person and the Monitoring Officer will then have the opportunity to ask the 
Subject Member, and any witnesses, questions relating to the 
representations made to the Member Standards Sub Committee. 

 
h) The Investigating Officer will then be given the opportunity to sum up. 
 
i) The Subject Member will then be given the opportunity to sum up 

185



 

 

 
j) The Independent Person will then be invited to comment and outline their 

view in respect of the complaint.  
 
k) The Chairman will check with the other members of the Member Standards 

Sub Committee whether they are satisfied that they have sufficient 
evidence to come to a considered conclusion on the matter.  If it is decided 
that additional evidence is required before a determination can be made 
then the hearing will be adjourned and the Investigating Officer or 
Monitoring Officer will be asked either to seek and provide such additional 
evidence and/or undertake further investigation on any point specified by 
the Member Standards Sub Committee. 

 
l) If the Member Standards Sub Committee is satisfied that that they do have 

sufficient evidence to make a decision this will conclude the evidence 
gathering part of the hearing. The Investigating Officer, the Subject 
Member, the Independent Person and any witnesses that might be present 
will be asked to leave at this point, but the clerk and Monitoring Officer to 
the Sub Committee will remain.  

 
m) The Member Standards Sub Committee will then determine the complaint 

on the balance of probabilities.  If the Member Standards Sub Committee 
determine that there has been a failure to follow the Code they shall seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer as to what action they believe should be 
taken against the Subject Member. 

 
 

2  Findings of the Member Standards Sub Committee 

 
2.1  No Finding of a Failure to follow the Code of Conduct 
 
If the Member Standards Sub Committee determine that the Subject Member has not 
failed to follow the Code of Conduct then the complaint will be dismissed.   
 
The Monitoring Officer shall prepare a decision notice in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Member Standards Sub Committee stating the Member Standards 
Sub Committee’s findings in relation to a non-failure to follow the Code of Conduct . 
The decision notice will be provided to the Subject Member, the Investigating Officer 
if relevant, the complainant and the Independent Person for their information.   
 
2.2  Finding of Failure to follow the Code of Conduct 
 
If the Member Standards Sub Committee determines that the Subject Member has 
failed to follow the Code of Conduct then it can decide to take any or more of the 
following actions:  

 
a) Formally censure the Subject Member in writing for their failure to follow the 

Code of Conduct; 
 

186



 

 

b) Recommend to the Subject Member’s Group Leader (or in the case of un-
grouped Members, recommend to Council or any subcommittee(s) of 
Council that the Subject Member be removed from any or all 
subcommittee(s) of the Council; 

 
c) Recommend to the Leader of Council that the Subject Member be removed 

from the Cabinet, or removed from particular portfolio responsibilities; 
 
d) Instruct the Monitoring Officer (or recommend that the relevant Town/Parish 

Council, as appropriate) to arrange training for the Subject Member; 
 
e) Remove (or recommend to the relevant Town/Parish Council that the 

Subject Member be removed) from all outside appointments to which 
he/she has been appointed or nominated by the authority (or by the 
Town/Parish Council); 

 
f) Withdraw (or recommend to the relevant Town/Parish Council that it 

withdraws) facilities provided to the Subject Member by the Council, such 
as a computer, website and/or e-mail and internet access;  

 
g) Exclude (or recommend that the relevant Town/Parish Council exclude) the 

Subject Member from the Council’s offices or other premises, with the 
exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council or Panel 
meetings; or 

 
h) Report its findings to the Crown Prosecution Service in respect of a Subject 

Member that has been found to have committed an offence under s30 
and/or s31 Localism Act 2011. 

 
2.3 Publication of the Decision on Finding a Breach of the Code of Conduct 
 
Within 5 working days of the decision, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a formal 
decision notice in consultation with the Chairman of the Member Standards Sub 
Committee.  A copy of the decision notice will be sent to the complainant, the Subject 
Member (and, if applicable, the relevant Town/Parish Council) and the Independent 
Person for their information. 
 
A decision that a Subject Member is in breach of the Code of Conduct will be published 
on the Council’s website for 12 months unless the Member Standards Sub-Committee 
consider an alternative time is appropriate. 
 
The Subject Member has no right of appeal to the Council against a decision of the 
Monitoring Officer or the Member Standards Sub Committee. 
 

187



Appendix F  Part 5 A 

 

 
DELEGATIONS TO OFFICERS 

 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 For the purposes of this section, the officers to whom delegations are 
 made as follows: 
 

 Managing Director and Statutory Officers 
 
 Directors and other Corporate Leadership Team Members 
 
 Other Staff 
 

1.2 Proper Officers for the purposes of specific legislation (as set out below) 
and as defined by section 270(3), Local Government Act 1972.  These are 
set out in Part 5B. 

 
1.3 The delegations set out below apply to those functions which have not, by 

virtue of this Constitution or any other instrument, been reserved to Council 
or Cabinet and any committees or sub-committees thereof. 

 
1.4 For the avoidance of doubt any functions which are not specifically 

discharged by Council or delegated to Committees or Sub-Committees are 
delegated to Officers.  If there is any doubt if such power is delegated it will 
be exercised by the Managing Director or in his absence his Deputythe 
relevant Director or the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2. General Principles of Officer Delegations 
 
2.1 Specific Council and executive functions delegated to officers are specified 

in the Part 5 addendum.  
 
2.2 Functions may be delegated to more than one officer or category of officer. 
 
2.3 Functions may be delegated to different officers based upon a financial 

limitation or a precondition to the use of the delegation. 
 
2.4 Functions delegated to officers are to be exercised taking into account: 
 

 All other parts of the Constitution (including Article 12 “Decision 
Making”), 

 
 The Budget and Policy Framework, 

 
 The approved Budget, 

 
 The Terms of Reference for all other subcommittees in Part 6, 

 

188



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

 Any instructions given by the Managing Director, 
 

 Any financial advice given by the Head of FinanceDirector of 
Resources, 

 
 Any legal advice given by the legal advisers to the Council, and 

 
 Any statutory codes of conduct or statutory guidance, and codes and 

protocols as may be approved by the Council and Cabinet. 
 
2.52 Any function delegated to a specified officer may also be exercised by any 

officer who has been so authorised by the officer to whom the function is 
delegated or (save in case of Head of FinanceDirector of Resources and 
Monitoring Officer) by the Managing Director. Such authorisations shall be 
recorded and held by the officer making the authorisation. Officers 
authorised under this provision to exercise a power delegated to another 
officer should be either fully or generally under the supervision and control 
of the authorising officer 

 
2.63 Functions delegated by reference to job titles or posts which have changed 

will continue in force and shall be exercised by officers whose duties include 
or most closely correspond to the duties of the post originally referred to. 

 
2.74 Any reference to any Act of Parliament shall be deemed to include any act, 

statutory instrument or regulation by which it is applied, extended, 
amended, consolidated or replaced. 

 
2.85 Where any function is delegated to an officer, that officer may choose not 

to exercise that function and may, instead, refer a matter to the Council, the 
Cabinet, Committee, the relevant Director or relevant Portfolio Holder for 
decision as appropriate with the agreement of the appropriate Director. 

 
2.96 The Cabinet, Cabinet Members or Committees may reserve to themselves 

decisions previously delegated to officers by Cabinet, Cabinet Member or 
Committee, by giving notice to the officer holding the delegated power or to 
the Managing Director. 

 
2.107 In the absence or the unavailability of an officer or where any function is not 

recorded as delegated in Part 5B (and is not reserved to the Council, 
Cabinet or Subcommittee) then , any function delegated to that officer may 
be exercised by their deputy.may be exercised by the relevant Director or 
the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer. 

 
3. General Powers of the Managing Director 
 
3.1 To act as Head of the Paid Service under Section 4 of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989. 

3.2 To exercise authority over the Directors and Heads of Service, including 
allocating Directors’ portfolios. 

189



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

 
3.3 To exercise the powers delegated to any Director or other members of staff 

so far as the law allows. 
 
3.4 To carry out the functions of the Council for civic aid and emergency 

planning and to take any action, including incurring expenditure, in 
connection with an emergency or a disaster in the borough. 

 
3.5 To undertake any other functions necessary for the carrying out of the role 

of the Managing Director, within any existing legislative and policy 
constraints. 

 
3.6 To act as Returning Officer for County Council Elections in accordance 

with Section 35 of the Representation of the People Act 1983 (the 1983 

Act) unless another officer is appointed. 

 

3.7 To act as Electoral Registration Officer for the County in accordance with 

Section 8 of the 1983 Act unless another officer is appointed. 

 
3.8 In an Emergency, to make decisions currently delegated to Committees or 

Panels, in consultation with the relevant senior qualified officer(s), 

Chairman of the relevant Committee or Panel, and the Principal Lead 

Opposition Member from each of the Opposition Groups of the relevant 

Committee or Panel, and others deemed necessary according to the 

requirements of the decision at hand.  Emergency is defined as a time of 

direct or indirect imminent, serious danger requiring immediate action for 

the safety of the public, officers or Members, whether individually or as a 

group. 

 
3.9 To make Urgent Decisions for matters that are the responsibility of 

Council, Cabinet and their Committees or Panels (other than Overview & 

Scrutiny Panel), such Urgent Decisions to be made in consultation with 

the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the relevant decision making body. An 

Urgent Decision means any decision required in advance of the earliest 

possible meeting of Council, Cabinet or relevant Committee or Panels, 

providing that if the decision is (i) a Key Decision then the Special 

Urgency Rule 16 of Part 8E must be followed and (ii) contrary to Budget 

or Policy Framework then Part 3 Rule 4 'Urgent Decisions outside the 

Budget or Policy Framework' must be followed. 

 

4. General Powers of the Directors (including Managing Directors) and 
Heads of Service (deputy chief officers)and other CLT Members 

 
4.1 The Directors for the Council and their areas of responsibility are set out in 

this Constitution.  
 

190



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

4.2 All Directors and Heads of Service and other CLT members are delegated 
all those powers necessary to act within the assigned portfolio of 
responsibilities and budget. Note that this delegation is subject to the 
general provisions and limitations set out in this Constitution. 

 
4.3 An Director and Heads of Service or CLT member may further delegate any 

of the powers delegated to him or her under this Constitution or any other 
applicable scheme of delegation, in so far as is legally permissible and in 
so far as not already delegated by virtue of this Constitution 

 
 
 
5. General Powers of Staff 
 
5.1 All staff shall be delegated all those powers necessary to carry out those 

functions specified in their respective job descriptions, subject to the 
general provisions and limitations set out in this Constitution. 

 
5.2 All staff will have Delegated Authority required to:- 
 

(a) Effectively manage and promote the services for which they are 
responsible; 

 
(b) Exercise the function delegated to Officers under the Financial 

Procedural Rules and to let contracts in accordance with Contract 
Procedure Rules; 

 
(c) Exercise all functions delegated under the Officer Employment 

Procedure Rules and to manage all staff in accordance with the 
Council’s Policy, Procedures and Terms of Conditions of staff. 

 
6. General Provisions and Limitations 
 
6.1 Apart from those powers set out below which have been generally or 

specifically delegated to staff, any remaining functions which have not 
been, under this or any other current scheme of delegations, specifically 
reserved to Council, Cabinet or any committees or sub-committees thereof 
are delegated to officers 

 
6.2 Staff shall exercise powers under this scheme in compliance with: 
 

 The rules of procedure set out in this Constitution; 
 

 Corporate policies and strategies; 
 

 Any additional conditions imposed either by the Council or by statute 
or any statutory code of conduct. 

 
6.3 The exercise of the powers delegated under this Constitution or any other 

scheme of delegation by staff involving the incurring of expenditure is 

191



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

subject to there being sufficient approved provision within their budget to 
cover that expenditure. 

 
6.4 Each Director shall have all the powers and duties delegated to the Heads 

of Service or other staff within his/her portfolio, who are assigned to him or 
her, so far as is legally permissible. 

 
6.5 The Director will delegate to the post that is most appropriate for the 

exercise of the function. Any direct line manager between the Director and 
the post delegated the function is also entitled to perform that function, 
unless otherwise stated in the scheme.  

 
 
7. Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance OfficerDirector of Resources 
 
7.1 The functions of the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance OfficerDirector of 

Resources are set out below.  The Council will provide the Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Finance OfficerDirector of Resources with such offices, 
accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to 
allow their duties to be performed.  The Monitoring Officer cannot be the 
Chief Finance OfficerDirector of Resources or the Head of Paid Service. 

 
7.2 Functions of the Monitoring Officer  
 
 a) Maintaining the Constitution. The Monitoring Officer will maintain an 

up to date version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely 
available for consultation by Members, staff and the public. 

 
 b) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making. After 

consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance 
OfficerDirector of Resources, the Monitoring Officer will report to the 
Council or to Cabinet in relation to an executive function if he or she 
considers that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to 
unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to 
maladministration.  Such a report will have the effect of stopping the 
proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been 
considered. 

 
 c) Proper Officer for access to information.  The Monitoring Officer 

will ensure that Cabinet decisions, together with the reasons for those 
decisions and relevant Officer reports and background papers are 
made publicly available as soon as possible. 

 
 d) Advising whether Cabinet decisions are within the budget and 

policy framework in accordance with the requirement under the 
Budget and Framework Rules. The Monitoring OfficerDirector of 
Resources  in consultation with the Monitoring Officer Head of 
FinanceDirector of Resources  will advise whether decisions of the 
Cabinet are in accordance with the budget and policy framework. 

 

192



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

 e) Providing advice.  The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the 
scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues 
to all councillors and will support and advise councillors and officers in 
their respective roles. 

 
 f)  Contributing to corporate management. The Monitoring Officer will 

contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular 
through the provision of professional advice on the lawfulness or 
probity of any matter. 

 
7.3 Functions of the Chief Finance OfficerDirector of Resources 
 
 a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making. 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring 
Officer, the Chief Finance OfficerDirector of Resources will report to 
the full Council, or to the Cabinet in relation to an executive function, 
and the Council’s external auditor if he/she considers that any 
proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful 
expenditure or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or 
of the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

 
 b) Administration of financial affairs. The Chief Finance 

OfficerDirector of Resources will have responsibility for the 
administration of the financial affairs of the Council and will certify the 
robustness of the council’s estimates of expenditure and proposed 
budget. 

 
 c) Contributing to corporate management. The Chief Finance 

OfficerDirector of Resources will contribute to the corporate 
management of the Council, in particular through the provision of 
professional financial advice. 

 
 d) Providing advice. The Chief Finance OfficerDirector of Resources 

will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take 
decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget 
and policy framework issues to all Councillors and will support and 
advise Councillors and Officers in their respective roles. 

 
 e) Give financial information. The Chief Finance OfficerDirector of 

Resources will provide financial information to the media, members of 
the public and the community. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

193



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

 

PART 5 – SCHEME OF 
DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 

 

 

B – PROPER OFFICER FUNCTIONS 
 

194



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

Delegations to Officers 

B - Proper Officer Functions 
 

Meaning of Proper Officer Functions 

1.1 The Council has approved and adopted the appointment of the following 
officers as proper officers, as described in the following specified sections 
of the relevant Acts of Parliament or regulations.  Proper officer is defined 
for most legislation by s.270(3) Local Government Act 1972 as an officer 
appointed for that purpose by that body or for that area, as the case may 
be. 

1.2 The deputy proper officer is given in brackets after the proper officer.   The 
deputy proper officer is appointed to act where the proper officer is absent 
and/or unable to act for any reason.  Where neither the designated proper 
officer nor the designated deputy proper officer is able to act, or if there is 
no specified designated proper officer or deputy proper officer, the 
Managing Director may designate an appropriate person to act as proper 
officer or deputy proper officer.  If the Managing Director is unable to act, 
this power shall be delegated to the Monitoring Officer or, if the Monitoring 
Officer is unavailable, to the Deputy Monitoring Officer. 

 

Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 

Section Description Proper Officer 

6 Statutory Director of Social Services 
(Adults) 

Director of Adult Social 
Services 

Local Government Act 1972 

Section Description Proper Officer 

83(1) – (4) Officer to whom persons elected to any of 
the following offices of the Council shall 
make declaration of acceptance of office: 
Mayor, Deputy Mayor, Councillor 

Monitoring Officer 
(Managing 
Director) 

84 Officer to whom a person elected to any 
office under the Council may give written 
notice or resignation 

Monitoring Officer 
(Managing 
Director) 

86 Declaration of a vacancy Monitoring Officer 
(Managing 
Director) 

88(2) Officer who may convene a meeting of the 
Council for the election to fill a vacancy 

Managing Director 
(Any Director) 

89(1)(b) Officer who may receive notice in writing of 
a casual vacancy in the office of Councillor 
from two local government electors 

Managing Director 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

195



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

Section Description Proper Officer 

100B(2) Officer who may think fit to exclude from 
reports open to inspection parts relating to 
items during which the meeting is likely not 
to be open to the public 

Head of 
Governance 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

100B(7)(c) Officer who may supply a copy of the 
agenda and reports for the meeting and 
copies of any other documents supplied to 
members of the council in connection with 
the item. 

–Head of 
Governance 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

100C(2) Officer responsible for preparing a written 
summary of those parts of the committee 
proceedings which disclose exempt 
information 

Head of  
Governance 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

100D(1)(a) 
and (5)(a) 

Officer responsible for identifying 
background papers and                                                                                                                                                                                                      
list of such documents 

Head of  
Governance 
(Monitoring 
Officer)  

100F(2) Officer making decision as to documents 
disclosing exempt information which are not 
required to be open to inspection by council 
members 

Monitoring Officer 
(Managing 
Director) 

115 Officer to whom all officers shall pay monies 
received by them and due to the local 
authority 

Head of 
FinanceDirector of 
Resources 

146(1) Officer authorised to produce a statutory 
declaration specifying securities and 
verifying name change of authority 

Head of 
FinanceDirector of 
Resources 

151 Officer having responsibility for the 
administration of the Council’s financial 
matters 

Head of 
FinanceDirector of 
Resources 

191 Officer authorised in respect of Ordnance 
Survey 

Head of 
Commissioning - 
Communities 

204(3) Officer to whom notice of application for a 
Justices License under schedule 1 of the 
Licensing Act 1964 should be given 

Managing Director 
or Monitoring 
Officer 

210(6) and 
(7) 

Officer in whom power in respect of a 
charity will vest as at 1 April 1974 

Monitoring Officer 

212 Officer authorised to act as local registrar 
for Land Charges Act  

Monitoring Officer 
(Information 
Management TL) 

222 Officer authorised to prosecute and defend 
proceedings 

Monitoring Officer 

196



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

Section Description Proper Officer 

225(1) Officer with whom documents may be 
deposited pursuant to law to make notes or 
endorsements and give acknowledgements 
or receipts. 

Monitoring Officer 

229(4) and 
(5) 

Officer who shall certify that a document is 
a photographic copy of a document in the 
custody of the Council 

Monitoring Officer 

234(1) & 
(2) 

Officer who may authenticate and seal 
documents 

Monitoring Officer 

236 / 238  Officer authorised to receive, certify and 
send copies of byelaws to Parish Councils 

Monitoring Officer  

248 Officer authorised to keep a Roll of 
Freeman 

Monitoring Officer 

Para 
4(2)(b) of 
Part 1 of 
Schedule 
12 

Officer who may sign a summons to council 
meetings 

Managing Director 
(Head of 
Governance) 

Para 4(3) 
of Part 1 
of 
Schedule 
12 

Officer who may receive notice from a 
Member of address to which a summons to 
a meeting is to be sent 

Managing Director 
(Head of 
Governance) 

Para 25 of 
Schedule 
14 

Officer authorised to certify resolutions  (Head of 
Governance 
Services) 

Para 28 of 
Schedule 
16 

Officer authorised to receive deposit of 
protected buildings 

DirectorHead of 
Planning 

Local Government Act 1974 

Section Description Proper Officer 

30 (5) Officer responsible for arranging publication 
in newspapers of notice of Local 
Commissioner’s report on investigation of a 
complaint 

Monitoring Officer 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

Section Description Proper Officer 

41 Officer responsible for certifying copies of 
resolutions, minutes and other documents 

Head of 
Governance 

197



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

Representation of the People Act 1983  

Section Description Proper Officer 

8 Registration Officer Returning Officer 

35 Returning Officer Returning Officer 

Buildings Act 1984  

Section Description Proper Officer 

78 (8) BA 
1984 

Officer responsible for taking immediate 
action in relation to dangerous buildings 
 

Director  

Local Government Finance Act 1988 

Section Description Proper Officer 

114 Officer responsible for making financial 
report to the authority 

Head of 
FinanceDirector of 
Resources 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

Section Description Proper Officer 

2 Officer responsible for preparation of list of 
politically restricted posts 

Managing Director 

4 Head of Paid Service Managing Director 

5 Monitoring Officer Monitoring Officer 

15, 16 and 
17 

Officer responsible for receiving notices 
relating to political groups 

Managing Director 

 

Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 
 

Section Description Proper Officer 

8 (1) and 
(5) 

Officer to whom notice is delivered about the 
constitution of, or the change of name of a 
political group 

Managing Director 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

9 and 10 Officer to whom notice is delivered about a 
Councillor’s membership of, or cessation of, 
a political group 

Managing Director 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

13 Officer to whom the wishes of a political 
group are expressed 

Managing Director 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

198



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

14 Officer responsible for notifying a political 
group about allocations and vacations of 
seats 

Head of 
Governance 

 
Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997  
 

Section 
 

Description Proper Officer  

1 - 4 Officer responsible for certifying a contract 
under this act. 

Head of 
FinanceDirector of 
Resources  

Local Government Act 2000 
 

Section Description Proper Officer 

34 Officer responsible for publication of number 
of local government electors required to 
support a petition  
 

Managing Director 

 

The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 

 

Section Description Proper Officer 

12 (1) Officer responsible for producing a written 
statement of all executive decisions made at 
a public or private meeting of Cabinet, 
including the information specified in 
regulation 12 (2).  
 

Managing Director 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

Section Description Proper Officer 

14 Officer responsible for ensuring that a copy of 
the following documents is available for public 
inspection: 
the written statement  referred to in regulation 
12 above part or all of any report considered 
by the decision maker and relevant to the 
decision made 

Managing Director 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

15 Officer responsible for compiling a list of 
background papers to the report referred to in 
regulation 14 above. This officer is the proper 
officer referred to in rule 8 of the Access to 

Managing Director 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

199



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

 

 

The Local Authorities (Referendums) (Petitions and Directions) (England) 
Regulations 2000 

Section Description Proper Officer 

4 (2) Officer who publishes the number that is equal 
to 5 per cent of the number of local 
government electors for the authority’s area 

Electoral 
Registration 
Officer 

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2000 

Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 8 
of this constitution 

20 (1) Officer who may exclude whole or part of any 
report provided for public inspection under 
regulation 20 (1), where the part excluded 
relates to a matter for which the proper officer 
considers a meeting is not likely to be open to 
the public. This officer is the proper officer 
referred to in rule 11 of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 8 
of this constitution 

Managing Director 
(Monitoring Officer) 

9 (1) Officer responsible for publishing the 
information relating to key decisions specified 
in regulation 9 (1).  This officer is the proper 
officer referred to in rule 14 of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 8 
of this Constitution. 

 Head of  
Governance 
(Monitoring 
Officer) 

Section Description Proper Officer 

20 (3) (a) 
and (b) 

Officer who may form an opinion as to 
whether a document contains or is likely to 
contain information confidential information or 
exempt information or the advice of a political 
advisor or assistant 

Monitoring Officer 
(Managing 
Director) 

Section Description Proper Officer 

Paras 5 
and 6 of 
Part II of 
Schedule 
1 

Officer for receiving notification of proposed 
appointment of certain officers, notifying 
Executive Members of that proposed 
appointment and for receiving and notifying of 
objections to the proposed appointment. 

Managing Director 

200



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

Proper officer functions referred to in guidelines issued by the Secretary of 
State under section 38 of the Local Government Act 2000 (Part 8 of this 
Constitution) 

Section Description Proper Officer 

17  Access 
to 
Information 
Procedure 
Rules 

Officer who may, when requested to do so 
on behalf of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission, require Cabinet to submit a 
report to the Council within such reasonable 
time as the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission specifies 

Monitoring Officer 
(Head of 
Governance) 

2.5  
Executive 
Procedure 
Rules 

Officer who may place an item on the 
agenda of the next available meeting of the 
Cabinet for consideration 

The Monitoring 
Officer and/or the 
Chief Financial 
Officer in pursuance 
of their statutory 
duties. In other 
circumstances, 
where any two of the 
Head of Paid 
Service, Chief 
Financial Officer and 
Monitoring Officer 
are of the opinion 
that a meeting of the 
Executive needs to 
be called to consider 
a matter that 
requires a decision, 
they may jointly 
include an item on 
the agenda of an 
Executive meeting. 

Children Act 2004 

Section Description Proper Officer 

18 Statutory Director of Children’s 
Services 

Director of Children’s 
Services 

 

Education Acts 

Section Description Proper Officer 

n/a Appointment of local authority 
governors 

Director of Children’s 
Services 

 

 

 

 

201



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

The Environment Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 

Section  Description Proper Officer 
 

 

 
9 

Officer responsible for 
determining whether a 
plan, programme or 
modification is likely to 
have significant 
environmental effects. 
 

 

 
Head of Planning  

 

The Neighbourhood Planning (Referendums) Regulations 2012  

Section Description Proper Officer  
 

 
4 

Officer responsible for the 
publication of the 
information statement 
and specified documents 
in relation to the 
neighbourhood planning 
process. 

 

 
Returning Officer 

 

 

 

  

202



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

PART 5– SCHEME OF 
DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 

 

 

Addendum – OFFICER DELEGATIONS OF 
COUNCIL AND EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS

203



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 5  

 

The columns “Function” and “Statute or Regulation” expressly set out in Part 
5 addendum of the Constitution have been determined by full Council to be 
delegated to the relevant Director.  

 

The column ‘Delegation (& conditions)’ expressly set out in Part 5 addendum 
is not considered to form part of the Constitution and each Director is 
delegated authority to determine the appropriate officer to exercise the 
delegation. Such further determination shall not require authority or further 
authority of the full Council to change and may be amended in accordance by 
the Director by notification to the Head of Governance.      

 

204



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

A1 ARRANGEMENTS FOR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

 
 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2000 the Council must 

have at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee.   
 

The Council has established four Overview and Scrutiny Panels.The 
Terms of Reference for all Panels are specified in Part 4B.  
 
Any Overview and Scrutiny Panel may appoint such sub-Panels as it 
considers necessary or appropriate to carry out, effectively, its 
functions.  Each sub-Panel will be politically balanced, will produce 
Terms of Reference for agreement by the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel, including the period during which the sub-Panel shall 
meet, its membership and its proposals for investigation and reporting. 
 
Any reference to an Overview and Scrutiny Panel in this Part shall 
mean any single Panel or a sub-Panel as appropriate. A reference to a 
Chairman shall mean any Vice Chairman when the Chairman is 
unavailable. 
 

 The 4 Overview and Scrutiny Panels meet in public, subject to the 
Access to Information rules, to discuss and make recommendations on 
the development of the Council’s various plans and strategies, and on 
reports going to Cabinet and holds the Cabinet to account for its 
actions. 

 
 The Overview and Scrutiny Panels also have a key role in considering 

other matters of local concern not necessarily just within the Council’s 
areas of responsibility but affecting the Royal Borough and its 
communities. Where included in the terms of reference the Overview 
and Scrutiny Panels also hold partner organisations to account.   

 
 In undertaking their role, the Overview and Scrutiny Panels will have 

the power to ‘call-in’ decisions of the Cabinet or any body or individual 
exercising executive powers. 

 
 The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel will have responsibility for 

monitoring the budget allocated to Overview and Scrutiny each year. 
 
 Any Member of the Council may attend meetings of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Panels.  Cabinet Members and Directors will be expected to 
attend when their Cabinet reports/proposals are being considered and 
will be entitled to participate (in a non-voting capacity) at the invitation 
of the Chairman.  

 
 At other times Cabinet Members will only be required to answer 

questions put by the Panel or to respond to call-in of a decision within 
their area of responsibility. 

 
 

205



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

A2 WHO MAY SIT ON THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANELS? 
 
 Any Member, except Members of the Cabinet and the Mayor, may be 

a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels.  However, no Member 
may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which he/she has been 
directly involved. 

 
 A Member: 

a) Cannot sit on more than 2 Overview & Scrutiny Panels (as a full 
Panel Member or substitute).  

b) Can only hold the position of Chairman or Vice-Chairman of one 
Panel. 

 
A3 CO-OPTEES 
  
 a) General 

  The Overview and Scrutiny Panels shall be entitled to appoint a 
number of people as non-voting co-optees.  

 b) Education Representatives 

  The Adults, Children and Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel, 
when dealing with education matters, shall include in its 
membership the following voting representatives: 

 
  a) one Church of England diocese representative; 
 
  b) one Roman Catholic diocese representative; 
 
  c) two parent governor representatives  (One to represent the 

  primary phase and one to represent the secondary phase). 
 

d) one representative from the Regional Schools 
Commissioner 

 
This will apply when the Adults, Children and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel or a sub-Panel of it, being part of the local 
education authority, and where the Panel’s functions relate wholly 
or in part to any education functions which are the responsibility 
of the Cabinet.  If the Panel deals with other matters, these 
representatives shall not speak or vote on those other matters, 
except so far as the Protocol on public speaking may apply to 
them. 
 
EachThe education representative may appoint a substitute 
equivalent to their qualification criteria, who may attend meetings 
in that capacity only: 

 
 i) To take the place of the ordinary co-opted representative; 
 ii) Where the ordinary education representative will be absent 

for the whole of the meeting; if the ordinary education 

206



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

representative arrives after the meeting has started, the 
appointed substitute representative shall continue and the 
ordinary education representative shall be present as a 
non-member of that body. 

 iii) After notifying the Head of Governance by 12.00 noon on 
the day of the meeting of the intended substitution. 

 
 c) Crime and Disorder 

 
The Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel may, in 
accordance with The Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
regulations 2009 co-opt additional members to serve on the Panel 
subject to:- 

 
i) the person co-opted to serve shall not be entitled to vote on 

any particular matter, unless the Panel so determines. 
ii) the co-opted person’s membership may be limited to the 

exercise of the Panel’s powers in relation to Crime & Disorder.  
 

The co-opted person shall not be a member of the Cabinet of the 
Council.  
 
d) Parish Council representation on Communities Overview & 

Scrutiny 
 

The Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel shall include two 
further co-opted members when considering a matters of Crime 
and Disorder. These shall be one parish councillor representing 
each of the northern and southern parishes.  
 
Co-optees and substitutes for either the northern or southern 
Parish Councils shall be appointed as follows: 
 
i. Vacancies are notified to each Parish Council by the Council 
ii. Parish Councils must submit in writing their nominations 

within 28 days of notification. Each Parish Council can only 
nominate one co-optee. 

iii. Each nomination shall include details of the proposed co-
optee with a maximum 100 word supporting statement 

iv. Where more than one nomination is received then each 
Parish Council (in either the northern or southern Parishes) 
is then entitled to vote on the nominated candidates. The 
votes must be received within 28 days of notification. 

v. The nominee with the greatest number of votes shall be 
elected to the Panel as the co-optee. The nominee with the 
next highest number of votes shall be the substitute. In the 
event of a tie for either position the Chairman of the Panel 
shall select the nominee to be appointed as co-optee to the 
Panel. 

207



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

vi. If only one nomination is received for either the northern or 
the southern parishes, the nominee will automatically be 
appointed as co-optee 

 
The Panel shall be permitted to change the process of appointment as 
it see fits and decide the exact methodology. 
 
Each co-optee and substitute shall remain on the Panel for a maximum 
period of 4 years (providing Council re-appoints at each Annual Council 
meeting). In the event the co-optee is absent from 2 or more meetings 
in any one year then the Panel may pass a resolution to remove the 
co-optee from the Panel.   
 
Where a co-optee resigns then the substitute shall take the place as 
the co-optee on the Panel for the remainder of the term if the Panel 
resolves to accept the substitute. Where the substitute elects not to 
take up the position on the Panel, then the Panel shall seek further 
nominations from the Parish Councils and steps a. to f. above shall be 
followed. Where a substitute position is vacant then the Parish 
Councils shall be requested to nominate further substitutes and the 
process in points i to vi shall be followed.  
 

The parish council representatives to be required to liaise with relevant 
parishes on a regular basis. 

 
A4 MEETINGS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANELS 
 
A4.1 Each Overview and Scrutiny Panel shall ordinarily meet four times a 

year and the first meeting being held within 30 days of Annual Council 
meeting. Further meetings will be called as determined in the Work 
Programme. In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called from 
time to time as and when appropriate.  

 
A4.2 Further meetings of an Overview and Scrutiny Panel may be called by 

the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel, or by 
agreement of the Panel following consideration of the requirements of 
the Work Programme. or by any Member of the relevant Panel upon 
notification to the Head of Governance.  

 
 
A5 QUORUM 
 
 The quorum for an Overview and Scrutiny Panel or sub-panel shall be 

one quarter of the total membership of the Panel (excluding co-optees) 
or 3, whichever is the larger. 

 
A6 CHAIRING THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL MEETINGS 
 
A6.1 The Chairmen of each Overview and Scrutiny Panel shall be appointed 

by that Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

208



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

 
A6.2 At the first meeting of each Panel in each year, the first order of 

business will be to elect a Chairman and Vice-chairman. 
 
A6.3 In the absence of a Chairman the Vice-Chairman can exercise the 

powers of the Chairman. 
 
A7 WORK PROGRAMME AND BUDGET 
 
A7.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panels will be responsible for setting the 

work programme (‘the Work Programme’). 
 
A7.2 In setting the Work Programme the Overview and Scrutiny Panels 

shall take into account the wishes of: 
 
A7.2.1 Members on the relevant Panel; 
 
A7.2.2 Members of the Council (including those not in the largest political 

group); 
 
A7.2.3 the Cabinet; and 
 
A7.2.4 residents.  
   
A7.3 The Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels shall invite 

representations for inclusion within the Work Programme from the 
groups in A7.2 within 60 days of Annual Council.  

 
A7.4 The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels must ensure that 

the Work Programme can be resourced within the budget and 
allocation of officer time to it. Accordingly, they shall submit the Work 
Programme for comment to Cabinet (in relation to executive functions) 
and Council (relating to Council functions) as part of its Annual Report 
for approval. 

 
A7.5 The Overview and Scrutiny Panels will have to give regard to the 

following when considering any requests for work to be included on the 
Work Programme: 

 i) The appropriateness and relevance of the subject matter of any 
request to the functions of the Council or matters impacting on the 
Borough; 

 ii) The possible implications on services and available budgets; 
 iii) Whether the matter could be incorporated with any other reviews 

currently being undertaken or proposed to be undertaken to avoid 
any duplication or conflicting outcomes; 

 iv) The priority of the request for inclusion in the Work Programme 
and the effect the initiating of a review would have on the Panel’s 
overall work programme. 

 

209



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

A7.6 A matter for inclusion in the Work Programme can include issues such 
as: 

 i) The decision-making process has not been correctly adhered to; 
 ii) The Council’s policy on a particular matter is not being achieved 

effectively or implemented effectively; or 
 iii) There is a genuine concern about the performance of a particular 

service (whether a Council provided service or that provided by a 
third party); or  

 iv) It is justified on the basis of Best Value; or 
v) It raises questions of significant executive matters appropriate to 

the Panel’s terms of reference, and; 
vi) Also can include matters which affect the Council’s area or 

residents. 
 
A7.7 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel will not consider: 
 i) Matters not relevant to Council business or to the Royal Borough. 
 ii) Employee Industrial Relations, disciplinary or grievance matters. 
 iii) Matters which are subject to formal or statutory appeal processes 

or are subjudice. 
 iv) Individual cases, applications etc. such as in planning, licensing, 

housing, education etc. 
 v) Matters which have been subject to a decision following a formal 

review within the previous 6 months.  
 vi) Matters which have been considered and determined by the 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel or one of their sub-panels or the 
Council within the preceding 6 months. 

 vii) Matters which are the subject of a current review by the Council. 
 
A8 Requests for further work to Overview & Scrutiny  
 
A8.1 Any Member may refer a ‘’local government matter’’ to the relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel to consider any matter relevant to the 
function of Overview and Scrutiny. 

 
A8.2 Any “local government matter” referred to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Panel by a Member of the Council (Councillor ‘Call for Action’) must 
relate to the discharge of any function of the authority, or 
functions/services provided by partner organisations, affect all or part 
of the electoral area for which the Member is elected or any person 
who lives or works in that area, and  

 
A8.3 The Call for Action should be an option of “last resort”.  In considering 

whether to refer to a matter in accordance with these provisions, 

Members must have regard to relevant guidance issued by the 

Secretary of State.  A Call for Action will only be included on an 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel agenda if the Chairman of the relevant 

Panel, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, is satisfied that: 

 

210



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

(i) the Member has made all reasonable efforts to resolve the 

matter via direct liaison with council officers and/or relevant 

partners; and 

(ii) the issue of concern is a matter in respect of which the 

Council has a statutory power or duty and is not precluded by 

adopted Council policy or legislation; and 

(iii) the issue of concern has a demonstrable impact on a part or 

the whole of the Member’s ward  

and accordingly information to support the above matters should 
accompany the Call for Action request. 

 
A8.4 The Call for Action cannot be: 

 
a) any matter which is a local crime and disorder matter (within the 

meaning of section 19 of the Police and Criminal Justice Act 2006 
(c.48)); or  

b) any matter relating to a planning decision; or 
c) any matter relating to a licensing decision; or  
d) any matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which 

that individual or entity has a right of recourse to a review or right 
of appeal conferred by or under any enactment; or 

e) any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable to 
be included in the agenda for, or to be discussed at, a meeting of 
an Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

 
A8.3 An excluded matter does not fall within the description of (b) to (d) 

above if it consists of an allegation that a function for which the Council 
is responsible has not been discharged at all or that its discharge has 
failed or is failing on a systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that 
the allegation specifies or refers to a planning decision, a licensing 
decision or a matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which 
that individual or entity has a right of recourse to review or right of 
appeal conferred by or under any enactment. 

 
A8.4 If the Chairman, on advice from with the Monitoring Officer, rejects the 

Call for Action the Member who made the request shall be provided 
with reasons for the decision. 

 
A8.5 A valid Call for Action will be considered at the next ordinary meeting 

of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel or at a special meeting of 
that Panel within 28 days of validation whichever is the sooner.  

 
A8.6 The subject matter of the Call for Action will be the subject of a report 

from the relevant Director, with such supporting information and 
evidence as is reasonably available.  If the matter also or exclusively 
entails consideration of information held by another public body or 
partner, an appropriate representative shall be invited to the Overview 

211



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

and Scrutiny Panel meeting to provide that information, make 
representations and answer questions. 

 
A8.7 The Call for Action will be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Panel in public session unless consideration of the issues involves the 
disclosure of exempt or confidential information as defined by the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules of the Constitution. 

 
A8.8 The Member who referred the matter under A8.1 above may address 

the Overview and Scrutiny Panel in respect of the Call for Action for up 
to 10 minutes. 

 
A8.9 The relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel may also consider 

representations from any residents of the ward affected by the Call for 
Action, subject to the discretion of the Chairman. 

 
A8.10 If the Call for Action concerns issues that fall within the remit of the 

Cabinet, the relevant Cabinet Lead Member shall also attend the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel to answer questions and make any 
representations. 

 
A8.11 The Overview and Scrutiny Panels shall also respond, as soon as its 

Work Programme permits, to requests from the Council and, if it 
considers it appropriate, the Cabinet, to review particular areas of 
Council or any activity of any third party who provides services to or 
on behalf of the Council.   

 
A8.12 When the matter has been considered, the relevant Overview and 

Scrutiny Panel shall report its findings and any recommendations back 
to the Cabinet and/or Council.  The Council and/or the Cabinet shall 
consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel in accordance 
with the provisions of Rule 4 A11. 

 
A9 Agenda Items for Overview & Scrutiny Panel. 
 
A9.1 Any Member of an Overview and Scrutiny Panel shall be entitled to give 

notice to the Head of Governance that he/she wishes an item relevant 
to the functions of that Panel or a subpanel to be included on the 
agenda for the next available meeting of the Panel or sub-panel.   On 
receipt of such a request the Head of Governance will ensure that it is 
compliant with the requirements of rule A7.3- A7.7 and A7.4 and within 
the terms of reference for the Panel. 

 
A9.2 Any member of the Council shall be entitled to give notice to the Head 

of Governance that he/she wishes an item relating to a Councillor Call 
for Action to be included on the agenda for discussions at a meeting of 
the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel.  All such requests must 
relate to a “local government matter” and should not be an “excluded 
matter” as outlined in A7.5 above.   

 

212



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

A9.3 Any such request must be in writing and signed by the Member and be 
submitted to the Head of Governance.  It must give details as to the 
reason(s) why the request to have the matter considered has been 
made. 

 
A9.4 The Head of Governance shall consult the Chairman of the relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel and the Monitoring Officer to determine 
whether the request for the Councillor Call for Action or the 
Cabinet/Council request under the same criterionis valid under in A7.53 
and- A7.7 is valid.   

 
A9.5 Where a meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel is 

already scheduled and the request has been received no later than 145 
clear working days before the date of the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel (other than in cases of urgency and as agreed by the 
Chairman, on advice from the Monitoring Officer) then the item will be 
added to the agenda. At the meeting the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
will consider whether and how to take the item forward in light of the 
Panel’s Work Programme, including the requests madeitem and decide 
whether a review should be undertaken by it or by a sub-panel, 
including a panel established specifically to consider the matter referred 
to the Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

 
A9.6 Where no Panel is scheduled then the Head of Governance will call a 

meeting of the relevant Panel within 28 days of receipt of the request. 
 
A10 POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
 a) The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels in relation to the 

development of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework is set 
out in detail in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

 
 b) In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other 

matters not forming part of its policy and budget framework, an 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel may make proposals to the Cabinet 
for developments in so far as they relate to matters within their 
terms of reference. 

 
 c) The Overview and Scrutiny Panels may hold enquiries and 

investigate the available options for future direction in policy 
development and may appoint advisers and assessors to assist 
them in this process. They may go on site visits, conduct public 
surveys, hold public meetings, commission research and do all 
other things that they reasonably consider necessary to inform 
their deliberations. They may ask witnesses to attend to address 
them on any matter under consideration and may pay to any 
advisers, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee and 
expenses for doing so within the budget allocated to the Panels. 

 
A11 REPORTS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANELS 

213



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

 
a) All formal reports from subpanels of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Panels will be reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Panel before 

submission to the Cabinet or the Council except in special 

circumstances with the agreement of the Chairman or Vice-

Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

b) Once the Panels have formed recommendations on proposals for 
development (or received recommendations from its subpanel), 
the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel will prepare a formal 
report and submit it to the Head of Governance for consideration 
by Cabinet (if the proposals are consistent with the existing 
budgetary and policy framework), or by Council as appropriate 
(e.g. if the recommendation would require a departure from or a 
change to the agreed budget and policy framework). 

 
 c) If any of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels cannot agree on one 

single final report to the Council or Cabinet as appropriate, then 
this fact will be noted on the report, with a brief description of the 
areas of difference, and submitted for consideration by the Council 
or Cabinet. 

 
 d) The Cabinet shall initially consider the report of any Overview and 

Scrutiny Panel within one month of it being submitted to the Head 
of Governance.  Council shall consider it at the next programmed 
ordinary meeting. 

 
A12 MAKING SURE THAT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANELS 

REPORTS ARE CONSIDERED BY CABINET 
 
 a) The agenda for Executive meetings shall include as an item any 

issues or reports received from Overview and Scrutiny Panels 

when required. The reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

shall be included at this point in the agenda 

  
b) Once Overview and Scrutiny has completed its deliberations on 

any matter, it will forward a copy of its final report to the Head of 
Governance who, in accordance with the Constitution, will forward 
it to either or both the Cabinet and the Council for consideration, 
according to whether or not the report would have implications for 
the Council's Budget and Policy Framework.  If the report is 
referred to the Council, a copy will also be sent to the Leader. The 
Cabinet will have eight weeks from the date it is copied to the 
Leader, in which to respond to the Overview and Scrutiny Panel’s 
report and the Council shall not consider it within that period. The 
Cabinet's consideration shall be at a public Cabinet meeting where 
either the report is considered or if the Cabinet had already 
scheduled a report on the matter itself, the two can be considered 
together. 

 

214



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

 c) When the Council meets to consider any referral from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel on a matter that would impact on the 
Budget and Policy Framework, it shall also consider the response 
of the Cabinet to the Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

 
 d) If the Cabinet, for whatever reason, fails to consider the Overview 

and Scrutiny Panel’s report within eight weeks, it will be referred 
to Council for review and to make a recommendation to Cabinet. 

 
 e) The Overview and Scrutiny Panels will in any event have access 

to the Cabinet’s forward plan and timetable for decisions and 
intentions for consultation. Even where an item is not the subject 
of detailed proposals from an Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
following a consideration of possible policy/service developments, 
the Panel will be able to respond in the course of the Cabinet’s 
consultation process in relation to any decision. 

 
 f) Where the Cabinet has delegated decision-making power to a 

subcommittee of Cabinet, another individual Member of the 
Cabinet or an officer then the Overview and Scrutiny Panel will 
submit a copy of their report to him for consideration.  The 
individual(s) with delegated decision-making power must consider 
the report and respond in writing to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel within four weeks of receiving it.  A copy of the written 
response to it shall be sent to the Head of Governance and the 
Leader. The individual may also be requested to attend a future 
meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel to present 
their response. 

 
  
A13 RIGHTS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL MEMBERS TO 

DOCUMENTS 
 
 a) In addition to their rights as Councillors, Members of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Panels have the additional right to documents, and 
to notice of meetings as set out in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 8 of this Constitution. 

 
 b) Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between 

the Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Panel as appropriate 
depending on the particular matter under consideration. 

 
A14 MEMBERS AND OFFICERS GIVING ACCOUNT 
 
 a) The Overview and Scrutiny Panels may scrutinise and review 

decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge 
of any Council functions relevant to the individual Panel’s terms of 
reference. As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the 
scrutiny role, it may require any Member of the Cabinet, the Head 

215



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

of Paid Service, Chief Officer and/or Deputy Chief Officer to attend 
before it to explain in relation to matters within their remit: 

 
 i) any particular decision or series of decisions; 
 ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council 

policy; and/or 
 iii) the delivery of services within their areas of responsibility in 

accordance with the Policy and Budget Framework. 
 
  and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 
 

b) Where any Member or Officer is required to attend an Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel under this provision, the Chairman of the 
Panel will inform the Head of Governance. The Head of 
Governance shall inform the Member or Officer in writing giving 
at least ten working days’ notice of the meeting at which he/she 
is required to attend. The notice will state the nature of the item 
on which he/she is required to attend to give account and whether 
any papers are required to be produced for the Panel. Where the 
account to be given to the Panel will require the production of a 
report, then the Member or Officer concerned will be given 
sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 

 
c) Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is 

unable to attend on the required date, then the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel shall, in consultation with the Member or Officer, 
arrange an alternative date for attendance to take place within a 
maximum of ten working days from the date of the original 
request. 

 
d) Members and Officers are required to assist the Panel’s fully and 

should answer questions openly and honestly.  However, 
questions should not be asked or answers given about matters 
that are exempt from the scrutiny request procedure. They may 
decline to answer only where they feel that a reply would be 
inappropriate or injurious for legal or confidentiality reasons. The 
Member or Officer should give a reason if they do decline to reply. 

 
e) Subject to the rules in respect of confidential or exempt 

information, all questions will be put and answered in public.  
However, it is presumed that a matter is not confidential unless 
there are demonstrable and justifiable reasons for it being so. 

 
f) Although a full account of their actions should be given, Officers’ 

comments should be consistent with the principles of officer 
professionalism and political neutrality. Officers should not give 
their individual views or judgements on matters of political 
controversy or policy. In those instances the questions should be 
referred to the appropriate Cabinet Member to answer. However, 
Officers will be required to give their expert views on an issue 

216



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

under consideration if it is based on their qualifications, expertise 
or experience. 

 
g) The question process is an opportunity for Members of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel to obtain information or explanation 
about executive decisions on proposals and not to criticise or 
comment on judgement exercised or the conduct of the Member 
or Officer.  The Scrutiny question must be confined to a question 
and should not include unnecessary or extraneous comment. 

 
h) The Overview and Scrutiny Panels cannot and should not act as 

a disciplinary tribunal and questions should not be directed to the 
conduct of individual Members/Officers. Questions should be 
asked in a manner that avoids negative or detrimental 
interrogation. There are other procedures in place for undertaking 
formal investigations of improper conduct by Members and 
officers. (See also the Member/Officer Protocol, Part 7D). 

 
i) All questions asked by a Member of a Panel must be directly 

relevant to the subject matter under consideration at that meeting 
and as outlined in the notice given to the Member or officer. 

 
j) The Member or officer must be allowed to reply without 

interruption and to submit any information they consider 
necessary, whether oral or written, in order to adequately respond 
to any questions. 

 
k) Supplementary questions may be asked but a question shall not 

be pursued once the Member/officer has indicated that they 
consider they have given a full and final reply and the Chairman 
is satisfied that they have done so. 

 
l) Questions and replies shall be recorded by the clerk at the 

meeting and, where considered appropriate, will be included 
within the formal minute or record of the meeting.  The Chairman, 
a Questioner or the Member/officer may ask for confirmation of 
the note taken of any question or reply at the time the question is 
asked or the answer given or immediately afterwards. 

 
m) The Chairman of the Panel will decide at which point the asking 

of questions has been completed and will advise the 
Member/Officer that they are free to leave should they wish to do 
so. No debate will take place on any question or reply until all 
questions have been put and answered. 

 
n) Nothing in this protocol will prevent the normal attendance at the 

Overview and Scrutiny Panels of Members or officers to give 
advice, information or views as they would usually do, or prevent 
the Panel from inviting such attendance. 

 

217



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

A15 ATTENDANCE BY OTHERS 
 
A15.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel may invite people other than those 

people referred to in Rule A14 above to address it, discuss issues of 
local concern and/or answer questions. It may, for example, wish to 
hear from residents, stakeholders and Members and officers in other 
parts of the public sector and shall invite such people to attend. 

 
A15.2 Arrangements have been made to facilitate the scrutiny of matters 

relating to health and health services in accordance with the Health 
and Social Care Act 2001 and the attendance at meetings of 
appropriate health services’ staff.  

 
A15.3 Arrangements with significant partner organisations who deliver 

services to residents on behalf of or at the request of the Council may 
include provisions requiring senior officers of the partner organisation 
to appear before an Overview and Scrutiny Panel. The provisions of 
Rule A14 apply to such attendance. 

  
A16 CALL-IN 
 

a) When a decision is made by the Cabinet, an individual member 
of the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, or a Key Decision is 
made by an officer with delegated authority from the Cabinet, or 
under joint arrangements, the decision shall be published, 
including where possible by electronic means, and shall be 
available at the main offices of the Council normally within two 
working days of being made. Members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel will be sent copies of the records of all such 
decisions within the same timescale, by the person responsible 
for publishing the decision. 

 
b) That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will 

specify that the decision will come into force, and may then be 
implemented, on the expiry of 5 clear working days after the 
publication of the decision, unless decision is called in under the 
provisions below.  If a call-in is received within the 5 day period, 
implementation is deferred until the executive decision-taker has 
had the opportunity to re-consider the decision. 

 
c) During that period: 
 

(i) Any 3 Members of the Council (one of whom must be a 
voting member of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel within whose remit the decision falls); or  

(ii) Any 5 Members of the Council  
 

may sign a notice requesting that the decision is called in and 
submit the notice to the Head of Governance to call-in the 
decision for scrutiny. The Head of Governance shall then notify 

218



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

the decision-taker of the call-in. He/she shall call a meeting of the 
relevant Panel on such date after consultation with the Chairman 
of the relevant Panel, and in any case within 10 clear working 
days of receipt of the decision to call-in. 

 
d) Those Members requesting call-in should specify the reason for 

the call-in when making the request. Call-in should only be used 
in exceptional circumstances. These are where non-Executive 
Members have evidence that suggests that the Executive did not 
take the decision in accordance with the principles set out in 
Article 12.2: 
 
These are: 

 proportionately (the action must be proportionate to the desired 
outcome); 

 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from 
Officers; 

 consideration of the legal and financial implications 
 respect for human rights and consideration of all other relevant 

duties, e.g. equalities; 
 a presumption to favour of openness and inclusive decision-

making; 
 clarity of aims and desired outcomes in compliance with the 

Council's adopted Plans and Strategies; 
 the giving of reasons for the decision and the proper recording of 

those reasons 
 
 

 Where appropriate, theMatters should only be subject to call-in 
should specify when if the decision is considered to be: 
i. contrary to the Policy Framework; or 
ii. not consistent with the authorised Budget. 

 

 Members should specify in the call-in the relevant part of the 
Policy Framework or Budget which the decision is considered to 
be inconsistent.  

 
e) At the meeting that the Call-in is considered, the relevant Panel 

will make one of the following decision: 

i. to take no further action, in which case the decision will take 

effect immediately; 

ii. to refer the decision back to the decision-maker for re-

consideration, setting out the nature of the Panel’s concerns.; 

tThe decision-maker must then re-consider the matter, within 

a further 5 working days, taking into account the concerns of 

the Overview and Scrutiny Panel, before making a final 

decisions. In the case of Cabinet as the decision maker, the 

Leader can call a Cabinet meeting within 5 working days to 

219



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

expedite the process or refer the item to the next appropriate 

scheduled meeting. In the case of any decision maker,  

consideration must take place within a maximum of 28 days;;  

iii. if the decision is considered to be outside of the budget or 

policy framework, to refer the matter to next scheduled 

ordinary full Council or an extraordinary full Council meeting 

within 28 days if appropriate., in which case paragraph (gh) 

below will apply;  

iv. to refer the matter to a sub group of the Panel for further 

consideration and report back to the Panel within a specified 

period not exceeding 14 days, in which case the Panel will, at 

its reconvened meeting take one of the decisions set out 

above; if the Panel does not reconvene within 14 days or does 

reconvene but does not refer the matter back to the decision 

maker or to the full Council, the decision will take effect on the 

date of the reconvened Panel meeting or the expiry of that 

further 14 day period, whichever is the earlier. 

f) If, following an objection to thea call-in decision, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel does not meet within 10 clear working days of 
receipt of the decision to call-inin the period set out above, or does 
meet but does not refer the matter back to the decision making 
person or body, or Full Council under iii above,, the decision shall 
take effect on the date of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel or the 
expiry of that further 5 clear working day period, whichever is the 
earlierimmediately. 

 
g) If the matter was referred to Council and the Council does not 

object to a decision which has been made, then no further action 
is necessary and the decision will be effective in accordance with 
the provision below.  However, if the Council does object, it has 
no locus to make decisions in respect of an executive decision 
unless it is contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not 
wholly consistent with the Budget. Unless that is the case, the 
Council will refer any decision to which it objects back to the 
decision making person or body, together with the Council’s view 
on the decision. That decision making body or person shall 
choose whether to amend the decision or not before reaching a 
final decision and implementing it. Where the decision was taken 
by the Cabinet as a whole or a committee of it, a meeting will be 
convened to reconsider within 5 clear working days of the Council 
request.  Where the decision was made by an individual, the 
individual will reconsider within 5 clear working days of the 
Council request. 

 
h) If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the 

decision back to the decision making body or person, the decision 

220



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

will become effective on the date of the Council meeting or expiry 
of the period in which the Council meeting should have been held, 
whichever is the earlier. 

 
i) Exceptions to this procedure:- 
 In order to ensure that call-in is not abused, nor causes 

unreasonable delay, certain limitations are to be placed on its use.  
These are: 

 
i) That each Overview and Scrutiny Panel may only consider 

two call-in requests per Cabinet meeting and only in relation 
to the remit or service areas that the Panel is responsible for;  

 
ii) That Call-in can be invoked in respect to a decision only 

once; 
 
iii) For the purposes of calculating how many 'call-ins' have 

been made by any one Panel, the call-in under Part 3B7 and 
Part 4 A16 will be taken together so that, for example, a call-
in under either Part 3B7 or Part 4 A16 counts towards the 
two permitted under Part 4 A16 ij)’ 

 
iv) Where a matter has been referred to more than one Panel 

or where the matter may fall under the remit of more Panel, 
then it shall be considered by a single Panel as determined 
under rule A19; 

 
v) No decision due to be referred to Council for final approval 

e.g. the Budget may be called in. 
 

 
j)  Call-in and Urgency 
 
 The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the 

decision being taken by the Cabinet is urgent. A decision will be 
urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would 
seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public interest. The record 
of the decision, and the notice by which it is made public shall 
state whether in the opinion of the decision making person or 
body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not subject to 
call-in. The Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
must agree that the decision proposed is reasonable in all the 
circumstances and to it being treated as a matter of urgency. In 
the absence of the Chairman, the Mayor’s consent shall be 
required. In the absence of both, the Head of Paid Service or 
his/her nominee’s consent shall be required.  

 
 Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the 

next available meeting of the Council, together with the reasons 
for urgency. 

221



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

 
k)  The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency 

shall be monitored annually, and a report submitted to Council 
with proposals for review if necessary. 

 
A17 THE PARTY WHIP 
 
 When considering any matter in respect of which a Member of any of 

the Overview and Scrutiny Panels or one of its subpanels is subject to 
a Group instruction as to how to vote on the matter, the Member must 
declare the existence of the instruction and the nature of it before the 
commencement of the Panel’s deliberations on the matter. The 
declaration, and the detail of the instruction shall be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting.  

  
A18 PROCEDURE AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL MEETINGS 
 

a) Overview and Scrutiny Panels shall consider the following 
business: 
i) Minutes of the last meeting. 
ii) Declarations of interest (including whipping declarations). 
ii) Consideration of any matter referred to the Panel for a 

decision in relation to call in of a decision. 
iv) Receive reports from relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panels 

(or sub-panels) 
v) Responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Panel. 
vi) The business otherwise set out on the agenda for the 

meeting. 
 

b) Where a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel conducts 
investigations and detailed work (e.g. with a view to policy 
decisions), the Panel may also ask people to attend to give 
evidence at the Panel meetings, which are to be conducted in 
accordance with the following principles. 

 
i) That the investigation be conducted fairly and all Members 

of the Panel be given the opportunity to ask questions of 
attendees, and to contribute and speak; 

ii) That those assisting the Panel by giving evidence be treated 
with respect and courtesy; and 

iii) That the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the 
efficiency of the investigation or analysis. 

 
c) Following any investigation or review, the Panel shall prepare a 

report, for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as 
appropriate and shall make its report and findings public. 

 
d) Where the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel considers a 

call-in request, the format of the meeting will be as follows: 

222



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

i. After the Chair opens the meeting the members who asked 

for the decision to be called in will be asked to explain their 

reasons for the request and what they feel should be 

reviewed; 

ii. on matters of particular relevance to a particular ward, ward 

division Members who are not signatories to a call-in have 

the opportunity to make comments on the call-in at the 

meeting, such speeches not to exceed five minutes each.   

Ward Members will take no further part in the discussion or 

vote.   Ward Members must register their request to speak 

by contacting the Head of Governance by 12 noon on the 

day prior to the relevant hearing;  

iii. the relevant Lead Member for the portfolio (or holders if 

more than one is relevant) will then be invited to make any 

comments; 

iv. the relevant Director or his representative will advise the 

Panel on the background and context of the decision and its 

importance to achieving Service priorities; 

v. Panel Members will ask questions of Members and officers 

in attendance; and 

vi. the Lead Member(s) will be invited to make any final 

comments on the matter 

before the Panel votes on a decision. 
 
 
A19 APPROPRIATE PANEL 
 
 Where a matter for consideration by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

also falls within the remit of one or more other Overview and Scrutiny 
Panels, the decision as to which Overview and Scrutiny Panel will 
consider it will be resolved by the Chairman of the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel on advice from the Monitoring Officer. 

 
A20 REPORTS TO THE COUNCIL WHERE THE KEY DECISION 

PROCEDURE IS NOT FOLLOWED 

A20.1 Where an executive decision has been made and  
  
 (a) was not treated as being a key decision; and  
 
 (b) the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel are of the opinion that 

the decision should have been treated as a key decision, 
 

223



Appendix G  Part 4 A 

the Overview and Scrutiny Panel may require the decision maker 
which was responsible for the decision to submit a report to full 
Council within such reasonable period as the Panel  may specify. 

 
A20.2 A report under paragraph A20.1 must include details of:- 

(a) the decision and the reasons for the decision; 
(b) the decision maker by which the decision was made; and 
(c) if the Cabinet are of the opinion that the decision was not a key 

decision, the reasons for that opinion. 

 
.

224



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 4 B 

 

 
 

PART 4 - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
 
 
 

B - Terms of Reference for Overview and 
Scrutiny 

 

225



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 4 B 

 

B.  Terms of Reference for Overview and Scrutiny Panels 
 
B1 Terms of Reference 

 
The Council will appoint four Overview and Scrutiny Panels will together and 
singly discharge the functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government 
Act 2000, regulations under Section 32 of the Local Government Act 2000 and 
subsequent amendments, Section 244 of the NHS Act 2006 the Police and 
Justices Act 2006, Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 and the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 
2009. 
 
Each Panel and any sub-panels shall be politically balanced in accordance with 
section 15 of the Local Government Act 2000. 

 
B2  General role 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Panels may: 

 
i) Review and/or scrutinise decisions to be made by Cabinet and made by it 

or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any of the Council’s 
functions. 

ii) Make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the 
Cabinet in connection with the discharge of any functions. 

iii) Consider any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants that falls within 
the remit of the council. 

iv) Exercise the right to call-in, for reconsideration, executive decisions made 
in respect of which no steps have been taken to implement the decision. 

v) Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget and 
policy framework by in-depth analysis of the draft plans and policy issues 
to be submitted to Council. 

vi) Conduct such necessary research and investigation in the analysis of the 
policy issues and the possible options for the plans to be submitted to 
Council as above. 

vii) Question relevant Members of Cabinet and the relevant Chief Officers 
about issues and proposals affecting the area. 

viii) Liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether 
national, regional or local, to ensure that the interest of local people are 
enhanced by collaborative working. 

ix) Review and scrutinise the decisions to be made by Cabinet and which 
have been made by the Cabinet and Council officers both in relation to 
individual decisions and over time. 

x) Review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its 
policy objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas. 

xi) Question Members of the Cabinet and Directors about their decisions, 
whether generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a 
period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or projects. 

xii) Make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or Council arising from the 
outcome of the Scrutiny process. 

226



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 9 A 

xiii) Review and scrutinise the performance of the relevant bodies in the area 
and invite reports from them to address an Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
and local people about their activities and performance. 

xiv) Question and gather evidence from any person or organisation (with that 
person/organisation's consent). 

xv) Consider any petitions referred to the Panel in accordance with the Council 
Petitions Protocol.  

xvi) Work to ensure that communities are engaged in the scrutiny process; 

and consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance 

community participation in the development of policy options. 

B3. Finance.  
 In carrying out its activities, the Overview and Scrutiny Panels will operate 

within such budget and allocation of officer time as the Council shall 
provide. 

 
B4. Annual report. 
 The Overview and Scrutiny Panels will report annually to full Council on 

its workings and make recommendations for future work programmes and 
amended working methods if appropriate. 

 
B5 Proceedings of the Panels 

The Overview and Scrutiny Panels will conduct their proceedings in 
accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in 
Part 4A of this Constitution. 

     
B6. Membership & Roles of Responsibility 
 The membership of the Panels is as set out in the following table. The 

Role and Scope of each Overview and Scrutiny Panel is set out in 
general terms within Article 10 of this Constitution. The specific role of 
scope for each relevant panel is as follows:  

 

Committee 
and 
Membership 

Role and Scope 

Adults, 
Children & 
Health O&S 
Panel 

(5 members) 
Co-Optees - 2 

voting church 

and parent 

governor 
representatives 

The Adults, Children and Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel shall have powers to deal with routine matters 
within the functions relating to Adult Social Care, Adult 
Services general and Public Health Services.  The Panel 
shall have the enhanced review and scrutiny powers in 
line with provisions in Health and Social Care Act 2012, 
including power of referral to the Secretary of State for 
Health.  In the event of a proposed referral to the 
Secretary of State for Health, a report shall be submitted 
to Council for information, prior to submission. 

227



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 9 A 

for education 

matters only 

 

 

All matters relating to Children’s Services, Schools and 
Education generally. 
 
In addition to the Panel’s broad terms of reference, the Panel 
will be responsible for ensuring the local authority fulfils its 
safeguarding responsibilities, including child sexual 
exploitation.  This needs to include children’s social care and 
education provision. 
 
The Panel will be responsible for the overview and scrutiny 
of the following within the remit of the Panel: 

 

1 To consider the Council Plan and Key Decisions and to 
monitor performance against these plans 

2 To deal with petitions when referred to Overview & 
Scrutiny in accordance with the Council’s Petition 
Protocol 

3 To consider the Council’s annual budget 

4 To assist the Cabinet in the development of the 
Council’s annual budget and to review and scrutinise 
budgetary management 

5 To prepare the annual report to Council. 

6 To issue the invite for scrutiny suggestions to the 
residents, members and the Cabinet.  

7 To determine the Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programme 

8 The effective reporting and control of Council activities 

 

Communities 
O&S Panel 

(5 members) 

 

Co-Optees – 2 
non voting 

All matters relating to the culture, environment, communities 
and crime & disorder within the Borough.  
 
In addition, when considering matters of crime and disorder 
the Panel’s main objective is to ensure that the Community 
Safety Partnership is held accountable for the discharge of its 
executive functions, to enable the voice and concerns of the 
public and its communities to be heard and drive 

228



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 9 A 

representatives 
from the north 
and south 
parishes for 
Crime and 
Disorder 
matters only 

improvement in public services. In addition to the Panel’s 
broad terms of reference as detailed above, the Panel will 
responsible for the overview and scrutiny of the following: 

  

 to consider the effectiveness of actions undertaken by 
the responsible authorities on the Community Safety 
Partnership (‘CSP’); 

 make reports or recommendations to Cabinet/Council 
with regard to those policies developed by the CSP and 
the effectiveness of the functions managed through the 
CSP.  

 to consider a number of issues in consultation with the 
relevant partners on the CSP which reflect local 
community need and make recommendations to Cabinet 

 

The Panel will be responsible for the overview and scrutiny 
of the following within the remit of the Panel: 

 

1 To consider the Council Plan and Key Decisions and 
to monitor performance against these plans 

2 To deal with petitions when referred to Overview & 
Scrutiny in accordance with the Council’s Petition 
Protocol 

3 To consider the Council’s annual budget 

4 To assist the Cabinet in the development of the 
Council’s annual budget and to review and scrutinise 
budgetary management 

5 To prepare the annual report to Council. 

6 To issue the invite for scrutiny suggestions to the 
residents, members and the Cabinet.  

7 To determine the Overview and Scrutiny Work 

Programme 

8 The effective reporting and control of Council activities 

 

Infrastructure 
O&S Panel 

(5 members) 

 

All matters relating to the provision of infrastructure, 
planning, housing, highways and transportation within the 
Borough.  
 
The Panel will be responsible for the overview and scrutiny 
of the following within the remit of the Panel: 

229



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 9 A 

 

1 To consider the Council Plan and Key Decisions and 
to monitor performance against these plans 

2 To deal with petitions when referred to Overview & 
Scrutiny in accordance with the Council’s Petition 
Protocol 

3 To consider the Council’s annual budget 

4 To assist the Cabinet in the development of the 
Council’s annual budget and to review and scrutinise 
budgetary management 

5 To prepare the annual report to Council. 

6 To issue the invite for scrutiny suggestions to the 
residents, members and the Cabinet.  

7 To determine the Overview and Scrutiny Work 

Programme 

8 The effective reporting and control of Council activities 

 
  
 

Corporate O&S 
Panel 

(5 members) 

 

Corporate Overview 

The Panel will be responsible for the overview and scrutiny 
of the following: 

 

1 To consider the Council Plan and Key Decisions and to 
monitor performance against these plans 

2 To deal with petitions when referred to Overview & 
Scrutiny in accordance with the Council’s Petition 
Protocol 

3 To consider the Council’s annual budget 

4 To assist the Cabinet in the development of the 
Council’s annual budget and to review and scrutinise 
budgetary management 

5 To prepare the annual report to Council. 

230



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 9 A 

6 To issue the invite for scrutiny suggestions to the 

residents, members and the Cabinet.  

7 To determine the Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programme 

8 The effective reporting and control of Council activities 

9 Key projects and their planning, implementation and 
delivery (where such projects do not relate to the remit 
of another Overview and Scrutiny Panel) 

 
Audit & Performance Overview 

 
(a) To consider and approve the Head of Audit and 

Investigation’s Internal Audit strategy and plan, 
internal audit annual report and opinion, a summary of 
internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the 
level of assurance it can give over the Council’s 
Corporate Governance arrangements.    To consider 
and approve the approach for the effectiveness of the 
Internal Audit system, note the outcome of the review 
and agree the conclusion. 

 
(b) To receive a quarterly report on the outcome of all 

audit reviews in line with the annual audit plan.To 
receive and consider: 

 
(i) specific internal audit reports, as requested by 

the Panel, with the agreement of the S.151 
Officer or Monitoring Officer. 
A report from Internal Audit on treated concerns 
not implemented within a reasonable time scale. 

 
(c) To consider the External Auditor’s annual letter, 

relevant reports and reports to those charged with 
governance including issues arising from the audited 
accounts. 

 
(d) To consider specific reports as agreed with external 

audit and to comment on the scope and depth of 
external audit work and to ensure that it delivers value 
for money. 

 
(e) To consult on behalf of the Council with the Audit 

Commission, or any other relevant body, over the 
appointment of the Council’s external auditor. 

 

231



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 9 A 

(f) To commission work for internal and external audit as 
the Panel considers appropriate. 

 
 

(g) To receive an annual report and maintain an overview 
of the Council’s Constitution in respect of contract and 
financial  procedure rules 

 
(h) To review any issue referred to the Panel by the 

Managing Director or a Director or any Council body. 
 

(i) To receive an annual report on and monitor the 
effective development and operation of, risk 
management and corporate governance in the 
Council. 

 
(j) To monitor Council policies on “Raising Concerns at 

Work” and the anti-fraud and corruption strategy and 
the Council’s complaints process, on at least an 
annual basis. 

 
(k) To oversee the production of the Council’s Annual 

Governance Statement and to recommend its 
adoption. 

 
(l) To receive an annual report to consider the Council’s 

arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing 
necessary actions to ensure compliance with best 
practice. 

 
(m) To receive an annual report on and consider the 

Council’s compliance with, its own and other agreed 
published standards and controls. 

 
(n) To consider improvements to processes, people or 

systems which are necessary to achieve efficient and 
effective planning, delivery, control, reporting and 
governance of the Council’s activities. 
 

(o) To review the annual statement of accounts, 
specifically to consider whether appropriate 
accounting policies have been followed and whether 
there are concerns arising from the financial 
statements or from the audit that need to be brought to 
the attention of the Council and to approve the 
Statement of Accounts for inspection by the External 
Auditors. 
 

(p) To monitor the performance of the Council as a whole 
and in respect of particular services as the Panel or 

232



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 9 A 

Cabinet may from time to time identify for service 
improvement. 

 
(q) To consider and agree and thereafter monitor the 

Council’s Development Review Plan and make 
recommendations to deliver service improvement. 

 
(r) To monitor the Council’s performance in respect of 
 

(i) such national and local performance indicators 
as the Panel considers appropriate 

(ii) delivery of outcome improvement plans in 
respect of reviews undertaken and make 
recommendations on areas requiring service 
improvement and on setting targets to deliver 
such improvements 

(iii) the effectiveness of performance reporting to 
enable the Directors and Heads of Service, the 
Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Panels 
to perform their management, governance and 
overview and scrutiny roles respectively 
 

and make recommendations on areas requiring 
service improvement and on setting targets to deliver 
such improvements. 

 
(s) To consider and make recommendations in respect of 

external reviews and inspections of Council Services. 
 

(t) To monitor the partnership arrangements in which the 
Council is involved including but not restricted to: 

 
-   Governance arrangements 
-   any inspections or reviews undertaken in respect 

of partnership arrangements 
 

(u) To receive and consider reports on the Council’s 
negotiations to agree Local Area Agreements (LAA) 
and to monitor performance towards achieving the 
agreed targets. 

 

B7 Responsibilities of Members in Overview and Scrutiny 

B7.1 Chairmen of Relevant Scrutiny Panels 

Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Panels will: 

1. Chair meetings of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel; 

233



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 9 A 

2. provide strong, fair leadership and clear guidance to Members and officers 
in relation to Scrutiny functions; 

3. have overall responsibility for the direction of scrutiny in the Council in their 
area of responsibility, and for ensuring that an appropriate annual scrutiny 
Work Programme is set; 

4. continuously monitor and evaluate the relevance of the annual Scrutiny 
Work Programme; 

5. review, challenge and question the implementation of agreed policy and 
service delivery, and make recommendations to the Cabinet and Council 
to improve policy, performance and service delivery; 

6. develop a clear understanding of the terms of reference of their Panel, the 
scope and range of the areas for which it is responsible, and the Council 
policies in respect of those areas; 

7. ensure the work of their committee panel contributes to the delivery of 
continuous improvement in services and implementation of best practice; 

8. agree review all agendas for scrutiny committee panel meetings, to take a 
lead in developing a forward agenda, and to ensuring it is adhered to; 

9. meet on a regular basis and consult with relevant Members to advise them 
of progress in the work of their Overview and Scrutiny Panel, discuss issues 
arising from the scrutiny process, and note action being taken by the 
relevant Cabinet Members to address the concerns of their Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel; 

10. seek to involve all Overview and Scrutiny Panel Members in the work of 
their Panel; 

11. lead on the prepareation of the Panel’s annual report and present the 
Panel's final report to the Overview and Scrutiny Panelfull Council, and if 
required the Cabinet. 

12. ensure that Scrutiny fulfils its audit and review function; 

13. ensure that Cabinet Members are briefed at the appropriate time on 
significant issues, that is those that may 

(a) impact on established policy. 

(b) have major resource implications 

(c) be contentious 

 

234



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 9 A 

B7.3  Overview and Scrutiny Panel Members 

All Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels will: 

1. regularly attend meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel or its Sub-
Panels as appropriate; 

2. play a major role in policy development and review; 

3. hold the Cabinet to account as appropriate, to ensure continuous 
improvement in services by: 

(i) reviewing and scrutinising the decisions made by and performance 
of the Cabinet and/or committees and Council Officers; 

(ii) reviewing and scrutinising the performance of the Council in relation 
to its policy objectives, performance targets and/or particular service 
areas; monitoring performance against strategy; 

4. scrutinise the effectiveness and performance of partnerships; 

5. scrutinise the performance as appropriate of the third sector (voluntary and 
community) as a service provider; 

6. respond to community calls for action where required; 

7. contribute to regional scrutiny arrangements as appropriate, such as NHS, 
regional agencies; 

8. to evaluate whether the policies, strategies and plans the Council has 
adopted are, over time, actually delivering the outcomes intended for local 
people; 

9. to actively engage with the community and local organisations to obtain 
their views on issues or proposals affecting the area, and if appropriate 
encourage their attendance at Overview and Scrutiny meetings; 

10. to ensure that the Scrutiny process contributes to the promotion of 
community well-being and that public services are responsive to the needs 
of the people; 

11. to review and scrutinise the performance of external agencies, by 
developing a partnership approach through collaborative scrutiny methods; 

12. to identify areas of policy or under-performance in need of improvement, 
seek expert support, and provide evidence, advice, recommendations and 
proposals for consideration by the Council or Cabinet; 

13. to respond to any public questions (as and when) required at sessions of 
the Council; and 

235



Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution Part 9 A 

14.13. any other related duties, as assigned by the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel. 

 

236



Appendix H  Part 3 B 

Note 1: Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017, Schedule 1A para 5(2) 

B – Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
 

 
 
1. THE FRAMEWORK FOR CABINET DECISIONS 
 
 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy 

framework as set out in Article 4.  Once a budget or a policy framework is in 
place, it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to implement it. 

 
2. PROCESS FOR DEVELOPING THE FRAMEWORK 
 

a) The Cabinet will publicise the proposed Framework by including in the 
forward plan published at the Council’s offices and publicised by other 
methods – e.g. on the website, in local press, a timetable for making 
proposals to the Council for the adoption of any plan, strategy or budget 
that forms part of the budget and policy framework, and its arrangements 
for consultation after publication of the initial proposals. The Chairmen of 
the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel will also be notified. The 
consultation period shall in each instance be not less than 6 weeks.  

 
b) At the end of that period, the Cabinet will then draw up firm proposals having 

regard to the responses to that consultation. Where the proposals relate to 
the development of the plans set out in Article 4, the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel may wish to respond to the Cabinet during the consultation 
period. The relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel may respond as part of 
the consultation process in respect of the preparation of the annual budget. 
The Cabinet will take any response from the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel into account in drawing up firm proposals for submission to the 
Council, and its report to Council will reflect the comments made by 
consultees and the Cabinet's responses. 

 
 c) Once the Cabinet has approved the firm proposals, the Head of 

Governance will refer them at the earliest opportunity to the Council for 
decision. 

 
 d) In reaching a decision the Council may adopt the Cabinet’s 

 proposals, amend them, refer them back to the Cabinet for further 
 consideration, or in principle, substitute its own proposals in their 
 place. 

 
e) If it accepts the recommendation of the Cabinet without amendment, the 

Council may make a decision which has immediate effect.  Otherwise, it 
may only make an in-principle decision.  In either case, the decision will be 
made on the basis of a simple majority of votes cast at the meeting. 

 
 f) The decision will be publicised and a copy shall be given to the Leader. 
 

g) The Leader will be informed by the Council of its objections to the draft plan 
or strategy and will give him instructions that the Executive shall reconsider 

237



Appendix H  Part 3 B 

Note 1: Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017, Schedule 1A para 5(2) 

the proposals in light of the objections within 7 clear working days, starting 
with the day following the date the Leader received the instructions. 

 
 h) The Leader may, within 7 clear working days: 
 

i) submit a revision of the proposals with the Executive's reasons for any 
amendments to the Council; or 

ii) inform the Council of any disagreement that the Executive has with any 
of the Council's objections and the reasons for this; 

iii) at the same time, the Head of Governance will be notified by the 
Leader of the position and shall, within 5 working days, call a Council 
meeting. 

 
i) The Council called in response to h) iii) above must, when: 

 
i) amending the draft plan or strategy or revised draft plan or strategy; 
ii) approving for submission to the Government any plan or strategy or 

part;   or 
iii) adopting, with or without modification, the plan or strategy; 

 
  take into account any amendments to the plan or strategy, the 

 Executive's reasons for them, any disagreements the Executive 
 has with the Council's objections and its reasons for this. 

 
 j) The decision shall then be made public and shall be implemented 

 immediately. 

k) An in-principle decision will automatically become effective 5 clear working 
days from the date of the Council’s decision, unless the Leader informs the 
Head of Governance in writing within 5 clear working days that he/she 
objects to the decision becoming effective and provides reasons why. 

 
l) Where, before 11th March1 in any financial year, the Cabinet submits to the 

Council for its consideration in relation to the following financial year: 
 

i) estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a calculation 
(whether originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with any of 
sections 32 to 37 or 43 to 49, of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992; 

ii) estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of such a 
calculation; 

iii) estimates of such a calculation; or 
iv) amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV of Part I 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
 
 and following consideration of those estimates or amounts the Council has 
any objections to them, it must take the action set out in paragraph m). 
 

m) Before the Council makes a calculation (whether originally or by way of 
substitute) in accordance with any of the sections referred to in paragraph 
l) i), or issues a precept under Chapter IV of Part I of the Local Government 

238



Appendix H  Part 3 B 

Note 1: Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017, Schedule 1A para 5(2) 

Finance Act 1992, it must inform the Leader of any objections which it has 
to the Cabinet's estimates or  amounts and must give to him instructions 
requiring the Executive to reconsider, in the light of those objections, those 
estimates and amounts in accordance with the Council's requirements. 

 
n) Where the Council gives instructions in accordance with paragraph m), it 

must specify a period of at least 5 working days, beginning on the day after 
the date on which the Leader receives the instructions on behalf of the 
Cabinet, within which the Leader may: 

 
i) submit a revision of the estimates or amounts as amended by the 

Cabinet ("revised estimates or amounts"), which have been 
reconsidered in accordance with the Council's requirements, with the 
Cabinet's reasons for any amendments made to the estimates or 
amounts, to the Council for the Council's consideration; or 

ii) inform the Council of any disagreement that the Cabinet has 
 with any of the Council's objections and the Cabinet's reasons for any 
such disagreement; or 

iii) at the same time, the Head of Governance will be notified by the 
Leader of the position and shall, within 5 working days, call a Council 
meeting. 

 
o) When the period specified by the Council, referred to in paragraph n) has 

expired, the Council must, when making calculations (whether originally or 
by way of substitute) in accordance with the sections referred to in 
paragraph l) i), or issuing a precept under Chapter IV of Part I of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, take into account: 

 
i) any amendments to the estimates or amounts that are included in any 

revised estimates or amounts; 
ii) the Cabinet's reasons for that disagreement; 
iii) any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of the Council's 

objections; and 
iv) the Cabinet's reasons for that disagreement; 

 
 which the Leader has submitted to the Council, or informed the Council of, 

within the period specified. 
 

p) Paragraphs l) to o) shall not apply in relation to: 
 

i) calculations or substitute calculations which a Council is required to 
make in accordance with section 52I, 52J, 52T or 52U of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992; and 

ii) amounts stated in a precept issued to give effect to calculations or 
substitute calculations made in accordance with section 52J or 52U of 
that Act. 

 
q) In approving the budget and policy framework, the Council will also specify 

the extent of virement within the budget and degree of in-year changes to 
the policy framework which may be undertaken by the Cabinet, in 

239



Appendix H  Part 3 B 

Note 1: Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017, Schedule 1A para 5(2) 

accordance with Rules C5 and C6 of these Rules (virement and in-year 
adjustments).  Any other changes to the policy and budgetary framework 
are reserved to the Council.  

 
3. DECISIONS OUTSIDE THE BUDGET OR POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 

a) Subject to the provisions of Rule C5 (virement) the Cabinet, committees of 
the Cabinet, individual Members of the Cabinet and any Officers, or joint 
arrangements discharging executive functions may only take decisions 
which are in line with the budget and policy framework.  If any of these 
bodies or persons wishes to make a decision which is contrary to the policy 
framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget 
approved by full Council, then that decision may only be taken by the 
Council, subject to Rule C4 below. 

 
b) If the Cabinet, committees of the Cabinet, individual Members of the Cabinet 

and any Officers, or joint arrangements discharging executive functions 
want to make such a decision, they shall take advice from the Monitoring 
Officer and/or the Head of Finance as to whether the decision they want to 
make would be contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly 
in accordance with the budget.  If the advice of either of those Officers is 
that the decision would not be in line with the existing budget and/or policy 
framework, the decision must be referred by that body or person to the 
Council for decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in which 
case the provisions in Rule C4 (urgent decisions outside the budget and 
policy framework) shall apply. 

 
4. URGENT DECISIONS OUTSIDE THE BUDGET OR POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 

a) The Cabinet, committees of the Cabinet, individual Members of the Cabinet 
and any Officers, or joint arrangements discharging executive functions may 
take a decision which is contrary to the Council’s policy framework or 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget approved by full 
Council if the decision is a matter of urgency.  However, the decision may 
only be taken: 
 
i) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the  Council; and 
ii) if the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel agrees 

that the decision is a matter of urgency. 
 

The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of Council 
and the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel’s consent to 
the decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be notified on the 
record of the decision.  In the absence of the Chairman of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel the consent of the Mayor, and in the absence 
of both, Deputy Mayor will be sufficient. 

 
b) Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next 

available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why 
the decision was treated as matter of urgency. 

240



Appendix H  Part 3 B 

Note 1: Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017, Schedule 1A para 5(2) 

 
5. VIREMENT 
 

a) The provisions for virement are set out in Rules F1.10 – F1.19 of the Finance 
Rules. The rules are applied to virement between budgets and the levels 
delegated to officers are: 

 

 Directors can vire up to £25,000 in respect of budgets under their 
control without the consent of the Head of Finance 

 The Head of Finance, in consultation (via email if appropriate) with the 
Corporate Leadership Team can vire from £25,000 up to £100,000 
 without consent of Cabinet 

 Cabinet can vire from £100,001 up to £500,000 without the  consent of 
the Council. 

 
b) In each case the level of each virement is as specified in the Finance Rules. 

In addition virements from or to any one budget, shall not exceed the limit 
given out in the Finance Rules in any one financial year so that, for example, 
for any one budget head the totality of virements is capped at £500,000.   

 
6. IN-YEAR CHANGES TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
 The responsibility for agreeing the budget and policy framework lies with the 

Council, and decisions by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, an individual 
Member of the Cabinet or Officers or joint arrangements discharging executive 
functions must be in line with it.  No changes to any policy and strategy which 
make up the policy framework may be made by those bodies or individuals except 
those changes: 

 
a) which will result in the closure or discontinuance of a service or part of 

service to meet a budgetary constraint; 
 
b) necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial  direction or 

government guidance; 
 
c) in relation to the policy framework in respect of a policy which would 

normally be agreed annually by the Council following consultation but where 
the existing policy document is silent on the matter under consideration. 

 
7. CALL-IN OF DECISIONS OUTSIDE THE BUDGET OR POLICY 

FRAMEWORK 
 

a) Where at least (i) three members of the Council [one of whom must be a 
Member of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel] or (ii) any five 
members of the Council, are of the opinion that an executive decision is, or, 
if made, would be contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget, then they shall receiveseek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or Head of Finance as appropriate 
at the Panel meeting to consider the call-in . 

 

241



Appendix H  Part 3 B 

Note 1: Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017, Schedule 1A para 5(2) 

 b) In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet, the 
Monitoring Officer’s report and/or Head of Finance’s report shall be to the 
Cabinet with a copy to every Member of the Council.  Regardless of whether 
the decision is delegated or not, the Cabinet must meet to decide what 
action to take in respect of the Monitoring Officer’s report and to prepare a 
report to: 

 
 i) Council in the event that the Monitoring Officer or the Head of Finance 

conclude that the decision was a departure;  and; 
 ii) to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel if the Monitoring 

 Officer or the Head of Finance conclude that the decision  was not a 
departure. 

 
c) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet 

implemented, and the advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Head of 
Finance is that the decision is or would be contrary to the policy framework 
or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel may refer the matter to Council.  In such 
cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the decision or its 
implementation until the Council has met and considered the matter.  The 
Council shall meet consider the item at the next scheduled ordinary full 
Council or an extraordinary full Council meeting within 28 days if 
appropriate.within 10 working days of the request by the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel.  At the meeting it will receive a report of the decision or 
proposals and the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or the Head of 
Finance. The Council may either: 

 
i) endorse a decision or proposal of the executive decision taker as 

falling within the existing budget and policy framework.  In  this case 
no further action is required, save that the decision of the Council be 
minuted and circulated to all Councillors in the normal way; or 

 
ii) amend the Council’s financial regulations or policy concerned to 

encompass the decision or proposal of the body or  individual 
responsible for that executive function and agree to the decision with 
immediate effect.  In this case, no further action is required save that 
the decision of the Council be  minuted and circulated to all 
Councillors in the normal way, or 

 
iii) Where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to 

the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with 
the budget and does not amend the existing  framework to 
accommodate it, require the Cabinet to reconsider the matter in 
accordance with the advice of either the Monitoring Officer/Head of 
Finance. 

 
d) Exceptions to this procedure:- 
 
  In order to ensure that call-in is not abused, nor causes unreasonable delay, 

certain limitations are to be placed on its use.  These are: 

242



Appendix H  Part 3 B 

Note 1: Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017, Schedule 1A para 5(2) 

 
i) that the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel may only call-in two 

decisions per Cabinet meeting; and 
 

ii) any call-in can be invoked in respect to a decision only once. 
 

 
 

243



Appendix I  Part 2  

B.  Responsibility for Council Functions 

TABLE 1:  Responsibility for Local Choice  
These are functions which may be (but need not be) the responsibility of an 
authority's Executive (i.e. the Cabinet) identified in Schedule 2 to The Local 
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, as 
amended. 

These functions are sometimes called “Local Choice Functions” because the 
Council can decide whether the Cabinet should or should not be the decision 
making body.  The Council has allocated these functions as follows: 

 

Functions from Schedules 2 Reg 3(1) Decision making body 

1. Any function under a Local Act not 
specified in Table 2 

Cabinet 

2. The determining of an appeal against 
any decision made by or on behalf of 
the authority. (This excludes matters 
where statutory arrangements exist) 

Council function delegated to the 
Appeals Panel and 
Employment Appeals  Sub 
Committee 

3.  The making of arrangements for 
appeals against exclusion of pupils 
from maintained schools  

Council function delegated to relevant 
Director 

4. The making of arrangements for 
admission appeals by pupils and 
Governing Bodies 

Council function delegated to relevant 
Director 

5. Questions on police matters and 
appointments to the Police Authority 

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

6. Any function relating to contaminated 
land  

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

7. Any function relating to the control of       
pollution or the management of air 
quality 

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

8. Any function relating to the abatement 
of statutory nuisances 

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

9. Any function relating to noise 
nuisances  

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

10. Powers of inspection to detect 
statutory nuisances  

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

244



Appendix I  Part 2  

Functions from Schedules 2 Reg 3(1) Decision making body 

11. Investigation of complaints of statutory 
nuisances 

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

12. Power to obtain information about       
interests in land under the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 (sec.330) 

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director  

13. Power to obtain information about        
persons with interests in land under 
Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

14. Highways agreements Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

15. Appointments to external bodies and 
the revocation of such appointments. 

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

16. The making of agreements with other 
local authorities for the placing of staff 
at the disposal of those authorities 

Cabinet function delegated to relevant 
Director 

17. Functions under ss. 106, 110, 111 
and 113 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007  

Council function delegated to relevant 
Director 

 

245



Appendix I  Part 2  

TABLE 2:  Responsibility for Council Functions 
 

These are functions which must not be the responsibility of an authority’s 
Cabinet from Schedule 1 to The Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, as amended. 

The full Council can discharge these functions itself or may delegate one or 
more functions to a committee or sub-committee of councillors, an officer of 
the Council or another authority.  The full Council may always exercise 
powers it has delegated to the other bodies or persons set out above.  It may 
also discharge its functions jointly with one or more other Councils. 

Delegations to Officers are listed in the Articles, under the Scheme of 
Delegation to Officers under Part 5 and the terms of reference to committees 
contained in Part 6. 

Function Decision making body 

Functions relating to town and 
country planning and development 
control as listed in Section A. of 
Schedule 1 to the Regulations and as 
may be amended by law from time to 
time. 

The Borough-wide Development 
Management Panel will consider 
applications for Major Development in 
accordance with the panel’s terms of 
reference in Part 6 

 

The Council has also established two 
Area Development Management 
Panels – Maidenhead Development 
Management Panel and Windsor 
Development Management Panel to 
consider other planning applications 
and matters as set out in the terms of 
reference in Part 6.  

The panels have made delegations to 
Officers, which are included within its 
terms of reference and the scheme of 
delegation. 

 

Functions relating to licensing and 
registration as listed in Section B. of 
Schedule 1 to the Regulations and as 
may be amended by law from time to 
time 

The Council has delegated powers to 
the Licensing Panel.  The Panel has 
made delegations to officers, which 
are included within their terms of 
reference and the scheme of 
delegation. 

NB: (1) Powers in relation to 
common land, town or 
village greens identified in 
Paragraphs 37 and 38 of 

246



Appendix I  Part 2  

Section B are delegated to 
the Rights of Way & 
Highways Licensing 
Panel. 

 (2) Those powers concerning 
highways listed in 
Paragraphs 47 to 53 
inclusive of Section B are 
delegated to the relevant 
Director. 

Functions relating to Health and 
Safety at work as listed in Section C 
of Schedule 1 to the Regulations and 
as may be amended by law from time 
to time 

Council. 

 

Functions relating to elections as 
listed in Section D of Schedule 1 to 
the Regulations and as may be 
amended by law from time to time 

Council. 

In addition there are delegations to 
Officers within this Constitution and 
the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 

Functions relating to name and status 
of areas or individuals as listed in 
Section E of Schedule 1 to the 
Regulations and as may be amended 
by law from time to time 

Council 

Functions relating to making, 
amending, revoking or re-enacting 
byelaws as listed in Section F of 
Schedule 1 to the Regulations. 

Council 

 

Functions relating to promoting or 
opposing local or personal Bills as 
listed in Section G of Schedule 1 to 
the Regulations 

Council 

Functions relating to local 
government pensions as listed in 
Section H of Schedule 1 to the 
Regulations 

The Council has delegated all 
functions relating to the Local 
Government Pensions under 
Regulations made under sections 7, 
12 or 24 of the Superannuation Act 
1972, except where these functions 
may not lawfully be delegated to an 
officer or are reserved to the Full 
Council or a Committee of the Council 
under legislation or under any 
Scheme or policy made by the 

247



Appendix I  Part 2  

Council. 

The Council has delegated these 
functions to the Employment and 
Member Standards Panel. 

Miscellaneous functions as listed in 
Section I of Schedule 1 to the 
Regulations and as may be amended 
by law from time to time 

Council. 

NB: (1) The Council has delegated 
powers in relation to 
highways and rights of way 
listed in Paragraphs 1, 2, 4 
to 7, 9 to 11, 13, 20, 23, 30 
to 32  inclusive to the 
Rights of Way & Highway 
Licensing Panel. 

 (2) The Council has delegated 
to the Employment and 
Member 
StandardsAppointment 
Committee Panel its 
powers to appoint certain 
staff.  There are also 
delegations to Officers in 
respect of staff. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

248



Appendix I  Part 2  

C1 ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 
 
C1.1 Timing and business 
 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the 
annual meeting will take place within 21 days of the retirement of 
the outgoing Councillors.  In any other year, the annual meeting 
will take place in May.   
 
The annual meeting will: 
 
a) elect a person to preside if the Mayor or Deputy Mayor is 

not present. 
b) elect the Mayor of Council 
c) elect the Deputy Mayor of Council 
d) elect the Leader on nomination of the Group or groups 

forming the administration of the Council 
e) appoint the Overview and Scrutiny Panels and such other 

Committees, Forums and Panels as the Council 
considers appropriate to deal with matters which are 
neither reserved to the Council nor are executive 
functions. The Council shall appoint the Chairman and 
Vice Chairman to each body appointed under this rule 
with the exception of the Appeals Panel, which shall elect 
a Chairman from the Panel Membership at the start of 
each Panel Meeting for the duration of that meeting, and 
the Overview and Scrutiny Panels, which shall elect a 
Chairman and Vice Chairman from its membership. The 
Council shall approve the establishment, terms of 
reference, membership and operation of any Committee, 
Forum or Panel, working party or similar body.  The life of 
such Panel etc. will be clearly prescribed and can only be 
extended by resolution of the Council. 

f) if required, agree the scheme of delegation or such part 
of it as the Constitution determines it is for the Council to 
agree. 

g) consider any business set out in the notice convening the 
meeting. 

 
C1.2 Selection of Councillors on Committees, Forums, Panels 

and Outside Bodies 
 
  At the annual meeting, the Council meeting will: 
 
  i) decide which Committees, Forums and Panels to 

establish for the municipal year. 
  ii) decide the size and terms of reference for those 

Committees, Forums and Panels. 
  iii) decide the allocation of seats and substitutes, if any, to 

political groups in accordance with the political balance. 

249



Appendix I  Part 2  

  iv) appoint those Committees, Forums and Panels and 
outside bodies except where appointment to those bodies 
has been delegated by the Council or is exercisable only 
by the Cabinet. 

 
  Appointments to the Berkshire Fire Rescue Authority are subject 

to the rules of political balance where the Council appoints 3 or 
more members to the fire authority1. 

 
 
C2 ORDINARY MEETINGS 
 
C2.1 Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance 

with a programme decided by the Council.  Ordinary meetings 
will: 

 
 i) elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor 

are not present; 
 ii) receive apologies for absence; 
 iii) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
 iv) receive any declarations of interest from Members; 
 v) receive any announcements from the Mayor; 
 vi) receive questions from, and provide answers to, the 

public under C9; in relation to matters which, in the 
opinion of the person presiding at the meeting, are 
relevant to the business of the meeting; 

 vii) receive petitions pursuant to the Petitions Procedure; 
 viii) deal with any business from the last Council meeting; 
 ix) receive reports from the Cabinet and the Council’s 

Committees, Forums and Panels and receive questions 
and answers on any of those reports; 

 x) receive reports about and receive questions and answers 
on the business of joint arrangements and external 
organisations, if any; 

 xi) receive questions from Members under C11; 
 xii) consider Motions from Members under C12; 
 xiii) receive any confidential reports from the Cabinet and the 

Council's Committees, Forums and Panels and receive 
questions and answers on any of these reports; 

 xiv) consider any other business specified in the summons to 
the meeting including consideration of proposals from the 
Cabinet in relation to the Council’s budget and policy 
framework and reports of any of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panels for debate; 

 xv) receive reports from officers of the Council.  
 
C2.2 Varying the order of business under C2.1. 

                                                 
1 Section 15, s21(1)(f) and Schedule 1 part 1(c) of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 

   

250



Appendix I  Part 2  

 
 Business falling under items C2.1 i) - v) inclusive shall not be 

displaced but, subject to that provision, the order of business 
under C2.1 may be varied by a resolution passed on a Motion 
(which need not be in writing) moved and seconded in 
accordance with these rules, such a Motion shall be moved, 
seconded and put to the vote without discussion, other than an 
explanation for the proposed variation to the order of business 
set out in C2.1.  A Motion carried under this Rule shall override 
any other Rule or provision in relation to the order of business. 

 
C3 EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS 
 
C3.1 Calling extraordinary meetings 
 
  Those listed below may request the Head of Governance to call 

Council meetings in addition to ordinary meetings: 
 
  i) The Council by resolution. 
  ii) The Mayor. 
  iii) The Monitoring Officer. 
  iv) Any 5 Members of the Council if they have signed a 

requisition presented to the Mayor and he/she has 
refused to call a meeting, or has failed to call a meeting to 
be convened within 21 days, within 7 days of the 
presentation of the requisition (maximum of 28 days 
between request and date of the meeting). 

  v) The Mayor, at the request of the Leader and Cabinet. 
  vi) An Overview and Scrutiny Panel in accordance with terms 

of Part 4). 
 
C3.2  Business 
 
  Where the extraordinary meeting has been called by Members 

of the Council the only business to be transacted at the Meeting 
shall be the business specified in the Notice of Meeting as 
specified in the Members requisition submitted to the Mayor 
under 3.1 (iv) above and such business as the Mayor in his/her 
discretion shall allow. 

 
C3.3  Additional Items 
 
  No additional items may be added to the Agenda for extra-

ordinary meetings after the Notice of Meeting has been issued 
 
C4 APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS OF PANELS 
 
C4.1 Allocation 
 

251



Appendix I  Part 2  

 For Committees, Forums and Panels the Council on allocating 
seats shall also permit Substitute Members to attend such 
meetings on the same political balance as applied to the 
Substantive Members on the relevant Committee, Forum or 
Panel. 

  
 A Substitute Member will be able to act as a Substitute for one 

meeting only, the Substantive Member will automatically replace 
the Substitute at the next Panel, Forum or Committee meeting, 
unless the Substitute is re-appointed in accordance with C4.4. 

 
C4.2 Numbers 
 
 For each Committee, Forum or Panel, the Council will appoint up 

to the total entitlement to seats for each political group in such 
proportions as that group holds substantive seats on the 
Council. 

 
C4.3 Powers and duties 
 
 Substitute Members will have all the powers and duties of any 

ordinary Member of the Committee, Forum and Panel but will not 
be able to exercise any special powers or duties exercisable by 
the person they are substituting. 

 
C4.4 Substitution 
 
 Substitute Members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 
 
 i) To take the place of the ordinary Member for whom they 

are designated substitute for their meeting; 
 ii) Where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole 

of the meeting; if the ordinary Member arrives after the 
meeting has started, the substitute member shall 
continue and the ordinary Member shall be present as a 
non-member of that body. 

 iii) After notifying the Head of Governanceclerk to the 
meeting by 12.00 noon on the day of the meeting of the 
intended substitutionthat a substitute is required; to 
enable Democratic Services to contact potential 
substitutes in advance of the meeting.. If notified after 12 
noon on the day of the meeting, the responsibility to 
identify a substitute falls to the relevant Group. The 
notification of the named substitute must be provided to 
the clerk ideally before the meeting begins; at minimum 
under the item ‘Apologies for Absence’ at the start of the 
meeting. 

 
C5 TIME AND PLACE OF MEETINGS 
 

  

252



Appendix I  Part 2  

 The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Head 
of Governance and notified in the Notice of Meeting. 

 
C6 NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS 
 
C6.1 The Head of Governance will give notice to the public of the time 

and place of any meetings in accordance with the Access to 
Information Rules.  At least five clear working days before a 
meeting, the Head of Governance will send a Notice of Meeting 
including a summons signed by him or her by post to every 
Member of the Council or leave it at their usual place of 
residence or send it by e-mail. The Notice of Meeting will give 
the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the 
business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by such 
reports as are available. 

 
C6.2 Where, by reason of special circumstances, the Mayor is of the 

opinion that an item should be considered at a meeting as a 
matter of urgency, the requirement to give five clear days shall 
not apply and any Motion relating to such an item will be treated 
as a Motion without Notice under C13(s).  

 
 
C7 CHAIRMAN OF MEETING 
 
C7.1 The Mayor or any person presiding at the meeting may exercise 

any power or duty of the Chairman.  Where these rules apply to 
Committee, Forum and Panel meetings, references to the Mayor 
or Chairman also include the Chairman of Committees, Forums 
and Panels. 

 
C7.2 The Mayor or any person presiding as Chairman over a meeting 

shall conduct and make decisions in relation to the business of 
the meeting always in an objective, non-political and reasonable 
manner with the intention of achieving the efficient and orderly 
conduct of the meeting, facilitating full and effective debate and 
decision-making by the Council with the overriding aim of 
promoting confidence in the Council by the public.   

 
C7.3 The Mayor may consult any officer present with the aim of 

compliance with Rule C7.2 and the Members in attendance shall 
not speak during such consultation. The Mayor or any person 
presiding as Chairman shall (subject to Rule C27) have the final 
decision on any rule or procedure in this Part including 
compliance with Rule C7.2.  

 
C8 QUORUM 
 
 The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole 

number of Members appointed to the relevant body unless 

253



Appendix I  Part 2  

otherwise specified in that body's Terms of Reference. During 
any meeting if the Mayor or Chairman counts the number of 
Members present and declares there is not a quorum present, 
then the meeting will adjourn immediately.  Remaining business 
will be considered at time and date fixed by the Mayor or 
Chairman.  If he/she does not fix a date, the remaining business 
will be considered at the next ordinary meeting. 

 
C9 QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC  
 
C9.1 General 
 
 Members of the public may ask questions of  
 

i. the Leader; or 

ii. a Cabinet Lead Member; 

 
 at ordinary meetings of the Council for which the Council will set 

aside a period of 230 minutes, which may be extended at the 
discretion of the Mayor in exceptional circumstances. Public 
questions at the meeting at which the council budget is 
considered must relate directly to the budget proposals. Public 
questions are permitted to Extraordinary meetings of the Council 
where such a question is directly related to an item on the 
Agenda.  

 
C9.2 Answering Questions 
 
 Although the public may only direct questions to those Members 

in C9.1, the Member specified in C9.1 may request that another 
more appropriate Member of the Council answer the question, 
whether in whole or part, but only where the other Member has 
agreed and has communicated their agreement prior to the 
Meeting and the substitute Member can provide a more 
substantive reply to the question (for example, if the Member 
has a greater understanding of a ward issue or if it falls within 
the portfolio of the substitute Member). 

 
 Members with specific responsibilities cannot pass the question 

if it falls within their responsibility.    
 
C9.3 Order of questions 
 
 Questions will be asked in the order that notice of them was 

received, except that the Mayor may group together similar 
questions or decide that questions should be asked in a 
particular order. 

 
C9.4 Notice of questions 

254



Appendix I  Part 2  

 
 A question may only be asked if notice has been given by 

delivering it in writing or by email to the Head of Governance no 
later than midday, 7 clear working days before the day of the 
meeting.  Each question must give the name and address of the 
questioner and must name the Member of the Council specified 
in C9.1 to whom it is to be put. The Mayor may, in his discretion, 
allow a question to be asked when the period of notice required 
has not been given, if he considers the matter to be urgent and 
that the Member receiving the question has agreed to answer 
the question.  

 
 If a question cannot be answered at the Meeting, then the 

questioner shall be offered the opportunity to raise the question 
in the next ordinary meeting of the Council or a written response 
provided. Any written response will be published by the Council 
as soon as provided. 

 
 The deadline for submission of questions for Extraordinary 

Meetings shall be decided by the Mayor. 
 
C9.5 Number of questions 
 
 At any one meeting no person may submit more than two 

questions. 
 
C9.6 Scope of questions 
 

 The Head of Governance may reject a question if it: 
 

 Is not about a matter for which the Council has a 
responsibility or which affects the Borough. 

 Is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

 Relates to a planning or planning enforcement matter or 
licensing application before it has been determined by a 
planning or licensing panel or by officers under delegated 
powers or by the court if subject to criminal or civil 
litigation..any existing or proposed application, permission, 
licence, consent, benefit, grant or enforcement action. 

 Relates to an appeal or review procedure that has not yet 
been concluded. 

 Is substantially the same as a question which has been put 
at a meeting of the Council in the past six months; 

 Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

 No question shall be longer than 60 words. 

 The Head of Governance may, after consultation with the 
questioner and with the questioner’s consent, amend the 
wording of the question for the purpose of clarification. 

 
C9.7 Record of questions 

255



Appendix I  Part 2  

 
The Head of Governance will maintain a register of all questions, 
which will be open to public inspection. Following the deadline 
for receipt of questions, Aa copy of the question will be sent 
immediately to the Member to whom it is to be put.  Rejected 
questions will include reasons for rejection. Copies of all 
questions will be circulated to all Members and will be made 
available to the public attending the meeting. 

C9.8  Asking the question at the meeting 

  The Mayor will invite the questioner to put the question to the 
Member named in the notice. If a questioner who has submitted 
a written question is unable to be present, they may ask the 
Mayor to put the question on their behalf. The Mayor may ask 
the question on the questioner’s behalf, indicate that a written 
reply will be given or decide, in the absence of the questioner, 
that the question will not be dealt with.  Both the question and 
any supplementary question shall be put and answered without 
discussion  

C9.9 Supplementary question 

 A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one 
supplementary question without notice to the Member who has 
replied to his or her original question. 

  The supplementary question must arise directly out of the reply 
provided and shall not have the effect of introducing any new 
subject matter. The questioner shall be allowed up to 1 minute to 
put the supplementary question. The Mayor may reject a 
supplementary question on any of the grounds in Rule 9.6 
above. 

C9.10 Response 

  The Member who provides the response will do so in writing. 
The written response will be published as a supplement to the 
agenda by 5pm one working day before the meeting. The only 
exception to this process would be if an urgent question was 
accepted under C9.4 above and the timescales did not allow for 
a written response to be provided one working day in advance of 
the meeting.  may answer by: 

 a)  a direct oral answer; 

 b)  where the desired information is in a publication of the 
Council or other published work, a reference to that publication; 

256



Appendix I  Part 2  

 c)  where the reply cannot conveniently or accurately be 
given orally or the question requires further information, then a 
written answer will be sent to the questioner  

 All supplementary questions will be responded to verbally at the 
meeting. A Member verbally responding to a supplementary 
question shall be allowed up to 5 minutes to reply to the 
question and up to 2 minutes to reply to a supplementary 
questiondo so.  

C9.11 Written Answers 

 Any question which cannot be dealt with during the public 
question time, either because of a lack of time or because of the 
non-attendance of the questioner or the Member to whom it was 
to be put, will be dealt with by a written answer. 

C9.12 Reference of question to Cabinet, Committee, Forum or 
Panel 

 No discussion will take place on any question, but any Member 
may move that a matter raised by a question be referred to 
Cabinet or the appropriate Committee, Forum or Panel.  Once 
seconded, such a Motion will be voted on without discussion. 

C10     PETITIONS 

C10.1 Petitions will be received and considered by the Council in 
accordance with the Petitions Procedure in Part 7G.  

C10.2  Any petition that contains at least 1500 signatories or petitioners 
may be reported to and debated at a meeting of the Full Council 
if requested by the petitioner organiser unless restricted by the 
terms of the Petitions Procedure This is then considered by the 
Council to be a ‘Petition for Debate’. 

C10.3 Petitions for Debate will be reported to the next convenient 
meeting of Council. Petitions will not be considered at the 
Annual Meeting of Council or at Extraordinary Meetings of 
Council which are not convened to consider the subject matter of 
the petition, unless the Mayor agrees to do so. 

C10.4 Petitions which do not relate to an ordinary item of business will 
be considered before the normal business of the Meeting, and 
will be considered in the order in which they were received, 
unless the Mayor determines otherwise. A maximum of 30 
minutes will be allowed at each meeting for considering such 
petitions and any petitions not reached in the time allowed will 
be deferred until the next meeting. The maximum time of 30 
minutes can be overruled at the Mayor’s discretion. 

257



Appendix I  Part 2  

C10.5  The Mayor or Chairman of the meeting may invite a relevant 
officer to set out the background to the issue before inviting the 
petition organiser to address him/her for up to 5 minutes. The 
Mayor will then invite any relevant Ward Councillors present to 
address him/her on the matter for up to 5 minutes. The 
Chairman will then open the matter for debate among Members 
of the Council.  

C10.6 Within 5 working days of the consideration of the petition by the 
Council, the Petitions Officer will notify the petition organiser of 
the decision.   

C11 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 

C11.1.1 On reports of Cabinet, Committees, Forums or Panels 

 A Member of the Council may ask: 

i. the Leader; or 

ii. a Cabinet Lead Member; 

 any question, without written or other notice, upon an item 
contained in a report of Council, Cabinet or a Committee, Forum 
or Panel, when that item is being received or is under 
consideration by Council at an ordinary Meeting. 

C11.1.2 A Member may nominate another relevant Member of the 
Council to answer the question whether in whole or part but only 
where: 

 (i) the other Member has agreed and has communicated their 
agreement prior to the Meeting and;  

 (ii) the substitute Member can provide a more substantive reply 
to the question (for example, if the Member has a greater 
understanding of a ward issue or if it falls within the portfolio of 
the substitute Member); and 

 (iii) the Member asking the question has agreed prior to the 
meeting that the substitute may provide the reply. 

 
 Members with specific responsibilities cannot pass the question 

if it falls within their responsibility.    
 
C11.2.1  Questions on notice at Council 

Subject to Rule C11.4, a Member of the Council may ask a 
written question on any matter in relation to which the Council 
has powers or which affects the Borough, to:- 

i. the Leader; or 

ii. a Cabinet Lead Member;  

 

258



Appendix I  Part 2  

at ordinary meetings of the Council, other than the meeting at 
which the budget is considered, for which the Council will set 
aside a period of 30 minutes, which may be extended at the 
discretion of the Mayor in exceptional circumstances.  

Member questions are permitted todirectly relating to the budget 
at the budget meeting, or asked at Extraordinary meetings of the 
Council where such a question is directly related to an item on 
the Agenda fall under C11 1.1 above and would therefore be 
dealt with during the item in question.. 

C11.2.2 A Member may nominate another relevant Member of the 
Council to answer the question whether in whole or part but only 
where: 

 (i) the other Member has agreed and has communicated their 
agreement prior to the meeting and;  

 (ii) the substitute member can provide a more substantive reply 
to the question (for example, if the Member has a greater 
understanding of a ward issue or if it falls within the portfolio of 
the substitute Member); and 

 (iii) the Member asking the question has agreed prior to the 
meeting that the substitute may provide the reply. 

 
 Members with specific responsibilities cannot pass the question 

if it falls within their responsibility 

C11.3 Questions on notice at Panels, Committees and Forums  

 Subject to Rule C11.4 any Member may ask the Chairman of a 
Committee, Forum or Panel a question on any matter which falls 
within the terms of reference of that Committee, Forum or Panel. 

C11.4 Notice of questions 

C11.4.1 A Member may only ask a question under Rule C11.2 or C11.3 if 
either: 

  a) they have given at least 7 clear working days’ notice in 
writing of the question to the Head of Governance;  or 

  b) the question relates to urgent matters and is raised by the 
Leader, Opposition Leader or Deputy Leaders and they 
have the consent of the Member to whom the question is to 
be put. The content of the question shall be given to the 
Head of Governance by 10.00 hours on the day of the 
meeting; 

C11.4.2 No Member (other than the Leader, Opposition Leader or 
Deputy Leaders under C11.4.1(b) above) shall submit more than 

259



Appendix I  Part 2  

2 questions under Rule C11.2 or C11.3 to a single Council or 
other meeting; 

C11.4.3 Every question shall be put and answered without discussion; 
if the Member is unable to attend the meeting to put the 
question, the Member can nominate another Member to ask the 
question on his/her behalf or give notice to the Head of 
Governance to hold the question over to the next meeting. 

C11.4.4 Each question must not exceed 60 words and where such a 
question exceeds the limit or the question is not clear, the Head 
of Governance may with the consent of the Member who 
submitted the question, amend the wording for clarification or to 
bring it within the 60 word limit. 

C11.5 The Head of Governance may reject a question if it: 
 

 Is not about a matter for which the Council has a 
responsibility or which affects the Borough. 

 Is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

 Relates to a planning or planning enforcement matter or 
licensing application before it has been determined by a 
planning or licensing panel or by officers under delegated 
powers or by the court if subject to criminal or civil litigation.. 

 Relates to an appeal or review procedure that has not yet 
been concludedany existing or proposed application, 
permission, licence, consent, benefit, grant or enforcement 
action. 

 Is substantially the same as a question which has been put 
at a meeting of the Council in the past six months; 

 Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

 No question shall be longer than 60 words. 
   

 The Head of Governance may, after consultation with the 
questioner and with the questioner’s consent, amend the 
wording of the question for the purpose of clarification. 

 
C11.6 Supplementary question 

 A Member who has put a question in person may also put one 
supplementary question without notice to the Member who has 
replied to his or her original question. 

  The supplementary question must arise directly out of the reply 
provided and shall not have the effect of introducing any new 
subject matter. The questioner shall be allowed up to 1 minute to 
put the supplementary question. The Mayor may reject a 
supplementary question on any of the grounds in Rule 11.5 
above. 

260



Appendix I  Part 2  

C11.7 Response 

 The Member who provides the response will do so in writing. 
The written response will be published as a supplement to the 
agenda by 5pm one working day before the meeting. The only 
exception to this process would be if an urgent question was 
accepted under C11.4.1b) above and the timescales did not 
allow for a written response to be provided one working day in 
advance of the meeting.   

 All supplementary questions will be responded to verbally at the 
meeting. A Member verbally responding to a supplementary 
question shall be allowed up to 2 minutes to do so.  

An answer may take the form of: 

 a) a direct oral answer lasting no longer than 2 minutes; 

 b)  where the desired information is in a publication of the 
Council or other published work, a reference to that 
publication;  

 c)  where the reply cannot conveniently or accurately be given 
orally or the question requires further information, then a 
written answer will be sent to the questioner 

 A Member responding to a question shall be allowed up to 2 
minutes to reply to the question and up to 2 minutes to reply to 
a supplementary question.  

C12 MOTIONS ON NOTICE 

C12.1 Notice 

 Except for Motions which can be moved without notice under 
Rule C13, written notice of every Motion, signed by the Member 
proposing it or sent by email by the Member proposing it must 
be delivered to the Head of Governance not later than 12 noon, 
7 clear working days immediately preceding the next ordinary 
Council Meeting. These will be dated, numbered in the order 
they are received and entered in a register open to public 
inspection. Member motions on notice will not be considered at 
the Annual meeting or the meeting at which the budget is 
considered. 

C12.2 Motion set out in agenda 

 Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the 
agenda in the order in which notice was received, unless the 
Member giving notice states, in writing, that they propose to 
move it at a later meeting or withdraw it. 

C12.3 Scope 

261



Appendix I  Part 2  

 Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a 
responsibility or which affect the Royal Borough and shall neither 
contain more than three related proposals nor be preceded by 
more than 60 words. No Motion shall be accepted or debated 
which, in the opinion of the Mayor:  

 is not about a matter for which the Council has a 
responsibility or which affects the Borough; 

 is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

 relates to a planning or planning enforcement matter or 
licensing application before it has been determined by a 
planning or licensing panel or by officers under delegated 
powers or by the court if subject to criminal or civil litigation.. 

 Relates to an appeal or review procedure that has not yet 
been concluded 

 to any existing or proposed application, permission, licence, 
consent, benefit, grant or enforcement action. 

 is substantially the same as a motion which has been put to 
any meeting of the Council in the past six months; 

 requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 
  

 The Head of Governance may with consent of the Member who 
has submitted a Notice of Motion, amend the wording of the 
Motion either for the purpose of clarification or to ensure that it is 
not offensive or frivolous. 

C12.4 Number of Motions 

 A Member of the Council shall have no more than one Notice of 
Motion for any single Council meeting. 

 A maximum period of 30 minutes will be allowed for each Motion 
to be moved, seconded and debated, including dealing with any 
amendments.  At the expiry of the 30-minute period debate will 
cease immediately, the mover of the Motion or amendment will 
have the right of reply before the Motion or amendment is put to 
the vote 

C12.5 Motions not Moved 

 If a Motion is not moved it shall, unless postponed by resolution 
of the Council, be treated as abandoned and shall not be moved 
without fresh notice. Any Member who has not submitted that 
Notice of Motion may in the event of the absence or inability of 
the Member who has submitted the Motion, move the Motion. 

C12.6 Motion of No Confidence 
 

Motions of no confidence in the Leader, a Cabinet Member or 
any Member holding a Special Responsibility must be signed by 

262



Appendix I  Part 2  

ten Members and must be delivered to the Head of Governance 
no later than 10.00am on the seventh working day before the 
meeting (excluding the day of the meeting). The wording of the 
Motion shall be “That this Council has no confidence in the 
Leader”  
 
No amendments will be allowed to the Motion at the meeting 
where the matter is discussed. 

 
Motions of no confidence can be accepted at any Council 
meeting, including Annual and Budget Council meetings. 

 
If following a Motion of no confidence the majority of Members of 
the Council vote to remove the Leader or any Member with a 
Special Responsibility (other than a Lead Cabinet Member), a 
Motion, under Rule 13(t), to nominate a new Leader or Member 
with a Special Responsibility may be moved without notice. If a 
Motion to nominate is not moved then the election of the Leader 
of Council or re-appointment to the role with the Special 
Responsibility will take place at the next Council meeting. 
 

C13 MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 

  The following Motions may be moved without notice: 

 a) to appoint a Chairman of the meeting at which the Motion 
is moved; 

 b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 

 c) to change the order of business in the agenda; 

 d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 

 e) to appoint a Committee, Panel or Member arising from an 
item on the Notice of the meeting; 

 f) to receive reports or adoption of recommendation of 
Cabinet, Committee, Forums, Panel or Officers and any 
resolutions following from them; 

 g) to withdraw a Motion; 

 h) to amend a Motion; 

 i) to proceed to the next business; 

 j) that the question be now put; 

 k) to adjourn a debate; 

 l) to adjourn a meeting; 

  

263



Appendix I  Part 2  

 m) to suspend a particular Council procedure rule; 

 n) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the 
Access to Information Rules; 

 o) to not hear further a Member named under Rule C21.5 or 
to exclude them from the meeting under Rule C21.6; 

 p) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is 
required by this Constitution; 

 q) to extend the time limit for speeches; 

 r) to vote on the Mayor's ruling under Rule C25. 

s) to consider an urgent item under Rule C6.2 

t) to appoint a new Leader or to a role with a Special 
Responsibility after a vote of no confidence has passed 
under Rule C12.6 

C14 RULES OF DEBATE 

C.14.1 No speeches until Motion seconded 

 No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a 
proposal and explained the purpose of it until the Motion has 
been seconded. 

C14.2 Right to require Motion in writing 

 Unless notice of the Motion has already been given, the Mayor 
may require it to be written down and handed to him/her before it 
is discussed. 

C14.3 Seconder’s speech 

 When seconding a Motion or amendment, a Member may 
reserve their speech until later in the debate. 

C14.4 Length and content of speeches 

C14.4.1 Other than debate for the annual budget in rule C14.4.3, a 
Member shall not speak for more than 5 minutes.  

C14.4.2 A member proposing and seconding a Motion or a 
recommendation of amendment to a Motion shall not speak for 
more than 5 minutes. 

C14.4.3 For the annual budget debate the Member proposing the 
adoption of the budget and the Opposition spokesman shall 
each be allowed to speak for 10 minutes to respectively 

264



Appendix I  Part 2  

propose the budget and respond to it. The Member proposing 
the budget may speak for a further five minutes when exercising 
a right of reply. 

C14.4.4  The content of speeches must be directed to the question or 
motion under discussion or to a personal explanation or point of 
order. 

C14.4.5 The content of speeches must be relevant to the issue in 
question and shall enable the Member to argue reason or 
persuade other Members of the strength or validity of their view 
or that their viewpoint is the correct decision.   

C14.4.6 Members shall stop speaking where in the opinion of the Mayor 
(in consultation with the Monitoring Officer) considers that the 
content of the speech does not have any relevancy to the matter 
of the debate or the content breaches the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

C14.4.7 Members shall avoid repetition of statements or views expressed 
previously in the debate. Members should treat other Members, 
officers and the public with respect and courtesy and avoid 
improper and/or offensive remarks.  The Mayor may require a 
Member making remarks the Mayor has judged offensive or 
improper to withdraw them. 

C14.5 When a Member may speak again 

 A Member who has spoken on a Motion may not speak again 
whilst it is the subject of debate, except: 

 a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another 
Member; 

 b) to move a further amendment if the Motion has been 
amended since he/she last spoke; 

 c) if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by 
another Member, to speak on the main issue (whether or 
not the amendment on which he/she spoke was carried); 

 d) In exercise of a right of reply; 

 e) On a point of order; and 

 f) By way of personal explanation. 

C14.6 Amendments to Motions 

 a) An amendment to a Motion must be relevant to the Motion 
and will either be: 

  i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual 
for reconsideration; 

265



Appendix I  Part 2  

  ii)   to leave words out; 

  iii) to leave out words and insert or add others; 

  iv) to insert or add words; 

  as long as the effect of ii) to iv) is not to negate the purpose 
of the Motion or to introduce a new proposal unrelated to 
the Motion. 

 b) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any 
one time.  No further amendment may be moved until the 
amendment under discussion has been disposed of, 
provided the Mayor may permit two or more amendments 
to be discussed (but not voted on) together if in his/her 
opinion this would facilitate the proper conduct of the 
Council’s business. 

 c) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the 
original Motion may be moved. 

 d) If an amendment is carried, the Motion as amended takes 
the place of the original Motion. This becomes the 
substantive Motion to which any further amendments are 
moved. 

 e) After an amendment has been carried, the Mayor will read 
out the amended Motion before accepting any further 
amendments, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 

 f)  Amendments to proposals contained within the annual 
budget report must follow a process to be set out in 
advance of the meeting by the Chief Finance Officer. This 
will include details of any proposed amendments being 
submitted in writing to the Finance team in advance of the 
meeting to ensure sufficient time to assess the financial 
consequences of any such proposals. 

C14.7 Alteration of Motion 

 a) A Member may alter a Motion of which he/she has given 
notice with the consent of the meeting. The meeting’s 
consent will be signified without discussion. 

 b) A Member may alter a Motion which he/she has moved 
without notice with the consent of both the meeting and the 
seconder.  The meeting’s consent will be signified without 
discussion. 

 c) Only alterations which could be an amendment may be 
made. 

266



Appendix I  Part 2  

C14.8 Withdrawal of Motion 

 A Member may withdraw a Motion which he/she has moved with 
the consent of the seconder and a resolution of the meeting. The 
meeting’s resolution will be voted on without discussion. No 
Member may speak on the Motion after the mover has asked 
permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused. 

C14.9 Right of reply 

 a) The mover of a Motion has a right to reply at the end of the 
debate on the Motion, immediately before it is put to the 
vote. 

 b) If an amendment is moved the mover of the original Motion 
has the right of reply at the close of the debate on the 
amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it. 

 c) The mover of the amendment has a right of reply to the 
debate on his or her amendment, immediately after b) 
above and immediately prior to the amendment being put 
to the vote. 

C14.10 Motions which may be moved during debate 

 When a Motion is under debate, no other Motion may be moved 
except the following procedural Motions: 

 a) to withdraw a Motion; 

 b) to amend a Motion; 

 c) to proceed to the next business; 

 d) that the question be now put to the vote; 

 e) to adjourn a debate; 

 f) to adjourn a meeting; 

 g) to extend the time limit for speeches; 

 h) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the 
Access to Information Rules; 

 i) to not hear further a Member named under Rule C21.5 or 
to exclude them from the meeting under Rule C21.6; 

 j) to vote on the Mayor's ruling under Rule C27. 

C14.11 Closure Motions 

 a) A Member who has not previously spoken in the debate 
may move, without comment, any of the following Motions 
at the end of a speech of another Member: 

  i)  to proceed to the next business; 

267



Appendix I  Part 2  

  ii) that the question be now put to the vote; 

  iii) to adjourn a debate; or 

  iv) to adjourn a meeting. 

 b) If a Motion to proceed to next business is seconded, the 
Mayor will give the mover of the original Motion a right of 
reply and then put the procedural Motion to the vote. 

 c) If a Motion that the question be now put to vote is 
seconded, the Mayor will put the procedural motion to the 
vote.  It if is passed he/she will give the mover of the 
original motion a right of reply before putting his/her motion 
to the vote. 

 d)  If a Motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting 
is seconded, the Mayor will put the procedural Motion to 
the vote without giving the mover of the original Motion the 
right of reply. 

C14.12 Point of order 

 A Member may raise a point of order at any time. The Mayor will 
hear them immediately. A point of order may only relate to an 
alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure or the law. 
The Member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which 
he/she considers it has been broken. The ruling of the Mayor on 
the matter will be final. 

C14.13 Personal explanation 

 A Member may make a personal explanation at any time with 
the permission of the Mayor. A personal explanation may only 
relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Member 
which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present 
debate. The ruling of the Mayor on the requirement of a personal 
explanation will be final. 

C15 Not used 

 

C16 PREVIOUS DECISIONS AND MOTIONS 

C16.1 Motion to rescind a previous decision 

 A Motion or amendment which has the effect or intention to 
rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past 
six months cannot be moved unless the notice of Motion is 
signed by at least fifteen Members.  (In applying this Rule C16.1 
and Rule C16.2 to Committees, Forums and Panels, the Motion 

268



Appendix I  Part 2  

must be signed by at least 1/3rd of the Members of the relevant 
Committee, Forum or Panel.) This rule does not prevent the 
relevant proper officer (or Monitoring Officer) from bringing a 
motion to the attention of the Council, Committee, Forum or 
Panel. 

C16.2 Motion similar to one previously rejected 

 A Motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been 
rejected at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be 
moved unless the notice of Motion or amendment is signed by at 
least twenty Members. Once the Motion or amendment is dealt 
with, no one can propose a similar Motion or amendment for six 
months. 

C16.3 Similar items on Council Agenda 

 Where two items being recommended or proposed as Motions 
appear on an agenda, or where two or more items appear to 
relate to the same issue, one of which would have the effect or 
intention of rescinding the other, the following procedure will be 
adopted:- 

 i) The Mayor will put to the vote, without debate, that the 
order of business should be varied under Rule C2.2 to 
allow the items to be debated together but voted upon 
separately, the order of matters debated and put to the 
vote will be determined by Council.  If the vote is carried, 
he/she will specify the order of speeches proposing, 
seconding and exercising the right of reply to be followed. 

 ii) If the vote is not carried, the items will be put to the Council 
strictly in accordance with C2.1. When a second or 
subsequent item is to be debated and it would have the 
effect or intention of rescinding a resolution passed earlier 
in the Meeting, it shall not be debated but shall be deemed 
to have been rejected and thereafter Rules C16.1 and 
C16.2 will apply. 

C17 VOTING 

C17.1 Majority 

 Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be 
decided by a simple majority of those Members voting and 
present in the room at the time the question was put.  The Mayor 
may, at any stage in the process, exercise his second or casting 
vote as set out in C17.2. 

C17.2 Mayor’s casting vote 

269



Appendix I  Part 2  

C17.2.1 If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Mayor 
will have a second or casting vote.  There shall be no restriction 
on how the Mayor chooses to exercise his second or casting 
vote. 

C17.2.2 Where the Mayor has voted on the proposition which is tied, he 
may exercise a second vote. 

C17.2.3 Where the Mayor has not voted on the proposition which is tied, 
he may exercise a casting vote. 

C17.2.4 If the Mayor declines to exercise a second or casting vote, the 
proposal the subject of the vote shall be rejected, subject to 
C17.1 above. 

C17.3 Recording of Votes 

C17.3.1 Immediately before a vote the Mayor shall ask the Members 
whether a named vote is required. 

C17.3.2 Unless a named vote is requested, the Mayor will take the vote 
by a show of hands or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of 
the meeting.  

C17.3.3 If requested by any 5 Members the mode of voting at meetings 
of the Council shall be via a named vote. The clerk will record 
the names and votes of those Members present and voting or 
abstaining and include them in the Minutes of the meeting. 

C17.3.4 Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is 
taken, their vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show 
whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained from 
voting. 

 
C17.3.5 The Mayor shall ascertain the numbers voting for or against any 

motion and his/her decision as to the result shall be conclusive. 

C17.3.6 The result of the vote will be announced to the meeting.  

C17.3.7 A named vote will always be required: 

i) on any business relating to approving the annual budget, 
budget amendments, setting the council tax or issuing 
precepts at Council meetings and; 

ii) For any decisions made at Development Management 
Panels 

C17.3.8 In relation to meeting of other Panels, Subcommittees or 
Forums, a named vote shall be called if requested by any 2 
voting Members. 

270



Appendix I  Part 2  

C17.4 Voting on appointments 

 If there are more than two people nominated for any position to 
be filled and there is not a majority of votes in favour of one 
person, then the name of the person with the least number of 
votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The process 
will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 

C18 MINUTES 

C18.1 Signing the minutes 

 The Mayor will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next 
suitable meeting. The Mayor will move that the minutes of the 
previous meeting be signed as a correct record. Only the 
accuracy of the minutes can be discussed. 

C18.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at an 
Extraordinary Meeting or at the Annual Meeting 

 Where an Extraordinary Meeting has been called under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 
or the Annual Meeting has been held, and either would be the 
next meeting for the purpose of A18.1, then the minutes will be 
considered at the next following meeting (after the Extraordinary 
Meeting or the Annual Meeting, as the case may be) and that 
meeting shall be treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes 
of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of Schedule 12 relating to signing of 
minutes. 

C18.3 Form of minute 

 Minutes will contain all Motions and amendments in the exact 
form and order the Mayor put them. 

C19 RECORD OF ATTENDANCE 

 All Members present during the whole or part of a meeting must 
sign their names on the attendance sheets before the conclusion 
of every meeting to assist with the record of attendance. 

 

 

C20 EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 

 Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in 
accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Part 8E of 
this Constitution or Rule C22 (Disturbance by Public). 

C21 MEMBERS’ CONDUCT 

271



Appendix I  Part 2  

C21.1 Member wishing to Speak 

 A Member wishing to speak shall indicate by raising his/her hand 
and shall speak when called upon to do so by the Mayor.  When 
called the Member shall stand when speaking and shall address 
The Mayor using the form ‘Mr Mayor’ or ‘Madam Mayor’ as 
appropriate.  The Members shall speak of each other and of 
Officers by their respective titles. 

C21.2 Standing to speak 

 When a Member speaks at full Council they must, unless the 
Mayor in his/her discretion provides otherwise, stand and 
address the meeting through the Mayor. If more than one 
Member stands, the Mayor will ask one to speak and the others 
must sit. Other Members must remain silent whilst a Member is 
speaking unless they wish to make a point of order or a point of 
personal explanation. 

C21.3 Conduct during Speeches 

 When a Member speaks then all other Members shall not speak 
and will remain silent unless requested to speak by the Mayor. 
Members should treat other Members with respect and courtesy 
and avoid improper and/or offensive remarks or actions.  The 
Mayor may require a Member making remarks or actions the 
Mayor has judged offensive or improper to withdraw them. 

C21.4 Mayor standing or using his gavel 

 When the Mayor stands during a debate or uses his/her gavel 
and invokes this Rule, any Member speaking at the time must 
stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent. 

C21.5 Member not to be heard further 

 If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the Mayor by 
behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs 
business, the Mayor may move that the Member be not heard 
further. If seconded, the Motion will be voted on without 
discussion. 

 

C21.6 Member to leave the meeting 

 If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a 
Motion is carried, the Mayor may move that either the Member 
leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a 
specified period. If seconded, the Motion will be voted on without 
discussion. 

272



Appendix I  Part 2  

C21.7 General disturbance 

 If there is a general disturbance making orderly business 
impossible, the Mayor may adjourn the meeting for as long as 
he/she thinks necessary. 

C22 DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC 

C22.1 Removal of Member of the public 

 If a Member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Mayor will 
warn the person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the 
Mayor will order their removal from the meeting room. 

C22.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 

 If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room 
open to the public, the Mayor may call for that part to be cleared. 

C23 FILMING, RECORDING AND PHOTOGRAPHY AT COUNCIL 
MEETINGS 

C23.1  The Council supports the principle of transparency and 
encourages the filming, recording and photographing of 
meetings open to the public. This will be permitted in accordance 
with the Filming and Recording Protocol in Part 7H. 

C24 SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL 
PROCEDURE RULES 

C24.1 Suspension 

 All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule C17.4 and 
C18.2 may be suspended by Motion on notice or without notice if 
at least one half of the whole number of Members of the Council 
are present. Suspension can only be for the duration of the 
meeting. 

C24.2 Amendment 

 Any Motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of 
Procedure will, when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned 
without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

C25 DURATION OF MEETINGS 

C25.1 Unless the majority of Members present vote for the meeting to 
continue, any meeting of the Council, its Committees, Forums, 
Panels and Sub-Committees, together with meetings of the 
Cabinet and its Sub-Committees, which commence at 7.30pm, 
and that has not concluded by 10.00pm will adjourn immediately 
at the conclusion of the agenda item then under discussion. 

273



Appendix I  Part 2  

Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed 
by the Chairman. If he/she does not fix a date, the remaining 
business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.      

C25.2 For all meetings of the Council, its Committees, Forums, Panels 
and Sub-Committees, together with meetings of the Cabinet and 
its Sub-Committees, that commence at 7.00pm or earlier, rule 
C25.1 above shall apply where the meeting has not concluded 
by 9.30pm.  

C26 APPLICATION TO COMMITTEES, FORUMS, PANELS AND 
SUB-COMMITTEES 

C26.1 All of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of the 
Council.  None of the rules apply to meetings of the Cabinet.  
Only Rules C4-8; C11 - 20 (but not Rule 14.4 and 14.5 (so far as 
they apply to length of speeches and speaking only once in the 
debate)); C21 - 28 (but not Rule C21.2 and C21.3) and C30 - 31 
apply to meetings of Committees, Forums and Panels.  (See 
Appendix to these Rules.) 

C26.2 Voting at Committee, Forum and Panel meetings shall be as set 
out in rule C17.3 of these procedure rules.   

C26.3 In the minutes of Panels, Forums and Committees it shall not be 
necessary for particulars of Motions and amendments preceding 
the resolution eventually carried to be recorded. 

C27 INTERPRETATION OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 

 The ruling of the Mayor, on the advice of the Head of 
Governance, as to the construction or application of any of the 
Council Procedure Rules or as to proceedings of the Council 
may only be challenged by a Motion under Rule C13) moved 
and seconded in accordance with these rules.  Such a Motion 
shall be moved, seconded and put to the vote without 
discussion, other than an explanation by the proposer for the 
Motion being proposed.   

C28 SEATING ARRANGEMENTS 

  The Head of Governance shall settle and publish seating plans 
for meetings of the Council. 

C29 MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES, FORUMS AND PANELS 

C29.1 The maximum number of Members to serve on the Cabinet is 
set out in Article 6 of the Constitution. Membership of other 
Panels, Forums and Committees is as set out in Parts 4 and 6 of 
the Constitution. Except where authorised by statute or set out 
elsewhere in the Constitution the quorum specified in C8 shall 
apply, being rounded up to the nearest whole number. 

274



Appendix I  Part 2  

C29.2 Subject to the Members’ Code of Conduct, any Member of the 
Council may attend any formal meeting of a Panel, Forum or 
Committee of which he/she is not a Member and, subject to prior 
approval of the Chairman, may speak but not vote at such 
meeting, providing this right may not be exercised: 

 i) When a Committee, Forum or Panel is sitting in a judicial 
or quasi-judicial role, e.g. as an Appeals Panel. 

ii) When a Committee, Forum or Panel is considering a 
confidential matter, i.e. press and public are excluded, the 
Member will be presumed to be able to make a real 
contribution to the decision-making.  

iii) When the Cabinet is not a public Cabinet meeting. 

 iv) When the meeting is a briefing meeting and at which no 
decision will be taken. 

 Cabinet Members may attend meetings of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panels but are only entitled to answer questions put to 
them by the Panel or to respond to call-in of a decision within 
their area of responsibility. 

C29.3 Any Member of the Council may attend public meetings (Part I 
meetings) of Cabinet. A Member may only attend private 
meetings (Part II meetings) of Cabinet when invited to do so by 
the Leader (or chairman of the meeting in question).  

C29.4 No Member may be permitted to serve as a member or a 
substitute member of any regulatory Panel/Sub-Committee 
without first having attended a training session, which must have 
been held since the Member was last elected.  For the purpose 
of this rule, regulatory panels/sub-committees are any 
Development Management Panel, Licensing Panel or Appeals 
Panel. 

C29.5 No Member of the Cabinet can be a Member of an Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel. 

C29.6 Any vacancy on a Forum, Panel or Committee caused as a 
result of the Member no longer being a Councillor or as a result 
of that Member notifying the Head of Governance in writing that 
they have resigned their Membership of that Forum, Panel or 
Committee shall be reported to the next meeting of the Council 
to enable the vacancy to be filled in accordance with political 
balance requirements as appropriate. 

C30 CHAIRMANSHIP 

C30.1 Whenever the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of a Forum, Panel or 
Committee shall cease to hold office, the vacancy so caused 

275



Appendix I  Part 2  

shall be filled at the next meeting of the Council with the 
exception of the individual Appeals Panels which will appoint a 
Chairman amongst themselves for each meeting and Overview 
and Scrutiny Panels, who will appoint a Chairman or Vice 
Chairman for the remainder of the municipal year at their next 
meeting, in accordance with C1.1 . 

C30.2  All other Forums, Panels and Committees which consist of 
Members of the Council and other persons shall have a Member 
of the Council as Chairman unless the Council shall agree 
otherwise. 

C30.4 In the event of the Chairman being absent on any occasion, the 
Vice-Chairman shall take the Chair.  In the event of both of them 
being absent, a Chairman for the time being may be appointed 
by the Members of that meeting. 

C31 MATTERS AFFECTING PERSONS EMPLOYED 

C31.1 No matter shall be raised at any meeting of the Council or at any 
meeting of any Committee, Forum or Panel, which is directed at 
the personal performance or conduct of an individual employee 
of the Council unless provided under the Terms of Reference for 
the Committee, Forum or Panel or where required by the Officer 
Employment Procedure (Part 8B). 

C31.2 If any matter arises at any meeting of the Council, Cabinet, 
Forum, Committee or Panel as to the appointment, promotion, 
dismissal, salary, superannuation or conditions of service or as 
to the performance or conduct of any person employed by the 
Council such matter shall not be the subject of any discussion 
until a motion under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to exclude the public has been put and carried.  

276



Appendix I  Part 2  

Appendix 

 
Rules which apply to Committees, Forums, Panels and Sub-Committees 
(Rule C26)  
 
C4 

C5 

C6 

C7 

C8 

C11 

C12 

C13 

Appointment of Substitute Members of Panels 

Time and place of meeting 

Notice of and summons to meetings 

Chairman of meeting 

Quorum 

Questions by Members 

Motions on notice 

Motions without notice 

C14 

C16 

C17 

C18 

C19 

C21 

Rules of debate but not Rules C14.4 and C14.5 

Previous decisions and motions 

Voting 

Minutes 

Exclusion of public 

Members' conduct but not Rule C21.2 and C21.3 

Disturbance by public 

Filming, recording and photography at Council Meetings 

Suspension of Rules 

Duration of Meetings 

Application 

Interpretation 

Membership of committees and panels 

Chairmanship 

Matters affecting persons employed 

 

C22 

C23 

C24 

C25 

C26 

C27 

C29 

C30 

C31 

 

277



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 1 
 

 

PART 8 – OTHER RULES OF 
PROCEDURE 

 

C – FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES 
 
 

278



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 2 
 

Contents 
Page 

 
Status of Finance Rules  ………………………… 8C -3 
 
FINANCE RULES  
  
A  Financial Management  ………………………… 8C -4 
Appendix A:  

Financial Management Standards …………………………  8C -6 
Managing Expenditure  …………………………  8C -7 
Accounting Policies  ………………………… 8C -10 
Accounting Records and Returns  ………………………… 8C -11 
The Annual Statement of Accounts ………………………… 8C -12 

 
B:  Financial Planning  8C -14 
Appendix B:  
 Performance Plans  ………………………… 8C -17 

Budgeting ………………………… 8C -18 
Maintenance of Reserves  ………………………… 8C -25 
Capital Programme                                  ………………………… 
Treasury Management ………………………… 

   
C:  Risk Management and Control of Resources  8C -26 
Appendix C:    

Risk Management ………………………… 8C -29 
Internal Controls ………………………… 8C -31 
Audit Requirements  ………………………… 8C -32 
Preventing Fraud and Corruption  ………………………… 8C -35 
Assets  ………………………… 8C -36 
Loans and Investments ………………………… 8C -40 

 Staffing ………………………… 8C -43 
 
D:  Systems and Procedures  8C -44 
Appendix D:  

General  ………………………… 8C -46 
Income and expenditure  ………………………… 8C -48 
Payments to Employees and Members ………………………… 8C -54 
Payments to Contractors and Consultants 
Taxation  ………………………… 8C -56 
Trading accounts and business units  ………………………… 8C -57 
 

E:  External Arrangements  8C -59 
Appendix E:  

Partnerships  ………………………… 8C -61 
External funding  ………………………… 8C -63 
Work for third parties ………………………… 8C -63 

Bibliography ………………………… 8C -65 
 
Internal Audit Charter ………………………… 8C -66 

279



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 3 
 

 
STATUS OF FINANCE RULES 

 
1.1 Finance Rules provide the framework for managing the authority’s financial affairs. 

They apply to every Member and officer of the authority and anyone acting on its 
behalf.  

 
1.2 The rules identify the financial responsibilities of the Council, Cabinet and other 

Members, the Managing Director (as Head of Paid Service), the Monitoring Officer, 
the Director of Resources (as s151 officer) and the Directors and staff.  

 
1.3 Cabinet Members and Directors should maintain a written record where decision 

making has been delegated to them or for Directors to members of their staff, 
including seconded staff. Where decisions have been delegated or devolved to 
other responsible officers, such as school governors, references to the Director in 

the rules should be read as referring to them.
1  

 
1.4 All Members and staff have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action to 

provide for the security of the assets under their control, and for ensuring that the 
use of these resources is legal, is properly authorised, provides value for money 
and achieves best value. 

 
1.5 The Director of Resources is the Council’s Statutory S151 officer with responsibility 

for the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs, under Section 151 of 
the Local Government Act 1972.  The Director of Resources works closely with the 
Monitoring Officer to enable them to fulfil this role. 

 
1.6 The Finance Rules play an important role in assisting the Director of Resources to 

fulfil these statutory responsibilities. The authority’s detailed financial procedures, 
setting out how the rules will be implemented, are contained in the appendices to 
the Finance Rules.   

 
1.7 The Director of Finance will keep these rules under review and advise the Council 

on any necessary changes to them. 
 
1.8 The Director of Resources is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to 

underpin the Finance Rules that Members, officers and others acting on behalf of 
the authority are required to follow. 

 
1.9 The Director of Resources is responsible for reporting, where appropriate, any 

breaches of the Finance rules to the Council or Cabinet. 
 
1.10 Directors are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their Directorates are aware 

of the existence and content of the authority’s Finance Rules and other internal 
regulatory documents and that they comply with them.  

 
1.11 Schools have a separate scheme of delegation in respect of financial matters, the 

Scheme of Financial Management of Schools.  
 
 

280



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 4 
 

 
 
FINANCE RULE A : FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
RULE IN SUMMARY 
 
Introduction 
 
A.1 Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running 

of the authority, including the policy framework and budget.  
 
The Council 
 
A.2 The Council is responsible for adopting the authority’s Constitution and Members’ 

Code of Conduct and for approving the policy framework and budget within which 
the Cabinet operates. It is also responsible for approving and monitoring 
compliance with the authority’s overall framework of accountability and control. The 
framework is set out in its Constitution. The Council is also responsible for 
monitoring compliance with the agreed policy and related Cabinet decisions.  

 
A.3 The Council is responsible for approving procedures for recording and reporting 

decisions taken. This includes those key decisions delegated, and decisions taken 
by the Council and its panels and committees. These delegations and details of who 
has responsibility for which decisions are set out in the Constitution.  

 
The Cabinet 
 
A.4 The Cabinet is responsible for reviewing and proposing the policy framework and 

budget to the Council, and for discharging Cabinet functions in accordance with the 
policy framework and budget.  

 
A.5 Cabinet decisions can be delegated to a committee of the Cabinet, an individual 

Cabinet Member, an officer or a joint committee.  
 
A.6 The Cabinet is responsible for establishing protocols to ensure that individual 

Cabinet Members consult with relevant officers before taking a decision within his 
or her delegated authority. In doing so, the individual Member must take account of 
legal and financial liabilities and risk management issues that may arise from the 
decision.  

 
Directors 
 
A.7 Directors are responsible for:  

• ensuring that Cabinet Members are advised of the financial implications of all 
proposals and that the financial implications have been agreed by the Director 
of Resources  

• signing contracts on behalf of the authority in accordance with the Contract 
Procedures Rules 8A 16.1  

 

281



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 5 
 

A.8 It is the responsibility of Directors to consult with the Director of Resources and seek 
approval on any matter liable to exceed their delegated authority to vire between 
budget heads or in any other way affect the authority’s finances materially, before 
any commitments are incurred.  

 
OTHER FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITIES  
 
Virement  
 
A.9 The Council is responsible for agreeing procedures for virement of expenditure 

between budget headings.  
 
A.10 Directors are responsible for agreeing in-year virements within delegated limits, in consultation with 
the Director of Resources where required. The Director's authority is limited to approving virements of no 
more that £25,000. All levels of virement below that of Cabinet to be done in consultation with the 
appropriate Lead Member.  

 
Treatment of year-end balances  
 
A.10 The Cabinet Council is responsible for agreeing procedures for carrying forward 

under- and overspendings on budget headings.  
 
Accounting policies  
 
A.11 The Director of Resources is responsible for setting accounting policies and 

ensuring that they are applied consistently.  
 
Accounting records and returns  
 
A.12 The Director of Resources is responsible for determining the accounting procedures 

and records for the authority.  
 
The annual statement of Accounts 
 
A.13 The Director of Resources is responsible for ensuring that the annual statement of 

accounts is prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice 
(CIPFA/LASAAC). The Council is responsible for approving the annual statement 
of accounts, including the Statement of Internal Control.  

 

282



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 6 
 

 APPENDIX A 
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
DETAILED RULES 
  
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STANDARDS 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F1.01 All staff and Members have a duty to abide by the highest standards of probity in 

dealing with financial issues. This is facilitated by ensuring everyone is clear about 
the standards to which they are working and the controls that are in place to ensure 
that these standards are met.  

 
Key controls  
 
F1.02 The key controls and control objectives for financial management standards are:  

(a) their promotion throughout the authority  
(b) a monitoring system to review compliance with financial standards, and regular 

comparisons of performance indicators and benchmark standards that are 
reported to the Cabinet and Council.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F1.03 To ensure the proper administration of the financial affairs of the authority.  
 
F1.04 To set the financial management standards and to monitor compliance with them.  
 
F1.05 To ensure proper professional practices are adhered to and to act as head of 

profession in relation to the standards, performance and development of finance 
staff throughout the authority.  

 
F1.06 To advise on the key strategic controls necessary to secure sound financial 

management.  
 
F1.07 To ensure that financial information is available to enable accurate and timely 

monitoring and reporting of comparisons of national and local financial performance 
indicators.  

 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F1.08 To promote the financial management standards set by the Director of Resources 

in their departments and to monitor adherence to the standards and practices, 
liaising as necessary with the Director of Resources. 

 
F1.09 To promote sound financial practices in relation to the standards, performance and 

development of staff in their Directorates. 
 
 
 

283



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 7 
 

MANAGING EXPENDITURE 
 
Scheme of Virement 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F1.10 The scheme of virement is intended to enable the Cabinet, Directors and their staff 

to manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall policy framework 
determined by the Council, and therefore to optimise the use of resources. 

 
Key controls 
 
F1.11 Key controls for the scheme of virement are:  

(a) it is administered by the Director of Resources within guidelines set by the 
Council. Any variation from this scheme requires the approval of the Council  

(b) the overall budget is agreed by the Cabinet and approved by by the Council. 
Directors and Heads of Service are therefore authorised to incur expenditure 
in accordance with the estimates that make up the budget. The rules below 
cover virement; that is, switching resources between approved estimates or 
heads of expenditure. For the purposes of this scheme, a budget head is 
considered to be a line in the approved budget report, or, as a minimum, at an 
equivalent level to the standard service subdivision as defined by CIPFA’s 
Service Expenditure Analysis.  

(c) virement does not create additional overall budget liability. Directors are 
expected to exercise their discretion in managing their budgets responsibly 
and prudently. For example, they should not aim to avoid supporting recurring 
expenditure from one-off sources of savings or additional income, or creating 
future commitments, including full-year effects of decisions made part way 
through a year, for which they have not identified future resources. Directors 
must plan to fund such commitments from within their own budgets.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources 
 
F1.12 To prepare jointly with the relevant Director a report to the Cabinet where virements 

in excess of £100,0001 are proposed up to a limit of £500,000 
 
F1.13 To consult with the Managing Director Corporate Leadership Team where 

virements in excess of £25,000 are proposed up to a limit of £100,000 as detailed 
in Part 3A section 5a. 

 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 
F1.14 A Director may exercise virement on budgets under his or her control for amounts 

up to £25,000 on any one budget head during the year, following notification to the 
Director of Resources under arrangements agreed by the Council and subject to 
the conditions in paragraphs 1.15 to 1.20 below. (This measure includes the transfer 
of budget from income targets to fund additional expenditure). All levels of virement 
below that of Cabinet to be done in consultation with the appropriate Lead Member.  

   

284



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 8 
 

F1.15 Amounts between £25,001 and £100,000 can be vired with the agreement of the 
Director of Resources and Managing Director, amounts greater than £100,001 up 
to £500,000, require the approval of the Cabinet, following a joint report by the 
relevant Director and Director of Resources, in consultation with the Lead Member 
for the relevant service area and the Lead Member for Finance, which must specify 
the proposed expenditure and the source of funding, and must explain the 
implications in the current and future financial year. Amounts greater than £500,000 
will be referred to Council as they are outside the Policy and Budget Framework 
and the Lead Member will be informed. 

 
F1.16 The prior approval of the Cabinet is required for any virement over £25,000, of 

whatever amount, where it is proposed to: 
• vire between budgets within the remit of different accountable Cabinet 

Members.  
• vire between budgets managed by different Directors.  

 
F1.17 Virement that is likely to impact on the level of service activity of another Director 

should be implemented only after agreement with the relevant Director. 
 
F1.18 No virement relating to a specific financial year should be made after 31 March in 

that year. 
 
F1.19 A school’s governing body may transfer budget provision between heads of 

expenditure within the delegated school budget following notification to the Director 
of Children’s Services. 

 
F1.20 Where an approved budget is a lump-sum budget or contingency intended for 

allocation during the year, its allocation will not be treated as a virement, provided 
that: 
(a the amount is used in accordance with the purposes for which it has been 

established  
(b) the Cabinet has approved the basis and the terms, including financial limits, 

on which it will be allocated. Individual allocations in excess of the financial 
limits should be reported to the Cabinet. 

 
Treatment of Year-End Balances 
 
Why is this important?  
 
F1.21 The authority’s scheme of virement sets out the authority’s treatment of year-end 

balances. It is administered by the Director of Resources within guidelines set by 
the Council. Any variation from the scheme of virement (as set out above) requires 
the approval of the Council. 

 
F1.22 The rules below cover arrangements for the transfer of resources between 

accounting years, ie a carry-forward. For the purposes of this scheme, a budget 
heading is a line in the budget report. 

 
Key controls 
 

285



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 9 
 

F1.23 Appropriate accounting procedures are in operation to ensure that carried-forward 
totals are correct. 

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources 
 
F1.24 To seek the approval of the Cabinet to the proposed carry-forward of resources and 

addition to or use of reserves at the the year end.  To administer the scheme of 
carry-forward within the guidelines approved by the Council.  

 
F1.25 To report all overspending and under-spending on service estimates carried 

forward to the Cabinet and to the Council.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 
F1.26 Any overspending on service estimates in total on budgets under the control of the 

Director must be carried forward to the following year, and will constitute the first 
call on service estimates in the following year. The Director of Resources will report 
the extent of overspendings carried forward to the Cabinet.  

 
F1.26 Net under-spending on service estimates under the control of the Director will not 

usually be able to be carried forward. In exceptional circumstances this may be 
done, subject to the approval of the Director of Resources and reporting to the 
Cabinet the source of underspending or additional income and the proposed 
application of those resources.  

 
F1.27 All internal unit and service surpluses shall be retained for the benefit of the authority 

and their application shall require the approval of the Cabinet.  
 
F1.28 Schools’ balances shall be available for carry-forward to support the expenditure of 

the school concerned. Where an unplanned deficit occurs, the governing body shall 
prepare a detailed financial recovery plan for consideration by the Cabinet member 
concerned, following evaluation by the Director of Children’s Services and the 
Director of Resources. Schools will normally be expected to agree a plan to recover 
the deficit within a defined period which must be within any limit defined by statute.  

 
F1.29 In exceptional circumstances, schools may seek to incur expenditure to be financed 

by anticipating the following year’s budget share. Such arrangements require the 
prior approval of the Director of Children’s Services, in consultation with the Director 
of Resources. Proposals shall be accompanied by a detailed plan setting out how 
the arrangement is to be accommodated as the first call on the reduced budget 
share.  

 

286



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 10 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
Why is this important? 
 
F1.30 The Director of Resources is responsible for the preparation of the authority’s 

statement of accounts, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the format 
required by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice (CIPFA/LASAAC), for each 
financial year ending 31 March.  

 
Key controls  
 
F1.31 The key controls for accounting policies are:  

2(a) systems of internal control are in place that ensure that financial transactions 
are lawful  

(b) suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently  
(c)  proper accounting records are maintained  
(d) financial statements are prepared which give a “true and fair” view of the 

financial position and transactions of the local authority..  
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F1.32 To select suitable accounting policies and to ensure that they are applied 

consistently. The accounting policies are set out in the statement of accounts, which 
is prepared at 31 March each year, and covers such items as:  
(a) separate accounts for capital and revenue transactions  
(b) the basis on which debtors and creditors at year end are included in the 

accounts  
(c) details on substantial provisions and reserves  
(d) fixed assets  
(e) depreciation  
(f) capital charges  
(g) work in progress  
(h) stocks and stores  
(i) deferred charges  
(j) accounting for value added tax  
(k) government grants  
(l) leasing  
(m) pensions.  

 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F1.33 To adhere to the accounting policies and guidelines approved by the Director of 

Resources.  
 

287



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 11 
 

ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS  
 
Why is this important? 
 
F1.34 Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the authority 

discharges its responsibility for stewardship of public resources. The authority has 
a statutory responsibility to prepare its annual accounts to present fairly its 
operations during the year. These are subject to external audit. This audit provides 
assurance that the accounts are prepared properly, that proper accounting 
practices have been followed and that quality arrangements have been made for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the authority’s 
resources. The Council is required to comply with timetables set out by the 
Department of Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government that are 
required to meet the “whole of Government Accounts” regime.  

 
Key controls 
 
F1.35 The key controls for accounting records and returns are:  

(a) all Cabinet Members, finance staff and budget managers operate within the 
required accounting standards and timetables  

(b) all the authority’s transactions, material commitments and contracts and other 
essential accounting information are recorded completely, accurately and on 
a timely basis  

(c) procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be reconstituted in 
the event of systems failure  

(d) reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions are correctly 
recorded  

(e) prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and other 
requirements.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F1.36 To determine the accounting procedures and records for the authority. Where these 

are maintained outside the Directorate within which the finance team reside, the 
Director of Resources should consult the Director concerned.  

 
F1.37 To arrange for the compilation of all accounts and accounting records under his or 

her direction.  
 
F1.38 To comply with the following principles when allocating accounting duties:  

(a) separating the duties of providing information about sums due to or from the 
authority and calculating, checking and recording these sums from the duty of 
collecting or disbursing them  

(b) employees with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash 
transactions must not themselves be engaged in these transactions.  

 
F1.39 To make proper arrangements for the audit of the authority’s accounts in 

accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  
 
F1.40 To ensure that all claims for funds including grants are made by the due date.  

288



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 12 
 

 
F1.41 To prepare and publish the audited accounts of the authority for each financial year, 

in accordance with the statutory timetable and with the requirement for the Council 
to approve the statement of accounts within that timetable before they are submitted 
for audit.  

 
F1.42 To administer the authority’s arrangements for under- and overspendings to be 

carried forward to the following financial year.  
 
F1.43 To ensure the proper retention of financial documents in accordance with the 

requirements set out in the authority’s document retention schedule.  
 
F1.44 To access, as necessary, financial information held by and in respect of schools 

and to make any returns required to government agencies. Headteachers will 
ensure that the Director of Resources is given access as required.  

 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F1.45 To consult and obtain the approval of the Director of Resources before making any 

changes to accounting records and procedures.  
 
F1.46 To comply with the principles outlined in paragraph 1.38 when allocating accounting 

duties. 
 
F1.47 To maintain adequate records to provide a management trail leading from the 

source of income/expenditure through to the accounting statements.  
 
F1.48 To supply information required to enable the statement of accounts to be completed 

in accordance with guidelines issued by the Director of Resources.  
 
THE ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS  
 
Why is this important?  
 
F1.49 The authority has a statutory responsibility to prepare its own accounts to present 

fairly its operations during the year. The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel, is 
responsible for approving the statutory annual statement of accounts.  

 
Key controls  
 
F1.50 The key controls for the annual statement of accounts are:  

• the authority is required to make arrangements for the proper administration 
of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility 
for the administration of these affairs. In this authority, that officer is the 
Director of Resources  

• the authority’s statement of accounts must be prepared in accordance with 
proper practices as set out in the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom: (the COPLAA) (CIPFA/LASAAC).  

289



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 13 
 

• the authority is required to prepare an Annual Governance Statement to 
accompany the annual statement of accounts as set out in the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F1.51 To select suitable accounting policies and to apply them consistently. 
 
F1.52 To make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. 
 
F1.53 To comply with the COPLAA. 
 
F1.54 To sign and date the statement of accounts, stating that it presents fairly the 

financial position of the authority at the accounting date and its income and 
expenditure for each year ended 31 March. 

 
F1.55 To draw up the timetable for final accounts preparation and to advise staff and 

external auditors accordingly.  
 
F1.56 To contribute to the production of the Annual Governance Statement and to 

implement any relevant actions. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F1.57 To comply with accounting guidance provided by the Director of Resources and to 

supply the Director of Resources with information when required.  
 
Responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer 
 
F1.58 To prepare an Annual Governance Statement in consultation with the Managing 

Director and Director of Resources and keep under review the actions agreed within 
the statement to achieve a system of sound corporate governance. 

 
 
Responsibilities of the Leader and Managing Director  
 
F1.59 To review and approve an Annual Governance Statement, which will accompany 

the annual statement of accounts in accordance with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015. 

 
Responsibilities of the Chairman of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
F1.60 To sign the Annual Statement of Accounts, in accordance with the Accounts and 

Audit Regulations 2015 
 
Responsibilities of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
F1.61 To review and authorise the Chairman to sign the Annual Statement of Accounts, 

in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
 

290



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 14 
 

F1.62 To review and recommend the Annual Governance Statement prior to agreement 
and final sign-off by the Leader and Managing Director. 

 
F1.63 To receive the report of the External Auditor under ISA260 to fulfil their responsibility 

for oversight of the financial reporting process and governance requirements  
 
 
  

291



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 15 
 

FINANCE RULE B: FINANCIAL PLANNING 
 
RULE IN SUMMARY 
 
INTRODUCTION  
 
B.1 The Council is responsible for agreeing the authority’s policy framework and budget, 

which will be proposed by the Cabinet. In terms of financial planning, the key 
elements are:  
• the revenue budget, incorporating the elements referred in Article 4.01 b) and 

associated medium term financial strategy 
• the capital programme and associated capital strategy 
.  the prudential indicators and associated Treasury Management Strategy 

 
Policy Framework 
 
B.2 The Council is responsible for approving the policy framework and budget. The 

policy framework comprises the plans and strategies set out in Part 3B of the 
Constitution and the Budget.  
• Corporate Plan 

Medium Term Financial Strategy (incorporating the Medium Term Financial 
Plan) 
Reserves Strategy 

 Capital Strategy 
 Treasury Management Strategy  
 Asset Management Plan 
the Asset Management Plan  
• Annual Revenue Budget  
• Medium Term Financial Plan  

 
B.3 The provisions of section 25, Local Government Act 2003 require that, when the 

Council is making the calculation of its budget requirement, it must have regard to 
the report of the Chief Finance (section 151) Officer as to the robustness of the 
estimates made for the purposes of the calculations and the adequacy of the 
proposed financial reserves.  

 
B.4 The Council is also responsible for approving procedures for agreeing variations to 

approved budgets, plans and strategies forming the policy framework and for 
determining the circumstances in which a decision will be deemed to be contrary to 
the budget or policy framework. Decisions should be referred to the Council by the 
Monitoring Officer 

 
B.5 The Council is responsible for setting the level at which the Cabinet may reallocate 

budget funds from one service to another. The Cabinet is responsible for taking in-
year decisions on resources and priorities in order to deliver the budget policy 
framework within the financial limits set by the Council.  

 
BUDGETING 
 
Budget format 

292



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 16 
 

 
B.6 The general format of the budget will be approved by the Council and proposed by 

the Cabinet on the advice of the Director of Resources. The draft budget should 
include allocation to different services and projects, proposed taxation levels and 
contingency funds.  

 
Budget preparation  
 
B.7 The Director of Resources is responsible for ensuring that a revenue budget is 

prepared on an annual basis together with an updated financial strategy 
incorporating a medium term financial plan, which projects council spending for 5 
years for consideration by the Cabinet, before submission to the Council. The 
Council may amend the budget or ask the Cabinet to reconsider it before approving 
it.  

 
B.8 The Cabinet is responsible for issuing guidance on the general content of the 

budget in consultation with the Director of Resources as soon as possible following 
approval by the Council.  The Cabinet is responsible for developing the Policy 
framework and associated budget plans prior to consideration by the Council. 

  
B.9 It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that budget estimates reflecting agreed 

service plans are submitted to the Cabinet and that these estimates are prepared 
in line with guidance issued by the Cabinet and Director of Resources.  

 
Budget monitoring and control  
 
B.10 The Director of Resources is responsible for providing appropriate financial 

information to enable budgets to be monitored effectively. He or she must monitor 
and control expenditure against budget allocations and report to the Cabinet on the 
overall position at least quarterly on a regular basis.  

 
B.11 It is the responsibility of Directors to control income and expenditure within their 

area and to monitor performance, taking account of financial information provided 
by the Director of Resources. They should report on variances within their own 
areas. They should also take any action necessary to avoid exceeding their budget 
allocation and alert the Director of Resources to any problems immediately they 
become known.  

 
Resource allocation  
 
B.12 The Director of Resources is responsible for developing and maintaining a resource 

allocation process that produces budget targets that supports the implementation 
of the Council’s policy framework. 

 
Budget Guidelines  
 
B.13  Guidelines on budget preparation are issued to Members and Directors by the 

Cabinet following agreement with the Director of Resources. The guidelines will 
take account of:  

 

293



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 17 
 

• legal requirements  
• medium-term planning prospects  
• available resources  
• spending pressures  
• best value and other relevant government guidelines  
• other internal policy documents  
• cross-cutting issues (where relevant).  
• results of consultations carried out  
• results of exercises to prioritise budget proposals  

 
MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES 
 
B.14 The Director of Resources is responsible for advising the Council on the adequacy 

of Council Reserves. This is a statutory responsibility under section 25 of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Council must pay due regard to this report when they 
set the annual revenue budget. 

 
B.15 The Director of Resources is required to issue a S114 report under Local 

Government Finance Act 1988, where they consider that the Council does not have 
sufficient resources, including financial reserves to set a balanced budget for the 
following year. 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
Preparation and revision of the capital programme 
 
B.16 The Cabinet is responsible for developing the Capital Strategy and considering and 

prioritising business cases for capital schemes as it develops the Capital 
Programme prior to consideration by the Council. 

 
B.17 The Director of Resources is responsible for ensuring that a capital programme is 

prepared on an annual basis for consideration by the Cabinet before submission to 
the Council.  

 
B.18 It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that business cases for Capital 

Schemes are submitted to the Cabinet in line with guidance issued by the Cabinet 
and Director of Resources.  

 
Capital Programme Gateway Process 

 
B.19 The development, approval and implementation of capital projects is subject to a 

Gateway Process. This is a key control for Capital Projects and includes. 
 

(a) A Project Mandate to provide a brief preliminary description of the 

project and is designed to introduce the basic project concept and 

identify key issues at the earliest stages of project development.  

 
(b) An outline business case will be prepared at the project initiation stage 

prior to submission as part of the annual capital programme development 

294



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 18 
 

process.  This will set out the projected costs, risks and benefits associated 
with the project in a form prescribed by the Director of Resources.  Funding 
decisions will be based on the information contained within this process. 

 
(c) A full business case will then be prepared once a project has been 

approved and prior to the commitment of significant project (contract) 
resources.  This will provide a clearer estimate more detailed estimate of 
project costs and benefits together with a more up to date assessment of 
project risks.  The final approval to proceed with the project will be based on 
this business case. 

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT  
 
B.20 The authority has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 

Local Authorities.  
 
B.21 The Council is responsible for approving the treasury management policy statement 

setting out the matters detailed in paragraph 15 of CIPFA’s Code of Practice for 
Treasury Management in Local Authorities. The policy statement is proposed to the 
Council by the Cabinet. The Director of Resources has delegated responsibility for 
implementing and monitoring the statement.  

 
B.22 All money in the hands of the authority is controlled by the officer designated for the 

purposes of section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, referred to in the code 
as the Director of Resources.  

 
B.23 The Director of Resources is responsible for reporting to the Council Cabinet a 

proposed treasury management strategy for the coming financial year as part of the 
annual budget setting process. at or before the start of each financial year. 

 
B.24 All Cabinet decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be delegated to 

the Director of Resources, who is required to act in accordance with CIPFA’s Code 
of Practice for Treasury Management in Local Authorities.  

 
B.25 The Director of Resources shall advise the Council on any long term borrowing 

requirements necessary to finance the Capital Programme. The Director of 
Resources can only make these decisions within the parameters set out within the 
Treasury Management Strategy However, any decision to borrow money for periods 
in excess of one year can only be taken in consultation with the elected Member 
with responsibility for Finance.  

 
B.26 The Director of Resources is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet in each 

financial year on the activities of the treasury management operation and on the 
exercise of his or her delegated treasury management powers on at least a half 
yearly basis. The report will comprise an annual report on treasury management for 
presentation by 30 September of the succeeding financial year.  

  

295



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 19 
 

FINANCIAL PLANNING APPENDIX B  
 
DETAILED RULES  
 
PERFORMANCE PLANS  
 
Why is this important? 
 
F2.01 Each local authority has a statutory responsibility to publish various performance 

plans.  The purpose of performance plans is to explain overall priorities and 
objectives, current performance, and proposals for further improvement.   

 
Key controls 
 
F2.02 The key controls for performance plans are:  

(a) to ensure that all relevant plans are produced and that they are consistent with 
the Authority’s overall policy framework 

(b) to produce plans in accordance with statutory requirements  
(c) to meet the timetables set  
(d) to ensure that all performance information is accurate, complete and up to date  
(e) to provide improvement targets which are meaningful, realistic and 

challenging.  
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources 
  
F2.03 To advise and supply the financial information that needs to be included in 

performance plans in accordance with statutory requirements and agreed 
timetables. 

 
F2.04 To contribute to the development of corporate and service targets and objectives 

and performance information in accordance with the priorities of the Authority. 
 
F2.05 To ensure that systems are in place to measure activity and collect accurate 

information for use as performance indicators. 
 
F2.06 To ensure that performance information is monitored sufficiently frequently to allow 

corrective action to be taken if targets are not likely to be met. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F2.07 To contribute to the development of performance plans in line with statutory 

requirements. 
 
F2.08 To contribute to the development of corporate and service targets and objectives 

and performance information. 

296



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 20 
 

BUDGETING 
 
Format of the budget 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F2.09 The format of the budget determines the level of detail to which financial control and 

management will be exercised. The format shapes how the rules around virement 
operate, the operation of cash limits and sets the level at which funds may be 
reallocated within budgets.  

 
Key controls 
 
F2.10 The key controls for the budget format are:  

(a) the format complies with all legal requirements  
(b) the format complies with CIPFA’s  Service Reporting Code of Practice for Local 

Authorities (SeRCOP)  
(c) the format reflects the accountabilities of service delivery.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F2.11 To advise the Cabinet on the format of the budget that is approved by the Council.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F2.12 To comply with accounting guidance provided by the Director of Resources. 
 
Revenue Budget Preparation, Monitoring and Control 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F2.13 Budget management ensures that once the budget has been approved by the 

Council, resources allocated are used for their intended purposes and are properly 
accounted for. Budgetary control is a continuous process, enabling the authority to 
review and adjust its budget targets during the financial year. It also provides the 
mechanism that calls to account managers responsible for defined elements of the 
budget. 

 
F2.14 By continuously identifying and explaining variances against budgetary targets, the 

authority can identify changes in trends and resource requirements at the earliest 
opportunity. The authority itself operates within an annual cash limit, approved when 
setting the overall budget. To ensure that the authority in total does not overspend, 
each service is required to manage its own expenditure within the cash-limited 
budget allocated to it. 

 
F2.15 For the purposes of budgetary control by managers, a budget will normally be the 

planned income and expenditure for a service area or cost centre. However, 
budgetary control may take place at a more detailed level if this is required. 

 
Key controls 

297



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 21 
 

 
F2.16 The key controls for managing and controlling the revenue budget are that:  

(a) service heads should be responsible only for income and expenditure that they 
can influence  

(b) there is a nominated unit/service manager for each cost centre heading  
(c) service heads accept accountability for their budgets and the level of service 

to be delivered and understand their financial responsibilities  
(d) service heads follow an approved certification process for all expenditure  
(e) income and expenditure are properly recorded and accounted for  
(f) performance levels/levels of service are monitored in conjunction with the 

budget and necessary action is taken to align service outputs and budget. 
(g) financial awareness of budget holders is promoted by training and support 

from the finance department. 
 

Responsibilities of the Director of Resources 
 
F2.17 To establish an appropriate framework of budgetary management and control that 

ensures that:  
(a) budget management is exercised within annual cash limits unless the Council 

agrees otherwise  
(b) each Director has available timely information on receipts and payments on 

each budget which is sufficiently detailed to enable managers to fulfil their 
budgetary responsibilities  

(c) expenditure is committed only against an approved budget head  
(d) all officers responsible for committing expenditure comply with relevant 

guidance, and the Finance Rules  
(e) each cost centre has a single named manager, determined by the relevant 

Director. As a general principle, budget responsibility should be aligned as 
closely as possible to the decision-making processes that commits 
expenditure  

(f) significant variances from approved budgets are investigated and reported by 
budget managers monthly in accordance with agreed timetable  

(g) each capital project has a designated Project Manager responsible for the 
delivery of that project to time and within budget. 

(h) budget holders have adequate support and training so that they understand 
their responsibilities in managing the budgets allocated to them.  

 
F2.18 To administer the authority’s scheme of virement.  
 
F2.19 To submit reports to the Cabinet and to the Council, in consultation with the relevant 

Director, where a Director is unable to balance expenditure and resources within 
existing approved budgets under his or her control.  

 
F2.20 To prepare and submit reports to Cabinet (or sub-committee set up by Cabinet to, 

inter alia, deal with financial matters) on the authority’s projected income and 
expenditure compared with the budget on at least a quarterly basis a regular basis. 

 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 

298



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 22 
 

F2.21 To maintain budgetary control within their Directorates, in adherence to the 
principles in 2.17, and to ensure that all income and expenditure are properly 
recorded and accounted for.  

 
F2.22 To ensure that an accountable budget manager is identified for each item of income 

and expenditure under the control of the Director (grouped together in a series of 
cost centres). As a general principle, budget responsibility should be aligned as 
closely as possible to the decision-making that commits expenditure.  

 
F2.23 To ensure that spending remains within the service’s overall cash limit, and that 

individual budget heads are not overspent, by monitoring the budget and taking 
appropriate corrective action where significant variations from the approved budget 
are forecast.  

 
F2.24 To ensure that a monitoring process is in place to review performance levels/levels 

of service in conjunction with the budget and is operating effectively.  
 
F2.25 To prepare and submit to the Cabinet or sub-committee reports on the service’s 

projected expenditure compared with its budget, in consultation with the Director of 
Resources and setting out what actions the Director proposes to take to remedy 
any overspendings that may have occurred.  

 
F2.26 To ensure prior approval by the Council or Cabinet (as appropriate) for new 

proposals, of whatever amount, that:  
(a) create financial commitments in future years  
(b) change existing policies, initiate new policies or cease existing policies  
(c) materially extend or reduce the authority’s services  
(d) a report on new proposals should explain the full financial implications, 

following consultation with the Director of Resources. Unless the Council or 
Cabinet has agreed otherwise, Directors must plan to contain the financial 
implications of such proposals within their cash limit  

 
F2.27 To ensure compliance with the scheme of virement.  
 
F2.28 To agree with the relevant Director where it appears that a budget proposal, 

including a virement proposal, may impact materially on another service area or 
Director’s level of service activity.  

 
Budgets and Medium-Term Planning 
 
Why is this important? 
  
F2.29 The authority is a complex organisation responsible for delivering a wide variety of 

services. It needs to plan effectively and to develop systems to enable scarce 
resources to be allocated in accordance with carefully weighed priorities. The 
budget is the financial expression of the authority’s plans and policies.  

 
F2.30 The revenue budget must be constructed to ensure that resource allocation reflects 

the service plans and priorities of the Council. Budgets (spending plans) are needed 
so that the authority can plan, authorise, monitor and control the way money is 

299



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 23 
 

allocated and spent. It is illegal for an authority to set a budget that it cannot fully 
finance from its annual income and reserves.  

 
F2.31 Medium-term planning (or a three- to five-year planning system) involves a planning 

cycle in which managers develop their own plans. As each year passes, another 
future year will be added to the medium-term plan. This ensures that the authority 
is always preparing for events in advance. The Authority has a five-year medium-
term financial plan setting out its estimates of revenue expenditure over that time 
span.  

 
Key controls  
 
F2.32 The key controls for budgets and medium-term planning are:  

(a) specific budget approval for all expenditure  
(b) budget managers are consulted in the preparation of the budgets for which 

they will be held responsible and accept accountability within delegations set 
by the Cabinet for their budgets and the level of service to be delivered  

(c) a monitoring process is in place to review regularly the effectiveness and 
operation of budget preparation and to ensure that any corrective action is 
taken. 

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F2.33  To prepare and keep under review the Authority’s medium-term financial strategy 

and medium-term financial plan 
 
F2.34 To prepare and submit reports on budget prospects for the Cabinet, including 

resource constraints set by the Government. Reports should set out the impact on 
medium term financial projections. take account of medium-term prospects, where 
appropriate. 

 
F2.35 To determine the detailed form of revenue estimates and the methods for their 

preparation, consistent with the budget approved by the Council, and after 
consultation with the Cabinet and Directors.  

 
F2.36 To prepare and submit reports to the Cabinet on the aggregate spending plans of 

Directorates and on the resources available to fund them, identifying, where 
appropriate, the implications for the level of Reserves and the Council tax to be 
levied.  

 
F2.37 To advise on the medium-term implications of spending decisions. 
 
F2.38 To encourage the best use of resources and value for money by working with 

Directors to identify opportunities to improve economy, efficiency and effectiveness, 
and by encouraging good practice in conducting financial appraisals of development 
or savings options, and in developing financial aspects of service planning. 

 
F2.39 To advise the Council on Cabinet proposals in accordance with his or her 

responsibilities under section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

300



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 24 
 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 
F2.40  To prepare estimates of income and expenditure, in consultation with the Director 

of Resources, to be submitted to the Cabinet. 
 
F2.41 To prepare budgets that are consistent with any relevant cash limits, with the 

authority’s annual budget cycle and with guidelines issued by the Cabinet. The 
format should be prescribed by the Director of Resources in accordance with the 
Authority’s general directions. 

 
F2.42 To integrate financial and budget plans into service planning, so that budget plans 

can be supported by financial and non-financial performance measures. 
 
F2.43 In consultation with the Director of Resources and in accordance with the laid-down 

guidance and timetable, to prepare detailed draft revenue and capital budgets for 
consideration by Cabinet. 

 
F2.44 When drawing up draft budget requirements, to have regard to: 

(a) spending patterns and pressures revealed through the budget monitoring 
process  

(b) legal requirements (including health and safety)  
(c) policy requirements and priorities as defined by the Council in the approved 

policy framework  
(d) initiatives already under way.  

 
Resource Allocation 
 
Why is this important?  
 
F2.45 A mismatch often exists between available resources and required resources. A 

common scenario is that available resources are not adequate to fulfil need/desire. 
It is therefore imperative that needs/desires are carefully prioritised and that 
resources are fairly allocated, in order to fulfil all legal responsibilities. Resources 
may include staff, money, equipment, goods and materials.  

 
Key controls  
 
F2.46 The key controls for resource allocation are:  

(a) resources are acquired in accordance with the law and using an approved 
authorisation process  

(b) resources are used only for the purpose intended, to achieve the approved 
policies and objectives, and are properly accounted for  

(c) resources are securely held for use when required  
(d) resources are used with the minimum level of waste, inefficiency or loss for 

other reasons.  
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F2.47 To advise the Authority on any options that may exist to increase resources 

available to it.  

301



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 25 
 

 
F2.48 To advise the Authority on the totality of resources available to it.  
 
F2.49 To assist in the allocation of resources to unit/service managers.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F2.50 To work within budget limits and to utilise resources allocated, and further allocate 

resources, in the most efficient, effective and economic way.  
 
F2.51 To identify opportunities to minimise or eliminate resource requirements or 

consumption without having a detrimental effect on service delivery.  
 
MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F2.52  Reserves play an important role in managing the Authority’s finances.  Councils 

hold reserves for the following reasons: 
 

a) Covering unforeseen spending pressures – for example a major flood or 
other incident could have a big, uninsurable, impact on council services. This 
would place undue pressure on the current year’s budget. 

b) Manage general risk and uncertainty – councils operate in very uncertain 
times, where there can be significant changes to in year funding.  This means 
that Council’s need to hold reserves to protect themselves against big funding 
shifts and buy them time to bring their budget into balance. 

c) Meeting known risks and future commitments – often these are known as 
earmarked reserves.  These are reserves held for a specific purpose, for 
example an insurance reserve. 

d) Holding monies on behalf of other bodies – the schools revenue balances 
are an example of this. 

 
Key Controls 
 
F2.53 To maintain reserves in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom: (the COPLAA) (CIPFA/LASAAC) and agreed 
accounting policies.  
 

F.2.54 To prepare and keep under review a reserves strategy including an annual risk- 
based assessment of the potential financial consequences of risks facings the 
Council. 

 
F2.55 For each reserve established, the purpose, usage and basis of transactions should 

be clearly identified.  
 
F2.56 Authorisation and expenditure from reserves by the appropriate Director in 

consultation with the Director of Resources.  
 
 Responsibilities of the Council  

302



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 26 
 

 
F.2.57 To approve the annual reserves strategy  
 
F.2.58 To ensure that the Authority maintains a minimum level of reserves that provide 

adequate protection for the potential financial and business risks that it faces as 
advised by the Director of Resources. 

 
F.2.59 To approve the creation of new Council reserves as part of the budget process   
 

Responsibilities of the Cabinet 
 
F.2.60 To agree the end of year allocation of resources to and from reserves as part of the 

closure of the Council Accounts. 
 
F.2.61 To monitor the level of reserves during the financial year  

  
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  

 
F.2.62 To advise the Council on the adequacy of Council Reserves. This is a statutory 

responsibility under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003. The Council must 
pay due regard to this report when they set the annual revenue budget. 

 
F.2.63 To prepare a Reserves Strategy 
 
F.2.64 To approve the creation of new reserves where money is held on behalf of other 

bodies. 
 
F.2.65 To issue a S114 report under Local Government Finance Act 1988, where they 

consider that the Council does not have sufficient resources, including financial 
reserves to set a balanced budget for the following year. 

 
F.2.66 To provide a monitoring statement at least quarterly to the Cabinet on the current 

and projected level of reserves  
 
F.2.67 To seek the approval of Cabinet for the use of reserves if this is not in line with their 

stated purpose 
 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 
F.2.68 To seek the approval of the Director of Resources to hold money on behalf of other 

bodies 
 
F.2.69 To seek the approval of the Director of Resources to use Council reserves  
 
F.2.70 To ensure that resources held within reserves are used only for the purposes for 

which they were intended 
 
 
 
 

303



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 27 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
Why is this important?  
 
F2.71 Capital expenditure involves acquiring or enhancing fixed assets with a long-term 

value to the authority, such as land, buildings, and major items of intangible assets, 
plant, equipment or vehicles. Capital assets shape the way services are delivered 
in the long term and create financial commitments for the future in the form of 
financing costs and revenue running costs.  

 
F2.72 The “Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities” places a duty on the 

Authority to ensure that its proposals to finance its capital programme are 
affordable, both in the short and long term. This means that capital expenditure 
should form part of an investment strategy and should be carefully prioritised in 
order to maximise the benefit of scarce resources.  

 
Key controls  
 
F2.73 The key controls for capital programmes are:  
 

(a) specific approval by the Council of the Capital Strategy and programme of 
capital expenditure. 

(b) approval to enter a commitment on capital schemes is subject to a gateway 
process and the approvals detailed in Part 8A section 14.1. 

(c) scheme and estimate, including project plan, progress targets and associated 
revenue expenditure is prepared for each capital project. 

(d) the scheme has been assessed under the Council’s Prioritisation Scheme and 
been approved for implementation by the Cabinet.  

(e) approval by the Cabinet where capital schemes are to be financed from the 
revenue budget, up to £500,000, and subject to the approval of the Council, 
where the expenditure exceeds this amount  

(f) proposals for improvements and alterations to buildings must be approved by 
the relevant Director.  

(g) schedules for individual schemes within the overall budget approved by the 
Council must be submitted to the Cabinet for approval (for example, minor 
works), or under other arrangements approved by the Council  

(h) the development and implementation of asset management plans  
(i) the development and implementation of a Capital Strategy  
(j) accountability for each proposal is accepted by a named manager  
(k) monitoring of progress in conjunction with expenditure and comparison with 

approved budget.  
 

 
Responsibilities of the Council  

 
F.2.74 To consider and approve the Capital Strategy for the Council 
 
F.2.75 To agree the Capital Programme and indicative five-year capital programme 
 

304



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 28 
 

F.2.76 To agree the funding arrangements that support the Capital Programme subject to 
the provisions of C15 

 
F.2.77 To agree substantial changes to the capital programme that involve additional 

spending in excess of £500,000 
 
F.2.78 To receive a half yearly report on the delivery of the Capital Programme and in year 

financial monitoring of Capital Spending. 
 

Responsibilities of the Cabinet 
 

F.2.79 To review and keep under review the Capital Strategy 
 
F.2.80 To oversee the development of proposals for the Capital Programme and indicative 

five-year capital programme prior to consideration and approval by the Council. 
 
F.2.81 To consider and prioritise all capital bids prior for inclusion within the Capital 

Programme. 
 
F.2.82 To consider options for the funding of the Capital Programme before submitting 

proposals for approval by Council 
 
F.2.83 To agree in-year changes to the Capital Programme that can be accommodated 

within the in-year Capital Programme resources, subject to the advice of the 
Director of Resources 

 
F.2.84 To agree in-year changes to the Capital Programme up to the value of £500,000 in 

total, subject to no single scheme exceeding £250,000 
 
F.2.85 To consider detailed monitoring reports on Capital Spend across all Capital 

Projects, as submitted by the Director of Resources at least on a quarterly basis. 
 
F.2.86 To agree all new business plans for capital projects based on a format approved by 

the Director of Resources 
 
F.2.87 To approve the carry-forward of unspent capital programme resources, after 

considering proposals within an out-turn report from the Director of Resources 
setting out the end of year Capital Programme position. 

 
 Responsibilities of the Director of Resources 
 
F.2.88 To prepare and keep under review the Capital Strategy in Consultation with the 

Managing Director and Directors 
 
F.2.89 To advise the Capital Programme Working Group on any changes to the Gateway 

Process 
 
F.2.90 To co-ordinate the production of the Capital Programme and five-year capital 

programme. 
 

305



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 29 
 

F.2.91 To ensure that all new Capital Projects are supported by a business case prior to 
inclusion within the Capital Programme based on a format prescribed by the 
Director of Resources 

 
F.2.92 To establish a business case format that will include a financial assessment of the 

costs, benefits and associated risks for each project. 
 
F.2.93 To advise the Cabinet and Council on options for funding the Capital Programme 

and their impact on Medium-Term Financial Plans 
 
F.2.94 To submit standalone detailed quarterly monitoring reports, covering all capital 

schemes to the Cabinet, including details of all proposed virements between 
schemes. 

 
F.2.95 To identify and recover by way of a virement out of the capital project in question, 

any underspending compared to budget that is identified before the start of or during 
the implementation of the project. 

 
F.2.96 To submit half-yearly monitoring reports to the Council, including details of all 

proposed virements or additional spending over £500,000. 
 
F.2.97 To define “capital” with regard to government legislation and accounting 

requirements. 
 
F.2.98 To set a de-minimis level to ensure that the capital programme is not used to finance 

small schemes that should be funded from the revenue budget – the de-minimis 
level is currently £20,000, 
 
 

To prepare a three year programme of future capital expenditure estimates jointly with 
Directors and the Managing Director and to report them to the Cabinet for approval, 
together with a revised programme of estimates for the currently financial year. The 
Cabinet will make recommendations on the capital estimates and on any associated 
financing requirements to the Council. Cabinet member approval is required where 
a Director proposes to bid for or exercise additional borrowing requirement not 
anticipated in the capital programme. This is because the extra borrowing may 
create future commitments to financing costs.  

 
F2.55 To prepare and submit reports to the Cabinet on the projected income, expenditure 

and resources compared with the approved estimates.  
 
F2.56 To issue guidance concerning capital schemes and controls, for example, on project 

appraisal techniques. The definition of ‘capital’ will be determined by the Director of 
Resources, having regard to government regulations and accounting requirements.  

 
F2.57 To obtain authorisation from the Cabinet for individual schemes where the 

estimated expenditure exceeds the capital programme provision by more than a 
specified amount.  

 
Responsibilities of Directors 

306



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 30 
 

 
F.2.99 To comply with guidance concerning capital schemes and controls issued by the 

Director of Resources. 
 
F.2.100 To develop business cases for new capital schemes in a format prescribed by the 

Director of Resources 
 
F.2.101 To consult the Director of Resources on the financial implications of Capital Projects  
 
F.2.102 To comply with the Gateway Process for the development and management of 

capital projects 
 
F.2.103 To ensure that an appropriate risk assessment is carried out for each capital 

projects 
 
F.2.104 To ensure that adequate records are maintained for all capital contracts 
 
F.2.105 To proceed with projects only when there is adequate provision in the capital 

programme and with approvals, where required as detailed in Part 8A section 14.1. 
 
F.2.106 To allocate a lead officer in their department for each capital scheme with a 

sufficient level of seniority appropriate to the project 
 
F.2.107 To put in place appropriate project or programme management arrangements to 

ensure the effective delivery of the project. 
 
F.2.108 To engage with the monthly capital monitoring process  including highlighting any 

new or emerging financial considerations or risks associated with the project. 
 
F.2.109 To prepare and submit reports, jointly with the Director of Resources, to the 

Cabinet, of any variation in contract costs greater than the approved limits. The 
Cabinet may meet cost increases of up to 5% by virement from savings elsewhere 
within their capital programme.  

 
F.2.110 To prepare and submit reports, jointly with the Director of Resources, to the 

Cabinet, on completion of all contracts where the final expenditure exceeds the 
approved contract sum by more than 5% or £10,000 whichever is the higher 
amount.  

 
F.2.111 To ensure that credit arrangements, such as leasing agreements, are not entered 

into without the prior approval of the Director of Resources and, if applicable, 
approval of the scheme through the capital programme.  

 
F.2.112 To consult with the Director of Resources and to seek Cabinet approval where the 

Director proposes to bid for supplementary credit approvals to be issued by 
government departments to support expenditure that has not been included in the 
current year’s capital programme. 

 
F.2.113 To notify the Director of Resources of any underspending compared to budget that 

occur before the start of or during implementation of the project. 

307



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 31 
 

 
Responsibilities of the Capital Programme Working Group 

 
F.2.114 Developing and overseeing the gateway process for new and approved capital 

projects as set out below, based on the advice of the Director of Resources 
 
F.2.115 Reviewing progress on all Capital Projects in detail on at least a quarterly basis 
 
F.2.116 Identify dependencies and risks between individual schemes within the capital 

programme and ensure action is taken to address these. 
 
F.2.117 Where resources have been allocated for a programme of works individual approval 

will not be required for each project within the programme but will be based on the 
submission of the programme as a whole. 

 
 
 
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F2.54   
 
Responsibilities of Directors  

  

308



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 32 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT  
 
Why is this important?  
 
F2.118 Many millions of pounds pass through the authority’s books each year. This led to 

the establishment of codes of practice. These aim to provide assurances that the 
authority’s money is properly managed in a way that balances risk with return, but 
with the overriding consideration being given to the security of the authority’s capital 
sum. investments. 

 
Key controls  
 
F2.119 That the authority’s borrowings and investments comply with the CIPFA Code of 

Practice on Treasury Management and with the authority’s treasury policy 
statement.  

 
Responsibilities of Director of Resources – treasury management and banking  
 
F2.120 To arrange the borrowing and investments of the authority in such a manner as to 

comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the 
authority’s treasury management policy statement and strategy.  

 
F2.121 To report annually at least twice per year on treasury management activities to the 

Cabinet.  
 
F2.123 To operate bank accounts as are considered necessary – opening or closing any 

bank account shall require the approval of the Director of Resources.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors – treasury management and banking  
 
F2.124 To follow the instructions on banking issued by the Director of Resources.  
 
 
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F2.73 To advise the Cabinet and/or the Council on prudent levels of reserves for the 

authority, and to take account of the advice of the external auditor in this matter.  
 

309



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 33 
 

FINANCE RULE C : RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES 
 
RULES IN SUMMARY  
 
Introduction 
 
C.1 It is essential that robust, integrated systems are developed and maintained for 

identifying and evaluating all significant operational risks to the authority. This 
should include the proactive participation of all those associated with planning and 
delivering services.  

 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
C.2 No organisation can eliminate risk completely.  Organisations must understand the 

risks that they face and take steps to manage risks effectively.  At the same time 
they also need to make sure that they have appropriate reserves and insurance in 
place to protect them from the financial consequences of these risks. 

  
C3 The Cabinet manages Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel oversees this 

process based on advice provided by the Director of Resources.  Effective risk 
management requires the co-operation and involvement of all Directors and the 
staff that they manage. 

 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL 
 
C.4 Internal control refers to the systems of control devised by management to help 

ensure public funds are properly safeguarded and used economically, efficiently, 
and in accordance with the statutory and other authorities that govern their use.  
the authority’s objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes economical, 
efficient and effective use of resources and that the authority’s assets and interests 
are safeguarded.  

 
C.5 The Director of Resources is responsible for advising on effective systems of 

internal control. These arrangements need to ensure compliance with all applicable 
statutes and regulations, and other relevant statements of best practice. 

 
C.6 It is the responsibility of Directors to establish sound arrangements for planning, 

appraising, authorising and controlling their operations in order to achieve 
continuous improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness and for achieving 
their financial performance targets.  

 
AUDIT REQUIREMENTS  
 
C.7 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires every local authority to maintain 

an adequate and effective internal audit.    
 
C.8 Internal Audit plays an essential role in enabling the Director of Resources to fulfil 

their responsibility for ensuring the proper administration of the Council’s financial 
affairs under S151 of the Local Government Finance Act 1972. 

310



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 34 
 

 
C.9 The Council is responsible for making arrangements to appoint external auditors 

under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 
 
C.10 The authority may, from time to time, be subject to audit, inspection or investigation 

by external bodies such as HM Customs and Excise and the Inland Revenue, who 
have statutory rights of access.  

 
PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 
 
C.11 The Director of Resources is responsible for the development and maintenance of 

an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy.  
 
C.12 The Director of Resources is responsible for the development and maintenance of 

a whistle blowing policy.  
 
ASSETS 
 
C.13 Directors should ensure that records and assets are properly maintained and 

securely held. They should also ensure that contingency plans for the security of 
assets and continuity of service in the event of disaster or system failure are in 
place.  

 
LOAN AND INVESTMENTS 
STAFFING  
 
C.15 The Council is ultimately responsible for determining how officer support for 

executive and non-executive roles within the authority will be organised.  
 
C.16 The Managing Director is responsible for providing overall management to staff. He 

or she is also responsible for ensuring that there is proper use of the evaluation or 
other agreed systems for determining the remuneration of a job.  

 
C.17 The Director of Resources is responsible for ensuring that staffing budgets are 

affordable and that any decision to vary the establishment is affordable in both the 
short and medium term. 

 
C.18 Directors are responsible for controlling total staff numbers by:  
 

• advising the Cabinet on the budget necessary in any given year to cover 
estimated staffing levels  

• adjusting the staffing to a level that can be funded within approved budget 
provision or varying the provision as necessary within that constraint in order 
to meet changing operational needs subject to consultation with the Director 
of Resources to ensure that this is affordable.  

• the proper use of appointment procedures.  
  

311



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 35 
 

APPENDIX C 
RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES  
 
DETAILED RULES 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F3.01 All organisations, whether private or public sector, face risks to people, property and 

continued operations.  
 

Risk is the chance or possibility of loss, damage, injury or failure to achieve 
objectives caused by an unwanted or uncertain action or event.  
 
Risk management is the planned and systematic approach to the identification, 
evaluation and control of risk. Its objectives are to secure the assets of the 
organisation and to ensure the continued financial and organisational well-being of 
the organisation.  
 
In essence it is, therefore, an integral part of good business practice. Risk 
management is concerned with evaluating the measures an organisation already 
has in place to manage identified risks and then recommending the action the 
organisation needs to take to control these risks effectively. 

 
F3.02 It is the overall responsibility of the Cabinet, advised by the Director of Resources 

to approve the authority’s risk management strategy, and to promote a culture of 
risk management awareness throughout the authority. 

 
Key controls 
 
F3.03 The key controls for risk management are: 

(a) a risk management strategy setting out the council’s approach to managing 
risks. 

(b) procedures are in place to identify, assess, prevent or contain material known 
risks, and these procedures are operating effectively throughout the authority 

(c) a monitoring process is in place to review regularly the effectiveness of risk 
reduction strategies and the operation of these controls. The risk management 
process should be conducted on a continuing basis 

(d) managers know that they are responsible for managing relevant risks and are 
provided with relevant information on risk management initiatives 

(e) acceptable levels of risk are determined and insured against where 
appropriate 

(f) provision is made for losses that might result from the risks that remain  
(g) procedures are in place to investigate claims within required timescales  
(h) the authority has identified business continuity plans for implementation in the 

event of disaster that results in significant loss or damage to its resources.  

312



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 36 
 

Responsibilities of the Cabinet. 
 
F.3.04 To approve the authority’s risk management policy statement and strategy 
 
F.3.05 To agree insurance arrangements for the Council based on the advice of the 

Director of Resources. 
.  

Responsibility of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
F3.06 To oversee the effectiveness of the risk management process based on a report 

submitted by the Director of Resources  
 
F.3.07 To advise the Cabinet on the effectiveness of the process as appropriate.  
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F3.08 To prepare and promote the authority’s risk management strategy.  
 
F.3.09 To prepare a report to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel on the 

effectiveness of the risk management strategy and updated corporate risk register 
on at least a half yearly basis.  

 
F3.10 To maintain the Corporate Risk register and ensure that it is updated on at least a 

quarterly basis. 
 
F3.11 To develop risk management controls in conjunction with other Directors.  
 
F3.12 To include all appropriate employees of the authority in a suitable fidelity guarantee 

insurance.  
 
F3.13 To propose arrangements for corporate insurance cover to the Cabinet in line with 

the risk management strategy  
 
F.3.14 To keep under review at least annually corporate insurance cover, through external 

insurance and internal funding, and to negotiate all claims in consultation with other 
officers, where necessary.  

 
F3.15 To offer insurance cover to schools in accordance with Fair Funding arrangements.  
 
F3.09 To review annually, or at such a period as he/she considers appropriate or 

necessary, review all insurances with Directors and unit/service managers.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F3.16 To notify the Director of Resources immediately of any loss, liability or damage that 

may lead to a claim against the authority, together with any information or 
explanation required by the Director of Resources or the authority’s insurers.  

 

313



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 37 
 

F3.17 To take responsibility for risk management, having regard to advice from the 
Director of Resources and other specialist officers (eg crime prevention, fire 
prevention, health and safety). 

 
F3.18 To ensure that there are regular reviews of risk within their Directorates and to take 

all necessary and agreed action to mitigate risk, where possible. 
 
F3.19 To notify the Director of Resources promptly of all new risks, properties or vehicles 

that require insurance and of any alterations affecting existing insurances.  
 
F3.20 To consult the Director of Resources and the Monitoring Officer on the terms of any 

indemnity that the authority is requested to give.  
 
F3.21 To ensure that employees, or anyone covered by the authority’s insurances, do not 

admit liability or make any offer to pay compensation that may prejudice the 
assessment of liability in respect of any insurance claim.  

 

314



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 38 
 

INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F3.22 The authority is complex and beyond the direct control of individuals. It therefore 

requires internal controls to manage and monitor progress towards strategic 
objectives. 

 
F3.23 The authority has statutory obligations, and, therefore, requires internal controls to 

identify, meet and monitor compliance with these obligations. 
 
F3.24 The authority faces a wide range of financial, administrative and commercial risks, 

both from internal and external factors, which threaten the achievement of its 
objectives. Internal controls are necessary to manage these risks. 

 
F3.25 The system of internal controls is established in order to provide measurable 

achievement of: 
(a) efficient and effective operations  
(b) reliable financial information and reporting  
(c) compliance with laws and regulations  
(d) risk management.  

 
Key controls  
 
F3.26 The key controls and control objectives for internal control systems are:  
 

(a) Appropriate for and aligned to the corporate risk management strategy 
(b) key controls should be reviewed on a regular basis and the authority should 

make a formal statement annually to the effect that it is satisfied that the 
systems of internal control are operating effectively  

(c) managerial control systems, which include including defining policies, setting 
objectives and plans, monitoring financial and other performance and taking 
appropriate anticipatory and remedial action. The key objective of these 
systems is to promote ownership of the control environment by defining roles 
and responsibilities  

(d) financial and operational control systems and procedures, which include 
physical safeguards for assets, segregation of duties, authorisation and 
approval procedures and information systems  

(e) an effective internal audit function that is properly resourced. It should operate 
in accordance with the principles contained in Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (Updated March 2017) and with any other statutory obligations and 
regulations.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources 
 
F3.27 To assist the authority to put in place an appropriate control environment and 

effective internal controls which provide reasonable assurance of effective and 
efficient operations, financial stewardship, probity and compliance with laws and 
regulations.  

 

315



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 39 
 

Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F3.28 To manage processes to check that established controls are being adhered to and 

to evaluate their effectiveness, in order to be confident in the proper use of 
resources, achievement of objectives and management of risks.  

 
F3.29 To review existing controls in the light of changes affecting the authority and to 

establish and implement new ones in line with guidance from the Director of 
Resources. Directors should also be responsible for removing controls that are 
unnecessary or not cost or risk effective – for example, because of duplication.  

 
F3.30 To ensure staff have a clear understanding of the consequences of lack of control.  
 
AUDIT REQUIREMENTS  
 
Internal audit  
 
Why is this important?  
 
F3.31 The requirement for an internal audit function for local authorities is implied by 

section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires that authorities 
“make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs”. The 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, more specifically require that a “relevant 
body shall maintain an adequate and effective system of internal audit of their 
accounting records and control systems”.  

 
F3.32 Accordingly, internal audit is an independent and objective appraisal function 

established by the authority for reviewing the system of internal control. It examines, 
evaluates and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a contribution to the 
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources.  

 
Key controls 
 
F3.33 The key controls for internal audit are:  

(a)  that it is independent in its planning and operation;  
(b)  Head of Audit and Investigation - has direct access to the Director of 

Resources, Monitoring Officer and Managing Director, all levels of 
management and directly to elected members;  

(c)  the internal auditors comply with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
2017, which requires that the Internal Audit Section has sufficient resources 
with an appropriate range of skills to deliver the Audit Plan.  

 
 
Responsibilities of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 
 
F3.34 To approve the internal audit charter and internal audit protocol 
 
F.3.35 To approve the annual audit plan prepared by the Head of Audit and Investigation, 

following consultation with the Director of Finance, Monitoring Officer and Managing 
Director. 

316



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 40 
 

 
F.3.36 To receive a quarterly report on the outcome of all audit reviews in line with the 

annual audit plan. 
 
F.3.37 To receive an annual report on the delivery of internal audit in line with the internal 

audit strategy and the implementation of audit recommendations.    
 
F.3.38 To receive an annual report on the effectiveness of the system of internal audit, in 

accordance with the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Accounts & 
Audit Regulations 2015. 

  
F.3.39 To prepare on an annual basis, a report to Cabinet on the effectiveness of internal 

audit and any other matters that the Panel wishes to bring to the attention of the 
Cabinet.  

 
Responsibilities of the Cabinet 
 
F.3.40 To receive on an annual basis a report from the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Panel on the effectiveness of internal audit and any other matters that the Panel 
wishes to bring to the attention of the Cabinet. 

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F3.41 To ensure that internal auditors have the authority to:  

(a)  access authority premises at reasonable times  
(b)  access all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control systems  
(c)  receive any information and explanation considered necessary concerning any 

matter under consideration  
(d)  require any employee of the authority to account for cash, stores or any other 

authority asset under his or her control  
(e)  access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when required  
(f)  directly access the Director of Resources, Monitoring Officer, Managing 

Director, the Cabinet and Chairman of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel. 

 
F3.42  To approve for submission to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel and 

Cabinet the annual audit plan prepared by the Head of Audit and Investigation – 
which take account of the characteristics and relative risks of the activities involved.  

 
F3.43  To receive the Authority’s Audit Charter prepared by the Head of Audit and 

Investigation, setting out the Terms of Reference for the provision of internal audit 
services within the Authority, submitting the Charter to the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel for approval and revision on an annual basis.  

 
F3.44 To receive the Authority’s Internal Audit Protocol, prepared by the Head of Audit 

and Investigation setting out the process adopted by the Audit and Investigation 
Unit in conducting audits and requirements that it imposes on the Authority’s staff 
undertaking work subject to internal audit. The Protocol, and any amendments to it, 
will be submitted the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel for approval.  

 

317



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 41 
 

F3.45 To ensure that there is an annual review of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal audit, in accordance with the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and 
the Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015. 

 
F3.46 To ensure that effective procedures are in place to investigate promptly any fraud 

or irregularity.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F3.47 To ensure that internal auditors are given access at all reasonable times to 

premises, personnel, documents and assets that the auditors consider necessary 
for the purposes of their work.  

 
F3.48 To ensure that auditors are provided with any information and explanations that 

they seek in the course of their work.  
 
F3.49 To consider and respond promptly to recommendations in audit reports.  
 
F3.50 To ensure that any agreed actions arising from audit recommendations are carried 

out in a timely and efficient fashion.  
 
F3.51 To notify the Director of Resources and the Head of Audit and Investigation 

immediately of any suspected fraud, theft, irregularity, improper use or 
misappropriation of the authority’s property or resources or any Council owned or 
occupied property is broken into. Pending investigation and reporting, the Director 
should take all necessary steps to prevent further loss and to secure records and 
documentation against removal or alteration.  

 
F3.52 To ensure that new systems for maintaining financial records, or records of assets, 

or changes to such systems, are discussed with and agreed by the Head of Audit 
and Investigation - prior to implementation.  

 
External Audit 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F3.53 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires the Council to appoint an 

external auditor.  The external auditor has rights of access to all documents and 
information necessary for audit purposes.  

 
F3.54 The basic duties of the external auditor are defined in the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014. This requires the audit to be undertaken in accordance 
with any code of audit practice. The code of audit practice Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2017 sets out the auditor’s objectives to review and report upon:  
(a) the financial aspects of the audited body’s corporate governance 

arrangements  
(b) the audited body’s financial statements  
(c) aspects of the audited body’s arrangements to manage its performance, 

including the preparation and publication of specified performance information 

318



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 42 
 

and compliance in respect of the preparation and publication of the Accounts, 
Narrative Statement and Annual Governance Statement.  

 
F3.55 The authority’s accounts are scrutinised by external auditors, who must be satisfied 

that the statement of accounts ‘presents fairly’ the financial position of the authority 
and its income and expenditure for the year in question and complies with the legal 
requirements.  

 
Key controls  
 
F3.56 External auditors are appointed by the Council. The National Audit Office prepares 

a code of audit practice, which external auditors follow when carrying out their 
audits.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F3.57 To ensure that external auditors are given access at all reasonable times to 

premises, personnel, documents and assets that the external auditors consider 
necessary for the purposes of their work.  

 
F3.58 To ensure there is effective liaison between external and internal audit.  
 
F3.59 To work with the external auditor and advise the Council, Cabinet and Directors on 

their responsibilities in relation to external audit.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 
F3.60 To ensure that external auditors are given access at all reasonable times to 

premises, personnel, documents and assets which the external auditors consider 
necessary for the purposes of their work.  

 
F3.61 To ensure that all records and systems are up to date and available for inspection.  
 
PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 
 
Why is this important?  
 
F3.62 The authority will not tolerate fraud and corruption in the administration of its 

responsibilities, whether from inside or outside the authority.  
 
F3.63 The authority’s expectation of propriety and accountability is that Members and staff 

at all levels will lead by example in ensuring adherence to legal requirements, rules, 
procedures and practices.  

 
F3.64 The authority also expects that individuals and organisations (eg suppliers, 

contractors, service providers) with whom it comes into contact will act towards the 
authority with integrity and without thought or actions involving fraud and corruption.  

 
Key controls 
 

319



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 43 
 

F3.65  The key controls regarding the prevention of financial irregularities are that:  
(a) the authority has an effective anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy and 

maintains a culture that will not tolerate fraud or corruption 
(b) whistle blowing procedures are in place and operate effectively  
(c) all Members and staff act with integrity and lead by example  
(d) all staff are required to act promptly on any suspicions of fraud or corruption to 

ensure that these are addressed and investigated promptly. 
(e) effective disciplinary arrangements to manage allegations of fraud or 

corruption. senior managers are required to deal swiftly and firmly with those 
who defraud or attempt to defraud the authority or who are corrupt  

(d) high standards of conduct are promoted amongst Members including an 
effective protocol for managing Member and officer relationships 

(e) the maintenance of a register of interests in which any hospitality or gifts 
accepted must be recorded  

(g) legislation including the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 is adhered to.  
 
Responsibilities of Council 
 
F3.66 To approve and keep under review the Anti-fraud and corruption framework 

including 
 
(a) Anit-fraud and corruption policy and associated whistle blowing procedures 
(b) Member and Officer Protocol 

 
Responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer 
 
F3.67 To maintain and keep up to date a register of Members’ interests  
 
F3.68 To prepare and keep under review a protocol for managing Member and officer 

relationships. 
 
F3.69 To set out guidance for Directors for the preparation of directorate registers of 

interests.   
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F3.70 To develop and maintain an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy.  
 
F3.71 To maintain adequate and effective internal control arrangements.  
 
F3.72 To ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the Head of Audit and 

Investigation, the Monitoring Officer, Managing Director and the Cabinet.  
 
F3.73 To develop and maintain a whistle blowing policy.  
 
F3.74 To investigate and, if necessary, instigate prosecutions, for fraudulent activity in 

compliance with the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Strategy. 
 
F3.75 To authorise the necessary investigations to take place and in particular to ensure 

that all necessary authorities for surveillance to be undertaken under the Regulation 

320



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 44 
 

of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 are obtained from an Authorised Officer and to 
maintain the Corporate Register of Authorisations  

 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F3.76 To ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the Head of Audit and 

Investigation.  
 
F3.77 To comply with instigate the authority’s disciplinary procedures where the outcome 

of an audit investigation indicates improper behaviour by a member of staff.  
 
F3.78 To ensure that where financial impropriety is suspected, the Director of Resources 

is informed. Where sufficient evidence exists to believe that a criminal offence may 
have been committed, the Director, in consultation with the Director of Resources, 
will ensure that the Police are called in to investigate the allegation and determine 
with the Crown Prosecution Service whether any prosecution will take place.  

 
F3.79 To maintain a directorate register of interests, in accordance with guidance set by 

the Monitoring Officer. 
 
ASSETS 
 
Security 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F3.80 The authority holds assets in the form of property, vehicles, equipment, furniture 

and other items worth many millions of pounds. It is important that assets are 
safeguarded and used efficiently to deliver services, and that there are 
arrangements for the security of both assets and information required for service 
operations. An up-to-date asset register is a prerequisite for proper fixed asset 
accounting and sound asset management.  

 
 
Key controls  
 
F3.81 The key controls for the security of resources such as land, buildings, fixed plant 

machinery, equipment, software, and information are:  
(a) resources are used only for the purposes of the authority and are properly 

accounted for  
(b) resources are available for use when required  
(c) resources no longer required are disposed of in accordance with the law and 

the regulations of the authority so as to maximise benefits  
(d) an asset register is maintained for the authority, assets are recorded when 

they are acquired by the authority and this record is updated as changes occur 
with respect to the location and condition of the asset  

(e) all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to safeguarding the 
authority’s assets and information, including the requirements of the Data 
Protection Act and software copyright legislation  

321



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 45 
 

(f) all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to safeguarding the 
security of the authority’s computer systems, including maintaining restricted 
access to the information held on them and compliance with the authority’s 
computer and internet security policies.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources 
 
F3.82 To ensure that an asset register is maintained in accordance with good practice for 

all fixed assets with an individual value in excess of £1000. The function of the asset 
register is to provide the authority with information about fixed assets so that they 
are:  
• safeguarded  
• used efficiently and effectively  
• adequately maintained.  

 
F3.83 To receive the information required for accounting, costing and financial records 

from each Director.  
 
F3.84 To ensure that assets are valued in accordance with the current Code of Practice 

on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: (CIPFA/LASAAC).  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F3.85 The appropriate Director shall maintain a property database in a form approved by 

the Director of Resources for all properties, plant and machinery and moveable 
assets currently owned or used by the authority. Any use of property by a 
department or establishment other than for direct service delivery should be 
supported by documentation identifying terms, responsibilities and duration of use.  

 
F3.86 To ensure that lessees and other prospective occupiers of Council land are not 

allowed to take possession or enter the land until a lease or agreement, in a form 
approved by the Director in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, has been 
established as appropriate.  

 
F3.87 To ensure the proper security of all buildings and other assets under their control.  
 
F3.88 Where land or buildings are surplus to requirements, a recommendation for sale 

should be the subject of a joint report by the Director and the Director of Resources 
and the Monitoring Officer  

 
F3.89 To pass title deeds to the Monitoring Officer who is responsible for custody of all 

title deeds.  
 
F3.90 To ensure that no authority asset is subject to personal use by an employee without 

proper authority.  
 
F3.91 To ensure the safe custody of vehicles, equipment, furniture, stock, stores and other 

property belonging to the authority.  
 

322



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 46 
 

F3.92 To ensure that the Directors maintain a register of moveable assets in accordance 
with arrangements defined by the Director of Resources.  

 
F3.93 To ensure that assets are identified, their location recorded and that they are 

appropriately marked and insured.  
 
F3.94 To consult the Director of Resources in any case where security is thought to be 

defective or where it is considered that special security arrangements may be 
needed.  

 
F3.95 To ensure cash holdings on premises are kept to the minimum necessary for 

operational requirements and are within levels covered by the Council’s insurance 
arrangements.  

 
F3.96 To ensure that keys to safes and similar receptacles are carried on the person of 

those responsible at all times; loss of any such keys must be reported to the Director 
of Resources immediately as soon as possible.  

 
F3.97 To record all disposal or part exchange of assets that should normally be by 

competitive tender or public auction, unless, following consultation with the Director 
of Resources, the Cabinet agrees otherwise.  

 
F3.98 To arrange for the valuation of assets for accounting purposes to meet requirements 

specified by the Director of Resources.  
 
F3.99 To ensure that all employees are aware that they have a personal responsibility 

regarding the protection and confidentiality of information, whether held in manual 
or computerised records. Information may be sensitive or privileged, or may 
possess some intrinsic value, and its disclosure or loss could result in a cost to the 
authority in some way.  

 
F3.100 To notify the Head of Audit and Review and the Council’s Insurance and Risk Officer 

in the event of any premises occupied by the Council suffering theft, burglary or 
destruction of Council assets.  

 
Inventories  
 
F3.101 To maintain inventories and record an adequate description of furniture, fittings, 

equipment, plant and machinery above £1000 in value.  
 
F3.102 To carry out an annual check (25%) of items on a rolling basis on the inventory in 

order to verify location, review, condition and to take action in relation to surpluses 
or deficiencies, annotating the inventory accordingly. Attractive and portable items 
such as computers, cameras and video recorders should be identified with security 
markings as belonging to the authority.  

 
F3.103 To make sure that property is only used in the course of the authority’s business, 

unless the Director concerned has given permission otherwise.  
 
 

323



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 47 
 

Stocks and stores  
 
F3.104 To make arrangements for the care and custody of stocks and stores in the 

department.  
 
F3.105 To ensure stocks are maintained at reasonable levels and are subject to a regular 

independent physical check. All discrepancies should be investigated and pursued 
to a satisfactory conclusion.  

 
F3.106 To investigate and remove from the authority’s records (ie write off) discrepancies 

as necessary, or to obtain Cabinet approval if they are in excess of a predetermined 
limit.  

 
F3.107 To authorise or write off disposal of redundant stocks and equipment. Procedures 

for disposal of such stocks and equipment should be by competitive quotations or 
auction, unless, following consultation with the Director of Resources, the Cabinet 
decides otherwise in a particular case.  

 
F3.108 To seek Cabinet approval to the write-off of redundant stocks and equipment in 

excess of £20,000.  
 
Intellectual property  
 
Why is this important?  
 
F3.109 Intellectual property is a generic term that includes inventions and writing. If these 

are created by the employee during the course of employment, then, as a general 
rule, they belong to the employer, not the employee. Various acts of Parliament 
cover different types of intellectual property.  

 
F3.110 Certain activities undertaken within the authority may give rise to items that may be 

patentable, for example, software development. These items are collectively known 
as intellectual property.  

 
Key controls  
 
F3.111 In the event that the authority decides to become involved in the commercial 

exploitation of inventions, the matter should proceed in accordance with the 
authority’s approved intellectual property procedures, if any.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F3.112 To develop and disseminate good practice through the authority’s intellectual 

property procedures.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F3.113 To ensure that controls are in place to ensure that staff do not carry out private work 

in Council time and that staff are aware of an employer’s rights with regard to 
intellectual property.  

324



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 48 
 

 
ASSET DISPOSAL  
 
Why is this important?  
 
F3.114 It would be uneconomic and inefficient for the cost of assets to outweigh their 

benefits. Obsolete, non-repairable or unnecessary resources should be disposed 
of in accordance with the law and the regulations of the authority.  

 
Key controls  
 
F3.115 Assets for disposal are identified and are disposed of at the most appropriate time, 

and only when it is in the best interests of the authority, and best price is obtained, 
bearing in mind other factors, such as environmental issues. For items of significant 
value, disposal should be by competitive tender or public auction.  

 
F3.116 Procedures protect staff involved in the disposal from accusations of personal gain.  
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F3.117 To issue guidelines representing best practice for disposal of assets.  
 
F3.118 To ensure appropriate accounting entries are made to remove the value of disposed 

assets from the authority’s records and to include the sale proceeds if appropriate.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F3.119 To comply with advice issued by the Director of Resources and to seek advice from 

purchasing advisors on the disposal of surplus or obsolete materials, stores or 
equipment.  

 
F3.120 To ensure that income received for the disposal of an asset is properly banked and 

coded.  
 
LOANS & INVESTMENTS 
 

Why is this Important 
 
F3.121 The authority holds considerable investments and borrows substantial sums to 

support its Capital Programme.  It is important that the Council ensures that its loans 
and investments are secure and that it maintains an appropriate title to all loans and 
investments. 

 

Key Controls 
 
F.3.122 The key controls for the security of loans and investments. 
 

(a) loans and investments are used only for the purposes of the authority and are 
properly accounted for  

(b) investments are held within the name of the Authority   

325



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 49 
 

(d) register is maintained for the authority of all loans, investment and borrowing. 
(e) formal approval is sought for third party loans. 
(e) to comply with all relevant legislation for running trust funds 
(f) all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to safeguarding the 

authority’s assets and information, including the requirements of the Data 
Protection Act and software copyright legislation  

(g) to maintain accounting records for imprest accounts. 
 
Responsibilities of Director of Resources – investments and borrowing  
 
F3.123 To ensure that all investments of money are made in the name of the authority or 

in the name of nominees approved by the Council.  
 
F3.124 To ensure that all securities that are the property of the authority or its nominees 

and the title deeds of all property in the authority’s ownership are held in the custody 
of the Monitoring Officer.  

 
F3.125 To effect all borrowings in the name of the authority.  
 
F3.126 To act as the authority’s registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and to maintain 

records of all borrowing of money by the authority.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors – investments and borrowing  
 
F3.127 To ensure that loans are not made to third parties and that interests are not acquired 

in companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without the approval of the Cabinet 
or Council, as appropriate, following consultation with the advice of the Director of 
Resources.  

 
Responsibilities of Directors – trust funds and funds held for third parties  
 
F3.128 To arrange for all trust funds to be held, wherever possible, in the name of the 

authority. All officers acting as trustees by virtue of their official position shall deposit 
securities, etc relating to the trust with the Director of Resources, unless the deed 
otherwise provides.  

 
F3.129 To arrange, where funds are held on behalf of third parties, for their secure 

administration, approved by the Director of Resources, and to maintain written 
records of all transactions.  

 
F3.130 To ensure that trust funds are operated within any relevant legislation and the 

specific requirements for each trust.  
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources – imprest accounts  
 
F3.131 To provide employees of the authority with cash or bank imprest accounts to meet 

minor expenditure on behalf of the authority and to prescribe rules for operating 
these accounts. Minor items of expenditure should not exceed £50.  

 

326



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 50 
 

F3.132 To determine the petty cash limit and to maintain a record of all transactions and 
petty cash advances made, and periodically to review the arrangements for the safe 
custody and control of these advances.  

 
F3.133 To reimburse imprest holders as often as necessary to restore the imprests, but 

normally not more than monthly.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors – imprest accounts  
 
F3.134 To ensure that employees operating an imprest account:  

(a) obtain and retain vouchers to support each payment from the imprest account. 
Where appropriate, an official receipted VAT invoice must be obtained  

(b) make adequate arrangements for the safe custody of the account  
(c) produce upon demand by the Director of Resources and their nominees (e.g. 

internal auditors) cash and all vouchers to the total value of the imprest amount  
(d) record transactions promptly  
(e) reconcile and balance the account at least monthly; reconciliation sheets to be 

signed and retained by the imprest holder  
(f) provide the Director of Resources with a certificate of the value of the account 

held at 31 March each year  
(g) ensure that the float is never used to cash personal cheques or to make 

personal loans and that the only payments into the account are the 
reimbursement of the float and change relating to purchases where an 
advance has been made  

(h) on leaving the authority’s employment or otherwise ceasing to be entitled to 
hold an imprest advance, an employee shall account to the Director of 
Resources for the amount advanced to him or her.  

 
STAFFING 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F3.135 In order to provide the highest level of service, it is crucial that the authority recruits 

and retains high calibre, knowledgeable staff, qualified to an appropriate level. 
 
Key controls 
 
F3.136 The key controls for staffing are:  

(a) an appropriate staffing strategy and policy exists, in which staffing 
requirements and budget allocation are matched  

(b) procedures are in place for forecasting staffing requirements and cost  
(c) controls are implemented that ensure that staff time is used efficiently and to 

the benefit of the authority  
(d) checks are undertaken prior to employing new staff to ensure that they are 

appropriately qualified, experienced and trustworthy.  
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F3.137 To ensure that budget provision exists for all existing and new employees.  
 

327



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 51 
 

F3.138 To advise Directors on the financial implications of varying their establishment prior 
to any decision to vary the establishment.    

 
F3.139 To act as an advisor to Directors on areas such as National Insurance and pension 

contributions, as appropriate.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F3.140 To produce an annual staffing budget.  
 
F3.141 To ensure that the staffing budget is an accurate forecast of staffing levels and is 

equated to an appropriate revenue budget provision (including on-costs and 
overheads).  

 
F3.142 To monitor staff activity to ensure adequate control over such costs as sickness, 

overtime, training and temporary staff.  
 
F3.143 To consult the Director of Resources to ensure that the financial implication of any 

variation to their staffing establishment is understood and affordable. 
 
F3.144 To ensure that the staffing budget is not exceeded without due authority and that it 

is managed to enable the agreed level of service to be provided.  
 
F3.145 To ensure that the Director of Resources is immediately informed if the staffing 

budget is likely to be materially over or underspent.  
 

328



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 52 
 

FINANCE RULE D: SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES  
 
RULE IN SUMMARY  
 
Introduction 
 
D.1 Sound systems and procedures are essential for an effective framework of 

accountability and control.  
 
GENERAL  
 
D.2 The Director of Resources is responsible for the operation of the authority’s 

accounting systems, the form of accounts and the supporting financial records. Any 
changes made by Directors to the existing financial systems or the establishment 
of new systems must be approved by the Director of Resources. However, Directors 
are responsible for the proper operation of financial processes in their own 
Directorates.  

 
D.3 Any changes to agreed procedures by Directors to meet their own specific service 

needs should be agreed with the Director of Resources.  
 
D.4 Directors should ensure that their staff receive relevant financial training that has 

been approved by the Director of Resources.  
 
D.5 Directors must ensure that, where appropriate, computer and other systems are 

registered in accordance with data protection legislation. Directors must ensure that 
staff are aware of their responsibilities under freedom of information legislation, and 
the Human Rights Act.  

 
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE  
 
D.6 It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that a proper scheme of delegation has 

been established within their area and is operating effectively. The scheme of 
delegation should identify staff authorised to act on the Director’s behalf, or on 
behalf of the Cabinet, in respect of payments, income collection and placing orders, 
together with the limits of their authority. The Cabinet is responsible for approving 
procedures for writing off debts as part of the overall control framework of 
accountability and control.  

 
PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS  
 
D.7 The Head of Human Resources is responsible for all payments of salaries and 

wages to all staff, including payments for overtime, and for payment of allowances 
to Members.  

 
PAYMENT TO CONTRACTORS AND CONSULTANTS 
 
D.8 The Director of Resources is responsible for all payments to contractor and 

consultants and ensuring that these comply with appropriate legislation. 
 

329



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 53 
 

TAXATION  
 
D.9 The Director of Resources is responsible for advising Directors, in the light of 

guidance issued by appropriate bodies and relevant legislation as it applies, on all 
taxation issues that affect the authority.  

 
D.10 The Director of Resources is responsible for maintaining the authority’s tax records, 

making all tax payments, receiving tax credits and submitting tax returns by their 
due date as appropriate.  

 
TRADING ACCOUNTS/BUSINESS UNITS  
 
D.11 It is the responsibility of the Director of Resources to approve advise on the 

establishment and operation of trading accounts and business units.  
 

330



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 54 
 

APPENDIX D  
FINANCIAL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
 
DETAILED RULES 
 
GENERAL 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F4.01 Directorates have many systems and procedures relating to the control of the 

authority’s assets, including purchasing, costing and management systems. 
Directorates are increasingly reliant on computers for their financial management 
information. The information must therefore be accurate and the systems and 
procedures sound and well administered. They should contain controls to ensure 
that transactions are processed properly, and errors detected promptly.  

 
F4.02 The Director of Resources has a professional responsibility to ensure that the 

authority’s financial systems are sound and should therefore be notified of any new 
developments or changes.  

 
Key controls 
 
The key controls for systems and procedures are:  
(a) basic data exists to enable the authority’s objectives, targets, budgets and plans to 

be formulated  
(b) performance is communicated to the appropriate managers on an accurate, 

complete and timely basis  
(c) early warning is provided of deviations from target, plans and budgets that require 

management attention 
(d) operating systems and procedures are secure. 
(e) there is an audit trail or log of system changes. 
 
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources 
 
F4.03 To make arrangements for the proper administration of the authority’s financial 

affairs, including to:  
(a) issue advice, guidance and procedures for officers and others acting on the 

authority’s behalf  
(b) determine the accounting systems, form of accounts and supporting financial 

records  
(c)  establish arrangements for audit of the authority’s financial affairs  
(d) approve any new financial systems to be introduced  
(e) approve any changes to be made to existing financial systems.  

 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F4.04 To ensure that accounting records are properly maintained and held securely.  
 

331



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 55 
 

F4.05 To ensure that vouchers and documents with financial implications are not 
destroyed, except in accordance with arrangements approved by the Director of 
Resources.  

 
F4.06 To ensure that a complete management trail, allowing financial transactions to be 

traced from the accounting records to the original document, and vice versa, is 
maintained.  

 
F4.07 To incorporate appropriate controls to ensure that, where relevant:  

(a) all input is genuine, complete, accurate, timely and not previously processed  
(b) all processing is carried out in an accurate, complete and timely manner  
(c) output from the system is complete, accurate and timely.  

 
F4.08 To ensure that the organisational structure provides an appropriate segregation of 

duties to provide adequate internal controls and to minimise the risk of fraud or other 
malpractice.  

 
F4.09 To ensure there is a documented and tested disaster recovery plan to allow 

information system processing to resume quickly in the event of an interruption.  
 
F4.10 To ensure that systems are documented and staff properly trained in operating 

these systems.  
 
F4.11 To consult with seek the approval of the Director of Resources before changing any 

existing system or introducing new systems that are financial in nature or that impact 
upon the financial systems of the Council.  

 
F4.12 To establish a scheme of delegation identifying officers authorised to act upon the 

Director’s behalf in respect of payments, income collection and placing orders, 
including variations, and showing the limits of their authority.  

 
F4.13 To supply lists of authorised officers, with specimen signatures and delegated limits, 

to the Director of Resources, together with any subsequent variations.  
 
F4.14 To ensure that effective contingency arrangements, including back-up procedures, 

exist for computer systems. Wherever possible, back-up information should be 
securely retained in a fireproof location, preferably off site or at an alternative 
location within the building.  

 
F4.15 To ensure that, where appropriate, computer systems are registered in accordance 

with data protection legislation and that staff are aware of their responsibilities under 
the legislation.  

 

332



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 56 
 

Responsibilities of the Head of Information Technology 
 
F4.16 To issue standards and guidelines for computer systems and take the necessary 

steps to ensure these are observed.  
 
F4.17 To ensure that computer equipment and software are protected from loss and 

damage through theft, vandalism, virus attack, etc.  
 
F4.18 To comply with the copyright, designs and patents legislation and, in particular, to 

ensure that:  
(a) only software legally acquired and installed by the authority is used on its 

computers  
(b) staff are aware of legislative provisions  
(c) in developing systems, due regard is given to the issue of intellectual property 

rights.  
 
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
 
Income 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F4.19 Income can be a vulnerable asset and effective income collection systems are 

necessary to ensure that all income due is identified, collected, receipted, and 
banked properly. It is preferable to obtain income in advance of supplying goods or 
services as this improves the authority’s cashflow and avoids the time and cost of 
administering debt recovery procedures.  

 
Key controls  
 
F4.20 The key controls for income are:  

(a) all income due to the authority is identified and charged correctly, in 
accordance with an approved charging policy, which is regularly reviewed  

(b) all income is collected from the correct person, at the right time, using the 
correct procedures and the appropriate stationery  

(c) all money received by an employee on behalf of the authority is paid without 
delay, and without deduction, to the Director of Resources or, as he or she 
directs, to the authority’s bank, and properly recorded. The responsibility for 
cash collection should be separated from that:  
• for identifying the amount due  
• for reconciling the amount due to the amount received  

(d) effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined timescales  
(e) formal approval for debt write-off is obtained  
(f) appropriate write-off action is taken within defined timescales  
(g) appropriate accounting adjustments are made following write-off action  
(h) all appropriate income documents are retained and stored for the defined 

period in accordance with the document retention schedule  
(i) money collected and deposited is reconciled to the bank account by a person 

who is not involved in the collection or banking process.  
 

333



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 57 
 

Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F4.21 To agree arrangements for the collection of all income due to the authority and to 

approve the procedures, systems and documentation for its collection.  
 
F4.22 To order and supply to departments all receipt forms, books or tickets and similar 

items and to satisfy himself or herself regarding the arrangements for their control.  
 
F4.23 To agree the write-off of bad debts within those functions that fall within the 

responsibilities of the Director up to £50,000 in each case and to refer larger sums 
to the Cabinet.  

 
F4.24 To approve all debts to be written off in consultation with the relevant Director and 

to keep a record of all sums written off up to the approved limit and to adhere to the 
requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 .  

 
F4.25 To obtain the approval of the Cabinet in consultation with the relevant Director for 

writing off debts in excess of the approved limit.  
 
F4.26 To ensure that appropriate accounting adjustments are made following write-off 

action.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F4.27 To establish a charging policy for the supply of goods or services, including the 

appropriate charging of VAT, and to review it regularly, in line with corporate 
policies.  

 
F4.28 To separate the responsibility for identifying amounts due and the responsibility for 

collection, as far as is practicable.  
 
F4.29 To establish and initiate appropriate recovery procedures, including legal action 

where necessary, for debts that are not paid promptly.  
 
F4.30 To issue official receipts or to maintain other documentation for income collection.  
 
F4.31 To ensure that at least two employees are present when post is opened so that 

money received by post is properly identified and recorded.  
 
F4.32 To hold securely receipts, tickets and other records of income for the appropriate 

period. 
 
F4.33 To lock away all income to safeguard against loss or theft, and to ensure the security 

of cash handling. 
 
F4.34 To ensure that income is paid fully and promptly into the appropriate authority bank 

account in the form in which it is received. Appropriate details should be recorded 
on to paying-in slips to provide an audit trail. Money collected and deposited must 
be reconciled to the bank account on a regular basis. 

 

334



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 58 
 

F4.35 To ensure income is not used to cash personal cheques or other payments. 
 
F4.36 To supply the Director of Resources with details relating to work done, goods 

supplied, services rendered or other amounts due, to enable the Director of 
Resources to record correctly the sums due to the authority and to ensure accounts 
are sent out promptly. To do this, Directors should use established performance 
management systems to monitor recovery of income and flag up areas of concern 
to the Director of Resources.  

 
4.3.37 To assist the Director of Resources in collecting debts that they have originated, by 

providing any further information requested by the debtor, and in pursuing the 
matter on the authority’s behalf.  

 
F4.38 To ensure that levels of cash held on the premises must not exceed the levels 

approved by the Council’s insurers unless specific authority has been sought from 
the Director of Resources for those levels to be exceeded for short-term periods of 
operational necessity only.  

 
F4.39 To keep a record of every transfer of money between employees of the authority. 

The receiving officer must sign for the transfer and the transferor must retain a copy.  
 
F4.40 To recommend to the Director of Resources all debts to be written off in a timely 

manner and to keep a record of all sums written off up to the approved limit. Once 
raised, no bona fide debt may be cancelled, except by full payment or by its formal 
writing off. A credit note to replace a debt can only be issued to correct a factual 
inaccuracy or administrative error in the calculation and/or billing of the original debt.  

 
F4.41 To obtain the approval of the Director of Resources when writing off debts in excess 

of £5000, and the approval of the Cabinet where debts exceed £50,000.  
 
F4.42 To notify the Director of Resources of outstanding income relating to the previous 

financial year as soon as possible after 31 March in line with the timetable 
determined by the Director of Resources and not later than 30 April.  

 
Ordering and Paying for Work, Goods and Services 
 
Why is this important?  
 
F4.43 Public money should be spent with demonstrable probity and in accordance with 

the authority’s policies. Authorities have a statutory duty to achieve best value in 
part through economy and efficiency. The authority’s procedures should help to 
ensure that services obtain value for money from their purchasing arrangements. 
These procedures should be read in conjunction with the authority’s Contract Rules.  

 
General 
 
F4.44 Every officer and Member of the authority has a responsibility to declare any links 

or personal interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers and/or 
contractors if they are engaged in contractual or purchasing decisions on behalf of 

335



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 59 
 

the authority, in accordance with appropriate codes of conduct and the Contract and 
Tendering Procedure Rule 8A Section 3.  

 
F4.45 Official orders must be in a form approved by the Director of Resources and 

Monitoring Officer. Official purchase orders and Agresso must be issued for all 
work, goods or services to be supplied to the authority, except for supplies of 
utilities, periodic payments such as rent or rates, petty cash purchases or other 
exceptions specified by the Director of Resources.  

 
F4.46 Each order must conform to contract rules and any guidelines approved by the 

Council on central purchasing and the standardisation of supplies and materials. 
Standard terms and conditions must not be varied without the prior approval of the 
Monitoring Officer.  

 
F4.47 Apart from petty cash, schools’ own bank accounts and other payments from 

advance accounts, the normal method of payment from the authority shall be by 
bank transfer cheque or other instrument or approved method, drawn on the 
authority’s bank account or National Giro account by the Director of Resources. The 
use of direct debit shall require the prior agreement of the Director of Resources.  

 
F4.48 Official orders must not be raised for any personal or private purchases, nor must 

personal or private use be made of authority contracts.  
 
Key controls  
 
F4.49 The key controls for ordering and paying for work, goods and services are:  

(a) all goods and services are ordered only by appropriate persons using the 
purchase order system on Agresso in accordance with F4.43 above and are 
correctly recorded unless the Director of Resources has given authority, in 
writing, for an exemption to this requirement.  

(b) all goods and services shall be ordered in accordance with the authority’s 
contract rules unless they are purchased from sources within the authority and, 
where necessary, comply with European legislation  

(c) goods and services received are checked to ensure they are in accordance 
with the order. Goods should not be received by the person who placed the 
order  

(d) payments are not made unless goods have been received by the authority to 
the correct price, quantity and quality standards  

(e) all payments are made to the correct person, for the correct amount and are 
properly recorded, regardless of the payment method  

(f) all appropriate evidence of the transaction and payment documents are 
retained and stored for the defined period, in accordance with the document 
retention schedule  

(g) all expenditure, including VAT, is accurately recorded against the right budget 
and any exceptions are corrected  

(h) in addition, the effect of e-business/e-commerce and electronic purchasing 
requires that processes are in place to maintain the security and integrity of 
data for transacting business electronically.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  

336



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 60 
 

 
F4.50 To ensure that all the authority’s financial systems and procedures are sound and 

properly administered.  
 
F4.51 To approve any changes to existing financial systems and to approve any new 

systems before they are introduced.  
 
F4.52 To approve the form of official orders and associated terms and conditions.  
 
F4.53 To make payments from the authority’s funds on the Director’s authorisation that 

the expenditure has been duly incurred in accordance with Finance Rules.  
 
F4.54 To make payments, whether or not provision exists within the estimates, where the 

payment is specifically required by statute or is made under a court order.  
 
F4.55 To make payments to contractors on the certificate of the appropriate Director, 

which must include details of the value of work, retention money, amounts 
previously certified and amounts now certified.  

 
F4.56 To provide advice and encouragement on making payments by the most 

economical means.  
 
F4.57 To ensure that a budgetary control system is established that enables commitments 

incurred by placing orders to be shown against the appropriate budget allocation so 
that they can be taken into account in budget monitoring reports.  

 
F4.58  To make payments to suppliers within appropriate timescales.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F4.59 To ensure that unique numbered official orders are used for all goods and services, 

other than the exceptions specified in 4.43.  
 
F4.60 To ensure that orders are only used for goods and services provided to the 

department Directorate. Individuals must not use official orders to obtain goods or 
services for their private use.  

 
F4.61 To ensure that only those staff authorised by him or her sign orders and to maintain 

an up-to-date list of such authorised staff, including specimen signatures identifying 
in each case the limits of their authority. The authoriser of the order should be 
satisfied that the goods and services ordered are appropriate and needed, that 
there is adequate budgetary provision and that quotations or tenders have been 
obtained in accordance with contract rules. Best value principles should underpin 
the authority’s approach to procurement. Value for money should always be 
achieved.  

 
F4.62 To ensure that goods and services are checked on receipt to verify that they are in 

accordance with the order. This check should, where possible, be carried out by a 
different officer from the person who authorised the order. Appropriate entries 
should then be made in inventories or stores records.  

337



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 61 
 

 
F4.63 To ensure that payment is not made unless a proper VAT invoice has been 

received, checked, coded and certified for payment, confirming:  
(a) receipt of goods or services  
(b) that the invoice has not previously been paid  
(c) that expenditure has been properly incurred and is within budget provision  
(d) that prices and arithmetic are correct and accord with quotations, tenders, 

contracts or catalogue prices  
(e) correct accounting treatment of tax  
(f) that the invoice is correctly coded  
(g) that discounts have been taken where available  
(h) that appropriate entries will be made in accounting records.  

 
F4.64 To ensure that two authorised members of staff are involved in the ordering, 

receiving and payment process. If possible, a different officer from the person who 
signed the order, and in every case, a different officer from the person checking a 
written invoice, should authorise the invoice.  

 
F4.65 To ensure that the Directors maintain and review periodically a list of staff approved 

to authorise invoices. Names of authorising officers together with specimen 
signatures and details of the limits of their authority shall be forwarded to the 
Director of Resources.  

 
F4.66 To ensure that payments are not made on a photocopied or faxed invoice, 

statement or other document other than the formal invoice and other e payment 
methods. Any instances of these being rendered should be reported to the Head of 
Audit and Review.   

 
F4.67 To encourage suppliers of goods and services to receive payment by the most 

economical means for the authority. It is essential, however, that payments made 
by direct debit have the prior approval of the Director of Resources.  

 
F4.68 To ensure that the Directorate obtains best value from purchases by taking 

appropriate steps to obtain competitive prices for goods and services of the 
appropriate quality, with regard to the best practice guidelines issued by the Director 
of Resources, which are in line with best value principles and contained in the 
authority’s code of practice for tenders and contracts.  

 
F4.69 To utilise any central purchasing procedures which may involve the Council in 

putting purchases, where appropriate, out to competitive quotation or tender. These 
will comply with the Contract Rules and will cover:  
(a) authorised officers and the extent of their authority  
(b) advertisement for tenders  
(c) procedure for creating, maintaining and revising a standard list of contractors  
(d) selection of tenderers  
(e) compliance with UK and EC legislation and regulations  
(f) procedures for the submission, receipt, opening and recording of tenders  
(g) the circumstances where financial or technical evaluation is necessary  
(h) procedures for negotiation  
(i) acceptance of tenders  

338



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 62 
 

(j) the form of contract documentation  
(k) cancellation clauses in the event of corruption or bribery  
(l) contract records.  

 
F4.70 To ensure that employees are aware of the code of conduct for employees 

contained in Part 7C of the Constitution  
 
F4.71 To ensure that loans, leasing or rental arrangements are not entered into without 

prior agreement from the Director of Resources. This is because of the potential 
impact on the authority’s borrowing powers, to protect the authority against entering 
into unapproved credit arrangements and to ensure that value for money is being 
obtained.  

 
F4.72 To notify the Director of Resources of outstanding expenditure relating to the 

previous financial year as soon as possible after 31 March in line with the timetable 
determined by the Director of Resources and, in any case, not later than 30 April.  

 
F4.73 With regard to contracts for construction and alterations to buildings and for civil 

engineering works, to document and agree with the Director of Resources the 
systems and procedures to be adopted in relation to financial aspects, including 
certification of interim and final payments, checking, recording and authorising 
payments, the system for monitoring and controlling capital schemes and the 
procedures for validation of subcontractors’ tax status.  

 
F4.74 To notify the Director of Resources immediately of any expenditure to be incurred 

as a result of statute/court order where there is no budgetary provision.  
 
F4.75 To ensure that all appropriate payment records are retained and stored for the 

defined period, in accordance with the document retention schedule.  
 
PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS  
 
Why is this important?  
 
F4.76 Staff costs are the largest item of expenditure for most authority services. It is 

therefore important that payments are accurate, timely, made only where they are 
due for services to the authority and that payments accord with individuals’ 
conditions of employment. It is also important that all payments are accurately and 
completely recorded and accounted for and that Members’ allowances are 
authorised in accordance with the scheme adopted by the Council.  

 
Key controls 
 
F4.77 The key controls for payments to employees and Members are:  

(a) proper authorisation procedures are in place and that there is adherence to 
corporate timetables in relation to:  
• starters  
• leavers  
• variations  
• enhancements  

339



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 63 
 

and that payments are made on the basis of timesheets or claims  
(b) frequent reconciliation of payroll expenditure against approved budget and 

bank account  
(c) all appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the defined 

period in accordance with the document retention schedule  
(d) that Inland Revenue regulations are complied with.  

 
Responsibilities of the Head of Human Resources  
 
F4.78 To arrange and control secure and reliable payment of salaries, wages, 

compensation or other emoluments to existing and former employees, in 
accordance with procedures prescribed by him or her, on the due date.  

 
F4.79 To record and make arrangements for the accurate and timely payment of tax, 

superannuation and other deductions.  
 
F4.80 To make arrangements for payment of all travel attendance and subsistence claims 

or financial loss allowance.  
 
F4.81 To make arrangements for paying Members’ Basic and any Special Responsibility 

Allowances, as contained in the approved Members’ Allowances Scheme, and to 
pay travel or other allowances upon receiving the prescribed form, duly completed 
and authorised.  

 
F4.82 To provide advice and encouragement to secure payment of salaries and wages by 

the most economical means.  
 
F4.83 To ensure that there are adequate arrangements for administering superannuation 

matters on a day-to-day basis.  
 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 
F4.84 To ensure appointments are made in accordance with the policies and procedures 

rules of the authority and approved establishments, grades and scale of pay and 
that adequate budget provision is available.  

 
F4.85 To notify the Head of Human Resources of all appointments, terminations or 

variations which may affect the pay or pension of an employee or former employee, 
in the form and to the timescale required by the Director of Resources.  

 
F4.86 To ensure that adequate and effective systems and procedures are operated, so 

that:  
• payments are only authorised to bona fide employees  
• payments are only made where there is a valid entitlement  
• conditions and contracts of employment are correctly applied  
• employees’ names listed on the payroll are checked at regular intervals to 

verify accuracy and completeness.  
 

340



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 64 
 

F4.87 To send an up-to-date list of the names of officers authorised to sign records to the 
Head of Human Resources, together with specimen signatures. The payroll 
provider should have signatures of personnel officers and officers authorised to sign 
timesheets and claims.  

 
F4.88 To ensure that payroll transactions are processed only through the payroll system. 

Directors should give careful consideration to the employment status of individuals 
employed on a self-employed consultant or subcontract basis. The Inland Revenue 
applies a tight definition for employee status, and in cases of doubt, advice should 
be sought from the Director of Resources.  

 
F4.89 To certify travel and subsistence claims and other allowances. Certification is taken 

to mean that journeys were authorised and expenses properly and necessarily 
incurred, and that allowances are properly payable by the authority, ensuring that 
cost-effective use of travel arrangements is achieved. Due consideration should be 
given to tax implications and that the Director of Resources is informed where 
appropriate. The arrangements will provide that such claims may only be certified 
by a more senior officer to the officer making the claim. This will usually be the 
officer's Line Manager. For Directors, certification shall be another Director, the 
Director of Resources or the Monitoring Officer.  

  
F4.90 To ensure that the Head of Human Resources is notified of the details of any 

employee benefits in kind, to enable full and complete reporting within the income 
tax self-assessment system.  

 
F4.91 To ensure that all appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the 

defined period in accordance with the document retention schedule.  
 
 
Responsibilities of Members  
 
F4.92 To submit claims for Members’ travel and other allowances in accordance with the 

Members’ Allowances Scheme (Part 9A) on a monthly basis and, in any event, 
within one month of the year end.  

 
Payments to Consultants and Sub-Contractors 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F4.93 The Inland Revenue has introduced new arrangements to ensure that that 

workers, who would have been an employee if they were providing their services 
directly to the client, pay broadly the same tax and National Insurance contributions 
as employees. These rules are sometimes known as ‘IR35’ 

 
Key Controls 
 
F4.94 The key controls are as follows: 
 

(a) Ensuring that Directors are aware of the tax implications associated with the 
employment of consultants and sub-contractors. 

341



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 65 
 

(b) Running checks on a regular basis to assess the extent of the above 
arrangements 

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources 
 
F4.95 To issue guidance to Directors on the application of employment taxation rules in 

line with Inland Revenue Requirement. 
 
F4.96 To advise and assist Directors to establish the employment status of individual 

employed on a self-employed consultant or sub-contract basis. 
 
F4.97 To review on a regular basis payments to self-employed consultants and sub-

contractors and investigate any discrepancy with the relevant Director. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 
F4.98 To give careful consideration to the employment status of individuals employed on 

a self-employed consultant or subcontract basis. The Inland Revenue applies a tight 
definition for employee status, and in cases of doubt, advice should be sought from 
the Director of Resources.  

 
F4.99 To obtain further information and undertake an assessment for IR35 purposes. 
 
F4.100 To keep a record of their decision regarding the employment status of self-

employed consultants and sub-contractors 
 
TAXATION  
 
Why is this important?  
 
F4.101 Like all organisations, the authority is responsible for ensuring its tax affairs are in 

order. Tax issues are often very complex and the penalties for incorrectly 
accounting for tax are severe. It is therefore very important for all officers to be 
aware of their role.  

 
Key controls  
 
F4.102 The key controls for taxation are:  

(a) budget managers are provided with relevant information and kept up to date 
on tax issues  

(b) budget managers are instructed on required record keeping  
(c) all taxable transactions are identified, properly carried out and accounted for 

within stipulated timescales  
(d) records are maintained in accordance with instructions  
(e) returns are made to the appropriate authorities within the stipulated timescale.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F4.103 To complete all Inland Revenue returns regarding PAYE.  
 

342



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 66 
 

F4.104 To complete a monthly return of VAT inputs and outputs to HM Customs and Excise.  
 
F4.105 To provide details to the Inland Revenue regarding the construction industry tax 

deduction scheme.  
  
F4.106 To maintain up-to-date guidance for authority employees on taxation issues that 

may affect their work for the Council or themselves as employees of the Council. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F4.107 To ensure that the correct VAT liability is attached to all income due and that all 

VAT recoverable on purchases complies with HM Customs and Excise regulations.  
 
F4.108 To ensure that, where construction and maintenance works are undertaken, the 

contractor fulfils the necessary construction industry tax deduction requirements.  
 
F4.109 To ensure that all persons employed by the authority are added to the authority’s 

payroll and tax deducted from any payments, except where the individuals are bona 
fide self-employed or are employed by a recognised staff agency.  

 
F4.110 To follow the guidance on taxation issued by the Director of Resources in the 

authority’s accounting manual and VAT manual.  
 
TRADING ACCOUNTS AND BUSINESS UNITS  
 
Why is this important?  
 
F4.111 Trading accounts and business units have become more important as local 

authorities have developed a more commercial culture. Under best value, 
authorities are required to keep trading accounts for services provided on a basis 
other than straightforward recharge of cost. They are also required to disclose the 
results of significant trading operations.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 
F4.112 To advise on the establishment and operation of trading accounts and business 

units.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F4.113 To consult with the Director of Resources and the Monitoring Officer where a 

business unit wishes to enter into a contract with a third party where the contract 
expiry date exceeds the remaining life of their main contract with the authority. In 
general, such contracts should not be entered into unless they can be terminated 
within the main contract period without penalty.  

  
F4.114 To observe all statutory requirements in relation to business units, including the 

maintenance of a separate revenue account to which all relevant income is credited 
and all relevant expenditure, including overhead costs, is charged, and to produce 
an annual report in support of the final accounts.  

343



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 67 
 

 
F4.115 To ensure that the same accounting principles are applied in relation to trading 

accounts as for other services or business units.  
 
F4.116 To ensure that each business unit prepares an annual business plan, as necessary.  
  

344



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 68 
 

FINANCE RULE E: EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS  
 
RULE IN SUMMARY  
 
INTRODUCTION  
 
E.1 The local authority provides a distinctive leadership role for the community and 

brings together the contributions of the various stakeholders. It must also act to 
achieve the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental 
well-being of its area.  

 
PARTNERSHIPS  
 
E.2 The Cabinet is responsible for approving delegations, including frameworks for 

partnerships. The Cabinet is the focus for forming partnerships with other local 
public, private, voluntary and community sector organisations to address local 
needs.  

 
E.3 The Cabinet can delegate functions – including those relating to partnerships – to 

officers. These are set out in the scheme of delegation that forms part of the 
authority’s Constitution. Where functions are delegated, the Cabinet remains 
accountable for them to the Council.  

 
E.4 The Managing Director or his representative represents the Authority on partnership 

and external bodies, in accordance with the scheme of delegation.  
 
E.5 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining the same high 

standards of conduct with regard to financial administration in partnerships that 
apply throughout the authority.  

 
E.6 The Director of Resources must ensure that the accounting arrangements to be 

adopted relating to partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory. He or she must 
also consider the overall corporate governance arrangements and legal issues 
when arranging contracts with external bodies. He or she must ensure that the risks 
have been fully appraised before agreements are entered into with external bodies.  

 
E.7 Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals are obtained 

before any negotiations are concluded in relation to work with external bodies.  
 
EXTERNAL FUNDING  
 
E.8 The Director of Resources is responsible for ensuring that all funding notified by 

external bodies is received and properly recorded in the authority’s accounts.  
 

345



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 69 
 

Work for Third Parties 
 
E.9 The Cabinet is responsible for approving the contractual arrangements for any work 

for third parties or external bodies.  
 

346



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 70 
 

APPENDIX E  
EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
 
DETAILED RULE 
 
PARTNERSHIPS 
 
Why is this important?  
 
F5.01 Partnerships are likely to play a key role in delivering community strategies and in 

helping to promote and improve the well-being of the area. Local authorities are 
working in partnership with others – public agencies, private companies, community 
groups and voluntary organisations. Local authorities still deliver some services, but 
their distinctive leadership role is to bring together the contributions of the various 
stakeholders. They therefore need to deliver a shared vision of services based on 
user wishes.  

 
F5.02 Local authorities will mobilise investment, bid for funds, champion the needs of their 

areas and harness the energies of local people and community organisations. Local 
authorities will be measured by what they achieve in partnership with others.  

 
General  
 
F5.03 The main reasons for entering into a partnership are:  

(a) the desire to find new ways to share risk  
(b) the ability to access new resources  
(c) to provide new and better ways of delivering services  
(d) to forge new relationships.  

 
F5.04 A partner is defined as either:  

(a)  an organisation (private or public) undertaking, part funding or participating as 
a beneficiary in a project  

or 
(b) a body whose nature or status give it a right or obligation to support the project.  

 
F5.05 Partners participate in projects by:  

(a) acting as a project deliverer or sponsor, solely or in concert with others  
(b) acting as a project funder or part funder  
(c) being the beneficiary group of the activity undertaken in a project.  

 
F5.06 Partners have common responsibilities:  

(a) to be willing to take on a role in the broader programme appropriate to the 
skills and resources of the partner organisation  

(b) to act in good faith at all times and in the best interests of the partnership’s 
aims and objectives  

(c) be open about any conflict of interests that might arise  
(d) to encourage joint working and promote the sharing of information, resources 

and skills between public, private and community sectors  
(e) to hold confidentially any information received as a result of partnership 

activities or duties that is of a confidential or commercially sensitive nature  

347



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 71 
 

(f) to act wherever possible as ambassadors for the project.  
 
Key controls  
 
F5.07 The key controls for authority partners are:  

(a) the business case submitted to the Cabinet 
(b) Partnership Agreement 
(c) if appropriate, to be aware of their responsibilities under the authority’s Finance 

Rules and the Contract Rules  
(d) to ensure that risk management processes are in place to identify and assess 

all known risks  
(e) to ensure that project appraisal processes are in place to assess the viability 

of the project in terms of resources, staffing and expertise  
(f) to agree and accept formally the roles and responsibilities of each of the 

partners involved in the project before the project commences 
(g) to communicate regularly with other partners throughout the project so that 

problems can be identified and shared to achieve their successful resolution  
(h) to ensure, where necessary, that the appropriate checks on staff (e.g. DBS) 

are undertaken prior to their employment in confidential or sensitive duties. 
(i) to ensure that the authority has full and open access to partnership records  
(j) to ensure that partnerships provide regular financial and performance 

information on at least a quarterly basis on the conduct of their affairs  
 
Responsibilities of the Cabinet 
 
F5.08 To consider and approve the business case for the establishment of a partnership 
 
F5.09 To consider and approve the final arrangements for establishing the partnership as 

set out in a partnership agreement 
 
F5.10 To appoint a lead member to oversee the operation of the partnership 
 
F5.11 To receive an annual report on the operation of major Council Partnerships. 
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources 
 
F5.12 To be consulted on all financial aspects relating to the business case used to 

establish the partnership and the associated partnership agreement. 
 
F5.13 To advise on effective controls that will ensure that resources are not wasted, 

including all financial aspects of the partnership agreement. 
 
F5.14 To advise on the key elements of funding a project. They include:  

(a)  a scheme appraisal for financial viability in both the current and future years  
(b) risk appraisal and management  
(c) resourcing, including taxation issues  
(d) audit, security and control requirements  
(e) carry-forward arrangements.  

 
F5.15 To ensure that the accounting arrangements are satisfactory.  

348



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 72 
 

 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F5.16 To maintain a register of all contracts entered into with external bodies in 

accordance with procedures specified by the Director of Resources.  
 
F5.17 To ensure that there is a business case for the establishment of a partnership  
 
F5.18 To ensure that, before entering into agreements with external bodies, a risk 

management appraisal has been prepared for the Director of Resources.  
 
F5.19 To ensure that such agreements and arrangements do not impact adversely upon 

the services provided by the authority.  
 
F5.20 To ensure that all agreements and arrangements are properly documented.  
 
F5.21 To provide appropriate information to the Director of Resources to enable a note to 

be entered into the authority’s statement of accounts concerning material items.  
  
 
EXTERNAL FUNDING 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F5.22 External funding is potentially a very important source of income, but funding 

conditions need to be carefully considered to ensure that they are compatible with 
the aims and objectives of the authority. Local authorities are increasingly 
encouraged to provide seamless service delivery through working closely with other 
agencies and private service providers. Funds from external agencies such as the 
National Lottery and the single regeneration budget provide additional resources to 
enable the authority to deliver services to the local community. However, in some 
instances, although the scope for external funding has increased, such funding is 
linked to tight specifications and may not be flexible enough to link to the authority’s 
overall plan.  

 
Key controls  
 
F5.23 The key controls for external funding are:  

(a) to ensure that key conditions of funding and any statutory requirements are 
complied with and that the responsibilities of the accountable body are clearly 
understood  

(b) to ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities approved in the 
policy framework by the Council  

(c) to ensure that any match-funding requirements are given due consideration 
prior to entering into long-term agreements and that future revenue budgets 
reflect these requirements.  

 
Responsibilities of the Director of Resources  
 

349



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 73 
 

F5.24 To ensure that all funding notified by external bodies is received and properly 
recorded in the authority’s accounts.  

F5.25 To ensure that the match-funding requirements are considered prior to entering into 
the agreements and that future revenue budgets reflect these requirements.  

F5.26 To ensure that audit requirements are met.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F5.27 To ensure that all claims for funds are made by the due date.  
 
F5.28 To ensure that the project progresses in accordance with the agreed project and 

that all expenditure is properly incurred and recorded.  
  
WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES 
 
Why is this important? 
 
F5.29 Current legislation enables the authority to provide a range of services to other 

bodies. Such work may enable a unit or service to maintain economies of scale and 
existing expertise. Arrangements should be in place to ensure that any risks 
associated with this work is minimised and that such work is intra vires.  

 
Key controls 
 
F5.30 The key controls for working with third parties are:  

(a) to ensure that proposals are costed properly in accordance with guidance 
provided by the Director of Resources;  

(b) to ensure that contracts are drawn up using guidance provided by the Director 
of Resources and Monitoring Officer and that the formal approvals process is 
adhered to;  

(c) to issue guidance with regard to the financial aspects of third party contracts 
and the maintenance of the contract register.  

 
Responsibilities of the Cabinet 
 
F5.31 To approve any arrangements for the provision of services to third parties. 
 
Responsibilities of Director of Resources  
 
F5.32 To issue guidance with regard to the financial aspects of third party contracts and 

the maintenance of the contract register.  
 
Responsibilities of Directors  
 
F5.33 To consult with the Director of Resources and the Monitoring Officer on any 

proposals to provide services to third parties, prior to seeking Cabinet approval. 
 

F5.34 To ensure that the approval of the Cabinet is obtained before any negotiations are 
concluded to work for third parties.  

 

350



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 74 
 

F5.35 To maintain a register of all contracts entered into with third parties in accordance 
with procedures specified by the Director of Resources.  

 
F5.36 To ensure that appropriate insurance arrangements are made.  
 
F5.37 To ensure that the authority is not put at risk of assuming the responsibility for any 

bad debts that may occur if the third party organisation is wound up.  
 
F5.38 To ensure that no contract is subsidised by the authority.  
 
F5.39 To ensure that, wherever possible, payment is received in advance of the delivery 

of the service.  
  
F5.40 To ensure that the department/unit has the appropriate expertise to undertake the 

contract.  
 
F5.41 To ensure that such contracts do not impact adversely upon the services provided 

for the authority.  
 
F5.42 To ensure that all contracts are properly documented.  
 
F5.43 To provide appropriate information to the Director of Resources to enable a note to 

be entered into the statement of accounts.  
 
  

351



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 75 
 

 
  

352



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 76 
 

Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
 

 

 
INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 

 

 
The Terms of Reference for the provision of the Internal Audit Service within 

the Shared Audit and Investigation Service for RBWM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 (This document revises and updates the previous Audit Charter approved by the Audit and 
Performance Review Panel.  Reviewed annually. Last review undertaken February 2019) 
  

353



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 77 
 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD 
 

AUDIT AND INVESTIGATIONS UNIT 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 
  

Introduction 
 
1. The purpose of this Audit Charter is to set out the Terms of Reference for the provision 

of the Internal Audit Service within the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead. 
The Charter is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that current needs are met.  The 
Charter demonstrates how the Internal Audit Service complies with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), which came into effect in April 2013 and were last 
revised in August 2017 

 
Authority 

 
2. The Local Government Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require every local 

authority to undertake effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance.  

 
3. Under S151 of the Local Government Finance Act 1972, the S151 Officer is 

responsible for ensuring that proper arrangements exist for the management of the 
Council’s financial affairs. Reliance upon Internal Audit is fundamental to the fulfilment 
of that responsibility. 

 
Definition of Internal Auditing 

 
4. In accordance with the PSIAS, Internal Audit is an independent, objective assurance 

and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s 
operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, 
disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control and governance processes.   

 
Mission Statement 

 
5. The purpose of the Shared Audit and Investigation Service (SAIS) is to provide 

independent, objective assurance and consulting services designed to add value and 
improve RBWM’s operations. The mission of internal audit is to enhance and protect 
organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice, and 
insight. The Shared Audit and Investigation Service helps RBWM accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of governance, risk management, and control processes. The role of the 
Chief Audit Executive (CAE) is performed by the Assistant Director, Governance – 
Wokingham Borough Council. 

 
Role, Purpose and Function 

 
6. The Internal Audit Service provides:- 

354



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 78 
 

 

      Senior Management and the Board (the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel) with assurances on the adequacy of control within the Council’s systems 
and activities. 

      the S151 Officer with the assurances required to discharge their statutory 
responsibilities.  

      a service to monitor the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s 
objectives. 

      evidence regarding compliance with the Council’s Constitution, Corporate 
procedures and the Council's policies and objectives. 

 
7. The existence of Internal Audit does not diminish the responsibility of management to 

establish systems of internal control to ensure that activities are conducted in a secure, 
efficient and well-ordered manner. 

 
8. For the purposes of clarification, Senior Management is defined as those posts that are 

within the organisation at Head of Service level and above.   
 
9. The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel is the highest level of governing body 

charged with the responsibility to direct and/or oversee the activities and management 
of the organisation.      

 
7  Independence 
 
10. The main determinant of the effectiveness of Internal Audit is that it is seen to be 

independent.  To ensure this, Internal Audit operates within a framework that allows:- 
 

      unrestricted access to the Head of Paid Service and Senior Management. 

      unrestricted access to the Chairman of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel and other Council Members. 

      segregation from operations. 
 
11. Every effort is made to preserve objectivity by ensuring that all audit members of staff 

are free from any conflicts of interest with regard to both audit and non-audit activities. 
 

    Objectives of Internal Audit 
 
12. As an independent appraisal function within the Council, the primary objective of 

Internal Audit is to review, appraise and report upon the adequacy of internal controls 
as a contribution to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources.  In 
addition, the other objectives of the function are to: 

 

    Ensure compliance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 Deliver an annual internal audit opinion on the strength of the Council’s governance 
arrangements and control environment to support the Council’s review of the 
effectiveness of internal control and the production of the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS).  

      Support managers with the management of risk including: - 
 

- In the delivery of services 

355



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 79 
 

- Protection of assets from loss 
- Maintaining the reputation of the Council 
- Protecting the organisation from litigation 
- Meeting statutory obligations 
- Meeting corporate objectives 
- Being aware of environmental implications 
- Being alert to the risk of fraud or irregularity 
- Contingency planning 
-  Provide managers with support and advice to encourage consultation and the 

adoption of best practice. 

   Perform testing of key systems to inform the work of the External Auditors. 

       Undertake projects to meet the current concerns of the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel, Head of Paid Service, Directors, Heads of Service, the Section 
151 Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

      Undertake an annual review of the effectiveness of the Council’s system of 
internal audit, required under the PSIAS. The Assistant Director, Governance, 
Wokingham Borough Council arranges this work and the outcomes are presented 
to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel.      Assist management with the 
provision of consultancy work where appropriate, e.g. in the preparation for 
inspections, to implement best practice. 
 

13.  The assurance set out above is provided for the internal use of the Royal Borough of 
Windsor and Maidenhead. Where the Audit Sponsor (Managing Director/Director) 
decides it is prudent and increases efficiency these assurances can be used by 3rd 
parties. Examples include, but are not limited to, other local authorities, local authority 
trading companies, grant awarding bodies, regulatory and inspection bodies. Where 
this assurance is provided to external bodies these are limited to the primary purpose 
of providing reasonable assurance to the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, 
except where this is agreed within the scope of the applicable Internal Audit Terms of 
Reference.  

 
Scope of Internal Audit 
 
14. The scope of Internal Audit allows for unrestricted coverage of the Council’s activities 

and unrestricted access to all records (both electronic or otherwise), assets, personnel 
and premises and for obtaining such information and explanations it considers 
necessary to fulfil its responsibilities.  These rights of access also apply to the Council’s 
partner organisations and contractors. This unrestricted access also extends to any 
person carrying out an investigation on behalf of the Chief Audit Executive. 

 
15. In addition, Internal Audit, has unrestricted access to Members, the Head of Paid 

Service, Directors, Heads of Service, all other council employees, External Audit, 
suppliers and contractors.  

 
16. Internal Audit work covers all systems and activities in all directorates and locations 

throughout the Council.  
  

Professional Standards and Ethics 
 

356



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 80 
 

17. The Assistant Director, Governance, Wokingham Borough Council has adopted the 
mandatory PSIAS which applies the IIA International Standards to the UK Public 
Sector. The objectives of these Standards are to;  

 Define the nature of internal auditing within the UK public sector. 

 Set basic principles for carrying out internal audit in the UK public sector. 

 Establish a framework for providing internal audit services, which add value to 
the organisation, leading to improved organisational processes and 
operations, and 

 Establish the basis for the evaluation of internal audit performance and to drive 
improvement planning. 

 Ensure that the core principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 
are present and operating effectively. 

 
18. All Internal Auditors will endeavour to conform with the IIA’s Code of Ethics and rules 

of conduct and the requirements of any other professional bodies for which they are a 
member.  Internal Auditors also have regard to the Standards of Public Life’s Seven 
Principles of Public Life (“Nolan Principles”). 

 
19. Instances of non-conformance to the PSIAS will be reported to the Corporate Overview 

and Scrutiny Panel. More significant deviations will be considered for inclusion in the 
AGS. 

 
20. Any offers of gifts or hospitality will be reported to the Assistant Director, Governance, 

Wokingham Borough Council and an appropriate record made in accordance with the 
Council’s gift and hospitality policy. Auditors must avoid the perception of any 
impairment to their objectivity and independence.  
 
Responsibility 

 
21. Internal Audit has no executive responsibility for the Council’s systems of internal 

control other than an appraisal of their effectiveness with regard to Council objectives.  
 
22. Internal Audit is not an extension of, or a substitute for, the functions of management. 

Responsibility for internal control rests fully with managers, who should ensure that 
arrangements are appropriate and adequate. It is for management to address Internal 
Audit concerns or to accept the risk resulting from not taking action. However, it is the 
SAIS’s responsibility to consider taking matters to higher levels of management or to 
Council Members if it is felt that the risk should not (or need not) be borne. 

 
23. The internal auditor should have regard to the possibility of such malpractice and 

should seek to identify serious defects in internal control, which might permit the 
occurrence of such an event. 

 
24. An internal auditor who discovers evidence of, or suspects, malpractice should report, 

through the Assistant Director, Governance, Wokingham Borough Council, firm 
evidence, or reasonable suspicions, to the appropriate level of management. It is a 
management responsibility to determine what further action to take. 

 
25. The Assistant Director, Governance, Wokingham Borough Council, will use information 

from fraud activities to inform the annual audit opinion and the risk-based plan. 

357



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 81 
 

 
26. The Assistant Director, Governance, Wokingham Borough Council, will manage any 

conflict of interest from non-audit activities and details of these will be provided to the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel. This includes any advisory and non-audit 
services that the SAIS provides to management.  
 
Audit Style and Content 

 
27. The primary task of Internal Audit is to review the systems of internal control operating 

throughout the Council and in doing this will adopt a predominantly risk-based 
approach to audit, aligned to the RBWM Corporate Risk Register. Internal Audit will 
also provide advice and consultancy services to management on any issues related to 
governance, risk management and internal control matters where this does not 
negatively impact on their primary responsibility. This advice and consultancy work can 
be used to contribute to the annual internal audit opinion.  

 
28. The Assistant Director, Governance, Wokingham Borough Council, will be required to 

manage the provision of a complete Internal Audit Service to the Council which will 
include risk based compliance, computer and contract audit and in discharging this 
duty, the Assistant Director, Governance, Wokingham Borough Council, will: 

 

 prepare an annual risk-based audit plan in consultation with the Head of Paid 
Service, Section 151 Officer, Directors, Heads of Service, client managers and 
External Audit for formal endorsement by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel. This Plan will be regarded as flexible rather than as an immutable 
expression of audit policy. 
 

 ensure that current entries in the RBWM Corporate Risk Register are reflected 
and included in the Audit Plan on a rolling basis and any significant changes to 
the Audit Plan to be brought to the attention of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny. 

 

 ensure a system of close supervision of audit work, and maintain a review of audit 
files through the supervisory structure and a standardisation of documentation, as 
there may occasionally be a requirement to provide working papers, where 
requested. 

 
Audit Resources and Training 
 
29. Internal Audit resource will be determined by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Panel in consultation with the S151 Officer in order to enable him to discharge his 
statutory duties and will reflect the corporate needs of the Council. Resources will also 
reflect requirements needed to allow the S151 Officer to discharge his obligations.  The 
Assistant Director, Governance, Wokingham Borough Council must ensure that the 
internal audit function has appropriate resources in order to meet its objectives and to 
comply with the PSIAS.  

 
30. The staffing structure of the Service will comprise of suitably qualified posts with a mix 

of professional specialisms and skills to reflect the varied functions of the Service and 
the need to evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of the complex range of 

358



Appendix J Part 8C 

Part 8C - 82 
 

processes undertaken by RBWM.   The Assistant Director, Governance will arrange, 
as and when necessary and/or if such specialisms cannot be provided in-house, for 
such expertise to be provided by external providers. 

 
31. The Assistant Director, Governance, Wokingham Borough Council will carry out a 

continuous review of the development and training needs of all audit personnel and 
will arrange appropriate in-service training.   Internal Auditors have a personal 
responsibility to undertake a programme of continuing professional development 
(CPD) to maintain and develop their competence. 

 
32.    All Internal Audit staff will receive an annual appraisal. 

 
Audit Reporting 

 
33. The Service Manager, SAIS reports operationally to the Director of Resources and 

Deputy Director of Corporate and Community Services who is a member of the 
Wokingham Borough Council’s Corporate Leadership Team (CLT).  The Head of Paid 
Service reviews the performance appraisal of the Assistant Director, Governance, 
Wokingham Borough Council. Feedback is sought from the Chair of the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel on the performance of the Assistant Director, 
Governance, Wokingham Borough Council.   

 
34.    Timely reporting is a key part of Internal Audit and reporting takes place: - 

 
a. To the responsible Director, Head of Service and Service Manager/Head Teacher 

at the conclusion of each audit review setting out an overall opinion and the main 
concerns. 
 

b. To the Managing Director and External Audit at the conclusion of each audit review 
(School’s audits are issued to the Chair of Governors).  

 
c. To the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel on a six monthly and annual basis, 

reporting progress against the Audit Plan, summarising the outcome of audit 
reviews, highlighting where management have not responded to audit concerns, 
identify the progress made by management in implementing the treatment of 
concerns and to emphasise any other key issues.  

 
d. The annual report to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel will also 

include an overall opinion on the strength of the governance arrangements 
and control environment (which will also contribute towards the production of 
the AGS) and an assessment of the system of internal control, as required by 
the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  

 

 
 

359



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report Title:     Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood 
Plan – Formal Making of the Plan 

 

Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information? 

No - Part I 

Lead Member:  Councillor Coppinger, Lead Member for 
Planning and Maidenhead 

Meeting and Date:  Full Council  23 June 2020 

Responsible Officer(s):  Russell O’Keefe Director of Place 
Adrien Waite, Head of Planning 

Wards affected:   Datchet, Horton and Wraysbury 

 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Council notes the report and: 
 

i) Makes the Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan part of the 
Development Plan for the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead and, 

ii) Delegates authority to the Director of Place in consultation with the 
Lead Member for Planning and Maidenhead to make minor non-
material amendments to the neighbourhood plan as necessary prior 
to its publication. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  

 Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 

Accept the result of the referendum 
and formally make the Horton and 
Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan part 
of the Development Plan for the 
Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead 
 
 
This is the recommended option 

This is the next step in the 
neighbourhood planning process 
set out in the Localism Act 2011  
where by local communities are 
given the direct power to 
develop their shared vision for 
their neighbourhood.  If Made, 
The Neighbourhood Plan will be 
used by the Council for 

REPORT SUMMARY  
 
1. This report recommends the Council to Make the Horton and Wraysbury 

Neighbourhood Plan as part of the Development Plan for the Royal Borough of 
Windsor and Maidenhead and for it to be used in decision making for relevant 
planning applications in the neighbourhood planning area. 
  

2. This follows the successful referendum on 30 January 2020 when the majority of 
votes were cast in favour. 

 

 

361

Agenda Item 10



Option Comments 

determining planning 
applications in the Horton and 
Wraysbury Area.  

Do not accept the result of the 
referendum and do not make the 
plan part of the Development Plan. 
 
This is not the recommended Option 
 

This option would deny the local 
community the opportunity to 
ensure that their neighbourhood 
plan can be used in determining 
planning applications in their 
area.  There would be a serious 
legal risks to this decision, the 
ramifications of which are not 
clear as there is no case law in 
this area. 

 

1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Localism Act (2011) 
give local communities direct power to develop their shared vision for their 
neighbourhood and deliver the sustainable development they need. The formal 
making of the plan is the final stage of the neighbourhood plan production 
process. 
 

1.2 The Royal Borough is encouraging neighbourhood planning. There are currently 
four neighbourhood plans which have been formally made and are part of the 
development plan:  Ascot, Sunninghill and Sunningdale in 2014, Hurley and the 
Walthams in 2017, Eton and Eton Wick in 2018 and Old Windsor in 2019.    

 

1.3 The Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group who produced 
the neighbourhood plan on behalf of the two Parish Councils has placed 
community consultation at the heart of their plan, undertaking a series of 
consultations and developing evidence to support their policies. This process 
has generated a lot of interest in the local community. Many households 
attended the several consultation events and responded to the initial 
questionnaire. The Steering Group has expressed gratitude for the interests of 
all sections of their communities who expressed views that have helped to 
shape the plan. 

 

1.4 Following publication of the draft plan, the neighbourhood plan was scrutinised 
by an independent examiner. The examiner was appointed by the Royal 
Borough, with the agreement of the Steering Group. The examiner’s report 
recommended that the plan should proceed to referendum, subject to 
modifications. These modifications were considered necessary by the 
independent examiner, to ensure the neighbourhood plan meets the Basic 
Conditions, as required by the Localism Act. 

 

1.5 In October 2019 Cabinet approved the Neighbourhood Plan going to 
referendum with a single question (as set by the ‘Neighbourhood Planning 
(Referendums) Regulations 2012’) “Do you want the Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead to use the neighbourhood plan for Horton and Wraysbury help 
it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?” 

362



 

1.6 The referendum took place on the 30 January 2020 in the parishes in the 
Neighbourhood Plan area.  The Electoral officer reports that 769 ballot papers 
were issued: a turnout of 18.5%.  642 votes were cast in support of the plan and 
125 voted no to the question.  As a majority of those voting in the referendum 
answered “yes”, under the terms of the legislation, the plan is now a material 
consideration in decisions on planning applications, but it also needs to be 
formally ‘made’ part of the Development Plan for the Royal Borough.  This 
‘making’ of the neighbourhood plan is the reason for this report to the Council.   

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 2: Key Implications 
3.1  

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

A made 
neighbourhood 
plan that 
delivers the 
wishes of the 
community. 

The 
neighbourhood 
plan is not 
seen by the 
community to 
be influencing 
development  
decisions. 

Neighbourhood 
Plan used in 
determining 
planning 
applications. 

Neighbourhood 
Plan is used 
and is 
successfully 
defended at 
appeal. 
 

Neighbourhood 
Plan used in 
determining 
planning 
applications and 
development is in 
accordance with 
the plan as the 
community 
expected. 

23 June 
2020 

Developments 
are shaped 
in accordance 
with policies of 
the 
neighbourhood 
plan. 

Panel and 
appeal 
decisions do 
not comply 
with the plan 
policies. 

Planning 
applications 
and appeals 
are determined 
in accordance 
with the 
neighbourhood 
plan. 

Majority of 
applications 
submitted 
comply with 
the policies of 
the 
neighbourhood 
plan. 

All applications 
submitted 
comply with 
the policies of 
the 
neighbourhood 
plan. 

ongoing 

. 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 Although the Government’s support for neighbourhood planning groups has 
now changed to being channelled through the Locality organisation who are 
able to give direct assistance to groups, the Council has received grant 
payments from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
in regard to this and other current plans in preparation.   

 
4.2 The cost of undertaking the plan examination has, as required, been 

frontloaded by the Council. Now that the plan has successfully passed 
referendum, the Council is able to apply for a grant of £20,000 to cover the 
cost of the examination and the referendum. That grant application was made 
in May this year. It will be the final tranche of grant funding in relation to this 
plan. In agreeing to proceed to referendum with this plan, Cabinet also agreed 
in October 2019 to forward fund the cost of the referendum. 

 

 

363



4.3 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) legislation states that a meaningful 
proportion of the Council’s CIL income has to be devolved and spent at the 
local level. The parishes in the Neighbourhood Plan area will now be entitled 
to receive 25% of CIL receipts that have accrued from development within 
their parish.  This apportionment of CIL is taken into account in the Borough’s 
infrastructure planning. 

 
4.4 There are no additional costs expected to accrue in relation to having made 

the neighbourhood plan as recommended.   

 Table 3: Financial impact of report’s recommendations  
REVENUE 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Addition £20,000 £20,000 £0 

Reduction £20,000 £0 £20,000 

Net impact  £0 £0 £0 

 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The Localism Act (2011) and The Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations (2012) give power to Local Planning Authorities to approve a 
neighbourhood plan to proceed to referendum. Under the Neighbourhood 
Planning Act 2017 if the referendum results in a simple majority ‘Yes’ vote the 
Neighbourhood Development Plan will immediately have significant weight in 
decision making on planning applications. Following this Act the Council 
should ‘have regard to a post-examination neighbourhood development plan 
when dealing with an application for planning permission, so far as that plan is 
material to the planning application.  

  
5.2 This report seeks formal confirmation from the Council that the Horton and 

WraysburyNeighbourhood Plan forms part of the Development Plan for the 
Royal Borough.  The Council has authority to take that decision. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 4: Impact of risk and mitigation 

 

Risks Uncontrolled 
Risk 

Controls Controlled 
Risk 

Community will 
not have an 
opportunity to 
guide 
development in 
their area. 

Medium Approve the 
neighbourhood 
plan to be made 
part of the 
Development 
Plan for the Royal 
Borough of 
Windsor and 
Maidenhead. 

Low 

Risk of legal High Approve the Low 

364



Risks Uncontrolled 
Risk 

Controls Controlled 
Risk 

challenge 
if in denial of the 
result of the 
referendum,the 
Council decide 
not to formally 
make the 
neighbourhood 
plan part of the 
development plan 
for the Royal 
Borough. 

neighbourhood 
plan to be made 
part of the 
Development 
Plan for the Royal 
Borough of 
Windsor and 
Maidenhead. 

If not made, 
planning 
applications will 
not be dealt with 
in a way the 
communities 
intended  

Medium Approve the 
neighbourhood 
plan to be made 
part of the 
Development 
Plan for the Royal 
Borough of 
Windsor and 
Maidenhead. 

Low 

Development in 
the 
neighbourhood 
area may 
continue to 
receive significant 
levels of objection 
from residents 
and not meet 
some local 
needs. 

High Approve the 
neighbourhood 
plan to be made 
part of the 
Development 
Plan for the Royal 
Borough of 
Windsor and 
Maidenhead. 

Medium 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. The examiner has confirmed that the neighbourhood plan (with 
modifications) meets the Basic Conditions.  One of these conditions is that it 
must be compatible with human rights requirements.  Officers agree that the 
plan, with modifications, meets the Basic Conditions.  

7.2 The recommendations in this report has no identified equality impacts. 

7.3 Climate change/sustainability.  Another of the Basic Conditions is to contribute 
to the achievement of sustainable development.  The neighbourhood plan was 
supported by a Strategic Environmental Assessment screening and report, 
that concluded that the plan would not trigger significant environmental effects. 
In addition to this, the Council has confirmed that it believes the plan meets 
the Basic Conditions, including in terms of sustainability.  

365



7.4 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) seeks to ensure that 
environmental considerations are part of the process of preparing certain 
plans and programmes. The objective of the SEA Directive is to provide for a 
high level of protection of the environment and to contribute to the integration 
of environmental considerations into the preparation and adoption of plans and 
programmes with a view to promoting sustainable development, by ensuring 
that, in accordance with the Directive, an environmental assessment is carried 
out of certain plans and programmes which are likely to have significant 
effects on the environment. 

7.5 Data Protection/GDPR. A consultation has been carried out by the council 
prior to the examination and this was undertaken in accordance with the 
GPDR regulations and the statement on the way the planning policy team in 
the planning department handles personal data.  
 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 During the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan the Steering Group 
undertook several consultations and engagement events with Local 
Stakeholders in the Neighbourhood Plan Area.  After the Draft Neighbourhood 
Plan was submitted to the Royal Borough a formal process of consultation was 
undertaken by the Council and the results of this were forwarded to the 
independent examiner for consideration during the examination process.   The 
Examiner was satisfied that an appropriate level of community engagement 
had taken place. The referendum is the final form of local consultation and the 
result was a clear vote to implement the Neighbourhood Plan. 

8.2 The Council has been appraised of progress of this neighbourhood plan on 
several occasions including, most recently, in agreeing to proceed with the 
referendum on the basis of the decisions statement in October 2019.  

 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

 

Table 5: Implementation timetable 

Date Details 

30 January 2020 Successful Referendum vote in favour of the 
Neighbourhood Plan 

23 June 2020 The Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan will 
become one of the suite of development plan 
documents comprising the Development Plan for 
the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead. 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 2 appendices: 
 

 Appendix A – Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan (available 
electronically) 

366



 Appendix B - DECLARATION OF RESULT OF POLL: Horton and 
Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan Area - attached 

 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by 5 background documents: 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-
policyframework--2 

 Localism Act (2011) 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted 

 Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations (2012) 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/schedule/1/made 

 Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations (2012) 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111525050/contents 

 Neighbourhood Planning Act 
2017http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/contents/enacted 

 
11.2  

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)  

Name of 
consultee  

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned  

Cllr Coppinger Lead Member for Planning and 
Maidenhead 

2/6/20 2/6/20 

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 2/6/20 2/6/20 

Russell O’Keefe Director of Place 2/6/20 2/6/20 

Adele Taylor Director of Resources/S151 
Officer 

2/6/20 5/6/20 

Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 2/6/20 2/6/20 

Hilary Hall Director Adults, 
Commissioning and Health 

2/6/20 2/6/20 

Elaine Browne Head of Law 2/6/20 3/6/20 

Mary Severin Monitoring Officer 2/6/20 4/6/20 

Nikki Craig Head of HR, Corporate 
Projects and IT 

2/6/20 2/6/20 

Louisa Dean Communications 2/6/20 2/6/20 

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 2/6/20 3/6/20 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type:  
Council decision 
 

Urgency item? 
No 

To Follow item? 
No 

Report Author: Phillipa Silcock, Planning Policy Consultant,  
phillipa.silcock@RBWM.gov.uk 

 

367

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policyframework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policyframework--2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/schedule/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111525050/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/contents/enacted


  
 

 

DECLARATION OF RESULT OF POLL 
 

Horton & Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan Area 
 
 

 

I, the Undersigned, being the Deputy Counting Officer for the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead at the above referendum held on Thursday 30 January 2020, do hereby give notice 
that the results of the votes cast is as follows: 
 

Question: 
 
“Do you want the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead to use the Neighbourhood 
Plan for Horton & Wraysbury to help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood 
area?” 

 
 

 Votes Recorded 

 
Number cast in favour of a YES 
 

 
                  642 

 
Number cast in favour of a NO 
 

 
125 

 

 
The number of ballot papers rejected was as follows: 
 

 
Number of ballot papers 

 
 

(a)  Want of an official mark  

(b)  Voting for more answers than required  

(c)  Writing or mark by which the voter could be identified  

(d)  Being unmarked or wholly void for uncertainty 2 

                                                                                       Total Rejected 2 

 
Electorate: 4,151     Ballot Papers Issued:       769                   Turnout:  18.5% 
 
And I do hereby declare that more than half of those voting have voted: YES 
 
              – in response to the question:  “Do you want the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Horton & Wraysbury to help it decide planning 
applications in the neighbourhood area?” 
 
 
                                                                                                            

Suzanne Martin 
Deputy Counting Officer 

 
Thursday 30 January 2020 

368



  
 
 

 
 
 

  

     2018 -2033 

HORTON AND WRAYSBURY 

PARISH COUNCILS’ 

REFERENDUM VERSION 

 

 

HORTON AND WRAYSBURY 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

 369



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 1 of 54 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
TABLE OF CONTENTS ...................................................................................................................................................... 1 

1. FOREWORD FROM THE STEERING GROUP CHAIRMAN .......................................................................................... 2 

2. INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE ................................................................................................................................... 3 

a) NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN AREA MAPS ................................................................................................................ 4 

b) PLANNING POLICY ............................................................................................................................................... 7 

c) LOCAL PLANNING POLICY ................................................................................................................................... 8 

3. LOCAL CONTEXT ...................................................................................................................................................... 9 

a) HISTORY OF HORTON AND WRAYSBURY ............................................................................................................ 9 

b) PROFILE OF THE COMMUNITY TODAY .............................................................................................................. 10 

c) CHALLENGES FOR HORTON AND WRAYSBURY ................................................................................................. 15 

d) CONSULTATION ................................................................................................................................................ 15 

4. NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN VISION & OBJECTIVES ................................................................................................... 18 

OVERARCHING VISION FOR HORTON AND WRAYSBURY ......................................................................................... 18 

OBJECTIVES & ASPIRATIONS ..................................................................................................................................... 18 

a) SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT & WATER MANAGEMENT ................................................................................ 18 

b) HOUSING ........................................................................................................................................................... 18 

c) BUILT ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY ASSETS ................................................................................................ 18 

d) OPEN ENVIRONMENT ....................................................................................................................................... 18 

e) BUSINESS & ECONOMY ..................................................................................................................................... 18 

f) TRANSPORT & MOVEMENT .............................................................................................................................. 19 

g) KEY FACILITIES ................................................................................................................................................... 19 

5. LAND USE POLICIES ............................................................................................................................................... 20 

a) SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT .......................................................................................................................... 20 

b) HOUSING ........................................................................................................................................................... 23 

c) BUILT ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY ASSETS ................................................................................................ 28 

d) OPEN ENVIRONMENT ....................................................................................................................................... 33 

e) BUSINESS & ECONOMY ..................................................................................................................................... 40 

6. NON-LAND USE ACTIONS ...................................................................................................................................... 41 

f) TRANSPORT & MOVEMENT .............................................................................................................................. 41 

g) KEY FACILITIES ................................................................................................................................................... 43 

7. APPENDICES .......................................................................................................................................................... 46 

a) MAPS OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES ................................................................................................................... 46 

b) MAPS OF ASSETS OF VALUE TO THE COMMUNITY .......................................................................................... 51 

c) CHARACTER ASSESSMENT ................................................................................................................................ 53 

d) DEVELOPMENT DETAILS ................................................................................................................................... 53 

8. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ......................................................................................................................................... 54 

 

370



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 2 of 54 
 

1. FOREWORD FROM THE STEERING GROUP CHAIRMAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

As part of successive Government’s ‘Big Society’ agenda, local communities are being given the 

opportunity to develop a Neighbourhood Plan. 

Although the Government’s intention is for local people to decide what goes on in their 

Neighbourhood Plan area, the Localism Act of 2011 sets out some important relevant laws. One 

of these is that all Neighbourhood Plans must be in line with higher level planning policy.  That 

is, Neighbourhood Plans must be in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (otherwise 

known as the NPPF) and local policy. 

In 2013 the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead designated a Neighbourhood Area for 

the Parishes of Horton and Wraysbury to enable the Parish Councils and residents to prepare 

jointly the Neighbourhood Plan.  This plan gives our communities direct power to develop a 

shared vision for our neighbourhood and to shape the development and growth of our villages 

for the next fifteen years.  The Plan may be updated from time to time and can be reviewed 

should there be major developments in our area.  This is very necessary given issues which 

directly affect our villages, including developments at Heathrow Airport and the River Thames 

Scheme. 

We recognise the constraints we are under in producing this Plan, given the amount of protected 

Green Belt and the areas liable to flooding. This means that it is unlikely that large amounts of 

land will become available. However, both Parish Councils wish, within these parameters, to 

maintain the distinctive characters of both villages, whilst promoting two vibrant communities. 

Many residents have attended consultation events and the response to our initial questionnaire 

was high.  We are grateful for the interest of all sections of our communities who have expressed 

their individual and collective concerns and some amendments have been made to the original 

draft, as appropriate, to reflect commonly held views. 

I am grateful to all those who contributed to this Plan and to all who are or who have been 

members of the Steering Group who have met regularly and worked so hard to achieve this 

document. 

 

Margaret Lenton 

(Chairman of the Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

371



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 3 of 54 
 

2. INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE 
 
This document represents the Neighbourhood Plan for Horton and Wraysbury area ward.  The Royal 
Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead, as the local planning authority, designated a Neighbourhood 
Area for the parishes of Horton and Wraysbury in May 2013. This plan has been prepared by the 
Steering Group (made up of Parish Councillors and members of the community) with the full consent 
of both Horton and Wraysbury Parish Councils but submitted by Wraysbury Parish Council as the 
Qualifying Body.   
 
The Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan (H&WNP) is prepared in accordance with the Town 
& Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the Localism Act 2011 
and the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012.  
 
The Steering Group has prepared the plan to deliver a vision for the future of the area and to set 
out how that vision will be realised through planning and controlling land use and development 
change over the plan period 2018 to 2033.  There are constraints to development within Green Belt 
as well as flood zone restrictions and that is why a neighbourhood plan is important to control what 
is built and where. 
 
Neighbourhood Plans are required to be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Local 
Plan (‘Development Plan’) of the Local Planning Authority, the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead (‘RBWM’ or ‘the Borough’) and the Secretary of State’s advice, including National 
Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’). 
 
The purpose of the Neighbourhood Plan is to guide specific aspects of development within the plan 
area and provide guidance to applicants wishing to submit planning applications for development 
within the parishes. Once a Neighbourhood Plan is brought into legal force, decisions on whether 
or not to grant planning applications must be consistent with the Neighbourhood Plan, unless 
material circumstances dictate otherwise.   
 
Our policies as stated in this Plan will take priority over non-strategic policies in the existing RBWM 
Local Plan, giving our communities a real and lasting tool to influence the future of our 
neighbourhood. Where this plan is silent, then applicants need to comply with the relevant Local 
Plan policy as well as the NPPF, e.g. relating to Green Belt policy. 
 
The process of producing a plan has sought to involve the community as widely as possible and the 
different topic areas are reflective of matters that are of considerable importance to Horton and 
Wraysbury, its residents, businesses and community groups. 
 
Each section of the plan covers a different topic. Under each heading there is the justification for 
the policies presented which provides the necessary understanding of the policy and what it is 
seeking to achieve.   The policies themselves are presented in the boxes and it is these policies 
against which planning applications will be assessed. 
 
The Plan Period is 15 years, so it is intended that our Plan runs for the period from April 2018 until 
March 2033. An April start also allows us to fit in with the way RBWM monitors development, in 
financial years (April to March). 
 

372



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 4 of 54 
 

 
We recognise that the Plan will be delivered and implemented by different stakeholders and 
partners and that it is not a rigid blueprint but instead it provides a framework for change through 
its vision, strategy and policies. 
 
As new challenges and opportunities are likely to arise over the plan period, the intention is for 
the Neighbourhood Plan to be reviewed every 5 years. Within this context the parish councils will 
assess the need or otherwise for any made Neighbourhood Plan to be reviewed once the 
emerging Local Plan is adopted. 

 

a) NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN AREA MAPS 
 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN AREA 
The map below shows the boundary of the Neighbourhood Plan area, which is contiguous with the 
ward boundary of Horton and Wraysbury; 
 

 

373



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 5 of 54 
 

 
 
 
FLOOD PLAIN AREA 
 
The map below taken from the RBWM website shows flood zones 2 & 3. 
 

 
 

  

374



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 6 of 54 
 

GREEN BELT AREA 
 
The map below identifies green belt within the Neighbourhood Plan area. 
 

 
  

NB. Although not shown as part of the Green Belt, Wraysbury Village Green is covered by the 
 George III Enclosure Act of 1799. 

375



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 7 of 54 
 

b) PLANNING POLICY  
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states: 

 “Neighbourhood planning gives communities direct power to develop a shared vision for their 
neighbourhood and deliver the sustainable development they need. Parishes … can use 
neighbourhood planning to set planning policies through neighbourhood plans to determine 
decisions on planning applications (para.183).  

“Neighbourhood planning provides a powerful set of tools for local people to ensure that they get 
the right types of development for their community. The ambition of the neighbourhood should be 
aligned with the strategic needs and priorities of the wider local area. Neighbourhood plans must be 
in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan. To facilitate this, local planning 
authorities should set out clearly their strategic policies for the area and ensure that an up-to-date 
Local Plan is in place as quickly as possible. 

“Neighbourhood plans should reflect these policies and neighbourhoods should plan positively to 
support them. Neighbourhood plans and orders should not promote less development than set out 
in the Local Plan or undermine its strategic policies (para.184).  

“Outside these strategic elements, neighbourhood plans will be able to shape and direct sustainable 
development in their area. Once a neighbourhood plan has demonstrated its general conformity 
with the strategic policies of the Local Plan and is brought into force, the policies it contains take 
precedence over existing non-strategic policies in the Local Plan for that neighbourhood, where they 
are in conflict. Local planning authorities should avoid duplicating planning processes for non-
strategic policies where a neighbourhood plan is in preparation (para.185)” 

Section 9 of the NPPF is entitled Protecting Green Belt land and makes clear that Green Belt 
boundaries can only be altered by the Local Plan rather than the Neighbourhood Plan. Its purpose 
is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open and the essential characteristic is to 
be their openness and their permanence. 

The construction of all new buildings is inappropriate apart from: - 

 Building for agriculture and forestry 

 Appropriate facilities for outdoor sport and recreation that preserve the openness of the Green 
Belt 

 The extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in disproportionate 
additions over and above the size of the original dwelling 

 The replacement of a building provided the building is of the same use and not materially larger 
than the one it replaces 

 Limited infilling in villages and limited affordable housing for local community needs under 
policies set out in the local plan. 

 Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed site , whether 
redundant or in continuing use, which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt and the purpose for including land within it than the existing development. 

Furthermore, the NPPF states that “…inappropriate development is by definition, harmful and 
should not be approved, unless in very special circumstances.” 

376



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 8 of 54 
 

In July 2018, the Government published a revised NPPF. It is not considered that the revisions 
materially impact upon this Neighbourhood Plan’s policies or its approach to development However 
this document refers throughout to the previous 2012 version and in accordance with paragraph 
214 of the 2018 version “the policies in the previous Framework will apply for the purpose of 
examining plans, where those plans have been submitted on or before 24th January 2019. 

c) LOCAL PLANNING POLICY 
 

At a local level, the key document is the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Borough Local 
Plan adopted in 1999 and amended in 2013 and in particular its “saved Policies”.   It contains a 
variety of strategic policies to guide the policies of this Neighbourhood Plan.  As at November 2019 
the Royal Borough is preparing a replacement Borough Local Plan (BLP) which sets out the overall 
strategy for development across the Royal Borough has been published. 

The Submission Version of the Borough Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State on 31st 
January 2018. This updates the housing target for the Royal Borough for the period up to 2033. An 
examination is being conducted by an Inspector, Louise Phillips, and public hearings were held in 
the summer of 2018. Following those hearings the examination has been suspended, pending 
further work and public consultation on possible changes to the Plan. 

In October 2019 the Royal Borough commenced a public consultation on Proposed Changes to the 
Submission Plan. That version now only proposes the allocation of one site within the 
neighbourhood plan area, Land East of Queen Mother Reservoir at Horton, for approximately 100 
units. It is also proposed to take that site out of the Green Belt. Two other sites, which had been 
allocated in the previous version, Land East of Coppermill Road at Horton and Tithe Farm, 
Wraysbury, are no longer being proposed as allocations. 

Any planning application on the remaining allocation will be expected to conform to the 
consultation requirements, with Neighbourhood Plan Development Details being submitted as set 
out in Policy SusDev 01 and in Appendix D. 

The draft Borough Local Plan, including its allocation, is emerging policy, which could change 
further as a result of its examination. The Neighbourhood Plan is required by legislation to be in 
general conformity with strategic policies contained in the adopted (not emerging) local plan. 

However, whilst the Neighbourhood Plan does not allocate any housing sites and cannot redraw 
Green Belt boundaries, its policies are generally consistent with the overall strategy of the draft BLP 
which stresses the importance of protecting the Green Belt from inappropriate development and 
the need to avoid areas at risk of flooding and the plan quotes Wraysbury as being one of the areas 
in the Royal Borough at the highest risk from severe flooding.  

The 2003 Borough Local Plan defines the Green Belt boundary; however, the built-up areas of 
Wraysbury are excluded from the Green Belt, and Horton and Coppermill Road are Recognised 
Settlements within the Green Belt. The boundaries are shown on the Green Belt map (see Section 
2a, Neighbourhood Plan Area Maps). 

Planning policy regarding flood risk is covered under the Borough 2003 Local Plan policy F1. 

The development plan also includes the following adopted plans that cover the neighbourhood area 
- the Replacement Minerals Local Plan and the Waste Local Plan for Berkshire. However, these plans 
address matters that legally cannot be within the scope of a neighbourhood plan. 
 

377



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 9 of 54 
 

3. LOCAL CONTEXT                              
 

a) HISTORY OF HORTON AND WRAYSBURY 
 
The villages of Horton and Wraysbury lie in the central part of the Thames Valley  on a broad, flat 
floodplain east of the River Thames and between Windsor to the West and Heathrow to the East.  
The parishes have developed from farming settlements and have grown over time as people 
migrated from London. 
 

Horton dates back to the Domesday Book of 1086, listed as ‘Hortune’.  A number of historical 
landmarks include The Old Rectory, Horton Lodge, The Cedars, Brookfield, Milton’s Cottage and St 
Michael’s Church.  It has been recorded that a foundry located at the end of Coppermill Road was 
the source for the copper that made the famous Copper Horse at the end of the Long Walk from 
Windsor Castle. A number of historical houses can still be found in the village, including the Grade 
II listed Old Rectory, believed to have been built at the end of the 16th Century/early 17th Century.  
 

Perhaps the most significant landmark today is the 12th Century church of St Michael’s, with its 
Norman arch over the north door.  Indeed, the name most associated with the village is that of poet 
John Milton (1608-74), whose family rented Berkyn Manor, a house that belonged to Sir John 
Egerton between 1632 and 1640. Milton wrote many of the literary greats, including Comus, Il 
Penseroso and L’Allegro, whilst living in Horton.  The chancel of St Michael's also contains the grave 
of Milton's mother Sara, and a 19th century stained glass window which commemorates Milton's 
poem Paradise Lost. 
 

Through the Horton parish flows the Colne Brook which runs to the Thames from the River Colne.   
 

Wraysbury is also mentioned in the Domesday Book and has a rich and ancient history, with many 
links to royalty. In Saxon times it was the hunting ground of kings and in 1313 Wraysbury, 
administered as a Royal Manor, was given to Queen Isabella by Edward II and then assigned in 
Dower to the Queens of England under subsequent kings. The sealing of the Magna Carta by King 
John on 15th June 1215 is considered to have occurred on the north bank of the Thames within the 
Ankerwycke estate.  In the grounds of Ankerwycke there are extensive remains of the 12th century 
Benedictine nunnery, including the Priory ruins (Grade II listed) where it is considered King John 
would have had his base before meeting the barons.  Nearby is the ancient yew tree, believed to be 
more than 2500 years old, and where legend has it that King Henry VIII courted Anne Boleyn. 
 

Wraysbury’s settlement pattern is strongly influenced by its historic village core, comprising the 
Church of St Andrew, The George Inn (c. 16th century) and a triangular village green.  The London 
& South Western Railway branch opened a line to Windsor in 1849, with stations at Wraysbury, 
Sunnymeads and Datchet.  As a result, the settlement expanded as a linear settlement along roads 
stemming from The Green, including a Victorian Village focused on the High Street. 
 

For centuries, agricultural and mill work had been the principal areas of employment for the 
villagers; and as late as 1831, census returns show that of the 135 families in the village, 62 were 
employed in agriculture while 68 made their living in the mills.  
 
 

“...a rather sweet and agreeable place.” 
 

The Road to Little Dribbling by Bill Bryson (2015) 

378



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 10 of 54 
 

The village experienced its greatest growth rate post-war (1939 onwards). Residential development 
spread along Welley Road, linking Wraysbury with Sunnymeads village. The majority of modern 
housing has spread westwards to the River Thames, comprising spacious ‘leafy’ suburbs. 
 

The agricultural floodplain that once lay between Horton and Wraysbury was mined for gravel 
during the post-war period and later filled with water, forming large artificial water storage 
reservoirs, which result in restricting expansion of development. This network of mature gravel pits 
is now used as lakes for emergency water supplies and recreational purposes; mainly angling, sailing 
and bird watching. 
 

Both Horton and Wraysbury were transferred from Buckinghamshire to Berkshire in 1974. 

 

b) PROFILE OF THE COMMUNITY TODAY 
 
Horton and Wraysbury is the most easterly ward in the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead 
(RBWM).   In the ward, a significant percentage of the land is within the Green Belt and the Flood 
Plain.  The majority of our area is agricultural space and water, including the Queen Mother 
Reservoir and numerous gravel pits, with several areas of lake-land designated as SSSIs. The ward 
sits at the southern end of the Colne Valley Regional Park.  
 
The western part of Wraysbury, roughly between the Thames and the B376 road has experienced 
significant flooding, notably in January 2003, January and February 2014.  Yet despite the flooding 
risk, it remains a popular area in which to live.  
 

   
 
 
The population has grown by more than nine per cent from 2001 to 2011 and the ward is now a 
culturally diverse community.  
  
Horton and Wraysbury have a variety of local shops, a Community Pharmacy, Post Office, four public 
houses and various other businesses.  With village halls, sports and social organisations and three 
churches, it is a vibrant community.  The neighbourhood is served by Wraysbury Primary School 
with multiple options for secondary schooling. 
 
The nearest doctors’ surgery is now in neighbouring Datchet – the Wraysbury surgery having closed 
down.  There are issues in getting the elderly, families and those who do not drive to the surgery. 
 
Horton and Wraysbury are served by two railway stations on the Windsor & Eton Riverside to 
Waterloo line. There are two bus services covering Windsor (via Slough), Heathrow & Staines. The 
villages are close to the M25 / M4 / M3 motorways. 

379



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 11 of 54 
 

 
 
 
The network of lakes between Horton and Wraysbury are disused gravel pits which are now used 
for leisure pursuits.  They form private fishing lakes, sailing clubs and a dive centre.  There is an 
intention for some of the current working sites to be returned to agricultural use. Most of the lakes 
benefit from designation as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), SW London Water Bodies 
Special Protected Areas (SPAs) or have European Ramsar protection as the landscape is colonised 
by a variety of birds and wildlife habitats.  
 
There are a number of existing public footpaths as shown on the following map, whilst over time 
other paths have developed as locals regularly use them for access, recreational walking and bird 
watching. There are also various proposed footpaths currently being considered by RBWM. 
 

(See https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/2136/prow_management_and_improvement_plan_map_6.pdf ) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

380

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/2136/prow_management_and_improvement_plan_map_6.pdf


Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 12 of 54 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

3.5% of the 

population of RBWM 
lived in Horton & 

Wraysbury in 2011 

5,063  
People were living in Horton & Wraysbury in 2011 

 

9.5% is the amount the overall 

population has grown in Horton & 

Wraysbury between 2001 & 2011 

(versus 8% in Windsor & Maidenhead) 

28.6% is the increase between 2001 & 

2011 in over 60’s living in Horton & Wraysbury  

People 

35.9% is the increase between 2001 and 2011 

of 18 to 29 year olds living in Horton & Wraysbury  

 

Data Source: Office for National Statistics 2001 & 2011 Censuses for Horton & Wraysbury Ward 

381



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 13 of 54 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

2,171 
Households in Horton & Wraysbury in 2011, 

an increase of 9.5% compared to 2001 

 

Homes 

78.8% of households 

in Horton & Wraysbury 
owned their properties 

outright or with a mortgage 
in 2011 

In 2011 57% of all houses 

in Horton & Wraysbury were 

detached versus 31% in 

Windsor & Maidenhead and 

28% in the South East 

Only 9% of dwellings 

in Horton & Wraysbury 
in 2011 were flats or 

maisonettes compared 

with 23% in Windsor 

& Maidenhead 

Average house prices in Wraysbury* in 2016: 
 

1 bed apartment   £225,000 

2 bed apartment   £300,000 

3 bed semi-detached £475,000 
 

*Horton house prices tend to be 10% lower due to its rural nature  

 

Data Source: Office for National Statistics 2001 & 2011 Censuses for Horton & Wraysbury Ward / House prices from Local Estate Agent 

382



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 14 of 54 
 

  

Employment 

69% 
Horton and Wraysbury residents 
aged 16-74 in 2011 in full/part-
time or self employment 

Use public transport to get to 
work 

10.51% 
 

Residents in Horton and 
Wraysbury who work from home 
(as at 2011) 

9.23% 

13.8% 
Residents retired in Horton 
and Wraysbury in line with 
the South East average. 

75.4% 

Travel to and from work by car / motorbike 

 

Data Source: Office for National Statistics 2001 & 2011 Censuses for Horton and Wraysbury Ward 

383



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 15 of 54 
 

c) CHALLENGES FOR HORTON AND WRAYSBURY 
 

The Neighbourhood Plan recognises the challenges that face the community of Horton and 
Wraysbury Parishes.  
 In summary these challenges are: 

 Attempting to meet local housing needs in an area constrained by the Green Belt and flood zone 
restrictions. 

 Ensuring that the planning policies and restrictions are applicable to and enforced for all 
members of all the communities in both Villages in line with the Neighbourhood Plan, Borough 
Local Plan and National Planning Policies. 

 Trying to fulfil the demands of an increasing ageing population in market housing needs, for 
example ‘downsizing’ from larger properties in both villages – and to satisfy the younger first 
time buyers wanting to stay in the neighbourhood. 

 Maintaining and, where possible, enhancing the environment of Horton and Wraysbury - Horton 
being designated a ‘rural parish’ and Wraysbury a ‘semi-rural parish’. 

 Inaccessibility to services is of a concern owing to the loss of Wraysbury’s Medical Centre and 
limited public transport options. 

 Retaining the services that Horton and Wraysbury have which serve to support the population 
and enable both villages to have a thriving community. 

 Addressing road safety concerns regarding speeding, parking and traffic issues as the villages are 
used as cut-through routes between the nearby motorways. 

 The future impact and opportunities of the proposed River Thames Scheme which will pass 
through both Horton and Wraysbury. 

 The planned expansion of Heathrow Airport and the effect it will have on both villages. 

 The finalisation and approval of the new Borough Local Plan. 

 Proposals for further mineral extraction in the plan area and adjacent parishes which could 
affect the amenities of residents, the riverside environment and further heavy traffic 
movements 
 

d) CONSULTATION 
 
Below is a brief summary of the consultation activities undertaken by the Horton and Wraysbury 
Neighbourhood Planning Group. A comprehensive Consultation Statement will be submitted 
alongside the Neighbourhood Plan providing details of how we consulted the public, who we 
consulted (including any statutory consultees), summary of main issues raised, and how we have 
addressed those issues in our Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

The community engagement process began in 2013 with two initial consultation events which took 
place in mid-April, 2013 – one in Wraysbury Village Hall, the other in Champney Hall, Horton.  At 
these publicised events residents listed their concerns and ideas on various topics. 
Both events were well supported by residents and contact details were taken of those who 
attended. During the remainder of 2013, the Steering Group held meetings to assimilate the 
feedback and issues gained from the initial consultations and to formulate ideas and objectives 
aimed at addressing villagers’ aspirations. 
 

The Steering Group then concentrated on establishing a Vision for the area, and nominated Topic 
Group leaders to work on Housing & Built Environment, Community, Environment, Transport & 

384



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 16 of 54 
 

Travel and Business. The Topic Groups continued to gather information including contacting local 
groups, and our Neighbourhood Plan website was set up to keep residents informed of progress.  
The Parish Council websites were also used on progress updates. 
 

The Steering Group continued to formulate issues and objectives from residents’ concerns, and a 
questionnaire survey was constructed to get the views of the community on the initial aims. This 
was run from September 1 to November 7, 2014, online via the Borough Council’s Survey Monkey 
system so data could easily be assessed.  Paper copies were made available to those without 
computer access and special meetings with the Age Concern groups were held, along with assistance 
at the village Container Library for young and old. Publicity for the questionnaire was extensive, with 
a glossy leaflet drop to all addresses in our neighbourhood, plus an article and advert in the local 
magazine, which has 2,500 copies distributed to all households and drop points in both villages, and 
also using the villages’ Facebook page, and the Neighbourhood Plan and Parish Councils’ websites.  
Posters were on display in the villages.  Open Days were held during September to promote the 
questionnaire in both villages, which received good community response, plus a stand at the popular 
St. Andrew’s Church Garden Party event.  
 

The Steering Group then worked on analysing the responses and comments from the questionnaire 
during the early part of 2015 and from those, formed Objectives on the various Topics – Housing, 
Environment, Community, Transport/Travel, and Business/Economy.   We have had an area 
Character Assessment carried out by planners organised by Planning Aid England.  This has been 
added to with our local knowledge to make it more comprehensive.  
 

It was recognised that more direct engagement with the community was needed to explain the 
background to the process and the constraints to development regarding flood zones and Green 
Belt in our area, and to seek views of parishioners on the proposed policy ideas.  An Open Day was 
in held in April, 2016, in Wraysbury Village Hall, for feedback on the proposals and this was 
combined with an online survey until the beginning of May. Promotion for this was through a 
neighbourhood wide mailshot, posters, plus Facebook and local paper publicity with over 200 
responses being received. 
 

Continued updates on the Plan’s progress were carried out using the Neighbourhood Plan website 
and Facebook page as well as the Wraysbury News Facebook site, keeping residents informed and 
inviting comments.  Face to face conversations also took place with local businesses to inform them 
of the Plan and assess their needs and concerns. Throughout the process, the Steering Group has 
regularly consulted with both parish councils. 
 

After analysing the evidence gathered from the various surveys, the Steering Group finalised the 
Draft Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan in September, 2016. The Regulation 14 Pre-
Submission Consultation on the document was launched at St Andrew’s Church Garden Party in 
Wraysbury on September 3rd.  This was followed by a public Drop-in event on October 10 (4pm – 
8pm) in Wraysbury village hall.  

 

The consultation ran for an eight-week period from September 3rd until October 31st.   
A co-ordinated publicity campaign was undertaken which included distributing a four-page A5 
leaflet to all addresses in Horton and Wraysbury, detailing where the full draft plan could be 
viewed and comments could be made. The leaflet also contained a non-technical brief version of 
the Plan which set out the most important points – and publicised the open day events. A notice 
and link to the Plan was added to the Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan website, the 

385



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 17 of 54 
 

Wraysbury Parish Council website plus the Wraysbury News Facebook Page.  In both villages, 
copies of the full paper version of the Draft Plan along with large printouts of the Summary 
Version were available in key stores and community sites and large publicity banners were 
displayed.  The consultation was covered in the local press, and notifications were sent to 
statutory and non-statutory consultees. 
 
The responses to the consultation were analysed and the Plan was amended as appropriate. 

 
 
 
 

                       
  

     Neighbourhood Plan stall at The Grange, September 2014                                       Feedback Drop In Day in April, 2016 

 
 

 
 

Consultation Pre-Submission Draft Neighbourhood Plan launch September 2016 

  

386



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 18 of 54 
 

4. NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN VISION & OBJECTIVES 

OVERARCHING VISION FOR HORTON AND WRAYSBURY 
 

 

OBJECTIVES & ASPIRATIONS   
A series of Objectives linked to the Vision and derived from consultation and research, which 
identified key issues, are defined for each of the Neighbourhood Plan themes and relate to its 
policies and actions. 
 
 

LAND USE OBJECTIVES 

a) SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT & WATER MANAGEMENT 
 To ensure the Neighbourhood Plan contributes to the achievement of sustainable 

development. 

 To minimise the risk and impact of flooding whilst supporting flood alleviation measures.  

b) HOUSING 
 To determine the location, scale, design and type of new housing to ensure that it fits with 

the character of local areas while recognising the environmental constraints and, where 
possible, meeting local housing needs. 

 To ensure that residential development, including redevelopments and extensions reflect 
the character of the immediate area and are not over-dominant. 

 To ensure any multiple housing developments includes a mix of housing types to meet local 
housing needs, especially smaller properties. 

 To seek to bring derelict buildings back into beneficial use. 

c) BUILT ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY ASSETS 
 To protect and enhance the historic environment and heritage assets. 

 To retain the rural and semi-rural appearance of our villages  

 To conserve our important non-designated buildings identified as of community value.  

 To maintain the unique riverside character where the Thames passes through the plan area 

d) OPEN ENVIRONMENT 
 To protect the existing quality of landscape and encourage local biodiversity value.  

 To maintain and enhance Local Green Spaces including a designated footpath network. 

 To encourage sustainable land use in the Colne Valley including landscape, countryside, 
biodiversity, recreation, rural economy and community participation. 

e) BUSINESS & ECONOMY 
 To protect small and medium size businesses, including our village shops and facilities. 

To retain and enhance the rural and semi-rural atmosphere of our historic 
villages, while seeking to deliver sustainable growth within development 
constraints, keeping it an attractive and safe place for people to live and 
work, supported by a range of local services. 
 

387



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 19 of 54 
 

 

 

NON-LAND USE ACTIONS  
 

f) TRANSPORT & MOVEMENT 
 To promote, maintain and extend the existing network of footways and investigate safe cycle 

routes. 

 To address traffic, parking and associated environmental problems in the villages. 

 To retain and strengthen existing bus and rail services thereby encouraging the use of public 
transport. 

 To protect the villages from  HGV traffic 

 

g) KEY FACILITIES 
 To maintain easy access to medical and pharmacy facilities within the neighbourhood for all 

age groups and support community facilities for the wellbeing of our residents. 

 To ensure adequate educational facilities including nursery provision and multiple options 
for secondary schooling.  

 
 
 
 

      

388



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 20 of 54 
 

5. LAND USE POLICIES 
 

 
 
GENERAL OVERVIEW 
 
As previously stated, our Neighbourhood Plan has a significant percentage of land that is within the 
Green Belt and the Flood Plain.  In the main we are restricted from being able to develop in any 
meaningful way to satisfy an increase in population in our ward. 
 
The most common form of building that has taken place over the past few years has been 
redevelopments of properties and domestic extensions and this is the most likely form of future 
development.  
 
In Wraysbury there may well be pockets of land that could be developed, particularly on dry islands 
with a recognised escape route. Whilst in Horton, it is recognised that there is greater potential for 
development.  
 
The community has expressed strong views about its desire to retain the character of the area and 
to protect our green and leafy environment. The following policies have been designed to respond 
to these demands. 

 
 
 

a) SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
The intention of this policy is to indicate the overall support for development that is sustainable 
within the community and that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. 
The Plan supports a collaborative approach to development and in particular subscribes to the 
principle of early engagement of the public and stakeholders in the preparation of major residential 
developments that will affect their community in the long term. The NPPF states “Early engagement 
has significant potential to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the planning application 
system for all parties. Good quality pre-application discussion enables better co-ordination between 
public and private resources and improved outcomes for the community”.  
 

 

389



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 21 of 54 
 

 
 
MANAGEMENT OF THE WATER ENVIRONMENT 

 
REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
With the rivers Colne, Thames and the Colne Brook being nearby, severe flooding has happened on 
several occasions over the past few years.  It is necessary, therefore, for the design and layout of 
new development to show how it will address the specific requirements of our area in relation to 
flood risk especially since our vacuum operated sewerage system is vulnerable to flooding. 
  

The experience from the recent 2014 floods has put the importance of flood risk management at 
the forefront of the community mind when considering new development in the Plan area. 
National planning policy regarding flooding is set out in paragraphs 100-104 of the NPPF 2012 which 
is further elaborated in the Planning Practice Guidance 
  

The thrust of national policy is to avoid putting vulnerable development, which includes residential 
development, into areas that are at risk of flooding. The approach is that wherever possible such 
development should be placed outside Flood Zones 2 and 3 as shown on the Environment Agency’s 
Flood Maps, thereby avoiding putting more people and property at risk. This is known as the 
sequential approach i.e. identifying locations for new development which lie outside the Flood Plain. 
This would require any allocation in the Plan area to be where the buildings or structures will not 
be at risk of flooding. 

POLICY NP/SUSTDEV 01 – PRESUMPTION IN FAVOUR OF SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT  
 

Development proposals which accord with the policies in the Neighbourhood 
Plan will be supported, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Development proposals will also be supported where relevant policies in the 
Neighbourhood Plan are out of date or silent unless:  
 

● other relevant policies in the Development Plan for the Royal Borough of Windsor 

and Maidenhead indicate otherwise 
● or any adverse impacts of the proposal would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh its benefits when assessed against the policies in the National Planning 
Policy Framework taken as a whole 
● or specific policies in the Framework or other material considerations indicate that 
development should be restricted.  

 

The Borough Council and the two Parish Councils will take a positive approach 
and seek to work with applicants and other stakeholders to encourage the 
formulation of development proposals that can be approved. 
To achieve this, development proposals of 10 or more dwellings should actively 
engage with the relevant Parish Council and the community in the preparation 
of the planning application by way of Development Details (see Appendix). In 
particular this will include the mix of units, the design and layout of the 
development and should be in accordance with all other Neighbourhood Plan 
policies.  
 
 

390



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 22 of 54 
 

  

This is complicated by the fact that so much of the Neighbourhood Plan area lies within the Green 
Belt. At the wider Royal Borough level the opportunity arises of locating new development 
elsewhere in areas that do not flood. This is the approach that was identified in the Royal Borough’s 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. The avoidance of flood risk areas is one of the strategic policies set 
out in the adopted local plan which, while it predates the NPPF, has followed established national 
advice on flood risk. Recent national advice in the Planning Practice Guidance recognises that some 
constraints outweigh the benefits of providing more housing developments and specifically quotes 
locations where development is to be restricted as those at risk from flooding along with other 
examples that include Green Belt and Local Green Space.  
  

The relevant Local Plan policy is Policy F1 of the adopted Local Plan which includes a general 
presumption against residential and non-residential development, if by itself or cumulatively with 
other development it will: 
  

·      Impede the flow of flood water 

·      Reduce the capacity of the Flood Plain to store flood water 

·      Increase the number of people or properties at risk of flooding 
  

These principles are reflected in the Neighbourhood Plan policy on this important topic. Policy F1 
does allow the replacement of homes on a site, allowing for a floorspace by floorspace basis, but 
also allowing for the property to be extended by a maximum of 30²m. A similar limit applies to those 
extensions that require planning permission. 
  

This Neighbourhood Plan reflects both national advice and local plan policy by including general 
presumption against all new buildings in areas liable to flood unless it is infrastructure or facilities 
that have to be located by the river such as boatyards. This is to ensure that no additional people 
are placed at risk when flooding reoccurs nor should the placing of new buildings in the floodplain 
take up flood storage capacity which could lead to the flooding of areas not currently liable to flood. 
  

New development in the Plan area can be allowed in terms of flood plain policy if it can be 
demonstrated that the levels of the site are above the level of water in the 1 in 1000-year flood 
event - these are known as Dry Islands.   
  
However to be allowed, the applicant will be expected to demonstrate that any residents will have 
a safe exit route to land which will remain outside the flood area in serious events, as the flood 
water can remain in place for many weeks. Experience of recent floods has demonstrated that there 
is a viable evacuation route down Staines Road. 
  

It is likely that in the context of flood plain policy the only acceptable residential development in 
Flood Zones 2 and 3 will be replacement dwellings and the extension of dwellings. Current policy 

allows a 30²m increase in floor space.  However, notwithstanding the national and local policy 
presumption against inappropriate development in flood areas, existing properties generally still 
have permitted development rights (unless previously withdrawn) which now allow sizeable 
extensions and the construction of large ancillary buildings within the curtilage. The extent of an 
enlargement built using the permitted development route can be greater than allowable under 
planning policy and additionally imposes no controls over the method of construction and floor 
levels. This could allow solid substructures which do not allow water to flow or be stored under the 
living accommodation thereby displacing flood water and increasing flood risk to neighbouring 
properties. 
  

391



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 23 of 54 
 

 
The Neighbourhood Plan wishes to encourage development that is as flood resilient as possible and 
recognises that pushing residents to utilise their permitted development rights will generally result 
in less sustainable development. This can be achieved by a policy that allows properties still to be 
extended to the extent allowable by the permitted development rights but must be constructed in 
a way that maximises flood resilience and resistance through the exercise of planning control. 

 
 

 
 
 

b) HOUSING 
 

GOOD QUALITY DESIGN  
 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
This Neighbourhood Plan supports the NPPF’s objective to achieve excellence in design, especially 
design that will help establish a “strong sense of place” and “create attractive and comfortable 
places to live, work and visit” (NPPF para 58).   
 

We already have a rich variety of architectural styles in the area and we would like to see new 
development contribute to this variety, while at the same time being sympathetic to the existing 
character of the area and natural environment (as is also reflected in our policy NP/DG2 regarding 
density, scale and bulk of new builds.)    
 

Our policies do not restrict development; instead they challenge applicants to deliver innovative 
development of high quality design that responds to its surroundings and is appropriate for our 
area. 
 

Our Character Assessment should be used to inform the design approach in a planning 
application.  The extent to which this is demonstrated in the development proposals should 
determine whether the proposal is in keeping with the character of an area. 
 

POLICY NP/SUSTDEV 02 – MANAGEMENT OF THE WATER ENVIRONMENT 
 

Development proposals for residential or non-residential development within 
the areas shown within Flood Zones 2 and 3 as shown on the Environment 
Agency’s Flood Maps will not be supported apart from the one for one 
replacement of houses and extensions to  existing houses up to the limit 
allowable under the permitted development rights granted by Parts A and E of 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning ( General Permitted 
Development Order) 2015  or such secondary legislation that replaces it. 
 
The design and construction of new buildings should have regard to national 
flood resilience guidance and other relevant policies in the development plan. 
Additionally, action should be taken where appropriate to improve and reduce 
the overall flood risk. 
 

 

392



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 24 of 54 
 

 
 

 FOOTPRINT, SEPARATION, SCALE & BULK 
 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
The trend in the last few years has been for new developments to be built to a much larger scale 
than that which is the general norm in our area. This is typified also where houses are built much 
closer to the boundaries of properties, resulting in loss of green frontage, space around the 
buildings, loss of privacy to surrounding properties and, when repeated, has a negative impact on 
the overall streetscape and the built environment. 
 

The bulk and scale of the houses in new developments in the residential neighbourhood has also 
frequently been much greater than the properties they replace, so that they dominate their 
surroundings. There is serious concern within the community that this is harming the character of 
the area which we strongly want to protect and is adversely impacting on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties.  
 
In the event of new homes being permitted, RBWM will consider the appropriateness or otherwise of a 
condition being imposed removing permitted development rights to erect side extensions without 
planning permission.  

POLICY NP/HOU1 - GOOD QUALITY DESIGN 
 
Development proposals should: 

 Make a positive contribution to the character and sense of place of 
Horton and Wraysbury’s built environment and landscape, thereby 
responding to the local distinctiveness of the Plan area through its 
excellence of design, the appropriateness of its height, layout, scale, 
massing and through the use of good quality locally appropriate 
materials 

 Demonstrate a locally appropriate design and layout which takes account 
of the site’s location and its context including the buildings in its 
immediate vicinity as described for the various zones within the Character 
Assessment that accompanies this Plan. 

 Incorporates appropriate landscaping to provide a setting of the 
development within its immediate surroundings. 
Parking provision should be as per the table below or in accordance with 
the standards adopted within the Borough Local Plan if the minimum 
requirements in the BLP are greater. 

Accommodation type Number of car parking spaces 

1 bedroom house or flat Minimum of 1 off road space 

2-3 bedroom dwelling Minimum of 2 off road spaces 

4 or more bedrooms Minimum of 3 off road spaces 

Developments of 5+ dwellings Additional 2 spaces per 5 dwellings 

 Provide sustainable drainage and porous / permeable surfacing for 
driveways. 

393



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 25 of 54 
 

 

 
 
SMALLER PROPERTIES & HOUSING MIX 

 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
As typical of villages across the country, a big issue in Horton and Wraysbury is to provide and 
protect the supply of smaller properties to meet the needs of our community. 
 

It is important to the sustainability of the social fabric of our village community that we ensure a 
continued mix of housing types that allow people of all generations to live here.  Evidence shows 
there is a demand for smaller units for both first time buyers and those wishing to downsize which 
is also backed up by the evidence contained within the Berkshire Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (Chapter 9). This was a strong and consistent theme that emerged from the public 
consultation responses and which is one of the key themes that the Neighbourhood Plan needs to 
address. 
 

Allocation in our neighbourhood of new developments to supply smaller houses is hugely 
restricted by the Green Belt and the Flood Zones, and recent years have seen the loss of two or 
three bedroom homes to much larger replacement dwellings we want to encourage the of small 
houses where possible. In the event of new homes being permitted, RBWM will consider the 
appropriateness or otherwise of a condition being imposed removing permitted development 
rights to erect side extensions without planning permission.  
 
 
 

POLICY NP/HOU2 - FOOTPRINT, SEPARATION, SCALE & BULK 
 

NP/HOU2.1 
New development should respect the footprint, separation, scale, bulk and height 
of the buildings in the surrounding area generally and neighbouring properties in 
particular, unless it can be demonstrated that the proposed development would 
not harm local character. 
 
NP/HOU2.2  
All new development should respect: 

 established building lines and arrangements of front gardens, walls, railings 
and use of green hedging and / or trees for highway boundaries,  where 
such features are important to the character and appearance of the 
streetscape / area (see Character Assessment appendix) 

 established plot widths within streets where development is proposed, 
particularly where they establish a rhythm to the architecture in a street 

 Any new residential development including replacement dwellings, and also 
any side extensions to existing dwellings (where planning permission is 
required) will be expected to be set in a minimum distance of 1.5m from the 
side boundary of the property to avoid the creation of a terracing effect.  

394



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 26 of 54 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
CHANGE OF USE 

 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
Because of the difficulties of identifying housing sites to meet local needs, both within and outside 
the Green Belt, the Plan encourages the redevelopment of previously developed land, i.e. 
brownfield sites, for housing purposes (so long as there is no greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt). In addition it also seeks to support the conversion of existing commercial premises, 
especially if the existing use is no longer viable, or is unneighbourly, to new homes. This could be a 
ready source of a supply of smaller properties which the Plan is seeking to promote. Such proposals 
would need to comply with other policies in the development plan, including those related to 
flooding. 
 
 

 
 

  

POLICY NP/HOU3 - SMALLER PROPERTIES & HOUSING MIX 
 

NP/HOU3.1 
All housing proposals of five or more units should deliver at least 20% of these 
units as one- or two-bed properties. 
 
NP/HOU3.2 
The provision of small properties (one to two bedrooms) suitable for older people 
and starter homes for young people will be supported, subject to other policies in 
the Plan. 
 
 
 

POLICY NP/HOU4 – REDEVELOPMENT & CHANGE OF USE  
 

Development proposals for a change of use of existing buildings including 
commercial sites or for their redevelopment for residential use will be supported 
where they comply with other relevant policies in the Development Plan.  
 
Where the properties or sites are located within the Green Belt the developments 
concerned should have no greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than 
that of the existing building or buildings. 
 

395



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 27 of 54 
 

 
 
 
WATER SUPPLY, WASTE WATER DRAINAGE, SURFACE WATER AND SEWERAGE 
INFRASTRUCTURE  

 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
It is important that with any new development within the Horton and Wraysbury area that there is 
existing capacity for both the water supply and Sewerage/Wastewater infrastructure. Applicants 
will be expected to show that there will not be a net increase in demand as a result of the 
development unless it can be shown the capacity exists and it will not cause problems for existing 
residents and businesses. This may require discussions with Thames Water to establish: 

 The development’s demands for water supply and network infrastructure both on and off-
site and how they can be met 

 The development’s demands for sewerage treatment and network infrastructure both on 
and off site and how they can be met and 

 The surface water drainage requirements and flood risk of the development both on and 
off site how they can be met.  

 
 

 
  

POLICY NP/HOU5 – WATER SUPPLY, WASTE WATER, SURFACE WATER and 
SEWERAGE INFRASTRUCTURE  
 
Development proposals should demonstrate that there is adequate water supply, 
waste water capacity and surface water drainage, both on and off the site to 
serve the development and that it would not lead to problems to existing or new 
users.  
 

Drainage on the site must maintain separation of foul and surface water flows. 
 

 
 

396



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 28 of 54 
 

c) BUILT ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY ASSETS 

 
EDUCATION 

 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
Wraysbury Primary School on Welley Road primarily serves Horton and Wraysbury and whilst it 
has recently been extended, the Neighbourhood Plan is mindful of any future need for further 
expansion e.g. an attached nursery. 
 

 
 
PROTECTION OF BUILDINGS VALUED BY THE COMMUNITY 
 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
Heritage assets are defined as a “building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as 
having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage 
interest”. Heritage assets include designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local 
planning authority (including local listing) (Annex 2, NPPF). 
 
Throughout the Plan area there are buildings and structures that, while not of specific special 
historic or architectural interest to warrant designation as listed buildings, have a distinct and 
valued local character and/ or appearance that are worthy of retention as part of any proposal. 
 

They are as follows: 
Remenham House, The Drive, Wraysbury:  Part of the Mansion of Remenham and Cow built 
around 1884 
North Lodge, The Drive, Wraysbury:  One of the Remenham lodges built around 1884 
The Windmill, The Splash, Wraysbury:  Built in 1995 using timber salvaged from Tilbury Docks Tall 
Ships sidings built by prisoners from the Napoleonic Wars. The windmill is similar in design to one 
built at Lacey Green near High Wycombe c1650. 
The Grange, Windsor Road, Wraysbury:  Dating back to the 14th century and used as a vicarage 
until the late 17th century when it became privately owned. The Great Hall includes large stained 
glass windows and a minstrels’ gallery. 
The former school, Horton Road, Horton:  Originally a Church of England Primary School built in 
1878 with the aid of a grant from St. Michael’s Church. It remained the school for children from  
 

POLICY NP/BE1 – EDUCATION 
 

Proposals to extend the Wraysbury Primary School and / or to provide a nursery 
school on the Primary School site will be supported where: 

 The proposal is an extension or alteration of existing buildings which 
does not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of 
the original buildings; or 

 The proposal is a limited infilling or the partial or complete 
redevelopment of the existing buildings on the site which would not have 
a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of 
including land within it than the existing development. 

 
 

397



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 29 of 54 
 

 
Horton village until it was finally closed in 1973. Since then the building has been renovated and 
used as offices. 
Wraysbury High Street Area:   Many of these buildings are Victorian as recognised in the RBWM 
Townscape Assessment and which recommends the conservation of the historic gateways of the 
High Street/Station Road/The Green and High Street/Staines Road/Windsor Road, plus the views 
along the historic High Street, which includes the Baptist Church and the Perseverance Public 
House. 
 
Any planned changes will also be given consideration / advice by the established ‘Wraysbury & 
Horton Heritage Committee’. 
 

 
 
 

POLICY NP/BE2 – HERITAGE ASSETS 
 

The following properties are identified as locally important heritage assets: 
 

Remenham House, The Drive, Wraysbury 
North Lodge, The Drive, Wraysbury 
The Windmill, The Splash, Wraysbury 
The Grange, Windsor Road, Wraysbury 
The former school, Horton Road, Horton 
Wraysbury High Street Area as per the schedule of buildings below: 
The Oast Barn, Staines Road 
‘Albert Place’, 6-12 Staines Road 
‘Alexandra Villas’, 4 Staines Road 
2 Staines Road 
56 High Street 
14, 16 High Street 
Wraysbury Baptist Church 
4-12 High Street 
15-23 High Street 
25 High Street 
27-33 High Street 
1-3 Station Road 
5-7 Station Road 
Brook Villa, The Green 
 

Development proposals which would directly or indirectly affect the locally 
important heritage assets should safeguard and where possible enhance the 
heritage asset. The effect of a development proposal on the significance of the 
identified locally important heritage assets will be taken into account in 
determining the relevant planning application having regard to the scale of any 
harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset concerned. 
 

 

398



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 30 of 54 
 

 
 
Listed buildings (see panel below) are already afforded protection by national policy and existing local plans 
as well as enjoying statutory protection, so there is no need for a separate Neighbourhood Plan policy.  

 

 
 

 
 
 
PROTECTION OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
This policy identifies those built community facilities that will be protected from a change of use 
that will result in a loss of their community value.  Some may already have protection from 
demolition given they are designated heritage assets but this policy seeks to ensure their 
community value is sustained.   
 

Further, it encourages proposals to enable the facilities to remain viable community facilities, in line 
with the 2003 Borough Local Plan CF1. 
 

 
 
 

LISTED BUILDINGS  
 

Horton 
LITTLE COURT, BELLS LANE, Horton 
THE OLD RECTORY, HORTON ROAD, Horton 
CHURCH OF ST MICHAEL, STANWELL ROAD, Horton 
THE FIVE BELLS PUBLIC HOUSE, STANWELL ROAD, Horton (now known as THE HORTON ARMS) 
HORTON CEDARS, DATCHET ROAD, Horton 
LYCH GATE TO NORTH OF CHURCH OF ST MICHAEL, STANWELL ROAD, Horton 
DAIRY OF BERKYN MANOR AT NORTH EAST CORNER OF HOUSE, Off STANWELL ROAD, Horton 
HORTON LODGE, HORTON ROAD, Horton 
ASHGOOD FARMHOUSE, STANWELL ROAD, Horton 
THE CROWN PUBLIC HOUSE AND ATTACHED BARN, THE GREEN, Horton 
BROOKFIELD, DATCHET ROAD, Horton 
MILDRIDGE FARMHOUSE, HORTON ROAD, Horton 
CHURCHYARD WALL, WEST OF CHURCH OF ST MICHAEL, STANWELL ROAD, Horton 
 

Wraysbury 
GREENWOOD, STATION ROAD, Wraysbury 
THE OLD VICARAGE, VICARAGE LANE, Wraysbury 
CHURCH OF ST ANDREW, Off WINDSOR ROAD, Wraysbury 
MAGNA CARTA HOUSE, MAGNA CARTA LANE, MAGNA CARTA ISLAND, Wraysbury 
TITHE FARM COTTAGE, STATION ROAD, Wraysbury 
KING JOHN’S HUNTING LODGE, Off OLD FERRY DRIVE, Wraysbury 
THE PERSEVERANCE PUBLIC HOUSE, HIGH STREET, Wraysbury 
DOWNHAMS, STAINES ROAD, Wraysbury 
ANKERWYCKE PRIORY RUINS, STAINES ROAD, Wraysbury 
GEORGE INN, WINDSOR ROAD, Wraysbury 
MANOR FARMHOUSE, WINDSOR ROAD, Wraysbury 
ANKERWYCKE PRIORY – categorised as “Scheduling” 

 

399



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 31 of 54 
 

 
 

 
 

POLICY NP/BE3 – COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 

Development proposals to sustain or extend the existing community use of 
the following buildings and the development of new facilities will be 
supported where they complement the use or viability of the community 
element of the facility concerned; (as identified on the Community Facilities 
Map below) 
 

Horton Parish Sites: 
i. The Crown Public House 

ii. The Horton Arms Public House (previously known as the Five Bells)  

iii. Champneys Village Hall 

iv. The Queen Mother Reservoir & Datchet Sailing Club 

v. The convenience store  

 

Wraysbury Parish Sites:  
i. Wraysbury Village Hall 

ii. Wraysbury Village Club  

iii. The George Inn Public House 

iv. The Perseverance Public House 

v. Cricket Pavilion 

vi. The Community Hall (on the Village Green) 

vii. The Bowling Green 

viii. Wraysbury Lawn Tennis Club 

ix. Silver Wing Sailing Club 

 

Proposals that will result in the loss or significant reduction in scale, of a 
community facility identified in this policy will not be supported unless 
suitable alternative facilities are provided or it can be demonstrated the 
existing facility is no longer viable and that an alternative community use 
cannot be identified for the building concerned.  
 

400



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 32 of 54 
 

 
 
 

For more detailed maps see Appendices section (a)  

401



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 33 of 54 
 

d) OPEN ENVIRONMENT 
 

LANDSCAPE 
 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
To protect and maintain our existing green spaces, footpaths and the natural environment for 
recreation and wellbeing, taking the opportunities offered by the River Thames Scheme to enhance 
the accessibility, leisure and ecological amenities where possible whilst working in conjunction with 
the National Trust, Natural England and the Colne Valley Regional Park. 
 

 
 
PROTECTION OF ECOLOGICALLY IMPORTANT SITES 
 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
The Horton and Wraysbury Plan area has a wide range of ecologically important sites ranging from 
the Ramsar Sites e.g. Wraysbury Lakes which are sites of international importance linked to the 
migration of birds and nationally designated SSSIs such as Wraysbury & Hythe End Gravel Pits. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

POLICY NP/OE1 - LANDSCAPE 
 
Development should conserve and enhance the quality and character of the 
landscape in the Neighbourhood Plan area and within the context of the Colne 
Valley Regional Park. In particular development will be expected to retain and 
where possible improve the visual appearance of the land within the Plan area by 
protecting and enhancing of the landscape features such as vegetation, existing 
trees and hedgerows, and the open nature of the riverside meadows as well as 
the riparian setting of the Rivers Colne, Thames and the Colne Brook and the 
flooded gravel pits which are situated in the Plan area. 

POLICY NP/OE2 – ECOLOGY 
 

Development proposals that conserve and enhance biodiversity and comply with 
other relevant policies will be supported. 
Development proposals should give particular regard to ecological networks and 
should: 

 Retain, protect and enhance features of biodiversity interest and ensure 
appropriate management of those features  

 Ensure that any adverse impacts (either alone or in combination) are 
avoided or if unavoidable minimised through mitigation with any residual 
impacts being compensated for (having regard to the hierarchy of 
designation). 

Development proposals that would have an unacceptable adverse impact on the 
ecological or biodiversity resources in the neighbourhood area, and which cannot 
be appropriately avoided or mitigated, will not be supported. 

 

402



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 34 of 54 
 

 
PROTECTION & MAINTAINING OF FOOTPATHS 
 
REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
There exists a network of public rights of way around the two villages which provide access into the 
countryside and are a valued recreational resource. However, this network is limited compared to 
other parishes in the Colne Valley and opportunities should be taken to enhance the network and 
create circular walks for the benefit of local residents. The network of footpaths and bridleways 
must be protected, maintained and enhanced through such initiatives as the River Thames Scheme 
and by negotiations with private landowners. 
 
The network of lakes between Horton and Wraysbury are disused gravel pits which are now used 
for leisure pursuits.  They form private fishing lakes, sailing clubs, and a dive centre.  There are some 
lakeside public footpaths, while over time other paths have developed as locals regularly used them 
for walking and bird watching. 
 
Most of the lakes benefit from designation as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and European 
Ramsar protection, as the landscape is colonised by a variety of birds and wildlife habitats. 
 
It is the Parish Councils’ intention to keep public footpaths accessible by walking the routes 
(sometimes referred to as “Beating the Bounds”). In addition, the Wraysbury Walking Group has 
been formed to ensure established routes and footpaths are regularly used and enjoyed around 
Horton and Wraysbury by residents of the villages.  

 

 
 
 
LOCAL GREEN SPACES 
 
REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
Under the NPPF, Neighbourhood Plans have the opportunity to designate Local Green Spaces which 
are of particular importance to the local community. This will afford protection from development 
other than in very special circumstances.  
 
Paragraph 77 of the NPPF says that Local Green Spaces can be designated:  
“where the green area is demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local 
significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational value (including as 
a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and is not an extensive tract of land.” 
 
Green spaces have been identified in the villages of Horton and Wraysbury as detailed below: 

POLICY NP/OE3 – PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 
 
Development proposals should be designed and arranged to safeguard existing 
public rights of way and their settings. Proposals which would involve the loss of 
a public right of way or where an appropriate and attractive redirection could 
not be achieved will not be supported.  

403



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 35 of 54 
 

 
i. Horton Village Green: A small grassed island in front of the Crown Public House. The Green 

is distinguished by the War Memorial, a flag pole, Memorial Rose Garden and a maturing 
oak tree. It is the focal point for formal and informal Village occasions including Christmas 
carols and a Remembrance Day service.  

ii. Horton Village Play Area: Located next to Champney Hall in Stanwell Road this secure play 
area for children contains a number of both traditional and modern pieces of play 
equipment. 

iii. Wraysbury Village Green: The Village Green is designated common land and lies between 
Windsor Road, The Green (road) and the Colne River. The Cricket Pavilion and Scout Hut are 
situated at the end of The Village Green and cricket matches take place at week-ends and 
mid-week during the summer months. The Village Green is also used by residents all year 
round as an area of recreational space and hosts the annual Village Fair.  

iv. Wraysbury Children’s Play Park: This secure play area lies at the South Eastern corner of the 
Village Green and contains an array of traditional and modern play equipment including swings, 
climbing frames and slides. 

v. Ankerwycke National Trust Land: One hundred and ninety acres of farm, park and 
woodland owned and managed by the National Trust and forming part of the Colne Valley 
Regional Park. Ankerwycke Island is home to an ancient 2,500 year–old yew tree – one of 
the Queen’s jubilee trees and fabled to have been a courting hideaway for Henry VIII and 
Anne Boleyn – and the ruins of a 12th Century St. Mary’s Priory, also documented as 
instrumental to the sealing of the Magna Carta. Both are visible from Runnymede on the 
opposite side of the River Thames.  There are footpaths from the Thames to St. Andrew’s 
Church which encompass Magna Carta Lane, and it is a haven for flora and fauna. 

vi. Wraysbury Memorial Ground: The Memorial Ground is located at the end of The Green 
behind the Village Hall. Its rear boundary is the Wraysbury 1 Lake. It provides vista and 
recreational space for the Wraysbury Village Hall residents as well as being home to the 
Wraysbury Football Club who host regular football games throughout the season. 

vii. The Kayles, Old Ferry Drive: An area of woodland and grass adjoining Thames field. 

viii. Arthur Jacob Nature Reserve: A wetland reserve of 4.6 hectares situated adjacent to the 
Colne Brook River. There are four lagoons, some with islands, and the site has been 
extensively planted with trees, shrubs, wildflower meadows and aquatics. Dipping platforms 
and a bird hide are provided.  

ix. Poyle Poplars Woodland: This 15 acre woodland site is located next to the Arthur Jacob 
Nature Reserve in Stanwell Road, Horton. It is owned by the Royal Borough of Windsor & 

Maidenhead and is planted with native trees including black poplar. It attracts wildlife and 
provides a secluded shaded walking area. 

x. The Swimming Area (land owned by the Scouts leading down to Wraysbury 1 lake): This 
piece of land is used for outdoor lakeside events including barbecues and for November 5th 
every year. 

xi. Green area in Waylands: An important green space in the northern part of Wraysbury near 
to the Primary School. 

xii. Bunded area between 94a and 98 Welley Road: An area set with plants and bulbs making a 
pleasant entry to the village along Welley Road. 

xiii. Eight Yards either side of River Colne: Wraysbury residents enjoy right of access to either 
side of this river as a result of an Enclosure Act award. 

 

404



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 36 of 54 
 

Policy OE4 designates Local Green Spaces and applies the approach in the NPPF to their long-term 
maintenance. The very special circumstances where development may be supported within Local 
Green Spaces will be a matter for RBWM to determine on a case-by-case basis. However, these 
circumstances may include proposals which enhance the role and function of a designated Local 
Green Space and where the proposal would result in the development of appropriate community 
infrastructure. 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

POLICY NP/OE4 – LOCAL GREEN SPACES 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan designates Local Green Spaces in the following 
locations, as shown on the Local Green Spaces maps on pages 37 to 39. 
 

i. Horton Village Green 

ii. Horton Village Play Area 

iii. Wraysbury Village Green 

iv. Wraysbury Children’s Play Park 

v. Ankerwycke National Trust Land 

vi. Wraysbury Memorial Ground 

vii. The Kayles, Old Ferry Drive 

viii. Arthur Jacob Nature Reserve 

ix. Poyle Poplars Woodland 

x. The Swimming Area  (land owned by the Scouts leading down to 
Wraysbury 1 lake) 

xi. Green area in Waylands 

xii. Bunded area between 94a and 98 Welley Road  

xiii. Eight Yards either side of River Colne 

 
Development will not be supported within local green spaces unless in very 
special circumstances. 

405



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 37 of 54 
 

 

406



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 38 of 54 
 

 

i Horton Village Green ii Horton Village Play Area iii Wraysbury Village Green 

iv Wraysbury Children's Play Park 
v Ankerwycke National Trust land 

vii The Kayles, Old Ferry Drive vi Wraysbury Memorial Ground 

407



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 39 of 54 
 

 

viii Arthur Jacob Nature Reserve ix Poyle Poplars Woodland 

x The Swimming Area 

xi Green Area, Waylands 

xii Bunded Area, Welley Road xiii Eight Yards, River Colne 

408



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 40 of 54 
 

e) BUSINESS & ECONOMY 
 

RETAIL BUSINESSES 
 
REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
Horton has a single convenience store and Wraysbury has a number of shops that provide services 
to the villages which are highly valued and which avoid longer trips by car to neighbouring towns 
and villages. In addition they provide valuable employment to the villages.  The protection of local 
facilities through neighbourhood plans is commended in national planning guidance. 
 

 
 
 

COMMERCIAL PREMISES 
 
REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
The Plan recognises the importance to the balance of the community of the importance of existing 
businesses in the Plan area, both in terms of the services they deliver and also the employment 
and economic benefits they provide. The policy recognises that often businesses will need to  
redevelop their property or alter or extend them and the Plan generally supports that investment 
so long as the proposals comply with other relevant development plan policies. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

POLICY NP/BUSEC1 – RETAIL BUSINESS 
 
Proposals for the change of use of properties in retail or retail-related use 
(Class A1 to A5 inclusive) to other uses will not be supported unless it can be 
demonstrated that the continued retail use is no longer viable and that there 
is evidence that the property has been marketed on reasonable terms for a  
12 month period. 
 

POLICY NP/BUSEC2 – COMMERCIAL PREMISES 
 
Proposals for the redevelopment of existing employment and commercial 
premises, or their extension or alteration for continued employment 
generating uses will be supported subject to the proposals also complying with 
other relevant policies in the Development Plan. 
 
 

409



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 41 of 54 
 

6. NON-LAND USE ACTIONS 
 
During the preparation of the Plan, a number of aspirations were identified by the community for 
the improvement of our area.  These are now documented in the Plan as projects which, although 
they do not carry planning weight, are included in this section to provide a focus for community 
action. 
 

It is proposed that these projects be driven forward by the Parish Councils, action groups and 
other stakeholders to deliver the stated objectives.   
 

f) TRANSPORT & MOVEMENT 
 

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT 
 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
The Questionnaire survey revealed that the majority of respondents were ‘dissatisfied’ with the 
current traffic calming measures (54%). 
 
Comments were mainly against the road ramps or cushions which they complained were (unlike 
full width humps) not effective in slowing down vehicles - particularly large commercial vehicles 
and those using our villages as a cut-through. Most felt there was evidence that the cushions 
damaged cars as they go over them in an uneven manner. A sizeable number, 190, commented on 
traffic calming, and only 8 had a positive comment on road cushions/ramps.  
 
Comments suggested speeding was still a problem, highlighting Station Road coming from the 
railway bridge to the village centre and methods other than speed cushions should be investigated. 

 
There is strong evidence that both villages are 
being used as a cut- through for traffic between the 
M25 and the M4. Of particular concern are the 
many heavy goods vehicles through our village 
roads causing congestion and air pollution. 
 
 

 
 

 
The idea to promote cycle lanes where possible around the parishes got a 66% positive response.  
Certainly the dangerous road into Staines-upon-Thames could be improved for both cyclists and 
pedestrians. 
 
Both Horton and Wraysbury Parish Councils recognise the issues of motorists using the villages as 
a cut-through for avoidance of M25 and M4 congestion and will seek traffic management 
measures to deter traffic in these instances. 
 

 

SatNav showing traffic build up Welley Rd traffic 

410



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 42 of 54 
 

 
 
 

PARKING 
 
REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
The survey also revealed concerns over the inadequacy of the High Street car park thereby forcing 
shoppers to park haphazardly on the High Street footways. 
 

 
 

PUBLIC TRANSPORT 
 
REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
The survey revealed that 75% of respondents wanted improvements to the bus system, especially 
a direct service to Windsor while 30% wished for more coverage for Horton.  A service to 
Maidenhead saw a 20% interest. 
 

More frequency of buses and trains (70%) and subsidised fares to improve services (52%) were 
highlighted, with comments that not all parts of our villages are covered and suggestions that a 
hopper service could connect the villages with Datchet surgery and Windsor.   
 

Train services from our stations are well used – 56% saying they ‘occasionally’ travel by rail with 
25% ‘often’. 
  

Improvement to bus services in our community is important with regard to reducing car use to be 
environmentally friendly and for the increase in our elderly population. 
 

The issue of transport to Datchet Surgery for the elderly and those without cars came under the 
‘Health in the Community’ question - but it is understood this is being partially solved by the 
Wraysbury Voluntary Care service operated by our Community Pharmacist. 
 

TM1 -   TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT INCLUDING PEDESTRIANS & CYCLISTS  
 
The Parish Councils along with the local community and action groups will 
pursue improvements to road safety for all road users, specifically: 

a) initiatives to deter excessive speeding 
b) seeking HGV ‘access only’ restrictions for the villages 
c) promoting improved cycle ways and pedestrian footways 
d) working with RBWM Highways to introduce a Traffic Plan to actively 

reduce traffic through the villages 
 

 

TM2 -   PARKING  
 

The Parish Councils with the support of local community and action groups 
will actively seek more parking spaces in the village centres and to mitigate 
pavement parking without affecting trade to our local high street shops. 
 

 

411



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 43 of 54 
 

 
 
 

g) KEY FACILITIES 
 

COMMUNITY ISSUES 

 

REASONED JUSTIFICATION 
Further results from our survey indicated the community wishes that the following key facilities be 
maintained and improved, as appropriate. 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

TM3 – PUBLIC TRANSPORT 
 

The Parish Councils with the support of local community and action groups 
will seek to: - 

a) secure or improve bus services to our villages and to work with 
RBWM and the bus operators to achieve this and to explore whether 
a hopper service would be feasible 

b) retain the direct train services from Sunnymeads Station and 
Wraysbury Station to Windsor & Eton Riverside and London 
Waterloo 

c) support the maintenance and improvement of the facilities of both 
Sunnymeads and Wraysbury stations 

 
 
 

 

KF1 - COMMUNITY FACILITIES  
 

The Parish Councils with the support of local community and action groups 
will lobby appropriate organisations to maintain the Post Office in Wraysbury 
and the convenience store in Horton as well as all organisations that offer 
recreational and social facilities to both village communities. 
 

 

KF2 - COMMUNITY HEALTH  
 

The Parish Councils with the support of local community and action groups 
will seek to retain the Community Pharmacy for both Horton and Wraysbury 
and encourage, through discussions with the Clinical Commissioning Groups, 
the reintroduction of a village based medical facility. 
 

 

412



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 44 of 54 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

KF3 – PUBLIC FOOTPATHS & RIGHTS OF WAY  
 

The Parish Councils will work alongside the National Trust, Natural England, 
the Colne Valley Regional Park and local community / action groups to retain 
existing and identify new walking routes and public footpaths for the benefit 
of the residents in both villages, for example through: 

 Organised walking groups and events  

 Public meetings 

 Liaison with RBWM Public Rights of Way department 
Opportunities to enhance public accessibility through designation of new 
rights of way or permitted paths will be sought where appropriate 
including through the River Thames Scheme and existing gravel pits 
through negotiation. 

KF4 - EDUCATION  
 

The Parish Councils with the support of local community and action groups 
will seek to widen the choice and opportunities for secondary schooling. 
 

 

KF5 - ASSETS OF VALUE TO THE COMMUNITY  
 

The Parish Councils will nominate the following buildings as an Asset of 
Community Value: 

 The Crown Public House, Horton 
 The Horton Arms Public House, Horton (formerly The Five Bells) 
 The convenience store, Horton 
 The George Public House, Wraysbury 
 The Perseverance Public House, Wraysbury 

 
 

413



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 45 of 54 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
For more detailed maps see Appendices section (b) 

  

414



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 46 of 54 
 

7. APPENDICES 
 

a) MAPS OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 

 

 

415



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 47 of 54 
 

 
 

416



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 48 of 54 
 

 

417



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 49 of 54 
 

 
 

 

418



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 50 of 54 
 

 

 
 

  

419



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 51 of 54 
 

b) MAPS OF ASSETS OF VALUE TO THE COMMUNITY 
 

 
 

 
 

420



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 52 of 54 
 

 
 

 

421



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 53 of 54 
 

c) CHARACTER ASSESSMENT  
 

The Horton and Wraysbury Character Assessment was commissioned by both Horton and 
Wraysbury Parish Councils, initiated by Planning Aid England and fully developed by the Steering 
Committee.  It also contains the RBWM Townscape Assessment relating to our area. 
The document provides an overview of the character and key qualities that define the built up 
areas of our Ward and will inform on the policies in the Neighbourhood Plan which will be used by 
the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead when considering planning applications submitted 
within the designated area. 
The Assessment recognises that there are various areas that have distinct characteristics and 
these are identified in the document. 
 

What is a character assessment? 
 

A character assessment is a document that describes the distinct appearance and feel of a 
settlement or an area.  It communicates the key physical features and characteristics that combine 
to give a particular settlement or an area its local distinctiveness and unique identity. 
 
“A character assessment’s role is to help ensure that change and development does not undermine 
whatever is characteristic or valued about any particular landscape.” -  Landscape Character 
Assessment Guidance for England and Scotland. 
 
The Character Assessment should be read in conjunction with the Neighbourhood Plan and 
can be found on the Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan website www.hwnp.co.uk. 

 

d) DEVELOPMENT DETAILS 
 

The Development Details shall include all relevant information needed to facilitate an informed 
and effective consultation, including but not limited to: 

• A site map showing the site’s location and its context within its immediate neighbourhood 
– including any areas of Green Belt, flood zones, the location of any SSSIs, SPAs, LWSs and 
heritage assets, landmark buildings or views 

• An illustrative layout that shows how the proposed development could be accommodated 
on the site 

• Scale, footprint, bulk and height of buildings 
• Mix of dwelling types and tenure 
• Design style and guidelines 
• Improvements to infrastructure and facilities to be provided 
• Access, parking, cycle and pedestrian ways and any required traffic congestion and parking 

assessments 
• Landscaping and publicly accessible open spaces 
• The location of trees and any that may be affected by the development 
• Indicative timing and phasing of the proposed development 
• Community benefits to be provided 
• An analysis of how the development proposals comply with the whole policy framework 

including the Neighbourhood Plan. 
The Information Pack for developers is available via Wraysbury or Horton Parish Councils. 
 

422



Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum Version November 2019 

Page 54 of 54 
 

8. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 

This Plan has been prepared by the following: 
 Councillor Margaret Lenton 
 Councillor Diana Hughes 
 Councillor Peter Lord 
 The Late Betty Marlow 
 Councillor Eileen Coogan 

Councillor Janet Crame 
Mr Fred Parsons  
Mrs Lynn Holden 
Mrs Julie Gomme 
Miss Dawn Funnell 
Mr John Slater BA (Hons) DMS MRTPI (Plan Consultant) 
Brian Whiteley, (Planning Aid England advisor)  
And various staff members at RBWM  

With previous assistance and advice from:  
  Councillor Colin Rayner 
  Councillor Samantha Rayner 
  Councillor Andrew Davies 

Wraysbury & Horton Heritage Committee 

423



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report Title: Bank Reconciliation Report 

 

 

Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information? 

No - Part I  

Lead Member:  Councillor Hilton, Lead Member for 
Finance and Ascot 

Meeting and Date:  Full Council – 23 June 2020 

Responsible Officer(s):  Adele Taylor, Director of Resources/S151 
Officer 

Wards affected:   All 

 

 
1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)  

 RECOMMENDATION: That Council notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves the write off of £1,136,953 for the unreconciled bank reconciliation 
entries. 

ii) Approves use of £1,136,953 of the £1,152,758 credit balance in the Housing 
Benefit Subsidy Revenue Account to offset these entries.   

 

REPORT SUMMARY 
 

1 This is the final report on the historic unreconciled bank reconciliation entries as 
described in the prior two year’s external audit reports. This summaries the 
investigation that has taken place since it was first reported in 2017 and gives 
background to the corrective financial adjustments that are required to resolve this 
historic outstanding issue in the current year’s statement of accounts. This 
adjustment does not result in any impact on the council’s general reserves as it is 
self-balancing.    

2 The unreconciled balance on the bank reconciliation is £1,136,953, and this is now 
located on the Council’s balance sheet. The investigation included review of the 
housing benefit subsidy accounts due to the number of bank transactions in these 
accounts. Subsequently, a credit of £1,152,758 was identified in the housing benefit 
revenue accounts which we believe to be the source of the bank reconciliation 
balance, further details on the allocation of the housing benefit credits is given in 
paragraph 4.15. 

3 The unreconciled entries have been identified as ‘unadjusted misstatements’ on our 
external audit ISA260 report since 2018-19. If these entries are not written off and 
the Housing benefit credits remain unallocated then the Council’s external audit 
report for 2019-20 will contain the unreconciled amounts and unallocated credits as 
an on-going ‘unadjusted misstatement’ in the Councils 2019-20 statement of 
accounts until the matter is resolved. 

4 The report also gives details of the investigations, actions and discussions that have 
taken place regarding these transactions and allocations between finance, and both 
internal and external audit. 

 

425

Agenda Item 11



 

 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  

 Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 

Approve the write off of the 
unreconciled bank reconciliation 
entries of £1,136,953 and allocation 
of credit balances of the same value 
in the Housing benefit subsidy 
accounts. 
This is the recommended option 

Approval will allow for the bank 
reconciliation entries to be cleared 
from the balance sheet and the 
credits in the housing benefit 
accounts to be allocated. Resulting 
in the item being removed from the 
2019-20 external audit report as an 
outstanding unadjusted 
misstatement. 

Do not approve the write off of the 
unreconciled bank reconciliation 
entries and allocation of the credit 
balances in the Housing benefit 
subsidy accounts. 
 

This will not allow for the write off or 
allocation of credits as described and 
the item remains as an unadjusted 
misstatement in the 2019-20 
statement of accounts. 

 

2.1 The Council is required to produce a reconciled bank reconciliation as part of its 
financial management arrangements.     

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 2: Key Implications 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

The bank 
reconciliation 
entries on 
the balance 
sheet are 
cleared and 
the credits 
on the 
housing 
benefit 
accounts are 
allocated 

Write 
off/allocation 
not 
approved 

Write 
off/allocation 
approved 

n/a n/a 23 June 
2020 

 
3.1 If approved then the bank reconciliation balance sheet entries will be written off and 

the credits on the housing benefit accounts allocated resulting in this ‘unadjusted 
misstatement’ on our external audit report(ISA260) being resolved and not featuring 
in the 2019-20 external audit report. 

 
 
 
 

426



 

 

 
 

4.    FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY 

    
Table 3: Financial Impact of report’s recommendations  

REVENUE COSTS
  

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Additional total £1,136,953 £0 £0 

Reduction (£1,152,758) £0 £0 

Net Impact (£15,805) £0 £0 

    

 

CAPITAL COSTS
  

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Additional total £0 £0 £0 

Reduction £0 £0 £0 

Net Impact £0 £0 £0 

 

BANK RECONCILIATION 

 
4.1. In August 2017 it came to light that the bank reconciliation had unreconciled entries 

that required investigation.  
 

4.2. The actions taken from that date to resolve the issues are summarised by financial year 
below. 
 
Financial year 2017-18 

4.3. The financial control team carried out internal investigations from August to September 
2017. It was identified that additional resource would be required to support the 
investigation given this would be time consuming. Resource was secured for a period 
of 8 weeks from October to December 2017. 
 

4.4. Action was taken to set up processes to enable income received in the bank to be 
identified, allocated and reconciled to the correct service accounts more easily.  This 
proactive management of our income ensured that the amount of unreconciled income 
would not grow. This process was reviewed by internal audit prior to implementation 
and was actively managed from November 2017. 
 

4.5. As bank reconciliations from that point had been reconciled and reviewed by internal 
audit as part of the annual system controls audits, agreement was made with the 
Deputy Director & Head of Finance at that time to transfer the unreconciled amount to 
the balance sheet.  This was for ease of transparency while further investigations took 
place. This was transacted in January 2018. 
 

4.6. The 2017-18 bank reconciliation control audit was carried out in March 2018 and this 
included a review of the success of the new processes implemented in November 2017. 
This audit which was on the revised reconciliation process resulted in a final report 
awarding the 2nd highest of 4 audit opinions which is ‘Substantially complete and 
generally effective’. 

427



 

 

 

4.7. The 2017-18 bank reconciliation was completed in April 2018 and was audited by the 
external auditor as part of the statement of accounts audit including informing them of 
the unreconciled entries on the balance sheet. 
 

4.8. The external auditor reported the unreconciled balances in the council’s audit report in 
July 2018. 
 
Financial year 2018-19 

4.9. Further investigations continued by the financial control team leader from April to 
December 2018, this resulted in further prior year adjustments being identified, 
however unreconciled historic entries remained. 
 

4.10. In January 2019 a fact finding investigation was requested from internal audit by the 
then S151 officer and terms of reference agreed to try to resolve the issues of the 
outstanding balance A member of the Internal audit team would work alongside the 
finance officers to give clarity on the position of the unreconciled bank reconciliation 
entries and the credits on the Housing Benefit Subsidy Account. A fact finding 
investigation with a terms of reference was agreed with internal audit with a start date 
of April 2019. The outcomes of this investigation are stated below in paragraph’s 4.14 
to 4.15. 
 

4.11. The ongoing 2018-19 bank reconciliation control audit was then carried out by internal 
audit in March 2019 this resulted in a final report awarding the 2nd highest of 4 audit 
opinions. 
 

4.12. The issue was raised with external audit as on-going from 2017-18 and was included 
in the external audit report in December 2019. 
 
Financial year 2019-20 
 

4.13. In September 2019 during the fact finding investigation which had started in January, 
credits on the Housing Benefit Subsidy revenue account were identified which related 
to inaccurate prior year accruals arising as a result of incorrect allocation of entries 
between the bank account and the housing benefit accounts. These are internal 
transactions that require a technical financial adjustment to correct them in the 2020-
21 revenue accounts which is what this report is seeking to do. 
  

4.14. After further investigations by the internal auditor it was confirmed that while we could 
identify bulk payments from the Housing benefit files for historic data we couldn’t 
identify individual payments and the bank reconciliation outstanding entries couldn’t be 
matched off. As a result we are left with the credit unallocated in the Housing benefit 
accounts totalling £1,152,758. This credit has been carried forward into the 20/21 
accounts and correction requires a technical financial adjustment in the accounts. The 
retention of these payment records is now taking place in accordance with council 
requirements as a result of discussions between the Chief Accountant, Internal Audit 
and Revenues and Benefits. 
 

4.15. The issues were discussed with the then Director of Communities who at the time 
managed the revenues and benefits service and was therefore responsible for the 
reconciliations and storage of housing benefit data. It was agreed that the finance team 
would continue to carry out further investigations with the assistance of internal audit 

428



 

 

and that it would be highlighted to the external auditors for them to discuss in more 
detail during the audit of the 2019-20 Statement of Accounts.  
INVESTIGATION CONCLUSION 
 

4.16. In March 2020 after finishing investigations, identifying the total of unreconciled entries 
and confirming the credit total on the housing benefit accounts the conclusion is that 
the unreconciled entries and housing benefit credits cannot be individually matched off 
and that a technical financial adjustment is required to rectify this in the statement of 
accounts. This adjustment if approved would be reflected in the 2020-21 accounts but 
noted by external audit for the 2019-20 external audit report. 

4.17. This Internal audit work has now been brought to a close and it has confirmed the value 
of initial entries that were unreconciled and transferred to the balance sheet,  the credits 
on the Housing Benefit Subsidy Account, as well as investigating the issue of historic 
data from the Housing Benefit Academy system for Housing Benefit payments. Areas 
identified where there were anomalies found by Internal Audit included the 
memorandum account, there is a non-material transaction within the 2019-20 
reconciliation that needs further investigation. This investigation will continue during the 
course of the 2020-21 bank reconciliation control audit. 

4.18. The bank reconciliation is now completed successfully with correct entries and was last 
audited by internal audit in 2018/19. The revised cash and bank reconciliation process 
will be audited as part of the Key Financial Systems audits for 2020/21 to enable the 
processes and procedures to be fully adopted. This audit will be carried out during the 
next few months and agreed with the Section 151 Officer and Chief Accountant to 
ensure that appropriate assurance can be obtained. The audit report will be reviewed 
by the Section 151 Officer as is the process for all internal audit reports. 
 

5.     LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1. In producing and reviewing this report the council is meeting its legal obligations to 
monitor its financial position. 

 
 
6. RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
6.1. Due to their overarching nature, Key Financial systems are not individually incorporated 

as a subject area in the corporate risk area. If the recommendations of this report are 
approved then any risk occurring in specific service areas is removed. Internal audit 
will carry out the annual Bank reconciliation control audit within the next few months to 
confirm if any risk remains. 

 
7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1. Equalities – none 

7.2. Climate change/sustainability – none 

7.3. Data Protection/GDPR –none 

 
 
 

429



 

 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1. None. 

 
9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: immediately.  

 
10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report has no appendices. 

 
11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is not supported by any background documents: 

 
12.    CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)  

Name of 
consultee  

Post held Date sent Date 
returned 

Cllr Hilton Lead Member for Finance and 
Ascot 

11/06/20 15/06/20 

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 09/06/20 09/06/20 

Russell O’Keefe Executive Director of Place 08/06/20  

Adele Taylor Director of Resources/S151 
Officer 

05/06/20 
 

08/06/20 
 

Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s services 08/06/20 15/06/20 

Hilary Hall Deputy Adults, 
Commissioning and Health  

08/06/20 09/06/20 

Elaine Browne Head of Law 08/06/20 10/06/20 

Mary Severin Monitoring Officer 08/06/20  

Nikki Craig Head of HR, Corporate 
Projects and IT 

08/06/20 09/06/20 

Louisa Dean Communications 08/06/20 15/06/20 

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 08/06/20 11/06/20 

 
  REPORT HISTORY  

 

Decision type:  
Council decision 

Urgency item? 
No 

To Follow item? 
No 

Report Author: Ruth Watkins, Chief Accountant. 
 

430


	Agenda
	2 Council Minutes
	Minutes , 18/03/2020 Council
	Minutes , 26/05/2020 Council

	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 Mayor's Communications
	 Climate Strategy
	 Fees and Charges Report 2020/21 - Addition
	8 Constitutional Amendments
	10 Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan - Formal Making of the Plan
	Horton and Wraysbury NP - appendix A

	11 Bank Reconciliation Report

